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Company Profile
NGBy

BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or the “Company” together with its L TH#ERHAR AR ([hi@ k[ ARAF] - &M
subsidiaries, “the Group”; stock code: H shares: 01211 (HKD counter); EM B AR GHEIANEB IK[E£E] : BRHONRE : H
81211 (RMB counter); A shares: 002594) is principally engaged in & : 01211(B#¥iES) : 81211(ARKIES) AR ¢
automobile business which mainly includes new energy vehicles, 002594) & ZH{ EAFGEIRTE AER)TEHER - Fik
handset components and assembly services, rechargeable batteries and — ZpfF MAFKE XL - X FEEM LA KRED - REF A
photovoltaics business. Meanwhile, with its technological advantage, the B HHRITESEGAE BT EE R BEKESL -

Group actively develops urban rail transportation business segment.

As a pioneer and leader in the global new energy vehicle industry, relying  {EAZERFEER)
on its strong technological accumulation in the fields of power batteries, BB, - B
motors and electronic control, and through continuous technological  fli&)#F&&IHT

innovation, the Group has developed its long-term and sustainable core  BF 7 AEE R
competitive advantages which established the leading position of the &) 2Bk /T8 7

Group in the global new energy vehicle industry and accelerated the
transformation and upgrade of the global automobile industry.

BYD is one of the leading rechargeable battery manufacturers in the AEEARRELN A ABEORER 2 — - HER
world. As to the field of consumer batteries, the Group’s li-ion batteries T %8I - A& B A ERERE T EM0/E 2 AR SEE
are widely used in various consumer electronics products and new EBEEFEMLTLSEEMED  FE2EFBE=
intelligent products. Major clients include leading consumer electronics £ - Dell - BB EEEEEF =R FELHE - HHEHN
manufacturers such as Samsung, Dell and Lenovo. As to the field of power 4818 AEBEME T REL2MMHBEES0 - [
batteries, the Group has developed “Blade Batteries”, the highly safe LFP &) * EHEATIS L 2ME - IRBHREEEnE
batteries, to better meet the urgent demand of safety in the market, and ~ EIEBHEME 7 EE  (FAEE A - AEBAETHHE
to speed up the pace of LFP batteries returning to the mainstream market 8% + TR ¥k ﬁ% - REFRESEABREE N ARFPR

of power batteries. As to the field of energy storage batteries, the Group ~— HFEIEZAIHEN AT R -
focuses on applications such as power grid energy storage, industrial

and commercial energy storage and household energy storage to provide

cleaner and more sustainable energy storage solutions to customers.

As an important move of the Group in the field of clean energy, the ?E1ﬁ¥f%f’ﬁ2%$§%@ﬁ%?%ﬁé%\‘%EEJZE’\JEE%%Z* '
photovoltaics business has a complete industrial chain layout covering AW « i« R4AHF - KRERERES2ERE
silicon wafer, solar cells, photovoltaic modules and photovoltaic system 4 /5 + TBAERMERUL - FREEIER S EIRE - &
application, etc. It connects all processes from energy collection, storage £ BSRE GG BH T - HEE R TE 4 -

to application. The Group will proactively develop new technologies to

promote the continuous upgrade of its products.

The Group is a global leading provider of high-tech and innovative  {EA&Zk E%E’J%ﬂ&aﬂ%ﬁ%&'ﬂ%fﬁﬁ KBS
products, providing customers around the world with one-stop product  S#{lf - A TERER - SGMYM MR - ME R K
solutions relying on its core advantages in electronic information, Al, 5G i » ¥T#f &7 - %%}%‘Zﬂ&ﬂlﬂ%ﬁ b EE R H 1%
and Internet of Things, thermal management, new materials, precision  [VE% » B2HEFREH—IERNERBRHTE o EdmE
molds and digital manufacturing technologies. The Group engages in S EF# - FIREMN - TERE « BEEEF - EA
diversified market segments, such as smart phones, tablet computers, — # - AIBR75gs - 3DITEDH& - ¥HGAS - A - BIER
smart home devices, game hardware, drones, Al servers, 3D printers, - BEERZESZLOTHEEAS - AN EE
Internet of Things, robots, communication equipment and medical and ~ BE&ENEE A AT UAATPRHEPEMNRE - Bk
health equipment. The competence of the Company in highly vertical ~ % A B ETHNEELAFEK -

integration enhances its ability to provide customers with a full range of

services, and quickly and efficiently respond to changing demands.

Urban rail transportation business is an important area for the Group’s M EE B E 2N E@ AR E RIS H [z — -
future development. With its technology and cost advantages in the area  /RF&TE 27 82 IR 5 15 V8 o 5 2 52 37 WO B 019 0Bl AN 18 25
of new energy, the Group has successfully developed medium-capacity ~ EBEX IR SHEE « KA T ES[EH | FIKE
“SkyRail” and low-capacity “SkyShuttle” with high efficiency and low cost, 2[EEIE M @ Ea MR AIEEREIMH LA LBE
which, together with new energy vehicles, achieves the three-dimensional 8t BZ @ EHEE M A BBENERISENAE
coverage of urban public transportation, and drives the long-term and B - BREBEMNRE LK IJIFEERE -

sustainable development of the Group while addressing urban traffic jam
and reducing air pollution.
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Financial Highlights Financial Highlights
MEBERE MEBERE

FIVE-YEAR COMPARISON OF KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES HESEFXEBKHE LR REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY PRODUCT CATEGORIES BEEREBERNEINEXEE
For the year ended 31 December \ 19.68% \ 3. 30%
BE+-—A=+—-HIEE @ Mobile handset components, assembly service and O o o ©

other products

FHEM - AEREMER

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—B-=F =F== e i —F-NEF Automobiles and related products, and other products 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 AE - REABEERREMER
AR¥TRT ARETT AREBTT ARBTT AREBTER
Revenue EER 602,315,354 424,060,635 216,142,395 156,597,691 127,738,523
Gross profit EF 121,757,004 72,244,955 28,144,706 30,346,311 20,814,235
Gross profit margin (%) EHR(%) 20 17 13 19 16 5023 5022
Profit attributable to owners [SYNCIEZZS DN —T-=F T F
of the parent FE(R & A 30,040,811 16,622,448 3,045,188 4,234,267 1,614,450
Net profit margin (%) F (%) 5.0 3.9 1.4 2.7 1.3 REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY LOCATIONS OF REFEIEMEoMEEEE
CUSTOMERS

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+-—H
\, 73.40% \, 78.43%
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 °
—m—= — = — — = — = — PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan)
Fo=F SFo- —E——F —F_FF - N FE(REBRAME)
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 2023
— H4h
Net assets (less non- FEEE w
controlling interests) (40BRFEFE AR AE2S) 138,810,065 111,029,299 95,069,671 56,874,274 56,762,289

Total assets BERE 679,547,670 493,860,646 295,780,147 201,017,321 195,641,593
Gearing ratio (%) (Note') §$E:1Ett$(%) 0023 -
(Ffat7) -44 -26 -15 69 124 —Eo —E=——
Current ratio (times) T ENEE R (FF) 0.67 0.72 0.97 1.05 0.99
Receivables turnover & WS R SR TE 3 B K
(days) (Note?) (B) (K532 43 53 95 135 175
Inventory turnover (days) FEREXE(H) 64 64 73 83 89

Note': Gearing ratio = Total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents/  fifit' - EABEL X=EEEHNKRBE S LB SEE
net assets (less minority interests) W, FAEEGIR B ERS)

Note?: Receivables include trade receivables, contract assets and  ff##2: EWRERBRSEUEREZR - AREE - BRK
receivables financing. THRLE °
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Emerging technologies

oA 5 January

Launch of Yangwang brand and “e* Platform” technology
The “Gan Yue Xing He (Bt#£)7)” Yangwang brand and technology
launch conference was held in Shenzhen, officially launching a new high-
end vehicle brand “Yangwang” and its core technology “e* Platform”.
The first hardcore SUV U8 equipped with e* Platform and the first battery
electric performance supercar U9 were unveiled. e* Platform’s disruptive
four-motor technology breaks the imagination of traditional vehicles and
creates a new vehicle safety technology system.

o 10 April

Launch of BYD’s DiSus system

BYD launched the DiSus intelligent body control system.
As the industry’s first new energy exclusive intelligent body
control system, the DiSus system has filled the domestic
technology gap to achieve a breakthrough “from 0 to 17,
and surpassed the industry’s advanced level to achieve an
improvement of “from 1 to 2”.

L.
frvncian -

o 16 August
Launch of FANGCHENGBAO brand and DMO technology platform
The FANGCHENGBAO brand and technology launch conference was
held in Shenzhen, officially launching FANGCHENGBAO, a global
professional and personalized brand, and its core exclusive technology
DMO, a super hybrid off-road platform. BAO 5, a super hybrid hardcore
SUV first equipped with DMO, was also officially launched. At the
same time, the “5683” hardcore family composed of BAO 8 concept car
“SUPER 8” and BAO 3 made a stunning debut simultaneously.

The launch of new vehicles opens up new presence with new brands upgraded, and popular emerging technologies are a plus to empower hot-selling products.

New bl ue ocean A giant ship has cut through the waves with its strength accumulated into momentum. BYD goes global to withess wider presence and join the blue ocean of new energy vehicle market.

o 10 March
Ground breaking of BYD’s passenger vehicles production base in
Thailand, with a local delivery of BYD ATTO 3 exceeding 10,000 units
BYD held a groundbreaking ceremony for its first
overseas passenger car production base in Thailand,
and also held a delivery ceremony for the 9,999th
and 10,000th BYD ATTO 3. This marks BYD'’s further
expansion overseas and is also a further manifestation
of BYD's intensive efforts in the Asia-Pacific market.

Green travel

o= 10 March
Signing of purchase agreement for 5,000 electric vehicles between
BYD and British Octopus EV

BYD reached a cooperation with Octopus Electric
Vehicles, a British electric vehicle company. Octopus
EV will purchase 5,000 electric vehicles from BYD in
the next three years to serve the British market. The two
parties will work together to promote the construction of
green transportation in the UK.

o 26 April
Launch of the new-generation mainstream vehicle “Sea Gull”

The new-generation mainstream vehicle “BYD Sea Gull”
was officially launched, with a price range of RMB73,800 =
to RMB89,800. Sea Gull is a new model introduced by =

BYD’s new generation technology to the wide-area market. P —_—
It has two cruising ranges of 305km and 405km (CLTC

comprehensive test cycle). Sea Gull has refreshed the
value benchmark of traditional small vehicles by virtue of
its high-performance quality and premium attributes with
comprehensive maintenance and excellence.

o 9 May
Opening of Happy Sky Shuttle line in Dawang Mountain in Xiangjiang New District, Hunan

The opening ceremony of Happy Sky Shuttle in Dawang
Mountain in Xiangjiang New District, Hunan was held at
Dawangshan Yunba Station in Xiangjiang New District, Hunan,
marking the official opening of the Happy Sky Shuttle in Dawang
Mountain. As the world’s first tourist sky shuttle line, the Happy
Sky Shuttle in Dawang Mountain is an important example of
promoting the modernization of transportation in the tourism
industry and represents BYD's practice of intelligent, green and
integrated development of transportation in the tourism industry.

Robust development

s 4 January
Ground breaking of BYD’s New Energy Power Battery Xuzhou
Production Base

The Xuzhou Municipal Party Committee and Municipal
Government of Jiangsu Province held a centralized
commencement of the city’'s major industrial projects
in 2023 and a groundbreaking event for BYD’'s New
Energy Power Battery Xuzhou Production Base. The

project is located in Xuzhou Economic and Technological
Development Zone, the first phase of which covers about
706 acres, including cleaning, assembly, batching, dust-
free, constant temperature, drying and other workshops to
build a blade battery production line.

Dazzling achievements

ol 2 June

Chongqing Bishan SkyShuttle project winning the “China Steel
Structure Gold Award”

The 2023 National Construction Steel Structure
Industry Conference was held in Shanghai. BYD
Bishan SkyShuttle project won the 15th “China Steel
Structure Gold Award” (the first batch). This award
is an international high-quality project award in the
construction field approved by the State Council.
It is the highest honor for project quality in China’s
construction steel structure industry.

L0 IR DT R

o 18 February
Settling of BYD’s New Energy Automobile Core Components Industrial
Park project in Changzhou

BYD’'s New Energy Vehicle Core Components
Industrial Park project was settled in Binjiang Economic
Development Zone, Changzhou, Jiangsu. The project,
once completed and reaches production capacity,
will produce 300,000 sets of smart powertrains,
transmission systems and other core components
annually, further supporting the construction of
Changzhou as a “new energy capital”.

o 2 August,
BYD ranking 212th among Fortune Global 500 companies in 2023

The Fortune Global 500 list was released globally. BYD
ranked 212th, an increase of 224 places from 2022,
becoming the Chinese company with the largest increase
in ranking this year.

000

#nsooa

HeEi@ {05
#212

o 4 July

Announcement of BYD to build a large-scale production base complex in
Brazil and invest in the construction of three new factories

BYD and the Government of Bahia State in Brazil jointly
announced that the two parties will set up a large-scale
production base complex consisting of three factories in
Camagari, namely electric bus and truck chassis production
factory, new energy passenger vehicles production factory and
lithium iron phosphate battery material processing factory. This
move will further promote BYD'’s globalization process.

s 18 October
Launch of BYD’s first hybrid light truck T5

The “Powerful Genes and New Era of Light Trucks — BYD
Hybrid Light Truck T5 New Product Launch and Smart
Factory Experience Day” was held in Huai’an City, Jiangsu
Province. BYD’s first 4.5-ton urban logistics light truck T5
equipped with DM technology was unveiled together with
the new Huai’an truck smart factory. BYD’s commercial
vehicles have contributed green solutions to transportation
development.

o 12 May

Signing of strategic cooperation agreement between Weichai Power and

BYD

Weichai Power and BYD signed a strategic cooperation agreement in
Shenzhen. The two parties plan to use their respective advantages to
establish a more comprehensive and in-depth strategic cooperative
relationship in the field of new energy. Both parties will jointly
produce power batteries in Shandong, build a power battery R&D
and manufacturing base, and continue to enhance the new energy
industry chain, innovation chain and value chain, in order to make
positive contributions to the industrialization development of new
energy commercial vehicles of the PRC.

o 24 November

BYD setting another record to become the world’s first company to roll

out 6 million new energy vehicles

BYD'’s 6 millionth new energy vehicle rolled off the assembly
line at its Zhengzhou factory. It only took BYD more than 3
months to go from the “5 millionth vehicle” to the “6 millionth
vehicle”, setting a new production and sales record. This is
not only another milestone for BYD, but also a microcosm of
the development of new energy vehicles in China, pushing
China’s new energy vehicle industry into a stage of large-
scale, global and high-quality development.

ria wrlei

Booming construction and humming machines in the production workshop write a new chapter of high-quality development.

(o

Tremendous achievements shine during every second of progress, and all the sweat of endeavour will condense into “gold”.

EMM6007 WM BX ST

o8B 22 November
Launch of BYD Han in the UAE and Dubai welcoming a new flagship
showroom

BYD celebrated the grand opening of its new flagship
showroom in Dubai, the UAE, and officially launched the
pure electric model Han, opening up a new pattern for
BYD’s new energy passenger vehicle market in the UAE.
The completion of the showroom has injected new impetus
into BYD’s brand promotion, product sales and strategic
development in the UAE passenger vehicles market.

os® 20 December
Grand opening of the first BYD Corporate-specific 4S Store

The country’s first BYD Corporate-specific 4S Store was %

opened grandly in Xi’an. The business scope of BYD
Corporate-specific 4S Store covers domestic online ride-
hailing, taxis, driving test cars, government and enterprise
procurement, urban logistics, time-sharing leasing, general
leasing and other business scenarios, providing one-stop
solutions for green travel such as vehicle model definition,
vehicle sales, financial services, operational empowerment
and after-sales maintenance.

o 26 September
Signing of equity acquisition agreement between BYD Electronic and
Jabil

BE, a subsidiary of BYD, signed an equity acquisition
agreement with Jabil to acquire Jabil’s mobility
business that manufactures components for consumer
electronics products. This acquisition will broaden
BE'’s customer base and diversify its product portfolio,
expand the business of smartphone components, and
enhance the strategic layout of core device products,
thus propelling the industrial upgrading of BE.

oS 6 December

BYD Tang, Song, Seal and Dolphin receiving the highest safety
rating in Europe

BYD Tang and Song models received a five-star safety e =2
rating (new regulations for 2023) from the European New
Car Assessment Programme (Euro NCAP). This is BYD'’s
another two models to receive a five-star safety rating from
Euro NCAP after the Seal and Dolphin. It is the first time in
China’s automobile industry that four models in one year
have received this rating, which fully demonstrates BYD's
strong safety technology strength and excellent product
safety performance.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HITES

Wang Chuan-fu TiER
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FEITES

Lv Xiang-yang a2 Ak5

Xia Zuo-quan Bhz
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BYFRTES
Cai Hong-ping B

Zhang Min KRB

Yu Ling (appointed on 19 September 2023)
Jiang Yan-bo (resigned on 19 September 2023)

W% (R -E-ZFNA+ARRER)
BER(E-T-=FAATAARE)

SUPERVISORS B=

Dong Jun-ging (resigned on 19 September 2023) BERWEZT_=FNAATLAZT

Li Yong-zhao Foxdl

Zhu Ai-yun (appointed on 19 September 2023) KEEMR_Z_=FNATNLBEZF)
Wang Zhen 2

Huang Jiang-feng Eipak:]

Tang Mei FE1E

COMPANY SECRETARY NEME

Li Qian =3 )

AUDIT COMMITTEE ERERS

Lv Xiang-yang (resigned on 19 September 2023)
Xia Zuo-quan (appointed on 19 September 2023)
Cai Hong-ping

Zhang Min (Chairman)

Yu Ling (appointed on 19 September 2023)
Jiang Yan-bo (resigned on 19 September 2023)

arfE(E —E-_=FAA T AT
EER2MN-_Z_=FNAATHBEZD)
SRE(ETE)

WM -_E_=FAATNLAEZE)
BEREZZZ=FAATNEED

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEEE
Wang Chuan-fu FiERE

Xia Zuo-quan Bhz

Cai Hong-ping (Chairman) B (X))
Zhang Min RE

Yu Ling (appointed on 19 September 2023)
Jiang Yan-bo (resigned on 19 September 2023)

WM -_E_=FAATNLAEEZE)
BEKE-_ZT_=FNLATIRARD

NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZE®
Wang Chuan-fu TERE

Lv Xiang-yang Sl

Cai Hong-ping FOAF
Zhang Min R

W (ER)(RZZ_=FhA+NAEZMT)
BERER) (BZZ2_=F1ATIBED

Yu Ling (Chairman) (appointed on 19 September 2023)
Jiang Yan-bo (Chairman) (resigned on 19 September 2023)

STRATEGY COMMITTEE BHEESS
Wang Chuan-fu (Chairman) FER(ERE)
Lv Xiang-yang & mkE
Xia Zuo-quan R
Cai Hong-ping FOHF

Zhang Min SRR
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H Shares: 01211 (HKD Counter); 81211 (RMB Counter) (The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”))

A Shares: 002594 (Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“SZSE”))
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

As a pioneer and leader in the global new energy vehicle industry, the Group has steadily promoted the
upgrading of brand power and the strategic layout of going abroad, and achieved substantial business
development in the background of increasingly fierce competition in the industry, leading China’s new energy
vehicle sales for 11 consecutive years, retaining its No. 1 position in the global sales of new energy vehicles and
creating a history for a Chinese automobile enterprise to rank top ten in terms of global sales for the first time.

AEBERRHMERIVETRATENRESE  BIRERE DR KL BEEMGE - ETERF RBAND
BERTEREBRERE S+ FRETEMER TEHERBMA L ER 2 RAERTEHERE - WH

BIFEEMERES SIRES A +HESL

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”
or the “Period”) to you.

In 2023, the international geopolitical tensions intensified, the
high inflationary environment prevailed, the growth of most major
economies slowed down, and the complexity, severity and uncertainty
of global economic development increased. The unfavourable external
environment also affected China’s economy, resulting in insufficient
overall demand, weak consumption and investment expectations, a
sluggish property market and various challenges faced by industries
and trades. To this end, the Chinese government stepped up its
macro-control efforts, focusing on expanding domestic demand,
optimising structure and boosting confidence, which highlighted the
“resilience” of China’s economy. The annual GDP in 2023 increased
by 5.2% year on year, marking a further consolidation of China’s
economic recovery and making it an important engine of growth for
the world economy.
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In 2023, China’s automobile industry showed a “starting low and
moving high, gradually improving” trend amid the complex external
environment. At the beginning of the Year, affected by the switch of
promotional policies and market price fluctuations, the recovery of
automobile consumption was relatively lagging; yet, with the release
and implementation of the central and local promotional policies and
the China VI Emissions Standard for Vehicles, the market demand was
gradually released, and the booming sales phenomenon in “Golden
September and Silver October” reappeared. The sales volume of
automobiles in China reached 30.094 million units throughout the
Year, representing a year-on-year increase of 12.0% and ranking
first in the world for the fifteenth consecutive year, and the export of
automobiles reached 4.91 million units, representing a year-on-year
increase of 57.9%. The automobile industry has become an important
driving force behind China’s industrial economic growth. In 2023,
China’s new energy vehicles continued their rapid development with a
sales volume of 9.495 million units throughout the Year, representing
a year-on-year increase of 37.9% and ranking first in the world for
the ninth consecutive year. The penetration rate of new energy
vehicles in China climbed up to 31.6%, and that of passenger cars
even exceeded 40% in December, indicating profound changes
in the landscape of China’s automobile market. Riding on its
comprehensive and mature industrial chain and leading electrically
powered intelligent technology, China’s new energy vehicle brands
enhanced their product and brand power continuously, and were
also widely recognised by global consumers. China’s annual auto
exports amounted to 1.203 million units, representing a year-on-year
increase of 77.6%, contributing to the green-oriented transformation of
the global automobile industry significantly. In terms of rechargeable
batteries, the traditional consumer electronics industry began to form
a weak recovery in the second half, which also affected the demand
for upstream batteries. The robust demand in energy storage field
continuously heightened the market’s activity. As for the photovoltaic
industry, the rise of carbon neutrality has ignited a global surge in
demand, accelerating the integration of companies. Domestically, the
photovoltaic industry is experiencing robust growth across all stages
of supply and demand. In terms of smart terminals, the development
of global smartphone industry was still sluggish. In terms of the PC
field, despite the stimulus from artificial intelligence (Al) applications,
the demand was still influenced by the macroeconomy.
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Chairman’s Statement

TE®RES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group realized an
operating revenue of RMB602,315 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 42.04%. Profit attributable to the owners of the parent
company were RMB30,041 million, an increase of 80.72% year-
on-year, with the earnings per share of RMB10.32. The Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB3.096 per share
(tax-inclusive).

As a pioneer and leader in the global new energy vehicle industry, the
Group has steadily promoted the upgrading of brand power and the
strategic layout of going abroad, and achieved substantial business
development in the background of increasingly fierce competition
in the industry, leading China’s new energy vehicle sales for 11
consecutive years, retaining its No. 1 position in the global sales of
new energy vehicles and creating a history for a Chinese automobile
enterprise to rank top ten in terms of global sales for the first time.

In the field of new energy passenger vehicles, relying on the
continuous innovation of core technologies and targeted and effective
market strategies, the Group took the lead in sales in 2023, remaining
in the first spot in sales volume of passenger vehicles among Chinese
auto companies. Based on continuously promoting the application
of existing technologies, the Group successively released world-
leading forward-looking and revolutionary technologies including the
“e* Platform” architecture, the “DiSus” intelligent body control system,
the advanced intelligent driving assistance system literally known as
“God’s Eye (K4 ZfR)” and the “DMO” super hybrid off-road platform,
which further enhanced the Group’s comprehensive competitiveness
and lifted its business development to a higher level.
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The Group further expands the brand matrix, shaping a multi-brand
gradient layout consisting of the “BYD” brand, the “Denza” brand,
the “Yangwang” brand and the “FANGCHENGBAQO” brand. During
the Year, all brands delivered stunning performance, and the multi-
brand strategy achieved initial results. As the Group’s first passenger
vehicle brand, the “BYD” brand has gradually developed two series of
products, the “Dynasty” series and the “Ocean” series. The “Dynasty”
series have five family products of “Han”, “Tang”, “Song”, “Qin”
and “Yuan”. The “Han” family was rejuvenated during the Year, and
“Han EV Champion Edition”, “Han DM-i Champion Edition” and “Han
DM-p Ares Edition” were officially launched, with product strength
comprehensively improved; the “Tang” family launched “Tang EV
Champion Edition”, “Tang DM-i Champion Edition” and “Tang DM-p
Champion Edition/Ares Edition”, which further strengthened the
product competitiveness of the “Tang” family; the “Song” family
launched “Song PLUS Champion Edition” and “Song Pro Champion
Edition”, and “Song L” was also unveiled at the end of the year, which
empowered the “Song” family to continue to lead the new energy
SUV market; the launch of “Qin PLUS Champion Edition” successfully
put an end to the monopoly of joint venture brands, being the first
Chinese model that claimed the championship on the chart of best-
selling sedans of the year in 13 years. “Yuan PLUS Champion Edition”
was launched with a new design, and maintained the leading position
in the A-class pure electric vehicle market. Among the “Ocean”
series, “Dolphin” continued to take the lead, claiming the champion
of AO-class vehicle sales for two consecutive years; “Sea Gull”,
newly launched in April, witnessed rising sales all the way along
to the championship of annual A0O-class vehicle sales; “Destroyer
05 Champion Edition”, rejuvenated in the same month, received
both good sales and reputation in the A+ class sedan market; “Seal
Champion Edition” and “Seal DM-i", launched in May and September,
respectively, continued their leading position in the midsize sedan
market.
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Following the “BYD” brand, as the Group’s brand focusing on the new
energy luxury vehicle market, the “Denza” brand endeavors to grow
from the path-breaker of China’s luxury new energy vehicle market
to the leader of technologies enabling luxury new energy vehicles.
“Denza D9, the first luxury MPV under the “Denza” brand, was on the
list of bestsellers and claimed the championship of 2023 for annual
sales in the MPV market. Equipped with the “God’s Eye” advanced
intelligent driving assistance system and the “DiSus-A” intelligent air
body control system (standard version), the luxury shooting-brake SUV
“Denza N7” was launched in July, which demonstrates the integration
of intelligence and electrification technologies, and brings the luxury
travel experience underpinned by intelligence, safety and comfort. In
addition, a new high-end brand “Yangwang” was officially launched,
which opened up the million-RMB-worth new energy market with its
subversive technologies and products, and reshaped the high-end
brand values in the new energy era. “Yangwang U8” was launched
in September, and secured the first place in the list of million-RMB-
worth new energy SUVs for monthly sales in the first calendar month
of delivery before the end of the year, marking a milestone in the
history of China’s auto industry in developing high-end brands.
The professional and personalized “FANGCHENGBAOQO” brand also
launched the super hybrid hardcore SUV “BAO 5” in November, which
has been gaining popularity since it becomes available.

While consolidating and expanding its development advantages in the
domestic market, the Group has been accelerating overseas market
expansion, and has entered countries and regions including Japan,
Germany, Australia, Brazil and the United Arab Emirates, recording
stunning performance evidenced by the championship in new energy
vehicle sales. In March, the foundation stone of the Group’s first
overseas passenger vehicle production base was officially laid in
Thailand. In July and December, the Group announced respectively
that it would establish a large-scale manufacturing base complex
in Brazil and build a world-class new energy vehicle production
in Hungary to make active efforts to achieve localized production,
thereby promoting the transformation of global vehicle electrification.

In terms of rechargeable batteries, product R&D and capacity
expansion went smoothly during the Year, which contributed to the
steady development of the traditional battery business. In addition,
while meeting inner power battery demand, the Group also continued
to actively expand external customers and accelerate the market-
oriented deployment. In terms of energy storage field, the Group
facilitated the new energy storage industry to achieve leapfrog
development. In respect of the photovoltaic business, under the
guidance of the “carbon peaking and carbon neutrality” goal, the
Group accelerated new technology R&D.

It Tom] mEE - (B IRBRIEAEEEZ ERN
FEERFEREMSNME  BHORMFRERED
SRR EBRAMERIENERBRELE o [
DIRBEAREMPVEZDIEERHERE - &
E-E-=F2REMPVEEHETE - KM
ZIRIEBEEESEN RSN EE-AIZTEER
FiG R 5 (FRER) W REFEBSUVIBEENT I+
AL EREBEEIHEG  BRAPTREE %
2 FTEMFTRELITER o 1IN - 2 &5 mAE
MPEIEXEM - LEBEBEMARITNERHARE
ERHFERTS  VEBHERRASRAEER
B [PEUSIREMMNA LT WEFEEERT
BRXNA  KAEBBRMERSUVAEHEES —
AETHEAESREHERE - XM
(RN +— AR BARBEIRSUVI$5]
BEMURBESE -

AEBEZEMBARATSEHRELORE - &
BmEgINMED - BEABAR - fBE - BAFTE -
B MBEEEZEERMLE  BEZEHER
AEHETE - AREEREIIRBELEREMS
BIBR=AEAEE  tAR+=-A  TDHE
S E B R KB A ER AR A 88 MR 7T 74T
ERHBLENMERTERERER N - HEHE
U TR - B R HTETELER -

TRABEMITE - FRNEMMNBERERRITER
IEF] - By hEMEBEHRIER - LI BERE
B BNERFRNRAE - AEBTFERSRRR
SNERER P - INETISME - EREEFRE - A
SEESFUREEXRERBEBRAER - REB
JHE AR BRNEIET - ANEE IR R
WG -



With respect to the handset components and assembly segment,
the Group is a global leading provider of high-tech and innovative
products. With industry-leading R&D and manufacturing strength,
efficient mass production experience, diversified product portfolio
and abundant customer base, the Group saw a significant profitability
improvement thanks to the further optimization in business structure
and cost control enhancement. In terms of consumer electronics,
the Group continued to deepen its strategic cooperation with major
customers to consolidate its own leading position in the industry.
During the Year, the new intelligent product business continued its
steady development, with an increasing market share.

In terms of material acquisitions, BYD Electronics (International)
Company Limited, a majority-owned subsidiary of the Group,
completed the acquisition of the mobile electronics manufacturing
business of Jabil Inc., one of the world’s largest electronic
manufacturing services and solutions providers, on 29 December
2023. The acquisition will broaden the smartphone parts business of
BYD Electronics.

Looking ahead to 2024, despite the complexity of the external
environment, China will continue to expand and unleash the new
potential of domestic demand, accelerate the development of new
quality productive forces, and push the economy to achieve high
quality development in a stable operation under the general principles
of “pursuing progress while ensuring stability, promoting stability
through progress, and establishing the new before abolishing the
old”. In March, the executive meeting of the State Council considered
and passed the Action Plan for the Promotion of the Large-Scale
Equipment Renewal and Trade-in of Consumer Goods, which is
also favorable to the new energy vehicle industry. It is expected that
China’s new energy vehicle market will continue to grow strongly in
2024, and the production capacity will exceed 10 million units, with
penetration rate hitting another record high.

With regard to the automobiles business, the Group will strengthen the
independency and controllability of its core technologies R&D, and
continue to enhance the competitiveness of its products. Focusing on
market consumption trend the Group will further improve its layout of
multi-brand matrix and accelerate the business “going global” to help
China’s automobile industry to lead the global new energy vehicle
trend.
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In terms of rechargeable batteries, the Group will continue to enhance
its independent innovation and R&D capabilities, actively promote
the application of the innovative technologies and product upgrades,
further expand its customer base and business coverage and
facilitate sustainable development of relevant businesses. In terms of
photovoltaics business, the Group will actively grasp the development
trend of the industry, focus on technology R&D, promote product
transformation and upgrading, to usher in the explosive growth
opportunities of the industry.

For the handset components and assembly business, the Group will
proactively capture market opportunities, continue to put efforts on the
R&D of core technologies, enhance its vertical integration advantage
and deepen the strategy of developing major customers. While
maintaining our industry-leading position in traditional businesses, the
forward-looking deployment in the relevant product lines of emerging
businesses will maintain a strong development momentum, driving
the continuous growth of the Group’s business and revenue scale. In
terms of consumer electronics business, the Group will fully seize the
development opportunities brought by Al, titanium metal materials and
other new applications to continue to expand its market share. In terms
of new intelligent product business, the Group is optimistic about the
market prospects for Al servers. It will keep investing in the R&D of Al
servers actively and put more effort on the development of products
and solutions related to Al servers. The Group will continue to deepen
cooperation with top-tier clients in various niche fields. There will be a
strong growth momentum in the fields of smart home devices, game
hardware, and drones, driving the long-term sustainability of the new
intelligent product business scale.

To contribute to practice of the “carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality” goal, the Group will continue to adhere to its development
strategy, insist on technological innovation and independency and
controllability of its core technologies, launch more products with
higher competitiveness, provide diversified green solutions for urban
development, and promote rapid and healthy development of a low-
carbon society. At the same time, the Group actively promoted market-
oriented development and built a win-win ecosystem through industrial
cooperation in an attempt to achieve the long-term prosperity and
long-lasting development of the Group and make the Group a century-
old enterprise in China.
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Lastly, on behalf of the Group, | would like to express sincere
gratitude to our loyal customers for their persistent support and love.
| also give my heartfelt thanks to all business partners, investors and
shareholders for their trust. Besides, | would like to present my heartfelt
gratitude to all staff for their unobtrusive hard work and contribution
in the past year. The Group will build on past achievements and keep
pace with the times, seize market opportunities and make use of its
own advantages to promote the long-term healthy development of the
Group, to maximize returns for shareholders.

Wang Chuan-fu
Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC, 26 March 2024
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INDUSTRY ANALYSIS AND REVIEW
Automobiles and Batteries Business

In 2023, the international geopolitical tensions intensified, the
high inflationary environment prevailed, the growth of most major
economies slowed down, and the complexity, severity and uncertainty
of global economic development increased. The unfavourable external
environment also affected China’s economy, resulting in insufficient
overall demand, weak consumption and investment expectations, a
sluggish property market and various challenges faced by industries
and trades. In the face of external pressures and internal difficulties,
the Chinese government stepped up its macro-control efforts, focusing
on expanding domestic demand, optimising structure and boosting
confidence, which highlighted the “resilience” of China’s economy.
According to the data released by the National Bureau of Statistics,
the annual GDP in 2023 increased by 5.2% year on year, showing a
trend of starting low, moving up and stabilising later on, marking a
further consolidation of China’s economic recovery and making it an
important engine of growth for the world economy.
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In 2023, China’s automobile industry showed a “starting low and
moving high, gradually improving” trend amid the complex macro
environment. At the beginning of the Year, affected by the switch of
promotional policies and market price fluctuations, the recovery of
automobile consumption was relatively lagging; yet, with the release
and implementation of the central and local promotional policies and
the China VI Emissions Standard for Vehicles, the market demand
was gradually released, and the booming sales phenomenon in
“Golden September and Silver October” reappeared. According to
the statistics from the China Association of Automobile Manufacturers,
the production and sales volume of automobiles in China leapt to a
new level in 2023 by registering a year-on-year growth of 11.6% and
12.0% to a record high of 30.161 million units and 30.094 million units
respectively, ranking first in the world for the fifteenth consecutive
year, and throughout the year, China’s export of automobiles reached
4.91 million units, representing a year-on-year increase of 57.9%. The
automobile industry has become an important driving force behind
China’s industrial economic growth. During the Period, benefiting from
the rapid development of China’s new energy vehicles, the market
share of Chinese local brands continued to increase, with the market
share of local brands of passenger cars exceeding 50% for the first
time. Such a movement of “changing lanes and overtaking” led to an
inflexion point in the industry, and the pattern of China’s automobile
market underwent a profound change. According to the statistics
from the China Association of Automobile Manufacturers, the annual
production and sales volume of new energy vehicles in China recorded
a year-on-year growth of 35.8% and 37.9% in 2023 to 9.587 million
units and 9.495 million units, respectively, ranking first in the world
for the ninth consecutive year. The market penetration rate of new
energy vehicles in China further climbed by more than 5.9 percentage
points to 31.6%, and that of passenger cars even exceeded 40% in
December. Riding on its comprehensive and mature industrial chain
and leading electrically powered intelligent technology, China’s new
energy vehicle brands enhanced their product and brand power
continuously, and achieved remarkable success not only in China, but
also in overseas markets, gaining widespread recognition from global
consumers. According to the statistics from the General Administration
of Customs of the People’s Republic of China consolidated by the
China Association of Automobile Manufacturers, in 2023, China’s
annual auto exports amounted to 1.203 million units, representing a
year-on-year increase of 77.6%, contributing to the green-oriented
transformation of the global automobile industry significantly.
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The development of new energy vehicles is the only approach for
China to evolve from a participant to an industry leader, which has
great strategic significance. To consolidate and expand the current
development advantages of the new energy vehicles, the Chinese
government has introduced a series of expedient supportive policies.
In May 2023, the National Development and Reform Commission and
the National Energy Administration jointly issued the Implementing
Opinions on Accelerating the Construction of Charging Infrastructure
and Better Supporting New Energy Vehicles to the Countryside Policy
and Rural Revitalization ({ B IIREEEFTE R HERN B IFH8e
TR E AR EIMEES R.)) to optimize the environment for the
purchase and use of new energy vehicles, and to proactively promote
the penetration of new energy vehicles into the lower-tier markets. In
June, three government authorities including the Ministry of Finance
jointly issued the Announcement on Continuation and Optimization of
Policies for Reduction and Exemption of Vehicle Purchase Tax on New
Energy Vehicles (CEREEFELFeR AE BME S TR 2 BOR
KA E)), further extending the period of the policy to 31 December
2027, and the efforts for reduction and exemption will be gradually
phased out on an annual basis to stabilize the market expectation
and promote the further release of the consumption potential of
new energy vehicles. In the same month, the General Office of the
State Council issued the Guiding Opinions on Further Construction
of a High-quality Charging Infrastructure System (B — i
SEEFREEMRRBERMIELEER)) to better meet the needs of
the public in purchasing and using new energy vehicles, which is
conducive to promoting the green and low-carbon transformation of
transportation and the construction of a modernized infrastructure
system. In the same month, five departments including the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology (the “MIIT”) released the
Decision on Amending the “Measures for the Parallel Administration of
Credit Points for Average Fuel Consumption and New Energy Vehicles
of Passenger Vehicle Enterprises” (B ERR<TE BN EFHM
OB SRR AEBHWITERIVESHIRE)), establishing a
credit points pool management system for new energy vehicles to
guide high-quality development for the industry. In July, the National
Development and Reform Commission and other departments issued
a notice on Several Measures to Promote Automobile Consumption
KRERMREREHENE THEM)), proposing a series of policies
including optimising automobile purchase restrictions and reducing
the cost of purchasing and using new energy vehicles to expand
automobile consumption. In August, seven departments including
the MIIT issued the Work Plan for Stable Growth in the Automobile
Industry (2023-2024) (/BT BIE R T E7 5 (20234 -20245F))),
supporting the expansion of consumption of new energy vehicles and
consolidating the industrial chain and supply chain. In November,
four departments including the MIIT issued the Notice on Carrying
Out Pilot Work for the Access and Road Use of Intelligent Connected
Vehicles (KB FR S BEAEEE T/ AT FRBITHB TEBAD),
laying the foundation for automobile enterprises to carry out pilot
production work for intelligent connected vehicles. In December,
three departments including the MIIT issued the Announcement on
Adjusting the Technological Requirements for New Energy Vehicle
Products for Reduction and Exemption of Vehicle Purchase Tax (8
RABREEMESHHMERTEEMFEMERNASE)), guiding
enterprises to continue improving product quality and performance,
and promoting the high-quality development of the new energy vehicle
industry.
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In terms of rechargeable batteries, in 2023, the demand from the
traditional consumer electronics industry bottomed out in the first
half of the year, and began to form a weak recovery in the second
half, which also affected the demand for upstream batteries. In terms
of the energy storage field, the global carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality strategy and the acceleration of the process of energy
structure transformation have led to robust energy storage demand,
technological progress and capacity expansion, which continuously
heightened the market’s activity and fostered its sustained prosperous
development. As for the photovoltaic industry, the drive towards
carbon neutrality has ignited a global surge in demand, prompting
companies to move quickly towards a more integrated approach.
Domestically, the photovoltaic industry is experiencing robust growth
across all stages of supply and demand.

Handset Components and Assembly Business

In 2023, the persistence of inflation and the increased uncertainty
of the global economy led to a weakening recovery of consumer
demand. Coupled with the impact of increased inventory levels
at the beginning of the year, according to the statistics from IDC,
a market research institute, in 2023, the shipment of global smart
phones declined by 3.2% year-on-year to 1.17 billion units, marking
the lowest annual shipment in a decade. China’s smart phone market
was lacklustre in the first half but experienced a modest recovery in
the latter half as the economy improved and consumer interest in new
models grew. According to the data released by the China Academy
of Information and Communications Technology, in 2023, the shipment
of domestic mobile phones reached 289 million units, representing a
year-on-year increase of 6.5%; in particular, the shipment of 5G smart
phones was 240 million units, representing a year-on-year growth of
11.9%, accounting for 82.8% of the shipment of mobile phones in
the corresponding period. In terms of the PC field, the application
of artificial intelligence (Al) has stimulated the rigid demand for
PCs, but the overall market is still affected by the challenges of the
macroeconomic environment. According to the statistics from IDC, in
2023, global PC shipments fell 13.9% year-on-year to 260 million units.
The global tablet computers shipments reached 129 million units,
representing a year-on-year decline of 20.5%.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or “the Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, “the Group”) is principally engaged in the automobile
business which mainly includes new energy vehicles, handset
components and assembly business, rechargeable batteries and
photovoltaic business. Meanwhile, with its technological superiority,
the Group actively develops urban rail transportation and other
business segments. In 2023, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB602,315 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 42.04%, among which, the revenue from the automobiles
and related products, and other products amounted to approximately
RMB483,453 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 48.90%;
the revenue from the handset components, assembly service and
other products amounted to approximately RMB118,577 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 20.00%. These business
segments accounted for 80.27% and 19.68% of the Group’s total
revenue, respectively.

Automobiles and Batteries Business

As a pioneer and leader in the global new energy vehicle industry,
relying on its precise strategic layout, leading technical strength,
profound market insights and multi-dimensional industrial landscape,
the Group has steadily promoted the upgrading of brand power
and the strategic layout of going abroad, and achieved substantial
business development driven by the full preparation made in the
background of increasingly fierce competition in the industry.
According to data from the China Automobile Association, in 2023, the
market share of the Group’s new energy vehicles further expanded
to 31.9%, indicating a year-on-year increase of 4.8 percentage
points, leading China's new energy vehicle sales for 11 consecutive
years, retaining its No. 1 position in the global sales of new energy
vehicles and creating a history for a Chinese automobile enterprise
to rank top ten in terms of global sales for the first time. In November,
the Group launched the 6 millionth new energy vehicle, becoming
the first automaker in the world to reach such a milestone, claiming
greater brand influence and thus laying a solid foundation for the
transformation and upgrading of the global auto industry.

In the field of new energy passenger vehicles, relying on the
continuous innovation of core technologies and targeted and effective
market strategies, the Group took the lead in sales in 2023, achieving
a substantial year-on-year growth of over 60%, and continued to hit a
record high, remaining in the first spot in sales volume of passenger
vehicles among Chinese auto companies.
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Being committed to independent innovation, the Group vigorously
applies disruptive technologies to boost new quality productive forces,
thereby fostering new drivers for the high-quality development of the
industry. Relying on strong research and development genes and
rich engineer culture, the Group further launched a series of world-
leading forward-looking and revolutionary technologies based on
continuously promoting the application of existing technologies. In
2023, the Group successively released the “e* Platform” architecture,
the “DiSus” intelligent body control system, the advanced intelligent
driving assistance system literally known as “God’s Eye” ([A+# 2 fR ])
and the “DMO” super hybrid off-road platform, which further enhanced
the Group’s comprehensive competitiveness and lifted its business
development to a higher level. Based on the four-motor independent
driver as the core, the “e* Platform” architecture completely
reconstructs the characteristics of new energy vehicles in three
aspects of perception, control and execution, providing consumers
with a cross-era product featuring ultimate safety, performance
and experience. As the world’s first intelligent body control system
dedicated to new energy vehicles, “DiSus” breaks the fragmented
development model and systematically considers the vertical control
of new energy vehicles, aiming to bring users the ultimate driving
experience that takes into account both comfort and controllability with
the technical advantages of high intelligence, safety and protection,
stable driving and full coverage. With self-research hardware, software
and algorithms to build a full stack of self-research system-level
solutions for the entire vehicle, the “God’s Eye” advanced intelligent
driving assistance system is born for safety, enables a whole scenario
of companionship, assistance and rescue, and opens up a new
chapter of auto-intelligence. The “DMQ” super hybrid off-road platform
makes full use of the Group’s leading advantages in high-performance
chassis, intelligent electric four-wheel drive and off-road-specific
power-train system through the ultimate integration of new hybrid non-
load-bearing frame structure and off-road-specific hybrid structure
to achieve a perfect balance among super power, strong off-road
strength and the least energy consumption while ensuring vehicle
safety.
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Relying on the continuous iteration and innovation
of the Group’s core technologies, the Group further
expands the brand matrix as it unveils the high-
end “Yangwang” brand and the professional
and personalized “FANGCHENGBAQO” brand in
succession during the year, gradually shaping a
multi-brand gradient layout consisting of the “BYD”
brand, the “Denza” brand, the “Yangwang” brand
and the “FANGCHENGBAOQO” brand, covering from
home to luxury, from mass to personalized, fully
satisfying users’ automobile needs in all scenarios.
In 2023, all brands of the Group maintained steady
development and delivered stunning performance,
and the multi-brand strategy achieved initial results.
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As the Group’s first passenger vehicle brand, the “BYD” brand has
gradually developed two series of products, the “Dynasty” series
and the “Ocean” series. Relying on precise insights into consumer
demand, the Group actively optimized the product matrix of the
“BYD” brand and launched several iterative and new models during
the period, and it also further promoted the “price parity between
fuel-engine vehicle and electric vehicle” initiative to continuously
consolidate the competitive advantage. The “Dynasty” series perfectly
integrate the leading technology and Chinese fashion trend to create
Chinese fashion and smart new energy vehicles, with five family
products of “Han”, “Tang”, “Song”, “Qin” and “Yuan”. As one of the
signature products of domestic brands’ high-end process, “Han”
has continued to be popular since its launch. During the period, the
“Han” family was completely rejuvenated, and “Han EV Champion
Edition”, “Han DM-i Champion Edition” and “Han DM-p Ares Edition”
were officially launched. The product strength was comprehensively
improved, subverting the mainstream B-segment sedan market.
“Tang” is the Group’s medium/large flagship SUV series product, and
the launch of “Tang EV Champion Edition”, “Tang DM-i Champion
Edition” and “Tang DM-p Champion Edition/Ares Edition” has further
strengthened the product competitiveness of the “Tang” family. For
the “Song” family, “Song PLUS Champion Edition” and “Song Pro
Champion Edition” were launched with renewed designs during
the year, being sought after immediately, and “Song L”, the B-class
pioneer shooting-brake SUV, was unveiled at the end of the year.
Empowered by the three core technologies, “e-Platform 3.0”, “CTB”
and “DiSus-C”, “Song L" helped the “Song” family continue to lead the
new energy SUV market with strong product strength. For the “Qin”
family, “Qin PLUS Champion Edition”, as the first iterative model of the
year, shocked the market immediately after its launch and put an end
to the monopoly of joint venture brands. It was the first Chinese model
that claimed the championship on the chart of best-selling sedans of
the year in 13 years. For the “Yuan” family, “Yuan PLUS Champion
Edition”, as the first A-class SUV equipped with “e-Platform 3.0” and
launched with a new design, maintained the leading position in the
A-class pure electric vehicle market.
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The “Ocean” series adopts the design concept of
ocean aesthetics, with a product position aimed
at younger generations, to further satisfy the
diversified needs of consumers. The pure electric
vehicle product “Dolphin” continued to take the
lead, claiming the champion of AO-class vehicle
sales for two consecutive years and setting a new
record of annual AO-class vehicle sales. Launched
officially in April, “Sea Gull” witnessed rising sales
all the way along to the championship of annual
AO0O-class vehicle sales. “Destroyer 05 Champion
Edition”, also launched in April, better met the
diverse needs of users for cars, and received both
good sales and reputation in the A+ class sedan
market. On top of the pure electric sports activity
coupé “Seal Champion Edition” launched in May
with a renewed design, “Seal DM-i” was available in
the market in September, offering more alternatives
to consumers and consolidating the leading
position in the midsize sedan market.
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As the Group’s brand focusing on the new energy luxury vehicle
market, the “Denza” brand builds its core competitiveness with
leading new energy and safety technologies, smart luxury product
quality and user eco-services system, and endeavors to grow from the
path-breaker of China’s luxury new energy vehicle market to the leader
of technologies enabling luxury new energy vehicles. “Denza D9”,
the first luxury MPV under the “Denza” brand that integrates luxury,
intelligence, power, and safety, was on the list of bestsellers and
claimed the championship of 2023 for annual sales in the MPV market,
firmly occupying the leading position in the new value benchmark
of luxury MPVs in China. With the steady growth of the brand force,
the “Denza” brand launched the smart and luxury shooting-brake
SUV “Denza N7” with outstanding technological innovation in July.
Equipped with the “God’s Eye” advanced intelligent driving assistance
system and the “DiSus-A” intelligent air body control system (standard
version), “Denza N7” demonstrates the integration of intelligence and
electrification technologies from three dimensions: intelligent cockpit,
intelligent driving and intelligent chassis, and brings the luxury travel
experience underpinned by intelligence, safety and comfort.
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With the maturity and application of core technologies such as
“e* Platform”, the Group officially launched a new high-end brand
“Yangwang” at the beginning of the year, which opened up the million-
RMB-worth new energy market with subversive technologies and
products, and reshaped the high-end brand values in the new energy
era. Available officially in September, “Yangwang U8” Luxury version
is equipped with “e* Platform” technology and “DiSus-P” intelligent
hydraulic body control system to realize all-round intelligent control of
the body, and it truly achieves the perfect balance of extreme off-road
capability, comfort and luxury, making the driving experience more
imaginative. In the first calendar month of delivery before the end of
the year, “Yangwang U8” secured the first place in the list of million-
RMB-worth new energy SUVs for monthly sales, marking a milestone
in the history of China’s auto industry in developing high-end brands.
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Unveiled in August, “"FANGCHENGBAQO” brand, a professional
and personalized brand, is built on the professional new energy
technology platform and vehicle architecture, and offers a diverse
range of powerful products underscoring “ambition, joy and fun”
characteristics, inviting users to explore unique driving experience
and new lifestyle in different personalized scenarios. “BAO 5", the

first super hybrid hardcore SUV under the “FANGCHENGBAQ” brand
officially launched in November, is equipped with “DMQO” super hybrid
off-road platform, with “DiSus-P” intelligent hydraulic body control
system (standard version) being optional, striking a balance between
off-road performance and comfortable experience, and has been
gaining popularity since it becomes available.
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While consolidating and expanding its development advantages in
the domestic market, the Group has been accelerating overseas
market expansion by relying on its comprehensive strength of “leading
technology, leading safety, leading quality and leading market”. During
the year, the Group’s new energy passenger vehicles have entered
more than 50 countries and regions including Japan, Germany,
Australia, Brazil and the United Arab Emirates, winning the first place
in many countries in terms of the sales of new energy vehicles, and
being honored with multiple international awards for technologies and
model designs. As it debuts and launches vehicle models under its
various brands in the international market, the Group provides global
consumers with incomparable green travel experience. In March,
the Group held a brand release and new model launch conference
in Mexico City, and launched three pure electric models, “Han EV”,
“Tang EV” and “Yuan PLUS” (also known as “BYD ATTO 3”), opening
up a new pattern in the Mexican passenger vehicles market. In June,
the Group launched “Yuan PLUS” in the United Arab Emirates, which
had passed localization and high-temperature tests to ensure that
users can get the best driving experience, opening a new chapter
in the Middle East passenger vehicles market. In September, the
Group made its presence at the Munich Auto Show with six models
of new energy vehicles, and announced the availability of “Seal” in
the European market. In October, the Group unveiled five new energy
vehicle models and related core technologies at the 47th Tokyo Auto
Show, being the first Chinese automaker attending the auto show
and unveiling “Yangwang U8” in the overseas market for the first
time. In November, the Group made its presence at the 40th Thailand
International Motor Expo with five heavyweight models, and displayed
“Denza N7” and “Yangwang U8” in addition to “Yuan PLUS”, “Dolphin”
and “Seal”, the three models that had been launched overseas,
showcasing its diversified product matrix and innovative technologies
to the media and consumers.
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In addition, adhering to the concept of win-win cooperation, the Group
continued to strengthen cooperation with international partners in the
development of vehicle electrification, made active efforts to achieve
localized production, and joined hands with many high-quality global
dealers to provide local consumers with high-quality new energy
vehicle products and services, thereby promoting the transformation
of global vehicle electrification. In March, the foundation stone of the
Group'’s first overseas passenger vehicle production base was laid in
Thailand, injecting new vitality into the development of the local new
energy vehicle market. In July, the Group announced that it would
establish a large-scale manufacturing base complex in Brazil to
accelerate the popularization and application of new energy vehicles
in the country. In September, the Group entered into the investment
agreement with the Ministry of Investment, Industry and Trade of the
Republic of Uzbekistan, which provides strong support to the joint
venture established in collaboration of the Group and UZAVTOSANOAT
JSC to boost production of vehicles and auto parts. In December, the
Group announced that a world-class new energy vehicle production
base would be built in Hungary, which demonstrated its active efforts
to enhance technological exchanges and innovation with Hungary and
to further develop the European market.

In 2023, despite the challenges posed by intensified competition in
the automobile industry and the termination of new energy vehicle
subsidies, satisfactory profitability continued in the new energy
passenger car business of the Group by virtue of the improving brand
power, the fast-growing overseas sales volume, the expanding scale
and the strong industry chain cost control capability, coupled with the
fall in prices of upstream raw materials.

In the field of battery electric buses, the Group carried out in-
depth market development, launched quality products with leading
technology, and worked with various partners to continuously improve
the quality of urban public transportation services and lead the
transformation of electrification of the global public transportation.
In October, the Group signed an agreement with the municipal
government of Tashkent, the capital city of Uzbekistan, to supply 2,000
electric buses to the local government to provide local citizens with a
safe, reliable, comfortable and clean means of transportation, as well
as to create a more comfortable urban environment. In December, the
Group delivered the first batch of electric buses to the Mexico City
Transportation Government Department and those buses have been
put into operation, helping Mexico City to realize green transportation
transformation.
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In the field of urban rail transit, the Group focused on solving urban
microcirculation and last mile problems by steadily promoting the
application of the medium-capacity “SkyRail” and low-capacity
“SkyShuttle” with proprietary intellectual property rights, providing
effective solutions to traffic jams in cities all over the world. For
“SkyShuttle” project, the SkyShuttle line of Dawang mountain in
Xiangjiang New Area, Hunan, the world’s first SkyShuttle line for
leisure tourism, was officially open to tourists in May, effectively
driving the upgrading of the regional tourism industry and promoting
the integrated development of urban leisure tourism industry. In
November, the SkyShuttle line of Xi'an High-tech Zone was full-
line connected. Offering accessibility to core areas of the zone, the
line runs through important transportation corridors within the zone,
covering the main passenger flow collector-distributor points along
its route. The line provides a strong boost for the low-carbon and
intelligent three-dimensional traffic travel mode, contributing to the
development of transport sector of the city.
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In terms of external cooperation, the Group continuously strengthened
cooperation with leading partners in different professional fields
around the world. During the year, the Group deepened its
cooperation with Nvidia, the world’s leading artificial intelligence
computing manufacturer, to jointly develop vehicles that are safer
and intelligent for consumers. The Group also signed a strategic
cooperation agreement with Weichai Power to establish a more
comprehensive and in-depth strategic cooperation relationship in the
new energy field by utilizing the advantages of both parties, thereby
helping China’s new energy commercial vehicle industrialization
development toward a new stage. Furthermore, the Group entered
into a strategic cooperation agreement with State Power Investment
Corporation (“SIPC”), under which the two parties will carry out
all-round and in-depth cooperation in the fields of clean energy,
household energy storage, integrated intelligent zero-carbon
power plant, technology research and development, green energy
substitution in industrial parks and international business on the
basis of the principles of “mutual complementarity, mutual benefit,
open cooperation and common development”, with a view to jointly
promoting the development of green and low-carbon energy.
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In terms of rechargeable batteries, the Group continued to carry out in-
depth development and maintained its leading position in technology
in China. Product R&D and capacity expansion went smoothly during
the year, which contributed to the steady development of the battery
business. While meeting inner power battery demand, the Group also
continued to actively expand external customers and accelerate the
market-oriented deployment. Thanks to extensive efforts in energy
storage market in the past years, the Group’s energy storage business
covered such areas of applications as power source energy storage,
grid energy storage, industrial and commercial energy storage,
household energy storage, providing global customers with full-
scenario, full-value and ecosystem-based technology and product
solutions and facilitating the new energy storage industry to achieve
leapfrog development. In respect of the photovoltaic business, under
the guidance of the “carbon peaking and carbon neutrality” goal,
the Group accelerated new technology R&D to further build up its
comprehensive competitive advantages and prepare for the rapid
development of the industry.
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Handset Components and Assembly Business

The Group is a global leading provider of high-tech and innovative
products, providing customers around the world with one-stop product
solutions relying on its core advantages in electronic information,
Al, 5G and Internet of Things, thermal management, new materials,
precision molds and digital manufacturing technologies to provide
customers around the globe with one-stop products solutions. With a
wide range of businesses, the Group engages in diversified market
segments, such as consumer electronics and new intelligent products.
With industry-leading R&D and manufacturing strength, efficient mass
production experience, diversified product portfolio and abundant
customer base, the Group actively increased its market share and
moved faster to extend its presence to new segments with potential
for growth. Amid the severe market environment, the Group saw a
significant profitability improvement thanks to the further optimization
in business structure and cost control enhancement.

With respect to the consumer electronics business, the Group, relying
on top-notch R&D and solid product design and manufacturing
capabilities, continued to deepen its strategic cooperation with key
customers, facilitated customers in the iteration and innovation of
their products based on its industry-leading technological capabilities
and tapped into the potential for securing more businesses from
customers. As a result, the Group still achieved an increase in market
share, further consolidating its leading position in the industry amid
the challenging market. The Group experienced a further growth of its
market share in the core products of major overseas customers, and
projects of new product categories were also in desired progress,
resulting in significant growth in business scale. The Group also
continued to focus on providing full range of services for flagship
products in the Android market. Group’s Android business maintained
steady growth as demands in the smartphone market picked up in the
second half of 2023.

EEE WD

FHBHERARER

AEBEEEHRALNSRRAIMEREHRA - KT
BFEERNM - ATERER - 5GHYEEE A -
HMEREAM - MR - RERARM e T
HERMEZLEY  REMEFPRE-WHAER
FRRTTER - AEBEBREZ  REHBETF - #E
BREMFZICAE - KERERBLHHEM
HER SRRBLNLEELS: ZINEM
HAM&EFWEﬁEﬁ AEBEBEBEATSD

CEBEMRGRABIEREDHNMEE RN
F@mm%%%T EBEBE— BRI RAE
ERENTRTT - BABENBRENE ©

HEETEBIE  ARBEREELEOMITES

EEWF&&EMLEﬁ ?Wﬁkﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬂ
BEAIE  WITEEENBRMEN AR PERMNE
RAMBIF - LB HIBEBIRRE S AR HE

WTSRE MRS EATSNE  BEEAHTE
BESRMLAL - AERBAEBIKRE PR OERM N EE
—FRM FRENGEBHEEERER  BRE

BREREEE KE@ﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁm%m
BEEEREHETURYE  BEFERHEFLN =
Z=FTHFAMEE  AEBENZIEBRE
2R

35



36

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED N

In terms of the new intelligent product business, the Group actively
enhanced its arrangements in Al servers and other high-growth
segments, and continued to deepen its close cooperation with
industry-leading customers in various segments. The Group gained
a steady development of its businesses in such segments as drones,
smart homes and gaming hardware, with an increasing market share.

In terms of material acquisitions, BYD Electronics (International)
Company Limited (“BYD Electronics”), a majority-owned subsidiary
of the Group, completed the acquisition of the mobile electronics
manufacturing business of Jabil Inc., one of the world’s largest
electronic manufacturing services and solutions providers, on 29
December 2023. The acquisition will expand the customer and
product boundaries of BYD Electronics, broaden the smartphone
components business, and boost industrial upgrading.
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PROSPECT AND STRATEGY

Looking ahead to 2024, the international economic environment will
remain complex, with global inflation on a downward trajectory under
the impact of easing supply-side problems and tightening monetary
policy. However, the pace of economic expansion will remain slow
since the long-term factors that have been weighing on global growth
have not yet been resolved fundamentally, and the economic risks
posed by geopolitics will remain material. Despite the complexity of
the external environment, China will continue to expand and unleash
the new potential of domestic demand, accelerate the development of
new quality productive forces, and push the economy to achieve high
quality development in a stable operation under the general principles
of “pursuing progress while ensuring stability, promoting stability
through progress, and establishing the new before abolishing the
old”. In March, the executive meeting of the State Council considered
and passed the Action Plan for the Promotion of the Large Scale
Equipment Renewal and Trade-in of Consumer Goods, pointing out
that we should adhere to the principle of encouraging the advanced
and eliminating the backward, and actively carrying out the trade-
in of automobiles, which is also favorable to the new energy vehicle
industry. It is expected that China’s new energy vehicle market will
continue to grow strongly in 2024, and the production capacity will
exceed 10 million units, with penetration rate hitting another record
high.

Automobiles and Batteries Business

The Group will adhere to its development strategy, strengthen
the independency and controllability of its core technologies, and
continue to enhance the competitiveness of its products. Focusing
on market consumption trend and aligning with customer demands,
the Group will further improve its multi-brand matrix. The Group will
accelerate the business “going global” to provide global consumers
with excellent new energy vehicle experience with its comprehensive
strength in new energy vehicle area, and to help China’s automobile
industry to lead the global new energy vehicle trend.
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In the field of new energy passenger vehicles, the Group will continue
to deepen the R&D of core technologies for new energy vehicles,
consolidate its existing electrification advantages and take the lead
in the future development of intelligent automobiles. During the
BYD Dream Day 2024 held in January 2024, the Group unveiled
its Integrated Vehicle Intelligence strategy, the new strategy of the
Group in relation to intelligent development, and showcased its
technological achievements such as intelligent driving, intelligent
parking, and intelligent cockpit, demonstrating the Group’s strengths
in intelligentization and its strategic plans for the future, and marking
that the Group is leading the industry to pursue intelligent vehicles
in a new direction. Based on the concept of “Integrated Vehicle
Intelligence” and its advantages of vertical integration and full-stack
self-development, and relying on its extensive experience in the
electrification sector, the Group released “XUANJI” Architecture, the
first intelligent architecture in the industry, and “XUANJI Al Large
Model”, the first dual-cycle multi-modal Al. The “XUANJI” Architecture
is an important part of the integrated vehicle intelligence, realizing the
efficient integration of electrification and intelligence with “one brain”,
“two ends”, “three networks”, and “four chains”, making the driving
experience safer, more efficient, and more personalized. The “XUANJI
Al Large Model”, marking the first application of Al technology across
all vehicular domains, possesses the largest data foundation in the
industry, leading sample sizes, and high computing power, covering
over 300 vehicular scenarios, endowing the Integrated Vehicle
Intelligence system with the capacity for continuous adaptation.
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The Group will continue to advance its multi-brand strategy, constantly
refines its product matrix and initiates new product cycles. Several
vehicle models will be launched to satisfy the differentiated needs of
consumers. With respect to the “BYD” brand, the “Qin PLUS Glory
Edition” and “Destroyer 05 Glory Edition” were officially launched in
February, representing an upgrading of the previous editions and
realizing “NEV cheaper than ICE”. These two editions provide users
with advanced new energy vehicle experience with high-value product
competitiveness that are far superior to those of comparable fuel-
powered vehicles. For “Denza” brand, the luxury shooting-brake SUV
“Denza N7” was upgraded with a new level of intelligence, efficiently
integrating the “God’s Eye” with the “DiSus-A”" (standard version).
This allows “Denza N7” to offer more comfortable and safer intelligent
driving. As for the “Yangwang” brand, “Yangwang U9”, the pure
electric supercar, was officially launched in February. Based on the
two core technologies of “e*Platform” and “DiSus-X", as well as the
excellent bodywork, aerodynamics, intelligentization and other top
technologies in the industry, “Yangwang U9” comes with unparalleled
performance and experience. Beyond the traditional supercar
performance and experience, “Yangwang U9” offers the tastes of
“track racing, urban driving and leisure off-road fun”, and it redefines
the value benchmark of the supercars. The “FANGCHENGBAQO” brand
delivered “Bao 5 DiSus Flagship Edition” in January, which is the first
hardcore SUV under the brand, and further brings a more complete
and comfortable hardcore SUV driving experience to users.
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In the field of overseas passenger vehicle business, the Group
leveraged its leading strengths in the new energy vehicle sector to
accelerate its overseas markets expansion and expand its product
matrix. The Group will continue to work together with its partners
to develop overseas markets and provide global consumers with
differentiated, competitive products and quality services. In January,
the first Ro-Ro ships for automobile transportation of the Group
successfully made its maiden voyage, marking a new phase in the
overseas market expansion of the Group. In the future, more Ro-
Ro ships will be put into operation, providing ample transportation
capacity for the Group’s vehicles to go abroad and also promoting the
sustainable development of the entire automobile export industry.

In the field of battery electric buses, the Group will continue to
empower low-carbon upgrades in global public transportation
systems, provide sustainable, zero-pollution and intelligent public
transportation solutions to different countries and regions, launch
zero-emission, high quality, green and environmentally friendly public
transportation products and services recognized by the market
through efficient and leading-edge innovative technologies, and
promote rapid and healthy development of a low-carbon society.
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In the field of urban rail transit, the Group will continue to innovate in
the areas of green and low-carbon, intelligent and smart, integrated
and efficient development, extend the electric vehicle industry
chain to the field of rail transit, focus on promoting low-carbon and
environmentally friendly urban rail transit products, namely “SkyRail”
and “SkyShuttle”, and continuously expand urban applications and
international cooperation to help cities build low-carbon transportation
and achieve high-quality and sustainable development of green and
intelligent transportation.

In terms of rechargeable batteries, the Group will continue to
enhance its independent innovation and R&D capabilities, actively
promote the application of new technologies and product upgrades,
further expand its customer base and business coverage, increase
market shares and facilitate sustainable development of relevant
businesses. In terms of photovoltaics business, the Group will actively
grasp the development trend of the market, focus on technology
R&D, concentrate resources, promote product transformation and
upgrading, to usher in the explosive growth opportunities of the
industry with high-quality products.

Handset Components and Assembly Business

The Group will proactively capture market opportunities, continue
to put efforts on the R&D of core technologies, enhance its vertical
integration advantage and deepen the strategy of developing
major customers. While maintaining our industry-leading position
in traditional businesses, the forward-looking deployment in the
relevant product lines of emerging businesses will maintain a strong
development momentum, driving the continuous growth of the Group’s
business and revenue scale.
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In terms of consumer electronics business, the Group will continue to
closely follow market trends, fully seize the development opportunities
brought by Al, titanium metal materials, and other new applications,
strengthen its comprehensive competitive advantage, and continue to
increase its market share. The Group will continue to deeply explore
the core business potential of its major overseas customers, further
increase the core products share in those customers and actively
expand into new categories of products to further expand its business
scale. In addition, the Group will continue to deepen its strategic
cooperation with customers in Android flagship products, support the
business development needs of customers, and continuously assist in
the iteration and upgrade of customer products. At the same time, the
mobile electronics manufacturing business acquired by the Group in
December 2023 will bring rapid expansion of the consumer electronics
components business scale and more long-term development
opportunities, further enhancing market share and consolidating its
leading position in the industry. In the future, the Group will continue
to vigorously expand both domestic and international markets,
strengthen global layout, and provide higher-quality comprehensive
services to customers at home and abroad.

In terms of new intelligent product business, the Group is optimistic
about the market prospects for Al servers and will continue to actively
invest in R&D resources, expanding our focus on Al server-related
products and solutions. Leveraging world-class R&D capabilities,
a global layout and vertical integration advantages, the Group will
continue to deepen cooperation with top-tier clients in various niche
fields. There will be a strong growth momentum in the fields of smart
home devices, game hardware, and drones, driving the long-term
sustainability of the new intelligent product business scale. At the
same time, the Group will actively explore other new categories and
markets with growth potential, nurturing new engines for growth.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Company

During the Year, the Group’s revenue increased by 42.04% as F R & &
compared to that of 2022, mainly attributable to the growth of new
energy vehicle business. The profit attributable to equity holders of the
parent company increased by 80.72% as compared to the previous
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year, mainly attributable to the increase in sales volume of new energy

vehicles.

Segmental Information

The following charts set out comparisons of the Group’s revenue by
product categories and locations of customers for the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022:

Revenue Breakdown by Product Categories
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Revenue Breakdown by Locations of Customers
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Gross Profit and Margin

During the Year, the Group’ s gross profit increased by approximately
68.53% to approximately RMB121,757 million. Gross profit margin
increased from approximately 17.04% in 2022 to approximately
20.21% during the Year. The gross profit margin increased in
comparison with 2022, mainly attributable to the growth of new energy
vehicle business.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the Year, BYD recorded an operating cash inflow of
approximately RMB169,725 million, compared with that of
approximately RMB140,838 million in 2022. The cash inflow of the
Group during the Period was mainly attributable to the increase in
cash generated from the sales of goods and provision of services.
Total borrowings as at 31 December 2023, including all bank loans,
were approximately RMB36,545 million, compared with approximately
RMB18,517 million of total borrowings as at 31 December 2022,
including all bank loans and bonds. The maturity profile of the bank
loans thereof spreads over a period of five years, with approximately
RMB24,570 million repayable within one year, and approximately
RMB11,975 million repayable within the second to the fifth years. The
Group had adequate liquidity to meet its daily liquidity management
and capital expenditure requirements and control internal operating
cash flows.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, turnover period of receivables
(including trade receivables, contract assets and receivables
financing) was approximately 43 days, as compared to approximately
53 days for the same period in 2022, which was mainly due to the
fact that the increase of trade receivables balance in average was
lower than that of sales revenue over the same period. The inventory
turnover period was approximately 64 days for the year ended 31
December 2023 as compared to approximately 64 days for the same
period in 2022, which remained basically the same as compared to
the previous period.

Please refer to notes V.24, 33 and 35 to the financial statements for
details of financial resources.
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Capital Structure

The Group’s financial division is responsible for the Group’s financial
risk management which operates according to policies implemented
and approved by senior management of the Group. As at 31
December 2023, borrowings were primarily settled in RMB, while
cash and cash equivalents were primarily held in RMB and US dollar.
The Group plans to maintain an appropriate mix of equity and debt
to ensure an efficient capital structure during the Period. As at 31
December 2023, all of the Group’s outstanding loans were RMB loans
and approximately 67% (2022: 43%) of such outstanding loans were
at fixed interest rates, with the remaining at floating interest rates.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by equity. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio
as low as possible. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Equity represents equity
attributable to owners of the parent. Therefore, the gearing ratios
of the Group was -44% and -26% as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances with carrying
amount of RMBO (31 December 2022: RMB880,000) were subject
to restrictions as deposits of bank acceptance bills; cash and bank
balances with carrying amount of RMB124,124,000 (31 December
2022: RMB166,291,000) were subject to restrictions as guarantee
deposits, bid bond and others.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s income and expenditure are settled in RMB and
US dollars. During the Period, the Group did not experience any
significant difficulties in or impacts on its operations or liquidity due
to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The Directors believe that
the Group has sufficient foreign exchange to meet its own foreign
exchange requirements and will adopt practical measures to prevent
exposure to exchange rate risk.
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Employment, Training and Development

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 703.5
thousand employees. During the Period, total staff cost accounted
for approximately 14.84% of the Group’s turnover. Employees’
remuneration was determined based on performance, qualifications
and prevailing industry practices, with compensation policies
being reviewed on a regular basis. Bonuses were also awarded to
employees, based on their annual performance evaluation. Incentives
were offered to encourage personal motivation.

In 2023, BYD embraces the core talent development philosophy of
“cultivating excellence with excellence, allowing success to replicate
success”, which has constructed a distinctive talent training system
that is committed to building a multi-level and comprehensive learning
and development organization, establishing multi-training channels
online and offline, innovating training forms and continuously elevating
the Company’s competitive edge in talent and strengthening its
talent pool by face-to-face theoretical training, case studies, skill
competitions and practical simulations. To extract and summarize the
valuable experience accumulated by BYD since its establishment,
the Group organized a special event for case development and
application, gathering over a hundred outstanding cases covering
technology, marketing, operations and miscellaneous, aiming to
achieve the visualization of implicit experiences and the replication
of excellent experiences. Based on the continuous optimization
of the E-learning online learning platform, in 2023, BYD has
internally developed a total of 1,592 courses, and the platform’s
course resources have exceeded 8,381. The total annual training,
encompassing both online and offline formats, reached an impressive
48.81 million class hours, averaging 69 class hours per person, with a
100% on-the-job training coverage rate for employees. In 2023, BYD's
accumulated investment in talent costs exceeded RMB100 million.

New employee training: To help new employees smoothly
integrate into the new environment and quickly become competent
in their positions, a range of training courses is set up, covering
the Company’s management systems, corporate culture, product
knowledge, professional skills, food, clothing, housing and transport.
At the grassroots level of new employees, BYD focuses on the
integration of newcomers into the Company, safety literacy and job-
related operations. While ensuring the input of corporate systems
and corporate culture, trainings in relation to on-the-job skills, safety
education and fire safety are carried out.

'R FIRER

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—0 " AXEEEAL70.35
E%EE - BN BEIRABELHEAEEEEED
14.84% - REBEREENERE EERERNIT
XEPETHTRENRH MHSBERSTHE
o BEBEFEIERBNZ  EEXNSEREIEANL
e o BRI TIERBAEE HMEE -

ZE=F WM AEFEEES  ERIE
BRNINEODASTEEESBEE TR BEEEA
TEERBZR BORITEZELR  2EEN2FR
BRI UKL LEGTZEEIERBE - BFE
B BRAEREE  ROM - HELER - B
BREZEFN  BERARAATHFESN  TE
ATEE - BERBLEL DB EAKR T RHNBEEL
B 2EEASROIMEEEREEEE - LUE
ABHREBRY  BERI - &8 B% KAN
REE  BEEBRBELBAIGRLE  BFEBER
b o ERE-learningfE 2B F o N Bl - —F
Z=F o hI RN AERIE1,502 0 FAREE
JRE88,381F7 - 2F & LR N IFIIREE4,8818
2 AYJ69RREF - B TMAFIIEEE100% =
To=F  BIIRA R AR UETT

HEITHEIN : REHFM BB E TIEH AR
BoREBERL RERERAETESE - 4
EXf EmAE - EERE EFETEFHR
RiIZ - EEEMETEM @ LABEMANDLE
BA Z2EE - LEEEERT  ERELES
B~ REXMcBHANRE - ARELXE 2%

B Bz EE -



Annual Report 2023
—EBo=EFR

Management Discussion and Analysis

Cultivation of management: To enhance the comprehensive
capabilities of management at all levels, BYD has established a “1+X”
course system for management personnel. While the Group sets the
direction, it develops proprietary courses that are closely aligned with
job positions. At the same time, by reviewing and extracting case
studies, benchmarking against excellence and aligning with best
practices, it achieves the inheritance and replication of outstanding
experiences, continuously advancing the efficient empowerment of
cadres at all levels.

Cultivation of postdoctoral fellows: To continuously provide
and reserve the main force and leading talents for the Company’s
technological innovation, BYD has established a postdoctoral
workstation. Leveraging on its strengths in scientific and technological
innovation and its competitive edge across multiple industries, BYD
has partnered with top universities, academic disciplines, mobile
stations and tutors in China, aiming to cultivate first-class postdoctoral
fellows of BYD. Currently, a “three stations and three bases” regional
landscape has been formed in Shenzhen, Chongging and Xi‘an.

Specialized Talent: To enhance the innovation capabilities, teamwork
skills, professional qualities and management competencies of internal
employees, thereby improving the Company’s overall competitiveness,
BYD has initiated specialized training projects for various types of
personnel, including sales personnel, quality management personnel,
procurement system personnel and technical talents. For instance,
in response to the shortage of skilled workers in society, BYD has
taken significant steps to cultivate a skilled workforce by establishing
a development channel specifically for skilled talents, which includes
enhancing the promotion system and setting up a comprehensive
evaluation system for professional and skilled talents, as well as
creating a rank system and salary structure tailored to skilled workers.
Furthermore, BYD has refined its incentive mechanisms to better
integrate training, assessment, appointment and compensation for
skilled talents, aiming to foster a culture that admires skillfulness,
values the mastering of skills, and encourages skilled workers to
engage in continuous learning and advancement. BYD addresses
the issue of nurturing talents through a mentorship system and solves
retention problems by establishing skill pathways, as per which it has
ultimately created an internal talent supply chain that progresses from
“skill cultivation — internal apprenticeship — independent job placement
= skill enhancement”.
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Foreign talents: To support the development of the Company’s
overseas business and to establish a standardized international
talent training system, BYD has set up training courses for overseas
employees and those who will be working abroad. The voyage
program starts from the common issues of employees going abroad
and legal compliance, covering multi-dimensional courses such
as basic knowledge of going abroad, compliance management,
corporate culture and cross-culture management. At the same time, to
strengthen the understanding, identification and job honor of overseas
new employees, a series of training named “Flying Wings” is set up for
new overseas employees.

Furthermore, the Group had also adopted the 2022 Employee Share
Ownership Plan (the “Employee Share Ownership Plan”) and the
Share Option Incentive Scheme of BYD Semiconductor Company
Limited (the “Subsidiary Share Option Scheme”), which were
approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 27 May 2022 and 16 June 2021, respectively.
For further details of the Employee Share Ownership Plan and the
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, please refer to the sections headed
“2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan” and “Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme” below of this report respectively.
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2022 EMPLOYEE SHARE OWNERSHIP PLAN

Reference is made to the announcement dated 22 April 2022 and the
circular dated 5 May 2022 (the “Circular”) of the Company in relation
to, among others, the adoption of the Employee Share Ownership
Plan (draft). The adoption was approved by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27 May 2022.

The Employee Share Ownership Plan is a discretionary employee
share ownership plan of the Company and does not involve the grant
of options to issue new Shares or any other new securities of the
Company.

The Employee Share Ownership Plan is beneficial for the Company
to establish and improve the benefit sharing mechanism, enhance
the cohesion of employees and the competitiveness of the Company,
realizing its long-term sustainable development. Participants include
employee representative supervisors, senior management of the
Company, middle level management and core backbone employees
of BYD Group (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company and their respective associates). The total number
of participants of the Employee Share Ownership Plan shall not
exceed 12,000 persons. The entitlement of each participant under
the Employee Share Ownership Plan should not exceed 1% of total
share capital of the Company. The Employee Share Ownership Plan
transfers the A Shares of the Company repurchased through non-
trading transfer and other methods permitted by laws and regulations.
The transfer price is RMBO per share, and the participants do not
need to make payments.

5,511,024 shares held by the designated securities repurchase
account of the Company have been granted, and the closing price
of the Company’s A shares was RMB323.00 per share on the trading
day immediately preceding the grant date. The aforesaid number of
shares transferred accounted for approximately 0.189% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

The first lock-up period of the Employee Share Ownership Plan had
expired on 15 July 2023, and 30% of the total number of shares of
the Company maintained under the Employee Share Ownership Plan
were vested, which corresponds to 1,653,307 A shares, representing
0.057% of the total share capital of the Company of 2,911,142,855
shares as at the date of this report. The closing price of the Company’s
A shares was RMB264.41 per share on the trading day immediately
preceding the vesting date.

The term of the Employee Share Ownership Plan shall be 48 months
from the date on which the Employee Share Ownership Plan is
considered and approved at the general meeting and the Company
announces that the last batch of the underlying shares is transferred
to the Employee Share Ownership Plan. Thus, the remaining life of
the Employee Share Ownership Plan is about 31 months as at 31
December 2023.
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For details of the Employee Share Ownership Plan and repurchase of
A Shares of the Company, please refer to the table below and note XllI

to the financial statements in this report.

List out below are the details of movement of the A shares under the
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Employee Share Ownership Plan during the Reporting Period and up ~ #A%H 2118 FARBERZ M EEhE1S
to the date of this report:
No. of
No. of unvested Closing price No. of No. of
A shares A shares No. of of A shares A shares No. of A shares
available for granted A shares immediately cancelled A shares available for
grant/ duringthe ~ vested during  preceding the duringthe  lapsed during  grant/ungranted
ungranted as at Reporting  the Reporting vesting date Reporting  the Reporting as at 31 December
1 January 2023 Period Period (RMB) Period Period 2023
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Employee representative  AFMBIAR 0 0 1,653,307 264.41 0 0 0
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management of the BAE 1D (22 W23 (123 (Hi#4) (34 liZ)
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managementand core  EEAB -
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Notes: it
(1) The participants of the Employee Share Ownership Plan do not (1) RREIFHRTEZEBRTIEESE - HKmT
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or their respective associates; or any related entities or service EARARAEEELEENRGREE -

providers of the Company.

All the 5,511,024 repurchased A shares were granted on 15
July 2022. The closing price of the Company’s A shares was
RMB323.00 per share on the trading day immediately preceding
the grant date. The fair value of the granted shares as at the date
of the grant was RMB1,863,773,206.56. The A Shares under
the Employee Share Ownership Plan will be unlocked in three
tranches:

(a) The first unlocking period shall be of 12 months
commencing from the date of the last transfer of A Shares
by the Plan and the relevant announcement by the
Company, with the number of shares unlocked being 30%
of the total number of A Shares under the Employee Share
Ownership Plan;
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The second unlocking period shall be of 24 months
commencing from the date of the last transfer of A Shares
by the Plan and the relevant announcement by the
Company, with the number of shares unlocked being 30%
of the total number of A Shares under the Employee Share
Ownership Plan;

The third unlocking period shall be of 36 months
commencing from the date of the last transfer of A Shares
by the Plan and the relevant announcement by the
Company, and the number of shares unlocked being 40%
of the total number of A Shares under the Employee Share
Ownership Plan;

The vesting of the shares granted is subject to the
fulfillment of relevant specific conditions. For details of the
specific conditions of the vesting of shares granted, please
refer to the Circular;

The company performance indicator for the first unlocking
of shares is the growth rate of operating income for the
year of 2022 compared with the year of 2021 should reach
at least 30%, and the individual performance indicator
should reach (1) “to be improved” to be 80% unlocked, (2)
“qualified” to be 100% unlocked.

During the Reporting Period, the first lock-up period of the
Employee Share Ownership Plan had expired on 15 July 2023,
and 30% of the total number of shares of the Company maintained
under the Employee Share Ownership Plan were vested, which
corresponds to 1,653,307 A shares, representing 0.057% of the
total share capital of the Company of 2,911,142,855 shares as
at the date of this report. The closing price of the Company’s A
shares was RMB264.41 per share on the trading day immediately
preceding the vesting date.

No A shares were cancelled or lapsed during the Reporting Period.

SUBSIDIARY SHARE OPTION SCHEME

References are made to the announcement dated 11 May 2021 and
circular (the “Circular”) dated 31 May 2021 of the Company, in relation
to, among others, the proposed adoption of the Subsidiary Share
Option Scheme. The adoption of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme
was approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 16 June 2021. The Subsidiary Share
Option Scheme is not a share schemes of a principal subsidiary of the
Company under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme is to, among
others, further establish and improve the incentive mechanism of BYD
Semiconductor, retain and motivate talents, and allow all participants
to focus on the long-term development of BYD Semiconductor and
jointly promote its sustainable development.
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There are 36 participants in the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme,
including directors (excluding independent non-executive directors),
senior management and key personnel (excluding supervisors) of BYD
Semiconductor. The Subsidiary Share Option Scheme is tailored to be
a one-off incentive arrangement for the aforesaid 36 participants only.
None of the 36 incentive participants of the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme is a connected person at the Company level. For details of
the identity and positions of the aforesaid participants, please refer to
the Circular.

The number of shares of BYD Semiconductor in respect of which the
share options involved is 33,088,235 shares (representing 7.353%
of the registered share capital of BYD Semiconductor as at the date
of this report), and the cumulative total number of shares of BYD
Semiconductor involved under the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme
and all other schemes of BYD Semiconductor shall not exceed 10%
of the total share capital of BYD Semiconductor in issue on 16 June
2021, which is the date of approval of the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme by the extraordinary general meeting of the Company. As
at the date of this report, an aggregate of 33,088,235 share options,
representing all the share options which could be granted under the
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, were granted to 36 employees
of BYD Semiconductor pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme at the exercise price of RMB4.54
per share. As of 31 December 2023, 314,627 share options out of the
33,088,235 share options had been lapsed and cancelled as a result
of the resignation of an employee.

The validity period of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme shall
commence from the grant date of the share options and end on
the date on which all the share options granted to the incentive
participants have been exercised or cancelled, which shall not be
longer than 10 years. The share options granted under the Subsidiary
Share Option Scheme shall be exercised in three tranches, and the
corresponding vesting periods shall be 24 months, 36 months and 48
months respectively from the grant date. As at 31 December 2023,
there were 9,826,411 exercisable share options for the first exercise
period of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, of which 6,218,756
share options had been exercised and the remaining 3,607,655 share
options had been cancelled as they were not exercised during the
exercise period. For details of the exercise period and performance
targets (as conditions of the exercise of the share options) and further
details of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
Circular and note XllI to the financial statements in this report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2023, the share capital of the Company was as

follows: T
Number of Approximate
shares issued percentage (%)
ERITROBE KB D (%)
A shares AR 1,813,142,855 62.28%
H shares HAZ 1,098,000,000 37.72%
Total wmy 2,911,142,855 100.00%

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased or sold any of the Company'’s shares.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
28 August 2023, 27 September 2023 and 29 December 2023 in
relation to the acquisition framework agreement and formal agreement
entered into by BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited
(“BE”), a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company and Jabil Circuit
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (“Jabil Singapore” or the “Seller”), a subsidiary
of Jabil Inc., in relation to the acquisition. BE acquired the product
manufacturing business from the Seller in Chengdu and Wuxi,
including the manufacturing of components for existing customers
at a cash consideration which was on the basis of RMB15.8 billion
(equivalent to US$2.2 billion), and with pre-closing and post-closing
adjustments for the actual amounts of cash, indebtedness and net
working capital. Upon the completion of the acquisition, the financial
information of the target group will be included in the consolidated
financial statements of BE.

Save as described above, during the Reporting Period, there was
no significant investment held, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Please refer to note XIV.1 to the financial statements for details of
capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Please refer to note XIV.2 to the financial statements for details of
contingent liabilities.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND SOCIAL
SECURITY

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no significant
environmental protection or social security issues.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Wang Chuan-fu

Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, aged 58, Chinese national, a master’s degree
holder and a senior engineer. Mr. Wang graduated from Central South
University of Technology (FF T A2 (currently known as Central
South University (@A 2)) in 1987 with a bachelor’s degree majoring
in metallurgy physical chemistry, and then graduated from Beijing
Non-Ferrous Research Institute in the PRC (Bt R A B4 BT
#PT) in 1990 with a master’'s degree majoring in metallurgy physical
chemistry. Mr. Wang held positions as vice supervisor in Beijing Non-
Ferrous Research Institute (At RBE B2 EHFEFL) and general
manager in Shenzhen Bi Ge Battery Co. Limited (&I LR B A R
2 |]). In February 1995, he founded Shenzhen BYD Battery Company
Limited ORIITHLL M E ZFR A E]) (“BYD Battery”) (became BYD
Company Limited (FtZez@H AR A F]) on 11 June 2002) with Mr.
Lv Xiang-yang and took the position of general manager. He is the
chairman, executive director and President of the Company, and
is responsible for the general operations of the Company and the
development of business strategies for the Company. He is a non-
executive director and the chairman of BYD Electronic (International)
Company Limited (tbap3EE F(BIER)ER 2 7)), the chairman of BYD
Semiconductor Company Limited (kb ani@ ¥ E AR B R A F]), the
chairman of Shenzhen DENZA New Energy Automotive Co., Ltd. (7%
JIEB IR /TE AR A R]), and a director of Southern University of
Science and Technology of China (B 77 Bl K E2).

Mr. Wang, being a technology expert, enjoyed special allowances
from the State Council. He was awarded “The 2008 CCTV Man of the
Year China Economy Innovation Award” (ZZZ /\GFCCTVH B4
EFEAYFEAIFTEE), 2014 Zayed Future Energy Prize Lifetime
Achievement Award” (Z=Z — U4 AL HL{E 5K 2K s R 224 A 4% & Ak BE
#%), “a founding member of the 2016 United Nations Development
Programme’s ‘Advisory Council for Sustainable Development” (ZZ—
NEBEBEMEHEZERELEBRZEFGIAIBKE) “a member
of the “13th Five Year Plan’ National Development Planning Expert
Committee” ([+=RIBIRERHREEREZEELZELH), “an Outstanding
Builder of Socialism with Chinese Characteristics in the 5th National
Non- Public Economic Sector in 2019” (ZZE—hEFREZEIER
AHEBEATEFPREELSER FEREZRE), “a model innovator
and entrepreneur and advanced model figure for the 40th Anniversary
of the Establishment of the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone” (ZRIIIEE
AR R 40 F I B3 A WA ST EEE A Y), “National Advanced
Person in the Private Economy for the Fight against COVID-19” (&
B0 28 3 i K R4S B SE#E(ELA) etc. Mr. Wang topped the list of
China’s 50 Most Influential Business Leaders in 2023 (20234 /1 [ &%
B E He500E R {E#) published by the Fortune magazine and
the list of 2023 Forbes China Best CEO (20231877 &7+ Bl & {£CEOQ)
published by Forbes China.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lv Xiang-yang

Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, aged 62, Chinese national, and a economist. Mr.
Lv worked at Chaohu Branch of the People’s Bank of China (B A
RIRTTE D T). In February 1995, he founded BYD Battery with
Mr. Wang Chuan-fu and currently is the Vice Chairman and a non-
executive Director of the Company and also a director of Youngy
Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. (@R EZEREEBRAA]), a
director of Youngy Co., Ltd. (@t#EM {7 B PR A 7)), a director of Youngy
Health Technology Co., Ltd. (EtIER R K BR A F]), chairman
of Onyx International Inc. (BN A{E SR AR AF]), chairman of
Nanijing Regenecore Biotech Co., Ltd. (F R @ EREMEHE AR A 7)),
chairman of Youngy Education Technology Co., Ltd. (BE#HERHEH
fR 72 |]), a director of Anhua Agricultural Insurance Company Limited

(ZEERERBIMD AR AT), honorary chairman of Guangdong

Manufacturers Association (=R & &EZE %), honorary chairman of
Guangdong Association for the Promotion of Industrial Development
(EREEX£ELERED)and soon.

Xia Zuo-quan

Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, aged 61, Chinese national, and a master’'s degree
holder. Mr. Xia studied computer science in Beijing Institute of Iron
and Steel Engineering (3t R #l#ZFt) (now known as University of
Science & Technology Beijing (At R EH A E)) from 1985 to 1987
and he graduated from Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University (At R KB ZEE B EET) with an EMBA in 2007. Mr. Xia
worked in the Hubei branch of The People’s Insurance Company (/#
B ARREBR A RIS A7) and joined BYD Battery in 1997 and held
positions as an executive Director and Vice President of the Company.
He is a non-executive Director of the Company and chairman of
Shenzhen Zhengxuan Investment (Holdings) Co., Ltd. (ZE3ITH E& %
&AM F]), Shenzhen Zhengxuan Qianhai Equity Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (RIIEFAEREREESERER QR
and Beijing Zhengxuan Investment Co., Ltd. (At RIEEFREBRE (T
A7), a director of UBTECH ROBOTICS CORP LTD. (FYIHE i
B M BR A R)), a director of Shenzhen Uni-Fortune Supply Chain
Service Co., Ltd. (RYIITIEES | L #tfESEE 18 R 2 7)), chairman of
Annoroad Gene Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (Z#@EERARHY
(AtF)BRA A, an independent director of China Yuhua Education
Corporation Limited (FEIFEHE LB AR R]), vice chairman of
Shenzhen Lianxia Charity Foundation (#YI M EEXEZE S ).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Cai Hong-ping

Mr. Cai Hong-ping, aged 70, Chinese (Hong Kong) national, and a
bachelor's degree holder. Mr. Cai graduated from Fudan University (18
B K&)in 1988 with a bachelor’s degree in mass communications. Mr.
Cai served as an executive chairman of Deutsche Bank ({2 = 5 E17)
in the Asia Pacific region, chairman of the investment banking division
of UBS AG in Asia, chairman of China of BNP Paribas Capital (Asia
Pacific) Limited (ZBIE 22 & 7 (32 K)BR A F)), senior vice president
and managing director of banking division of Peregrine Investments
Holdings Limited (B & ##% & #R77), member of the Overseas
Listing Team Office for Chinese Enterprises under the Restructuring
Committee of the State Council (Bl75Bt BIZR &M E P BB EFIN LT
&/ NEPEAE), and the chairman of the Joint Committee of Board
Secretaries for H Share Companies in the PRC (FEBIHK ARl E =
SWEBEE:%). Mr. Cai currently serves as an independent non-
executive director of the Company, the chairman and founding partner
of AGIC (Zf&=& ), an independent director of China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited (4 Bl 3 75 fin 22 fi% {5 B BR A 7]), Shanghai Pudong
Development Bank Co., Ltd. (B HEREZERIRTTIRHBMRAF]), China
Southern Airlines Company Limited (B & A5 2=k n AR A7), and
a supervisor of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (FREETRHER A
Al).

Zhang Min

Mr. Zhang Min, aged 47, Chinese national, a doctoral degree holder
and a professor of accounting. Mr. Zhang graduated from Beijing
Wuzi University (3t Z#E £F3) in 1999 with a bachelor's degree
in management majoring in accounting, from Zhongnan University
of Economics and Law (BB & BUEKE) in 2005 with a master’s
degree in management majoring in accounting, from Renmin
University of China (A AR A£) in 2008 with a doctor’s degree in
management majoring in accounting, and completed his post-doctoral
training in Peking University Guanghua School of Management (it
RAEBREEFIEESM) in 2010. Mr. Zhang currently serves as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company, the accounting
professor, supervisor for Ph.D. candidates and accounting director of
Business School, Renmin University of China (FF B A R A2 Ef7) as
well as an independent director of CSG Holding Co., Ltd. (F B3 5%
E x5 B R A7), and SDIC Capital Co., Ltd. (R EARR N B R A 7).
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Yu Ling

Ms. Yu Ling, aged 47, Chinese national, a doctoral degree holder,
and a professor of law. Ms. Yu graduated from Xiangtan Polytechnic
University (#E T 26%) (currently known as Hunan University of
Science and Technology (#EEHE A2)) and Xiangtan University
(MBE KZ) in 2001 with a bachelor’s degree in law, from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (T FAEI AL A &) in 2004 with
a master degree in economic law, and from East China University
of Political Science and Law (FERBUAKRZ) in 2008 with a doctoral
degree in economic law. Ms. Yu currently serves as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company, a director of Economic Law
Research Association of China (FF Bl4% A2t €), Fiscal and Tax
Law Research Association (M #/22#E€), Case Law Research
Association (Ef/AEH#175€) and Asia Competition Association (3¢
MEFEEE), and currently an independent director of Jiangxi Anyi
Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. (I Z&E EREERITROBERAD
al), Xinyu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. (&2 2R ERITRMNE
[® A A]) and Jiangxi Runtian Industry Co., Ltd. (T 70,BE & &M AR
AT,

SUPERVISORS
Li Yong-zhao

Mr. Li Yong-zhao, aged 63, Chinese national, a bachelor’'s degree
holder, and a researcher level senior engineer. Mr. Li graduated from
Xi'an Institute of Technology (FE%& L% £ft) in August 1982 with
a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical manufacturing technology and
equipment. Mr. Li worked as technician, office head, deputy director,
director, deputy plant manager and held other posts in state-owned
Factory 615 of China Industries Group Corporation (B f2e T ¥4
# /2 7]). He also acted as the general manager of the Sino-foreign
joint venture named Baoji Xingbao Machinery & Electric Co., Ltd.
(BZEE#ENR]), plant manager of state-owned Factory 843 of
China Industries Group Corporation (F B2 T &£ E Q7)) since
May 2002, vice general manager of China North Industries Group
Corporation (Fit TEEE B R A F]), executive director of Xi'an
Northern Qinchuan Company Ltd. (FBZ 475 &)L EER A F]) since
October 2010; member of science and technology committee of China
North Industries Group Corporation (Fait T %£E AR A7) since
June 2020; the executive director, Party secretary of Xi'an Northern
Qinchuan Company Ltd. (Fa%Z it F=JIIEEHR A F]) since October
2020. Mr. Li retired in October 2021. He is currently the chairman of
the Supervisory Committee of the Company.
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Zhu Ai-yun

Ms. Zhu Ai-yun, aged 59, Chinese national, and a master’s degree
holder. Ms. Zhugraduated from Changsha Communications University
(B BET) with a bachelor’s degree in engineering financial
accounting in 1988 and obtained an EMBA degree from Peking
University (At = KE2) in 2008. Ms. Zhu worked as an accountant for
Yantai, Marine Salvage Bureau (&8 _E&# ) under the Ministry
of Communications and joined BYD Battery in1997 where she served
as an accountant, manager and senior manager of the financial
department, the chief financial officer of BYD Electronic (International)
Company Limited (328 F (B ) B R A A]), etc. Currently, she
is a supervisor of the Company, an executive partner of Shenzhen
Zhengxuan Space Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (%
YT ESFRERBFEAEBEEBRAER)) and Yinchuan Xinnuo Huifu
Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (§R)I| & #E =
IR ESBE(BRE%E)), a director of Shenzhen Shanghong
Investment Co., Ltd. (RIIHZEEEBGR A7), a supervisor of
Shenzhen Changmu Medical and Healthcare Management Co.,Ltd.
(RYITmERABERZEEEAMR AT, a supervisor of Shenzhen
Zhengxuan Zhihe Investment Co., Ltd. (R EEFEA R EBR Q)
and a supervisor of Shenzhen ZhengxuanQianzhan Zhihe Investment
Co., Ltd. (RIIT ESFRTEE SR EBRAR).

Wang Zhen

Ms. Wang Zhen, aged 48, Chinese national, and a bachelor’s degree
holder. Ms. Wang graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies (ERINEINE AE) (formerly known as “Guangzhou Institute
of Foreign Languages” (E/N5MNEIFEE2FR)) in the PRC in 1998, majoring
in Spanish and obtained a bachelor’'s degree. Ms. Wang joined BYD
Battery in 1998 and served as a manager in overseas Ministry of
Commerce, Vice President of Administrative Personnel of Shenzhen
DENZA New Energy Automotive Co., Ltd. (ZYIIEZHEERTEAR A
A)), officer of the President’s office, director of the rail transit industry
office, secretary-general of BYD Charity Foundation and general
manager of BYD Company (Pingshan District). She is a supervisor and
the general manager of Human Resources Office of the Company, a
supervisor of Shantou City Sky Rail Transportation Co., Ltd. CIIZETHE
#ZBER AR, a supervisor of Jining City Sky Rail Transportation
Co., Ltd. (BEEMEHMZMAR A A)) and the chairman of BYD Charity
Foundation.
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Huang Jiang-feng

Mr. Huang Jiang-feng, aged 44, Chinese national, and a bachelor’s
degree holder. Mr. Huang graduated from Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law (B84 BUEAZ) in 2003 with a bachelor’s
degree in administration. Mr. Huang held positions in Sinopec
Chenzhou Petroleum Branch in Hunan (FEAHEMMAHD A
7)), Dongguan Hsu Fu Chi Foods Co., Ltd. (RERBLEMERA
a]) and Guangzhou Office (/& %) of Guosen Securities (Bl
7 77). He has been working in Youngy Investment Holding Group
Co., Ltd. (REEREEREE AR A A]) since August 2008, and has
been a supervisor of the Company since September 2014 and now
serves as a director and Vice President of Youngy Investment Holding
Group Co., Ltd. (BifEIREEREEFRR A F]), an executive director
and general manager of Shenzhen Qianhai Youngy Financial Services
Company Limited (FYIBTEREEE € BAREEE R A7), manager of
Guangdong Youngy Financing Service Company Limited (&R gL#E
B & RIFHB R AR]), a director and general manager of Guangdong
Youngy Financing Renting Company Limited (ERRERMEHES
fR 72 |]), an executive director and manager of Guangdong Youngy
Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (ER R EEEE AR A
7)), a director of Anhui Youngy Investment Co., Ltd (Z @B ERE S
fR 72 ®]), a director and general manager of Shenzhen Youngy Asset
Management Co., Ltd (RIIgtEEEEEFR A7), chairman of the
supervisory committee of Youngy Co., Ltd (REZERMNDBR A F), an
executive director of Guangzhou Youngy Equity Investment Co., Ltd
(BINBLEE P HER B AR /A A]), an executive director and manager
of Kangding Tianjie Construction Material Co., Ltd (BEFE HAEEREH
APBRAF]), chairman of Chengdu Youngy Lithium Technology Co.,
Ltd (AXEBRafESE £ R AR A R]), a director of Hefei Youngy Metal
Technology Co., Ltd (A IEEES BRI AR A 7]), a director of Wuhu
Tianyi Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (B ACEEREIHR AR AF]), a
director of Youngy Education Technology Co., Ltd. (REH BRI AR
‘A 7)) and an executive director and manager of Guangdong Youngy
Capital Management Co., Ltd (BEREFEE A EEER A A).

Tang Mei

Ms. Tang Mei, aged 41, is a Chinese national, bachelor’'s degree
holder. Ms. Tang graduated from Central South University (41 R A £2)
in June 2005, with a bachelor’'s degree in English. Ms. Tang joined
the Group in 2005 and held positions as secretary of the President, a
manager in Cultural Propaganda Department of the Group, a manager
in reception center of the Group, executive officer of BYD Charity
Foundation, currently a supervisor and the deputy head of the Chief
Executive Office and the supervisor of the Automobile Industry Office.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Li Ke

Ms. Li Ke, aged 54, Chinese national, and a bachelor’s degree holder.
Ms. Li graduated from Fudan University (fE B X&) in 1992 with a
bachelor’s degree in statistics. Ms. Li worked at Asia Resources (251
#JK) and joined BYD Battery in September 1996. She served various
positions including marketing manager and general sales manager,
executive director and chief executive officer of BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (bt EpiE F(HER)BRAF]) and is
an Executive Vice President of the Company and the President of BYD
in America and vice chairman of BYD Charity Foundation.

Luo Hong-bin

Mr. Luo Hong-bin, aged 58, Chinese national, a master’'s degree
holder and a professorate senior engineer. Mr. Luo obtained a
master’s degree in computer application. Mr. Luo joined the Group
in October 2003. He served various posts including manager of the
third Electronics Sub-division of Division 15, director of the Institute of
Electric vehicles, president of the Electric Power Research Institute,
general manager of Division 14, and general manager of Division 17.
He currently is a Senior Vice President of the Company, the chairman
of Fudi Power Co., Ltd. (F:#8) 51 B R A 7)), the chairman of Shenzhen
BYD Auto Industrial Co., Ltd. (®IItt =@/ TEEEHFRAF]) and a
director of BYD Charity Foundation.

He Zhi-qi

Mr. He Zhi-qi, aged 52, Chinese national, and a master’s degree
holder. Mr. He graduated from Changchun Institute of Applied
Chemistry Chinese Academy of Sciences (F £ifT K&EE AL 287t
FT) in 1998, with a master’'s degree majoring in inorganic chemistry,
and then graduated from China Europe International Business School
(PR T EEIEEPR) with an MBA in 2010. Mr. He joined BYD Battery
in July 1998 and served various posts including central research
manager, quality control manager, general manager of Division 4 and
general manager of Purchasing Office of the Company. He currently
is a Senior Vice President and the chief operating officer of Passenger
Car Division of the Company and a director of Shenzhen DENZA New
Energy Automotive Co., Ltd. (RYIBEZ#T8ER /A= HR A F)).
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He Long

Mr. He Long, aged 52, Chinese national, and a master’s degree
holder. Mr. He graduated from Peking University (1t = K2%) in 1999
and obtained a bachelor’s degree of science in applied chemistry, an
LLB and a master’s degree in inorganic chemistry. Mr. He joined BYD
Battery in July 1999 and held positions as quality control manager of
Division 1 and Division 2, deputy general manager of Division 2 and
vice-chairman of Foshan Jinhui Hi-Tech Optoelectronic Material Co.,
Ltd. (BrlLTi 2@ E B EM BB R 2 7]). He is a Senior Vice President
of the Company, chairman of FinDreams Battery Co., Ltd. (F#E )
BFR/A 7)), a director of Tibet Zabuye Lithium Industry Co., Ltd. (78
B ARAI MR X SRR AR AR, a director of MCC Ramu New
Energy Technology Co., Ltd (FI/aEARFERERIZARAAF) and a
director of BYD Charity Foundation.

Liu Huan-ming

Mr. Liu Huan-ming, aged 61, Chinese national, a master’s degree
holder, and a senior engineer. Mr. Liu graduated from Northeastern
Institute of Technology (81t TEB3) (currently known as Northeastern
University) in 1988 with a bachelor’'s degree and later a master’s
degree in metallurgical physical chemistry. Mr. Liu worked for the
Iron and Steel Institute of Panzhihua Iron and Steel Company in
Sichuan (P9)I| 225 FE 8 8=~ =) #M & 72fT) and Benxi Iron and Steel
Company in Liaoning (& % ZAE i 72 7). He joined BYD Battery in
March 1997 and served as general manager of the Human Resources
Office, general manager of the Department of New Energy Vehicle
Direct Sale Management and general manager of Division 3 of the
Rail Department of the Company. He is currently a Vice President
of the Company, general manager of the Audit Inspection Division,
and a director of BYD Charity Foundation. He is also in charge of
the Intellectual Property and Legal Department and the Information
Center.

Wang Chuan-fang

Mr. Wang Chuan-fang, aged 63, Chinese national. Mr. Wang joined
BYD Battery in August 1996 and held positions including personnel
manager and logistics manager. He currently is a Vice President of the
Company, general manager of Logistics Division, general manager of
Division 22 and a director of Yinchuan Sky Rail Operation Co., Ltd. (8§
JI|E2#3E & B R A7) and a director of BYD Charity Foundation.
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Ren Lin

Mr. Ren Lin, aged 57, Chinese national, a bachelor’s degree holder,
and a professorate senior engineer. Mr. Ren graduated from Beijing
Institute of Technology (It ¥ T AZ) in 1989, with a bachelor’s
degree majoring in mechanical design, manufacturing and automation.
He went to Japan, Tsinghua University ;&% A 2) and Beijing Institute
of Technology (1t 72 T K&) for multiple times for further study
during his terms of office. Mr. Ren once worked in Shaanxi Qinchuan
Motor Co., Ltd. (BRFEZRJI/RE AR EFAF]) and joined the Group in
January 2008, holding positions including as executive Vice President
of Automotive Engineering Research Institute (2 Ti2#75b3). He
currently is a Vice President of the Company, general manager of
Division 21, a director of BYD Charity Foundation, the vice chairman of
the Low-capacity System Branch of China Association of Metros (&
WHEEL RS EE~LESDE), the vice chairman of the Monorail
Branch of China Association of Metros (FF Bl i # & 3 @Bi & EH
&), an expert of China Association of Metros (F Bl T 18 2@
&) and an expert member of the Academic Committee of China
Association of Metros (F Bl i #1783 @ ).

Wang Jie

Mr. Wang Jie, aged 59, Chinese national, and a bachelor's degree
holder. Mr. Wang graduated from Xi'an Institute of Gold Mining and
Construction (FAZ A€ ESEEMT) (now known as Xi'an University of
Architecture and Technology (FA&RZZEEHEIAKE)) in 1988 with a
bachelor’s degree in engineering, majoring in industry enterprises
automatisation. Mr. Wang once worked in Jiaxing Metallurgy
Manufacture Factory of Metallurgy Department (V&4 & 52 B1)4 & #A
i) and other institutions. Mr. Wang joined BYD Battery in September
1996, and he served various positions including sales manager,
sales director and deputy general manager of the Company’s Sales
& Marketing Division, the general manager of Green Bus Division
and the CEO of Commercial Vehicles Division of the Company. He
currently is a Vice President of the Company and a director of BYD
Charity Foundation.

Zhou Ya-lin

Ms. Zhou Ya-lin, aged 47, Chinese national, and a bachelor’'s degree
holder. Ms. Zhou graduated from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics (JTFEEF&EKE) in 1999, with a bachelor’'s degree in
economics. Ms. Zhou joined BYD Battery in March 1999 and is the
Vice President and chief financial officer of the Company. She is also
the chief financial officer of BYD Electronic (International) Company
Limited (Pt E F(BIFR) B R A 7)), a director of BYD Semiconductor
Company Limited (Lt 3238 B 88 % {5 HBR 2 &), chairman of BYD Auto
Finance Company Limited (Lt 253838 & @ AR A7), a supervisor of
BYD TOYOTA EV Technology Co., Ltd. (tkEpih 2 HEEH BRI AR A
A]) and a supervisor of BYD Charity Foundation, etc.
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Yang Dong-sheng

Mr. Yang Dong-sheng, aged 45, Chinese national, and a master’s
degree holder, and a senior engineer. Mr. Yang graduated from
Northeastern University (33t X2) in March 2005 with a master's
degree. Mr. Yang joined the Group in 2005 and has held positions
including senior engineer in Automotive Engineering Research
Institute, vice manager in the Chassis Division of the Automotive
Engineering Research Institute, senior business secretary of the
President, general manager of the Product and Technical Planning
Division. He is presently the Vice President of the Company and the
dean of Product Planning and New Automotive Technology Research
Institute.

Zhao Jian-ping

Mr. Zhao Jian-ping, aged 47, Chinese national, and a bachelor’s
degree holder. Mr. Zhao graduated from Peking University (1t5
AE) in July 1999 with a bachelor's degree in chemistry. Mr. Zhao
joined BYD Battery in 1999 and held positions as vice manager of the
Quality Control Sub-division of Division 11, and general manager of
the Quality Control Department of the Automobile Industry Group. He
is currently the Vice President and the general manager of the Quality
Control Department of the Company.

Li Qian

Mr. Li Qian, aged 51, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, and a master’s degree holder. Mr. Li graduated from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (JTFAEFAE A ER) in 1997, with
a bachelor’'s degree in economics. He graduated from Guanghua
School of Management of the Peking University (3t R AKE g EE T
Ef7) with an EMBA in July 2016. Mr. Li served in PwC China (%%
ABEE RIS, Arthur Andersen (ZZEEE5HRIEAFT) and ZTE
Corporation (P EBFL D B R A F]). Mr. Li is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries), and members of the
tenth Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the first
GEM Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Li joined
the Group in August 2005, and currently serves as a secretary to
the Board, Company secretary and general manager of Investment
Department of the Company. He is also a joint company secretary of
BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited (Lt 385 F(BIB)
AR A7), a director of BYD Semiconductor Company Limited (kb
e E RN () B[R AR)), chairman of Shenzhen BYD Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (&It griEi% & B AR A7), chairman of
Shenzhen Fudi Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (ZYIT b aIEREGR A
a]), chairman of Energy Storage Power Station (Hubei) Co., Ltd. (&8¢
BIE(HIL)EBR A 7)), vice chairman of Allystar Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (RYIZERIL R H B PR A R]), a director of Qinghai Salt
Lake BYD Resources Development Co., Ltd. (5 /& & # Lt 25 38 & R 5
ZEH R/ 7)), a director of Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd. (B¢ ¥T3EEE
EE B ER AT, a director of Sichuan Road & Bridge Group Co.,
Ltd. (PU)IIpEi8 2R EE M B A7), and a director of Advanced
Materials Technology & Engineering, Inc. (5 & XM EFRIERNE
RAHA]), etc.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

BEHMRES  ESVNEREEASHMH

Total remuneration

received from

the Company
(Unit: RMB0°000)
HAREEN
Name Position held within the Company Status of employment £ FE G
i RADRRENES EBME (Bfr : AR¥ET)
Wang Chuan-fu Chairman, Executive Director and President Incumbent 661
TEE BER UOEF £1 BiE
Lv Xiang-yang Vice-chairman and non-executive Director Incumbent 23
Ak BEER  FNITES BiE
Xia Zuo-quan Non-executive Director Incumbent 23
B2 FNTES BiE
Cai Hong-ping Independent non-executive Director Incumbent 23
ZHF BIEHTES BiE
Zhang Min Independent non-executive Director Incumbent 23
RER BUEHTES BiE
Jiang Yan-bo Independent non-executive Director Resigned (effective from 19 September 2023) 14
BaR BUEHTES BE(E-Z-_=FNATNABERHD)
Yu Ling Independent non-executive Director Incumbent (effective from 19 September 2023) 8
m¥ BUEHTES BE(EZZZ=FAATNABELER)
Dong Jun-ging Supervisor and chairman of the supervisory committee Resigned (effective from 19 September 2023) 7
LR EE EZEIR BE(EZ-_=FAATNABERED
Li Yong-zhao Supervisor and chairman of the supervisory committee Incumbent 13
XS] EE EZEIR BiE
Zhu Ai-yun Supervisor Incumbent (effective from 19 September 2023) 6
REE Bz BE(EZZZ_=FAATNBEER)
Huang Jiang-feng Supervisor Incumbent 13
L EE BiE
Wang Zhen Supervisor Incumbent 507
E37] EE BiE
Tang Mei Supervisor Incumbent 191
E8 S BiE
LiKe Executive Vice President Incumbent 1,326
£ BITEIEH Rt
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR BREHANES EENSHNEE AS RN
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION DURING THE (#8)
REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

Total remuneration
received from

the Company
(Unit: RMB0’000)
HATEEN
Name Position held within the Company Status of employment b PR
i RADRRENES EBME (Bfy: ARBETR)
Lian Yu-bo Executive Vice President Resigned (effective from 14 July 2023) 671
RER RITEIEH BE(E-Z-=F+ATHBEHE
Luo Hong-bin Senior Vice President Incumbent 1,406
AR BREIEH R
He Zhi-qi Senior Vice President Incumbent 1,045
{5 BREIEH Rt
He Long Senior Vice President Incumbent 1,019
fge BREIEH Rt
Liu Huan-ming Vice President Incumbent 756
BJeR e BiE
Wang Chuan-fang Vice President Incumbent ™
&R ey B
Ren Lin Vice President Incumbent 788
{EM ey B
Wang Jie Vice President Incumbent 414
T ey B
Zhou Ya-lin Vice President Incumbent 744
[T ElEE BE
Chief Financial Officer Incumbent
BEE Rt
Yang Dong-sheng Vice President Incumbent 832
BEE IR BiE
Zhao Jian-ping Vice President Incumbent (effective from 19 May 2023) 550
HieT ElEd BEEZZ_=FRATBEESR)
Li Qian Secretary to the Board, Company Secretary Incumbent 533
3 EzenE DANE RiE
Total - - 12,337

ast




Annual Report 2023
—ERCZFFR

Corporate Governance Report

The Board believes that good corporate governance is a key element
in enhancing the confidence of current and potential shareholders,
investors, employees, business partners and the community as a
whole. To this end, the Company has been committed to promoting
and upholding the highest standard of corporate governance.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices to
comply with all the provisions and most of the recommended best
practices of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules except for the deviation from the
Code provisions C.2.1 and C.1.6.

Code provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Wang Chuan-fu is the chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company. The Board considers that this
structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management. The Board comprises experienced
and high-caliber members and meets regularly to discuss issues
affecting operations of the Group. The Board believes that this
structure is conducive to strong and consistent leadership, enabling
the Group to make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.
The Board has full confidence in Mr. Wang and believes that his
appointment to the posts of chairman and chief executive officer is
beneficial to the business development of the Company.

Code provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and non-executive Directors should attend general meetings.
Given that some non-executive Directors had other important business
engagement during the Reporting Period, not all of them attended
the annual general meeting held on 8 June 2023 and extraordinary
general meeting held on 19 September 2023.

During the Reporting Period, except for the deviation from Code
provisions C.2.1 and C.1.6 as explained above, the Directors are
of the opinion that the Company had complied with all applicable
provisions of the Code.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Accountable to the Shareholders, the Board is collectively responsible
for formulating the strategic business direction of the Group and
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance and
assessing the effectiveness of management strategies. The Board is
also responsible for, and has during the Year performed the corporate
governance duties set out in Code provision A.2.1 of the Code
(including the determination of the corporate governance policy of the
Company).

DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of six Directors,
including one executive Director who is the President, two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Detailed biographies outlining each individual Director’s range of
specialist experience and suitability of the successful long-term
operation of the Group are set out on pages 55 to 58 of this annual
report.

The Group believes that its executive and non-executive Directors
composition is well balanced with each Director having sound
knowledge, experience and/or expertise relevant to the business
operations and development of the Group. All Directors are aware of
their collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and
have exercised their duties with care, skill and diligence, contributing
to the successful performance of the Group for the Year.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence as
required under the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all
independent non-executive Directors continued to demonstrate strong
independence in judgement and were free from any business or
other relationship which could interfere with their ability to discharge
their duties effectively. Accordingly, the Company considers that
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent. As at
the date of this report, the years of service of all independent non-
executive Directors are less than 9 years. Should the Board wish to
seek for the further appointments of any independent non-executive
Directors serving more than 9 years from the general meetings,
separate resolutions on such appointments should be proposed to
the general meetings for consideration and approval in accordance
with Code provision B.2.3. The reasons to justify their independence
despite of the length of their services will be contained in relevant
papers to the Shareholders.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management
with the extent of such insurance being reviewed each year.

The Board held eleven meetings during the Year to discuss the
Group’s overall strategy, operation, financial performance and review
the status of regulatory compliance. The Board also ensures that
it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary information in a
form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties.
All Board meetings adhere to a formal agenda in which a schedule
of matter is specifically addressed to the Board for its decision.
The matters discussed at these Board meetings include, among
others, quarterly, interim and annual results; recommendations on
the remuneration of Directors, supervisors and senior management,
recommendations of auditors, approval of major capital projects;
dividend policies; and other significant operational and financial
matters.

The Directors decide on various corporate strategies, approve overall
business plans and supervise the Group’s financial performance,
management and organization on behalf of the Shareholders.
Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’ s management
included the preparation of annual, interim and quarterly accounts
for the Board’s approval before public reporting; the implementation
of strategies approved by the Board; the implementation of internal
control procedures; and the ensuring of compliance with relevant
statutory requirements and other regulations and rules.
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Under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), the
term of office for Directors and supervisors is three years. The terms of
office of Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, Mr.
Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min, and Mr. Jiang Yan-bo have expired
on 8 September 2023. According to the Articles, the terms of office of
the above Directors shall be extended until the date on which a new
session of the Board is approved by the extraordinary general meeting
and the new Directors officially perform their duties. The Company
held an extraordinary general meeting on 19 September 2023 to re-
elect Directors and elect new Directors. Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, Mr. Lv
Xiang-yang, Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, Mr. Cai Hong-ping and Mr. Zhang Min
have been nominated by the Board and the nomination committee of
the Company as candidates for Directors of the Company, and have
been re-elected by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 19 September 2023. Mr. Jiang Yan-
bo, a former independent non-executive Director of the Company,
has retired at the above extraordinary general meeting of the
Company and ceased to be an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Yu Ling was also appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company after the conclusion of the
extraordinary general meeting on the same day. According to the
Articles and relevant Board resolutions, the term of office of each
member of the Board and supervisory committee is three years from
19 September 2023 to 18 September 2026.

Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, Mr. Cai
Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Ms. Yu Ling have been re-elected or
newly-appointed as Directors during the year ended 31 December
2023, and they had obtained the legal advice referred to in the
corresponding rules of the Listing Rules on 19 September 2023. The
above-mentioned Directors have confirmed that they understood their
obligations as Directors.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Directors of the Company will be provided with
relevant induction materials to assist them to fully understand the
Company’s operations, business and governance policies and their
responsibilities and duties as a Director under the requirements of
the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Listing Rules. They
will also be provided with materials to help them to gain insights
in the Company’s business and operation. In order to ensure due
performance of duties by the independent non-executive Directors,
the Company will also arrange on-site visits and ensure sufficient
communication between the management and the independent
non-executive Directors. Pursuant to the corporate governance
requirements, the Directors participated in continuous professional
development programme to develop and update their knowledge and
skills. The particulars of the trainings of each Director are as follows:
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Training/
seminars
participated Reading
SEE materials
Name of Directors EEHE [P = RAEM B
Executive Director HITES
Wang Chuan-fu TE® Vv Vv
Non-executive Directors EHTES
Lv Xiang-yang = AR5 v Vv
Xia Zuo-quan Bk® v Vv
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Cai Hong-ping M v vV
Zhang Min KRB Vv Vv
Jiang Yan-bo (resigned with effect from BEREBEZZ_=FhATIBE
19 September 2023) BE(E)
Yu Ling (appointed with effect from MBEZE_=FNATIAR Vv Vv

19 September 2023)

EBD)
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company has maintained various measures and mechanisms
to ensure that independent views and inputs are made available to
the Board. For instance, in compliance with Code provisions C.5.6
and C.5.9, the Board and its committees are provided with adequate
information and have separate and independent access to the
senior management of the Company for purpose of making informed
decisions. In particular, all members of the Board are entitled to
have timely access to the information of the Group (including but not
limited to management accounts, operational results and statistics,
audit results and other relevant industry and market information
and forecasts), as well as assistance of the company secretary and
professional advice if necessary at the expense of the Company.
Besides, the audit committee of the Company is also entitled to
contact, and has discussed with, external auditors of the Company
on an annual basis to discharge its duties. Board members are also
encouraged to seek inputs from other members, employees, other
stakeholders as well as investors (via the investor relations channels)
in appropriate circumstances to ensure that different perspectives are
taken into account in the decision- making process.

The implementation and effectiveness of the relevant measures
and mechanisms are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.
The Board is satisfied that there are effective and sufficient formal
or informal channels in place to ensure that independent views and
inputs are reached at the Board level.
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BOARD MEETINGS

To ensure the highest attendance of Directors, written notices are sent

to all Directors 14 days before a regular board meeting; written notices PO RRBIAEMBRMNSES  BHEZTCERMK
are sent to all Directors 2 days before a provisional board meeting. FINEZEBHAEZESE - &3 'E%%%Fuéu'@é?ﬁﬁkﬁ
The meeting agenda is set in consultation with members of the Board. & H#IF - EFAHBIT+—REEZEQH - SENE

The Board held 11 meetings in the Year. The attendance of individual AWM EEE@HMREASHEA L FE B R0
Director at the Board meetings as well as general meetings in the Year | :

is set out below:

Annual Extraordinary
General General
Board Meetings Meetings Meetings
Members of the Board EBEEHE EEEER BRREAFKE REBFHAE
Executive Director HITES
Wang Chuan-fu FERE 11/11 1/1 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Lv Xiang-yang =[5 11/11 0/1 1/1
Xia Zuo-quan Bz 11/11 0/1 01
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Cai Hong-ping O 11/11 1/1 1/1
Zhang Min SREK 11/11 1/1 11
Jiang Yan-bo (resigned with effect from BaEKBEZ_=F 8/11 11 1/1
19 September 2023) A +7L H t%ﬁ&)
Yu Ling (in office from 19 September 2023) Wi} (8 —T - =4 3/11 0/1 1/1
A+ BRER)
In furtherance of good corporate governance, the Board has set up a CEFReENUEEE

number of committees, including:

- the audit committee;

- the remuneration committee;

- the nomination committee; and

- the strategy committee.
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MEESFEL®RE  AREZERE
AHEESHELRE - RFZEENF

Each committee reports regularly to the Board, addressing major
issues and findings with valuable recommendations for the decision fﬁ
making of the Board. The particulars of these Committees are set out
hereunder.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

One of the primary duties of the audit committee is to review the
financial reporting process and the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the audit
committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Ms. Yu Ling, and a
non-executive Director, Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, with Mr. Zhang Min as the
chairman. Meetings were convened by the audit committee and the
Company’s auditors to review the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group and to discuss auditing, internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters before recommending
them to the Board for approval.

The terms of reference of the audit committee follow the guidelines set
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Listing
Rules and the provisions of the Code.

The audit committee held five meetings in 2023 to review the internal
and external audit findings, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, Listing Rules and statutory compliance, to
consider its relationship, remuneration and appointment terms and
independence with the external auditor with reference to its work
performance and to make recommendations to the Board regarding
the reappointment of the external auditor, to discuss auditing, internal
controls, risk management and financial reporting matters (including
auditing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, the three months ended 31 March 2023, the six months ended
30 June 2023 and the nine months ended 30 September 2023), before
recommending them to the Board for approval, and to perform its
other duties under the Code. The attendance of its members is set out
as follows:
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Number of
Committee
Meetings
Attended Attendance
HEZ8E Rate
Members of the Audit Committee EREEENE SERH™ HE =
Lv Xiang-yang (expired on 19 September aRE(CEZ=FLA+IAE 3 100%
2023) & i)
Xia Zuo-quan (appointed with effect from Ehe2(B_T_=ZFNATILHEE 2 100%
19 September 2023) 5
Zhang Min (Chairman) RB(ETE) 5 100%
Cai Hong-ping ZOHL 5 100%
Jiang Yan-bo (resigned with effect from BERBEZTZZ=FNLATIAR 3 100%
19 September 2023) BE(T)
Yu Ling (appointed with effect from MR (E-E_=FNAT B 2 100%
19 September 2023) £5)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a remuneration committee on 27 June 2005.
The primary roles of the remuneration committee is to regularly review
human resource management policies, make recommendations
on the remuneration packages, compensation and benefit plans
of Directors and senior executives, review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as
well as set performance goals for senior management of the Group.
As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises of
an executive Director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, a non-executive Director,
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Ms. Yu Ling, with Mr.
Cai Hong-ping as the chairman.

The remuneration committee has reviewed its terms of reference,
which is available on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and the Company, in 2023 to comply with the Code.

In terms of the summary of the work of the remuneration committee,
the remuneration committee held two meetings in 2023 to, among
others, determine the policy for the remuneration of executive
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Directors and approve the terms of executive Directors’ service [MARGEE  EZRSREEABEMEHH - HK
contracts, assess the performance of executive Directors and review S HFBEREHZI 0T ¢
the remuneration of directors, supervisors and senior management of
the Company. The attendance of its members is set out as follows:
Number of
Committee
Meetings
Attended Attendance
HEZES® Rate
Members of the Remuneration Committee FHMZEERE = P8 HER
Wang Chuan-fu F{EE 2 100%
Xia Zuo-quan Brz 2 100%
Cai Hong-ping (Chairman) B (%) 2 100%
Zhang Min SR B 2 100%
Jiang Yan-bo (resigned with effect from BEREBEZZEZ=FNAATIAR 2 100%

19 September 2023) BEAE)
Yu Ling (appointed with effect from

19 September 2023) EE%)

W(B_L_=FAAT LB - -
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REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual
performance, measuring the compensation against the corporate
objectives and the Group’s operating results and taking into
account of comparable market conditions. For the remuneration of
the executive Directors and senior management, the remuneration
committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
(adopting the model described in Code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the
Code) which would then be reviewed and subject to approval by the
Board. The remuneration package of the executive Directors would
also be subject to approval by Shareholders at general meetings.
During the year, there is no disagreement between the Board and
the remuneration committee on any remuneration or compensation
arrangements. The principal elements of the remuneration package of
executive Directors include basic salary and discretionary bonus. The
remuneration of non- executive Directors includes mainly the Director’s
fee. The Company reimburses reasonable expenses incurred by
Directors in the course of their carrying out of duties as Directors.

Directors do not participate in the decisions on their own remuneration.

The emoluments paid to each Director for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out on page 65 of this annual report.
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Remuneration of Senior Management During the Year FARREEAESTH
Number of
Senior Management
Remuneration by bands RERETHHE SREEEAY
RMBO to RMBS5 million ARBEZTE ARK500& T 1
RMB5 million to RMB8 million ARBEB008 L E ARKEB00E T 8
RMB8 million to RMB11 million ARBEBOOEILE ARKE1,1008 T 3
RMB11 million to RMB14 million AR 1008 TE AR 4008 T 1
Over RMB14 million AR 4008 TTUA E 1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group has established the nomination committee. As at 31
December 2023, the nomination committee comprises of an executive
Director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, a non-executive Director, Mr. Lv Xiang-
yang, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cai
Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Ms. Yu Ling, with Ms. Yu Ling as the
chairman. The nomination committee has been delegated with the
powers and authorities to review the structure, size and composition
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of the Board, make recommendations to the Board on the selection #{fMEZEEI2MHiEE - TA8E Hﬁﬁ_ﬁﬁﬂﬁé
of candidates nominated for directorships and senior management,  EHIE 1T KR TE B FIRAMER
appointment and reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and determine the policy for the nomination of Directors.
In terms of the summary of the work of the nomination committee, the IEEZZEeMERMA Tm R -_=% ?E%
nomination committee held three meeting in 2023 on the nomination of & B & %7 E/RQE%% AR BERTEERATE
Mr. Zhao Jian-ping as a candidate for vice president of the Company, #Eﬁf%ﬁi/\ NEEEFEREERLENS & £ fi
the election of new session of the Board of the Company and review of CHNBEFEEASTEREAN - EXNBLEBRLE
the candidates for senior management and the head of internal audit. §IJZZDT
The attendance of its members is set out as follows:

Number of

Committee

Meetings
Attended Attendance

HEZ8E Rate
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEEEHE BRAH HE =
Wang Chuan-fu FiEE 3 100%
Lv Xiang-yang & A% 3 100%
Jiang Yan-bo (Chairman) (resigned with BaEEE(BZZE=F 2 100%

effect from 19 September 2023) A+ BRED
Yu Ling (Chairman) (appointed with WL (ERE) (B=F=_=%F 1 100%
effect from 19 September 2023) A+ N B TR

Cai Hong-ping ZOH 3 100%
Zhang Min SR B 3 100%
The nomination committee is committed to promoting diversity in our (EREZE @M ORNBBEEDLEEELE T%E’J,/ﬂﬁ.

Company to the extent practicable by taking into consideration a
number of factors in respect of our corporate governance structure.

= EEATNBER MEERRRZ T
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The nomination committee has also adopted a nomination policy which
includes the selection criteria and nomination procedures of new
appointments and re-appointments of Directors. The selection criteria
for assessing candidates include, in particular, his/her educational
background and professional qualifications, experiences in the
industry, personality and integrity, as well as his/her contributions to
the diversity of the Board according to the board diversity policy. In
the case of re-appointment of Directors, the nomination committee
would take into account factors such as contribution from the retiring
Directors. Where the candidate is appointed for the position of
independent non-executive Director, the nomination committee will also
assess his/her independence with reference to the requirements set
out in the Listing Rules. In appointing a new Director, the nomination
committee and/or the Board will first identify potential candidates. After
the nomination committee evaluated the candidates based on the
selection criteria, the nomination committee will nominate one or more
qualified candidates for the Board’s consideration and the Board will
determine and agree on a preferred candidate. The Company and/or
the chairman of the Board will then negotiate the terms of appointment
with the preferred candidate. Finally, the chairman of the Board, in
consultation with the chairman of the remuneration committee and
the chairman of the nomination committee, will then finalise a letter of
appointment for the Board’s approval. The nomination committee shall
ensure the transparency and fairness of the selection procedure and
continue to adopt diversified selection criteria during the appointment
procedure, taking into consideration a range of elements such as age,
educational background, professional experience, industrial skills
and professional knowledge. Since its establishment, the nomination
committee has assumed the role of reviewing the application of such
diversified selection policy at the nomination level, maintaining a
diversified spectrum of varying perspectives, educational background
and professional knowledge in the Board.
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The Board’s Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy, which sets
out the approach to the diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises the importance of diversity to corporate governance and
an effective Board. The board diversity policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve Board diversity, so as to ensure that the Board
members possess appropriate skills, experience and diverse views
necessary for the business of the Company. In determining the Board
composition, the Board and nomination committee consider a range
of diversity elements, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based on
merit and objective criteria while taking into full account the interest of
the Board'’s diversity.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
elements and measurable objectives which will be reviewed regularly.
Such measurable objectives shall include, but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and/or terms of service. The final decision will
be made according to the strengths of the candidate and his/her
contribution that would bring to the Board. Furthermore, pursuant
to Code provision B.1.3 of the Code, the Board should review the
implementation and effectiveness of the issuer’s policy on board
diversity on an annual basis. The nomination committee has performed
the above duties in terms of the selection of candidates and the
review of the implementation and effectiveness of the Company’s
diversity policy during the Year. Having considered the business
and development needs of the Company, the nomination committee
considers that the current Board is sufficiently diversified in terms of
its skills, experience, knowledge, length of service and independence.
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The current session of the Board was considered and approved
by the nomination committee and the Seventh Session of the
Board on 1 September 2023. In addition, they were appointed after
consideration and approval at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 19 September 2023 (collectively, the
“Appointment Procedures for the Current Session of the Board”). As
at 31 December 2023, one of the members of the current session of
the Board is female, which shows an improvement in gender diversity
in the Board when compared to the composition in year 2022.
Recognising the importance and benefits of gender diversity, it is
one of the measurable objectives of the Board to include at least one
female Director in the Board. The Board will continue to take proactive
measures to identify suitable candidates to enhance gender diversity
among members of the Board, and will emphasize to include gender
as a factor to be taken into consideration for achieving the Board
diversity.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity not only
within the Board and senior management but also among its entire
workforce. While it is more challenging to achieve gender diversity
across the workforce due to the business nature of the Group, as
at the date of this report, the number of female senior management
of the Group accounted for 14% of the total number of senior
management and the number of female employees of the Group
accounted for approximately 32% of the total workforce (including
senior management). The Board is of the view that the Group has
achieved gender diversity among employees. Nevertheless, the
Group will continue to improve gender diversity in the workforce when
recruiting and selecting key management and other personnel across
the Group’s operations.

The Group’s recruitment strategy is underpinned by the appointment
of the right employee for the right position, in order to achieve
employee diversity for all employees (including senior management) in
terms of gender, age, cultural and educational background, expertise,
skills and know-how.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Group established the strategy committee on 20 March 2008.
As at 31 December 2023, the strategy committee comprises of one
executive Director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, two non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lv Xiang-yang and Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping and Mr. Zhang
Min, with Mr. Wang Chuan-fu as the chairman. The main duty of the
strategy committee is to consider and make recommendations on the
Company’s long-term development strategy and major investment
decisions.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Li Qian, the company secretary of the Company, is a full-time staff
of the Group, and is familiar with the daily affairs of the Company.
During the financial year, the company secretary had complied with
the relevant professional training requirements under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the company secretary
are set out in the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS AND THEIR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total remuneration paid
to the independent auditor, Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP, was
RMB 14,100,000 for audit services and non-audit services provided for
the Company and its subsidiaries. The audit fee was approved by the
Board. During the Reporting Period, the total remuneration in respect
of the non-audit services provided was approximately RMB8,650,000.
The remuneration composition of the non-audit services is set out in
the table below.
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Note:  Other non-audit service fees include interdependent auditor’s fee
for providing non-audit services in relation to the acquisition of
the mobile electronics manufacturing business by BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited which was completed on 29
December 2023. For further details of the acquisition, please refer
to information disclosed in the section headed “SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENT HELD AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES” in this annual report.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the
section headed “Audit Report” in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board confirms its responsibility for risk management and internal
control systems, and for reviewing their effectiveness through the
audit committee at least annually. The audit committee assists the
Board in performing its responsibilities of supervision and corporate
governance, covering financial, operational, compliance, risk
management and internal control, as well as internal audit functions of
the Company.

Various measures have been designed for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining good
accounting records and for the reliability of financial data used
within the business or for publication. The Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
errors, losses or fraud. The Board considers that the Company is fully
compliant with the provisions of risk management and internal control
as set forth in the Code.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Company’s risk management system is composed of a well-
established organizational structure as well as all-rounded policies
and procedures. The responsibilities of each business and functional
department are clearly defined to ensure effective balance. The
Company’s risk management and internal control structure comprises
of:

Board of Directors

o Evaluating and determining the nature and magnitude of the
risks to be assumed by the Company, to achieve its business
and strategic goals;

. Ensuring that the Company has established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems;

° Supervising the designing, implementation and inspection

of the risk management and internal control systems by the
management team.
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Audit Committee

. Assisting the Board in performing its duties of risk management
and internal control systems;

o Supervising the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis, to provide opinions
and suggestions with regard to the improvement of the risk
management and internal control systems;

o Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’ s risk
management and internal control systems at least once a year;

° Ensuring that the Company has sufficient resources, staff
qualifications and experiences, and training programs in
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, as
well as those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and
governance performance and reporting.

Management Team

. Designing, implementing and inspecting the risk management
and internal control systems;

o Identifying, evaluating and managing risks (including
environmental, social and governance risks) that may exert
potential impacts on major operational procedures;

o Responding to and following up in a timely manner on the
investigation results of risk management and internal control
issues raised by the internal audit department;

° Providing confirmation to the Board and the audit committee on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems.

Internal Audit Department
° Reviewing the due effectiveness of the Company’s risk

management and internal control systems;

o Reporting the audit results or findings and making suggestions
to the audit committee, to improve major drawbacks of the
systems or identify the deficiency of the control.
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IDENTIFICATION, EVALUATION AND MANAGEMENT OF
MAJOR RISKS

The management team and relevant staff identify risks (including
environmental, social and governance risks) that may exert potential
impacts on the Company and its operation, and evaluate and monitor
risks in the environment and process. Through comparison of the risk
appraisal results and risk prioritization, risk management strategies
and internal control procedures are determined to prevent, avoid or
reduce risks.

Major risks (including environmental, social and governance risks)
and related control measures are reviewed and upgraded on an
ongoing basis to ensure proper internal control procedures in place.
Based on the testing results, persons in charge confirm with the
senior management that internal control measures have played
their roles as expected, their weakness identified in the control have
been corrected, and risk management policies and internal control
procedures have been revised, in the event of any major changes.
The Board and the audit committee supervise the control activities
of the management team to ensure the effectiveness of the control
measures.

Annual Assessment

In 2023, the Board reviewed the soundness and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, covering
financial, operational and compliance control, with a self-evaluation
report issued on the internal control. In addition, the Company
engaged an auditor to audit the effectiveness of the internal control
related to the Company’s financial reports, and to provide independent
and objective assessments and suggestions in the form of audit
report. The Board considers that the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

Internal Audit

The Group has an internal audit department which, equips with an
independent internal audit system, and plays an important role in
the Group’s risk management and internal control framework. The
department reports directly to the audit committee. The annual and
quarterly work plans of the internal audit department are reviewed by
the audit committee and reported to the audit committee regularly.
Major audit findings shall be reported on a timely basis. Based on
its consideration, the audit committee will provide advice to the
Board and the senior management, with subsequent follow-up
measures taken to review the implementation of the rectification and
improvement plans.
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group has put in place a set of policy for the disclosure of inside
information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner
and in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Unless the inside information falls
within any of the safe harbors as permitted under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, the Group is required to disseminate such
information through the electronic publication system operated by
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to the public in a timely manner. All
Directors, senior management and relevant employees are required
to take reasonable precautions for preserving the confidentiality of
inside information and the relevant announcement (if applicable)
before publication. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained, the Group will in a timely
manner disclose the information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable. The policy and its effectiveness are subject to review on a
regular basis.

Whistleblowing and Anti-corruption Policy

The Company has zero-tolerance towards corruption, implements
anti-corruption policies that apply to all staff, and rewards the
whistleblowers.

The Company formulated a series of rules and measures, including the
BYD Code of Conduct, BYD Employee Professional Ethic Guidelines,
and BYD Guidelines for Employee Business Activities with External
Entities, to prohibit any offering, accepting or claiming bribery,
gifts, hospitality and any other form of activity intended to affect the
Company’s relevant business decision for abnormal or inappropriate
advantages.

The Company also established BYD Whistleblower Protection and
Incentive Measures and opened special channels for honesty issues
reporting (including via telephone, email, WeChat official account)
to encourage whistleblowers to perform the honesty supervision
system of the Company, and actively report cases of embezzlement,
corruption and other violations of laws, regulations and the rules and
measures of the Company. These whistleblowing and anti-corruption
policies are reviewed on an annual basis.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Compliance
Operation and Business Ethics” in the 2023 environmental, social and
governance report of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by its Directors. Having
made specific inquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that
none of the Directors have purchased or sold any securities of the
Company and all Directors have complied with their obligations under
the Model Code during the Year.

Specified employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance with
the Model Code. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company in 20283.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Under the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for considering any matters
specified in such requisition.

Any Shareholder holding not less than 1% of the paid-up share capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may, as a proxy solicitor, publicly request and authorize,
either by himself/herself or by appointing a securities company
or securities service institute, the Shareholders to attend general
meetings and exercise the right to make proposals, right to vote, and
other rights of Shareholders.

Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 3% of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company may make a provisional proposal and submit it in
writing to the convener of the meeting ten days prior to the date of the
general meeting. The convener shall, within two days upon receipt of
the proposal, issue a supplementary notice of the general meeting
announcing the contents of such provisional proposal.

Furthermore, a Shareholder may propose a person other than a
retiring Director for election as a Director at a general meeting. For
such purpose, the Shareholder must send to the Board a notice in
writing of the intention to propose a person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his or her willingness to be so
elected, no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
relevant general meeting and not later than 7 days prior to the date
appointed for the relevant general meeting.
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Shareholders may send their requisitions and inquiries requiring the
Board’s attention to the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1712, 17th Floor, Tower 2
Grand Central Plaza, No. 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, New
Territories, Hong Kong. Other general inquiries can be directed to the
Company through our investor and media relations consultant, whose
contact information is disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with investors is
essential for enhancing investors’ knowledge and understanding of the
Company. To achieve this, the Company pursues a proactive policy in
promoting investor relations and communications. The main purpose
of the Company’s investor relations policy, therefore, is to enable
investors to have access, on a fair and timely basis, to information that
is reasonably required for making the best investment decisions.

Information relating to the Group is mainly communicated to
Shareholders and investors through publication of notices,
announcements and circulars at the websites of the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and despatch of interim reports, annual
reports and circulars to the Shareholders, as well as performance
presentations, investor surveys, and regular email/phone contacts,
where Shareholders’ inquiries will be answered. Shareholders’ general
meetings are held in compliance with the Listing Rules and other
legal requirements to ensure communication and interaction with
Shareholders.

The Board reviews the investor relations policy on an annual basis,
and makes any changes it considers necessary to ensure its
effectiveness and that the legal interests of Shareholders and investors
are substantially protected.

The Board has conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the investor relations policy of the Company. Having
considered the diverse channels of communication in place, the Board
is satisfied that an effective investor relations policy has been properly
implemented throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the Year, there was no material change to the Articles.

AN e pw
TEER/RRE

RRASEFRREEGWINTHFERTAFTER
REINREIME MU RARRREENTEE?
EE B AP BB ESIRIBEIIM TP RES =
HI781712F - R —REAAEBARANKRE
ERBRARBRITARA - REERERBE
BRNBEENCEAFRI DR ER] —HIRKE -

BEREENBE

ARARME - B ENERRRY B Y
ARANRREERDERES - AERZEE -
AR AIE R A ERE BB RN R -
f o RARMRAEBAREEE DS EEREH
AT AR R R AR AEEE
BYER -

ARBERBBEARR KRB BB TIEHE
& AERER ARRFEPHRS  FERS
FOBE - AR EERAE REEFERH - ARHH
LEFABETAARREREERTBALAEE
WER  BERRERR - NRARER ETRAET
RERAE - ERERRERNEBREY -

EXEFRAREEBARE  LELER/Y
ZMEAEY  BEREBERNARERBRREEZ
BENEEEARIRIRE

E=QCRAMAARREEBEBRRNERBERL
BRME - REECRESTNBRARE  EFS
EMBE_FT_=F+_A=+—RLFECEE
BB MRIREEBERBE -

P AARERLEIAEARS -

87




88

BYD Company Limited
LeEER B BRAT

Report of the Directors

ESEHRE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) agreed to hereby
submit the annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of BYD Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in automobiles and batteries
business, handset components and assembly services, while taking
advantage of its technological superiority to actively develop urban
rail transportation and other business segment. The activities of the
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note VIII.1 to the financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Further discussion and analysis of principal activities are set out in
the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 20 to 54 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2023 by business and geographical segments of
operations is set out in note XVI.1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements and their notes on pages
115 to 352 of this annual report.

Dividend Distribution Policy

) The Company’s profit distribution policy shall focus on providing
investors with reasonable investment returns as well as
maintaining the sustainable development of the Company. The
Company’s profit distribution shall not exceed the range of the
accumulated distributable profits or damage the Company’s
ability to operate. A sustainable and steady profit distribution
policy shall be implemented.
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(V)

The Company may distribute dividends in cash, in shares
or in a combination of both cash and shares or as otherwise
permitted by the laws and regulations. When the conditions for
cash dividend are satisfied, cash dividend shall be the priority
method of profit distribution.

The Company’s profit distribution shall be prepared by the
Board in accordance with the Company’s operating conditions
and the relevant requirements of China Securities Regulatory
Commission and shall be considered and approved at the
Shareholders’ general meeting.

After the profit distribution plan is approved at the general
meeting of the Company, the Board shall complete the
distribution of dividends within two months after convening the
Shareholders’ general meeting.

The profit distributed by the Company in cash each year
shall not be less than 10% of the realized distributable
profit for the year, provided that the following cash dividend
conditions are satisfied and the capital needs for the normal
production, operation and development of the Company are
met. The cumulative profit for distribution in cash for any three
consecutive years shall not be less than 30% of the average
annual distributable profit for such three years:

(1) The distributable profit (i.e. the Company’s profit after
tax net of loss and contribution of reserve funds)
realized by the Company for the year or half year
is positive in value and the cash flow is sufficient.
The payment of cash dividends will not affect the
subsequent continuing operation of the Company;

(2) The cumulative distributable profit of the Company is
positive in value;

(3) The audit firm issues an unqualified audit report on the
financial report of the Company for the year.

The Board may propose to the Company to make interim cash
distribution according to the Company’s earnings and capital
requirement conditions, provided that the cash dividend
conditions are satisfied.
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Depending on the profitability and business growth for the
year, the Company may distribute profits by way of shares to
match share capital expansion with business growth, provided
that the minimum cash dividend payout ratio and an optimal
share capital base and shareholding structure are maintained.
(VII)  When considering and conducting profit distribution, the Board
shall take into account certain circumstances and factors as
set out in the Articles, as amended from time to time.

(VIII)  According to the existing profit distribution policy of the
Company, the Company shall calculate, declare and pay
dividends and other amounts which are payable to holders of
domestic shares in Renminbi within the period as prescribed
by the Articles. The Company shall calculate and declare
dividends and other payments which are payable to holders of
overseas-listed foreign shares in Renminbi, and shall pay such
amounts in the corresponding currencies within the scope
and the period as prescribed by the Articles, as amended
from time to time. The applicable exchange rate shall be
the average closing rate for the relevant foreign currency
announced by the People’s Bank of China of the five working
days prior to the announcement of payment of dividend and
other amounts. The Company shall pay foreign currencies to
holders of overseas-listed foreign shares in accordance with
the relevant foreign exchange control regulations of the State.
Authorised by general meetings, the Board may determine to
distribute interim dividends or bonuses.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of final dividend
of RMB3.096 per share (including tax) for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: the payment
of RMB1.142 per share (including tax)). If there is a change in the
total share capital of the Company on the date of registration of
the implementation of the equity distribution, the Company intends
to maintain the total distribution amount unchanged and adjusts
the distribution amount per share accordingly. The proposed
final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”)
of the Company.

The Company will publish announcement, circular and notice
regarding the AGM in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
Articles. The Company will also make separate announcement
regarding the record date and date of closure of register of members
for the payment of the final dividend to the holders of H shares. It is
expected that the final dividend will be distributed before 6 August
2024.
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The final dividend will be denominated and declared in RMB. The
holders of A shares will be paid in RMB and the holders of H shares
will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate for the dividend
to be paid in Hong Kong dollars will be the mean of the exchange
rates of Hong Kong dollar to RMB as announced by the People’s Bank
of China during the five business days prior to the date of declaration
of the dividend at the extraordinary general meeting.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China and its implementation regulations which came into
effect on 1 January 2008, the Company is required to withhold and
pay enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-
resident enterprise Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members for H shares when distributing the cash dividends. Any
H shares not registered under the name of an individual Shareholder,
including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, agents
or trustees, or other organisations or groups, will be deemed as
shares held by non-resident enterprise Shareholders. Therefore, the
enterprise income tax will be withheld from dividends payable to such
Shareholders. If holders of H shares intend to change its Shareholder
status, please enquire about the relevant procedures with your
agents or trustees. The Company will strictly comply with the law or
the requirements of the relevant government authority and withhold
and pay enterprise income tax on behalf of the relevant shareholders
based on the register of members for H shares as at the record date
of the final dividend.

In accordance with the Circular on Certain Issues Concerning
the Policies of Individual Income Tax (Cai Shui Zi [1994] No. 020)
promulgated by the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration
of Taxation on 13 May 1994, overseas individuals are, temporarily,
exempted from the PRC individual income tax for dividend or bonuses
received from foreign-invested enterprises. In accordance with the
Letter of the State Administration of Taxation concerning Taxation
Issues of Dividends Received by Foreign Individuals Holding Shares
of Companies Listed in China (Guo Shui Han Fa [1994] No. 440) as
promulgated by the State Administration of Taxation on 26 July 1994,
dividends (capital bonuses) received by foreign individuals holding
B shares or overseas shares (including H shares) from Chinese
enterprises issuing such B shares or overseas shares are temporarily
exempted from individual income tax. Accordingly, in the payment of
final dividends, the Company will not withhold and pay the individual
income tax on behalf of individual Shareholders when the Company
distributes the final dividend to individual shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of H shares of the Company.
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Shareholders are recommended to consult their tax advisor regarding
the ownership and disposal of H shares of the Company in the PRC
and in Hong Kong and other tax effects.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review set out on pages 24 to 36 of the annual report
shall form an integral part of this report of the Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Faced by the Group

Please refer to note X to the financial statements for details of the
main financial risks faced by the Group and the Group’s management
objectives and policies regarding such risks. In addition to such
financial risks, the Directors are of the view that any material change in
relevant government policies (such as the PRC Government'’s policies
on economic development and environmental protection) is also one
of the principal risks and uncertainties that may affect the Group’s
business.

Environmental Policies

The Group has been taking part in responding to environmental
protection policies. While helping to reduce energy consumption
through green products, the Group also focuses on reducing the
direct impacts of its operation on the environment. By introducing an
energy management system, promoting the replacement of traditional
energy with renewable energy and saving energy through technical
and management means, BYD continues to reduce its own energy
consumption and carbon dioxide emissions.

Regulatory Compliance

BYD requires stringent compliance with laws, social norms,
professional ethics and internal regulations in its worldwide operations.
The Group has established the risk management committee, the
internal control committee and the compliance committee which
monitor, supervise and inspect, regularly and from time to time, the
management and implementation of laws and regulations in various
departments, and evaluate their implementation and compliance in
such areas. During the Year, as far as the Company is aware, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group.
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Relationship with Employees

Since employees are the foundation for development, the Group
adheres to the “people-oriented” principle in its human resources
management and provides equal employment opportunities
and prohibits any career discrimination. The Group reviews its
employee compensation policies on a regular basis and bonuses
and commission may be awarded to employees based on their
annual performance evaluation. Efforts have also been made to help
employees in the aspects of housing, transportation and children’s
education, etc.

Relationship with Customers and Suppliers

The Group strives to build and maintain long term and strong
relationships with customers. BYD has established a customer
satisfaction management system with a view to understanding and
fulfilling customers’ demands and enhancing their satisfaction. In
terms of suppliers, the Group’s objective is to keep mutually beneficial
and win-win partnerships with all suppliers. At the same time, the
Group regularly evaluates the performance of our suppliers including
suppliers’ social responsibility.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year
amounted to RMB36,448,000 (2022: RMB71,045,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company are set out in note V.15 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out

in note V.39 to the financial statements.

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2023,
calculated under the relevant legislation applicable in the PRC,
the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to approximately
RMB9,077,750,000 (2022: RMB3,451,208,000).

BANK LOANS

As at 31 December 2023, details of bank loans of the Group are set
out in notes V.24, 33, 35 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and
there is no similar restriction against such rights under the laws of the
PRC in respect of joint stock limited companies, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 2 and 352 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this report are:

— Executive Director:
Mr. Wang Chuan-fu

— Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lv Xiang-yang
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan

— Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cai Hong-ping
Mr. Zhang Min
Ms. Yu Ling (appointed with effect from 19 September 2023)
Mr. Jiang Yan-bo (resigned on 19 September 2023)
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

All existing Directors had signed or renewed their service contracts
or letters of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 19 September 2023.

All existing supervisors had signed or renewed their service or
employment contracts with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 19 September 2023.

None of the above-mentioned contracts and letters of appointment are
determinable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and in which
a Director or supervisor or an entity related to a Director or supervisor
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each executive Director is based on (i) his
duties and responsibilities; (ii) prevailing market conditions; and (iii)
performance and profitability of the Company.

The emolument payable to each non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Director) is based on his responsibilities
and undertaking to the Board taking into account his experience and
market practice for such post.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out on page 65 of
this annual report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors, supervisors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 55 to 64 of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of each
of the Directors, supervisors and chief executives of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”))
which were required to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which he is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered into the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code under Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (for this purpose, the
relevant provisions of the SFO will be interpreted as if they applied to
the supervisors) were as follows:

A shares of RMB1.00 each
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Approximate Approximate

percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
A shares (%)

percentage of
shareholding

in total issued
share capital (%)

Number of HREBEE BT EFREAEE BT

A shares ARBEEH BAZEEEN

Name HE ABREE A E 2 (%) A E D (%)

Wang Chuan-fu TEE 513,623,850 (L) 28.33% 17.64%
(Director and President) (BEEFHBEH) (Note 1)
(Htat1)

Lv Xiang-yang (Director) ARG (ES) 394,378,222 (L) 21.75% 13.55%
(Note 2)
(Hiaz2)

Xia Zuo-quan (Director) EER(ES) 82,635,607 (L) 4.56% 2.84%

(L) — Long Position

(L)~ 47 &



Notes:

The 513,623,850 A shares did not include the 3,727,700 A shares
held by Mr. Wang Chuan-fu in No.1 Assets Management Plan
through E Fund BYD;
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2. Of the 394,378,222 A shares, 239,228,620 A shares were held 2. 1£5%394,378,222(8 A% 2 + 239,228,620% A
by Mr. Lv Xiang-yang in his personal capacity and 155,149,602 A% B = 1A% SR AR LA I/\%Tﬁﬁﬁ&155,149,602
A shares were held by Youngy Investment Holding Group Co., RARBREREEREBER AR (BER
Ltd. (BEFEIEEZEREEER2AF) (“Youngy Investment”, formerly B pEAEMNBEREEEERARARE

known as Guangzhou Youngy Management & Investment Group Ao MEREABaMBEERERBS I
Company Limited). Youngy Investment was in turn held by Mr. FB8I.5%MIE [ 10.5% % - A UL IR 187 77 & Hf
Lv Xiang-yang and his spouse as to 89.5% and 10.5% of equity BIED - mRE5EAERR AR155,149,6020% A
interests, respectively. Mr. Lv Xiang-yang was therefore deemed to IR ERRER -

be interested in the 155,149,602 A shares under the SFO.

H shares of RMB1.00 each FRAR®1.00T 2HR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
H shares (%)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

in total issued
share capital (%)

Number of HREWEESIIT BFREGDET
H shares HER B & RABEN
Name ®E HER A B E 5 (%) B E D (%)
Wang Chuan-fu TEfE 1,000,000 (L) 0.09% 0.03%
(Director and President) (BEFxREH)
Xia Zuo-quan (Director) BhE(ES) 500,000 (L) 0.05% 0.02%
(Note)
(Hat)
(L) — Long Position (L) - &
Note: Htat -

Of the 500,000 H shares, 195,000 H shares were held by Mr. Xia Zuo-
quan as a beneficial owner and 305,000 H shares were held by Sign
Investments Limited, which was wholly-owned by Mr. Xia Zuo-quan.

500,000/ HiEH - B2 SCEUNESBEE AT D
FE195,000/kHkK - MBEEEEZEZEEBHN
Sign Investments Limited 8114545 305,000% HA% °
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RFfTe

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors, supervisors or chief executives of the Company had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be
(a) recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company, the following persons (other than the directors, supervisors
and chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or were required to be entered in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

1. A shares of RMB1.00 each

BRARATHAERENRER

R-E_=F+-"A=+—H BEARFAEEM
U TALTATEEARAES BEFEREHTR
AB)RAR R RABRMR O B AR EE 5 M
HHRBIEXVERE 2R3 A B M AR R R BB
BEXRIEE S M E IGHIFEIBIERHALRRFE
M B R ERRIAR

1. BRARM1.00THAR

Approximate Approximate
percentage of percentage of
shareholding shareholding
in total issued in total issued

A shares (%) share capital (%)

Number of BREBLE BT FREMGS BT

A shares AR S RABEN
Name ®E ABEE BT 2 k(%) BAE D (%)
Youngy Investment (Note) BU R E (K722 155,149,602 (L) 8.56% 5.33%
(L) — Long Position (L) -7 &
Note: et

Youngy Investment is owned by Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, a non-executive
Director, as to 89.5%. Mr. Lv is therefore deemed to be interested in the
155,149,602 A shares held by Youngy Investment under the SFO.

BERERIERITES ARG EE89.5% % -
it - RIBEFESRBEES E?ﬁi%&%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%&é%
A 19155,149,6020% ARL R A 2 o
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2, H shares of RMB1.00 each 2, TR ARY1.007THIHAR
Approximate Approximate
percentage of percentage of
shareholding shareholding
in total issued in total issued
H shares (%) share capital (%)
Number of BREMND BT BREME BT
H shares HER B & RAEEEN
Name #E HER & E BB D (%) BAE 2 (%)
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. Berkshire Hathaway 87,613,142 (L) 7.98% 3.01%
(Note 1) Inc. (Ha£1)
Berkshire Hathaway Energy Berkshire Hathaway 87,613,142 (L) 7.98% 3.01%
Company (Note 1) Energy Company
(Hizt1)
Western Capital Group LLC Western Capital 87,613,142 (L) 7.98% 3.01%
(Note 1) Group LLC (f7:t1)
BlackRock, Inc. BlackRock, Inc. 73,212,031 (L) 6.67% 2.51%
(Note 2) (Htat2) 354,000 (S) 0.03% 0.01%

(L) — Long Position (L) -7 &

(S) — Short position (S)— K&

Notes: Biet -

1. According to the disclosure of interests notice filed on 30 October 1. BER_Z_=ZF+A=ZTHEHRZXHE
2023, Berkshire Hathaway Inc. and Berkshire Hathaway Energy FEEmBAMBerkshire Hathaway Inc. &
Company (formerly known as MidAmerican Energy Holdings Berkshire Hathaway Energy Company(R%
Company) were deemed to be interested in 87,613,142 H #AMidAmerican Energy Holdings Company)
shares (L) held through Western Capital Group LLC, its indirectly DREEABBEBEESARREZEREA
controlled corporation and wholly-owned company, for 87,613,142 T Western Capital Group LLCFrEEEEH
H shares directly held by it, respectively. 87,613,142%HA% + 587,613, 142fFHAZ (L) Z &

HmaEER o
2. The interests of BlackRock, Inc. were held through its various 2. BlackRock, Inc. ®y#Ez Ty B S5 A Rl iF

controlled corporations, and of which 323,000 shares (L) were
cash settled unlisted derivatives, and 354,000 shares (S) were
cash settled unlisted derivatives.

The total issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2023 was RMB2,911,142,855, divided into 1,813,142,855 A shares of
RMB1.00 each and 1,098,000,000 H shares of RMB1.00 each, all fully
paid up.

B - HP323,000 A R SAEFEIELETITE
TA - 354000 KR RBRSAEFIELETITE
TE-

RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—8 " AR2FEETEX
aza A AREE2911,142,85570 * 9 41,813,142,855
&SR EE AR 1.007T8 AR & 1,098,000,000%
EREEARE1.00TTHHE 29 EERER -
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company may take out liability insurance
for the Directors and other senior management members with the
content of the Shareholders’ general meeting to provide appropriate
cover for them.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance during the Reporting Period, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors and other senior management members of the
Company.

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this report,
there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for
the benefit of any of the directors of the Company (whether made by
the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the
Company).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year, no Directors acquired benefits by engaging
in business that competes with that of the Company or its subsidiaries.

In September 2009, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, the controlling shareholder of
the Group, signed the Non-competition Undertakings to confirm with
the Company that he would abide by the undertaking of not engaging
in business that competes with that of the Company. Directors,
including independent non-executive Directors, have examined his
compliance and confirmed that the controlling shareholder has abided
by all the undertakings.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

Currently, all PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes (the “Schemes”) launched by local
provincial and municipal governments in China, pursuant to which the
Group makes contributions to the Schemes in accordance with the
applicable percentage of the salary of eligible staff. Local government
authorities assume the obligation in respect of all the pensions
payable to retired staff.

Save for the above contributions, the Group does not have any other
major payment obligation in respect of pension benefits.

BEFZRERX

ﬁ%$ﬂﬂ@ﬂ$ﬁ*m%$kﬁmﬁ NS

NREEMEMSRERASBEEERR  AE
ERHEERE -

ARBEREHANERREER  RAREERS
RERASRIEENRE -
RAMBFERBEEARRSE BHSIEEMRE - #1

FEEARARREAES (T
Ho Ao 77 I E) sl & R 7]
AHYREERFRE R -

A B AR A A
(i AN R BB E) AR

EEEHYN

FR ARALEREBEBAERNEREZTNE
BRITHRITERITREFEEAEH -

R
EMKEMKEF BIEE R EHA QR g EAEM M
BRI EH PGS

“EENFNA  AEBERBREERELRE

(TBFAGE)  MARAEREE #T/,\%ﬂ}
EEMNAEL EFEREBUIFINTEST) EERE
TIERAWERIERRRE ETIREFRZNBETA
oo

EIREHE

RREAEENSHENBARRHE —LhPHEH

BT IBUT R R e E BEBORRE MG B ([ F
FHED - B AEBEARAEREEFSHNEM
I:TﬁEA—eri‘H’Fﬁ1 K o 7T U H B R A AR

KEEHNZIERARSHAEEL -
B Bt RN AEBE W EEAMEERRKSETR
NREE -



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year ended 31
December 2023 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and
customers are as follows:

Purchases 24 ]
- the largest supplier —&RHER

—the five largest suppliers combined

Sales SHER
— the largest customer —BAEP
- the five largest customers combined —hfimKREFPERT

—hfURKEEE A
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TEEFRMHER

AEENIEHERALEFPEERE_S_=F1=
A=t—HALFENRBELHEERGOLAOT :

9.72%
20.17%

10.52%
17.34%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had an interest in any of the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
during the Year is set out in note Xll “Related Parties and Related
Party Transactions” to the financial statements. Such related party
transactions did not constitute connected transactions of the Group
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

There was no connected transaction entered into by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 which is required to be disclosed
under the Listing Rules, and the Group has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant subsequent events of the Group are set out in
note XV of the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors as at the date of this report,
the Directors confirm that the Company had sufficient public float as
required by the Listing Rules.

BEE RENETHEARTABRRGERESHA
BAEARAS%A LD EITRAMNBR) I ERN Lt
MERETEHERXTLPHEE TR -

RBLX5

AEBEFARENEE T X SHRETI N U5 HRER
MaE+= BEBITEERIERS 2T IS
WAEK ETRANFEI4AT R TN REBOBER
5 e

BE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HBItFE KEEW
EEMREETEOIMEREZBEALIRS B
AEEDETEMRANE14AZRRTE -

BEMRER
AEBZBEANEERREBHBEANT B RERM T
TH-

DABRFRENZ M

RAGEAS  BEAADTEARNRERGNE
HURRESHN  EFRBAAANARERE
e ETTRBIME -
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each independent non-executive Director has provided a written
statement confirming his/her independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company assessed that each
independent non-executive Director continues to be independent.

AUDITORS

The term of Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP, the Company’s auditor, is
about to expire. Resolutions will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
for Shareholders to consider and approve the appointment of Ernst &
Young Hua Ming LLP as the auditor of the Company for 2024. There is
no disagreement with the audit committee on such appointment. the
Company did not replace its auditor in the past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Chuan-fu
Chairman

Shenzhen, PRC, 26 March 2024

BB

BUBUINTEFCIRHEMER R - BRER
BLEMHRAIFEIABRHAE - HARAWBILIE - &
R ARFRRBBIUFNTERTHRBIA
=+ o

B BLEm
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In 20283, in accordance with the principle of being accountable to
all Shareholders, the supervisory committee of the Company fully
complied with the duties to supervise and ensure that the resolutions
as passed in general meetings were consistently implemented, the
legal interest of Shareholders was protected and the duties conferred
under the Articles and in the general meetings were completed in
accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Articles and the relevant
provisions, facilitating a disciplined operation and sustainable
development of the Company.

1. MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD AND
RESOLUTIONS PASSED IN SUCH MEETINGS

On 28 March 2023, the supervisory committee convened its
meeting at the office of the Company, where the annual report
of the Company for 2022 was considered and approved
accordingly.

On 27 April 2023, the supervisory committee convened its
meeting at the office of the Company, where the 2023 first
quarterly report of the Company was considered and approved
accordingly.

On 28 August 2023, the supervisory committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the interim
report of the Company for 2023 was considered and approved
accordingly.

On 1 September 2023, the supervisory committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the re-election
of supervisors, election of new supervisors and fixing
remuneration of supervisors were considered and approved
accordingly.

On 19 September 2023, the supervisory committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the election of
chairman of the supervisory committee was considered and
approved accordingly.

On 30 October 2023, the supervisory committee convened its
meeting at the office of the Company, where the 2023 third
quarterly report was considered and approved accordingly.

ESgHRE
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2. PROGRESS OF THE WORK OF THE 2. BREHAESENIT/EER
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

During the Reporting Period, the supervisory committee of the EARHREHRRN - RAESELERITTEE
Company performed its supervisory functions in a fiduciary g HARMEE  EZERITREARG
manner. The supervisory committee duly supervised and REOBER  EEBHLEAR - AAIHK
examined the Company’ s financial situation, the Board’s EBE RAIES  HEEReABEAED
execution of the resolutions passed in general meetings, KETREIERREMNERIIETTRE
operational decisions of the management, the operations of the REBMBRE  RRESEERA

Company in compliance with the laws, the acts of the Directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company, and
the related party transactions entered into with its controlling
shareholder. The supervisory committee considered that:

(1)  The operating activities of the Group in 2023 did not (1) SEEZ_=FEMNLEEHFT
violate the PRC Company Law, the Articles, financial GFHEER(ARNE) - (RAIER) -
accounting procedures and the laws and regulations of Mgt hlE RESZOARE  EHRT
the PRC. y=

2 During the discharge of their duties in 2023, the 2) NEEE EENRREEABLEC
Directors, supervisors and senior management of TOFEIEBRER  BEEARE
the Company fulfilled their fiduciary duties by acting AR E  HEEE - Hina
lawfully, regularized management, explored for o BEMEET 2EBRENNE
innovation, with discipline to protect the interests of PMFHEERCARNE) - (RRER K
all the shareholders of the Company. None of the BIZOARE  SBBEIITA -

parties named above was found in breach of the PRC
Company Law, the Articles or the laws and regulations

of the PRC.

(3)  The auditor presented an unqualified auditor’s report. (3) SEMEEMLAETERBERNE
The report indicates that the financial statements give a TG c ZAMERRBAR AN B
true and fair view of the financial status and operating REE - ARhtREATE B R
results of the Company. R o

The supervisory committee is confident in the prospect of the EEEHARATNAETTMEL @ RFE—WEEE
Company and will proceed to carry out effective supervision on ¥ AR GIEEEHAREE  #ERREEAQF
the operation of the Company to safeguard the interests of the  HJEEEFa ©

Shareholders and the Company as a whole.

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee EEeFE
Li Yong-zhao 1

26 March 2024 —“E-UFE=A=1+7"H
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Ernst & Young Hua Ming (2024) Shen Zi No. 70013328_H01

To the shareholders of BYD Company Limited:

AUDIT OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of BYD Company
Limited which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
and company income statements, statement of changes in
owners’ equity and cash flow statement for the year ended 31
December 2023 and notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of BYD
Company Limited have been prepared in accordance with
the PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (the
“PRC ASBEs") in all material aspects and give a fair view of the
consolidated and company financial position of BYD Company
Limited as at 31 December 2023 and the consolidated and
company results of operation and cash flows of BYD Company
Limited for 2023.

KR (2024)F F 5 70013328_HO15%
BYD Company Limited
LR AR A

LEERODARABZERRR :

EIER

BME THLEBERNDERD BN B R
R BE_ZF_=ZFt+-_A=t—HAMNAH
RAREEBER —T_=FE&HER
BIMER BEREREZHRNADRERIA
KRR ISR MY AL -

BPIRR - R RO BR AR &M
BREREMEEATHRBEEGTELN
RERE  AARMTHEEERNBRIA
CEREC=FT A=+ -HOAHRAFN
BB AR S =FE &0 RAFH
BERRMBELRE -
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Auditing
Standards for Certified Public Accountants of China. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the section headed “Certified Accountants’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” of our report. We are
independent of BYD Company Limited in accordance with
the Code of Ethics for PRC certified accountants and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the section
headed “Certified Accountants’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements” of our report, including those
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the key audit
matter below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying financial statements as a whole.

FEREFRRNER

BPRR T BEEM st RaT B R EHR
11T TIE - B HRENEM S HE
BHRREFANET B E—PEA T HRME
BLEATEME - RIBPEEM S 5HA R
FEETR - BB LRLE AR BRA
A WETTREERTENEMEE - &
FiMEME - RAEDNEFEERRED BE
B RBEREBABRREMHRTER -

RRETEE

RRETFEHERMARBEREAE  RRY
AP B HRREBARREENTH - FLF
RS AR IS R BB TR WK
BEABRAER BT THELERFEFE
RER - BAETAE-—FRERATEN
Al EE AL AL BB 5 -

RPEEETT T AREEME A0S 7 %R
REMNETIBOMIENERE  BREGE
R E FEABNEE - BER - RN
Ei THRERATRBREFENMBRRE
RiERARTRFHOBRA RS - HPIMITE
AIEFMAER  BREY TABREFR
FTITERR - REBRRBREERRTE
SERH T &R/ -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

ZEREESPROMEY :

Revenue recognition

The operating revenue of BYD Company Limited is mainly
from the sales of automobiles and related products
and other products, and mobile handset components,
assembly services and other products. In 2023, BYD
Company Limited recorded a revenue of RMB602.3 billion
in the consolidated financial statements, representing an
increase of RMB178.3 billion or 42% as compared to the
total revenue in 2022, which was mainly derived from the
segment of automobiles and related products and other
products.

bR M ARARMNE X WA X ERENITE - AEHE
MERREMES  FHRISM  BEREMER - —T=
—FE WHBBROBERABAHTHREPEERAD
BAARMG023ET  B@XWABER T - —_FEH
IMMARMEA 78318 - REAB42%  TERARNAE
AERBAEMREMER -

LON 0

The audit procedures performed in relation to the revenue
recognition in our audit mainly included:

HEBRTBEPHRABRATNTNETEFIEEHR

o Understood, assessed and tested the effectiveness
of the design and operation of internal controls
related to revenue recognition;

o TR FFEAAIGEE KW AERE A R EHE S MR
HRBITAE R

° Obtained main sales contracts, checked and
identified the terms and conditions in the contracts
which were related to the transfer of control and
revenue recognition, and assessed whether the
accounting policies on revenue recognition had
been compliance with the requirements of with the
PRC ASBEs;

o BMEIENWEAR - RENERIREHELE R
WA ERAIB A FIRRER AE  3F R AR
HEERARA L EREEAIES

° Confirmed on a sample basis the current sales
with major customers in line with confirmation of
accounts receivable, and conducted alternative test
on samples without reply;

o HABWKRNRHE  UWHMEITARAIEEP KE
HISHER - BRE A BEARITE RO

° Selected samples from goods sales around the
balance sheet date and checked supporting
documents such as outbound delivery orders
and logistics documents to assess whether
relevant revenue had been recognised during the
appropriate accounting period;

e HNEERBRANKRNEENMIZEIRAL @ &
EHEEMYMREERSFEXF - SHERBEEA
ERRFNIRE &M
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Key audit matter:

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

ZEREESPROMEY :

Taking into consideration that there was a significant
increase in revenue during the Year and the different
business types involved, inappropriate recognition of
revenue might have a material effect on the financial
statements. Therefore, revenue recognition was identified
as a key audit matter.

ZERIARNFRARERRD SR TROEBER - WAHK
TAEERHMBRRBEEATZE - Ft - B URARE
RBA mEARETFE -

For the disclosures of this accounting policy,
significant accounting judgements and estimates, as
well as relevant financial statements, please refer to
notes 111.23, 24 and 32 and notes V.45.

ZEEE EASTTHEANMGT UAREEMERRFEE
BREAWE= 232432 LURKHER  45-

. Conducted detailed test on revenue recognition
and checked supporting documents such as
outbound delivery orders, logistics documents,
bank statements, export declarations and sales
invoices;

e HITWMARBOMEANS - mEHEE  WRE -
RITIK ~ H O REE MIHEEREFIEXT

° Conducted analytical review procedures to compare
the movements of various revenues and gross profit
margins and analyse the reasonableness of the
movements;

o BOSMMBRIEF - WL EFEBIKARER R
BHER - HTRARERERHHAI -

° Checked whether there was any significant reversal
of revenue or sales return after the Reporting
Period:

s REREHRECSHFAEEARAFTEAABREEN

R

° Reviewed the disclosures of operating revenue in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

o  BERAVMBHRRMETERERLANRKE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

ZEREESPROMEY :

Expected credit losses on trade receivables, contract
assets and long-term receivables

BYD Company Limited recorded a carrying amount of
trade receivables of RMB61.9 billion, a carrying amount of
contract assets of RMB2.7 billion and a carrying amount
of long-term receivables of RMB8.2 billion as at 31
December 2023 in the consolidated financial statements,
which accounted for a significant portion of the total
assets in the consolidated financial statements.

BIE—T-=F+"A=+—H " tLBEBRHBERRIFA
HUBHETRUEFEREESARE619ET - &R
BEFRmMEEASARE7TEL  REBUEFEREESA
RE82(ETT - HAMHYBHRRELEEMSHEKX

BYD Company Limited applied a simplified measurement
method which grouped different portfolios based on
their risk characteristics, and used a credit risk matrix to
assess the expected credit losses of the financial assets
above. For an item of trade receivable of significant
amount and with objective evidence indicating that the
credit risk of such differs significantly from that of other
receivables, the expected credit loss is calculated by the
difference between the present value of all contractual
cash flows related to such trade receivable under the
single contract and the present value of all expected
cash flows. For other receivables, the management has
considered the characteristics of credit risks related to
different customers, and assessed the expected credit
losses by aging group. Management’s estimate of
expected credit losses has taken into consideration all
reasonable and reliable information, including the credit
ratings of customers, aging of closing balance, existence
of disputes and historic payments, as well as forward-
looking information in line with expected macro-economic
environment and other factors.

LRl AR A BERBIETE - RIBRARSRE
DTRAESR  RAGHAREMEY AR EENTEE
RBXRETHE - UNERSEEAAFERERERH
Z BIARWFIAN S R AR S A EUGRIENERRRE
BETAN  ERZEBRARTREFENAEARRAS
mEREEBHRBNMAERSREREZMNEZRTR
BEHERRR - HREMNEETR  EEEZEET TR
EFMERERSE - UREKRAS SERIEBRIERRE
K- BEEEHEMERRRNGAZEMEREAAKE
WES  BREFPEMANE HIRAENEKR EEFE
MPURBLERBERAEEES  EFRECENLZELE
REERRERBAEMESR

BYIRY - SREENMRABERROEBREREX

The audit procedures performed in relation to the
expected credit losses on trade receivables, contract
assets and long-term receivables in our audit mainly
included:

BAEFEHEREHEUSRR - & REEMKHEYRE
BEHMERBARTHESF TIEFEE 2R

° Understood, assessed and tested the effectiveness
of the design and operation of internal controls
related to the estimates of expected credit losses
on trade receivables, contract assets and long-term
receivables;

o TH - FIEMAREEBYER  aREEMKHE
Wk TR A5 A 1B K (i 5T AR B B /O R A I AR & AETT
EVERL ;

° Discussed with management on the groupings
of credit risk characteristic and the estimates of
expected credit losses, assessed their accuracy
based on historical loss rate, and evaluated the
reasonableness of management’s expected
credit loss model considering current economic
conditions;

e HEBREIWERRBRIEMASERNNE D - B
ERBARXNGE  REBEELIBREFMHHLER
M XEA BB KT EEEEEANEY
ERERENNAIENE
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Key audit matter:

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

ZEREESPROMEY :

As the groupings of trade receivables, contract assets
and long-term receivables with different credit risk
characteristics by management and the estimates of
expected credit loss rates involved significant judgements
and estimates, the expected credit losses on trade
receivables, contract assets and long-term receivables
were identified as a key audit matter.

EEEHRWER  AREENRABEGRTRMNERE
R EAESERINE D - BHERBRENGEAZIINE
REVHETAEE - BRI EKER - aREEMEH
FEYK TR E MBI BRI RRASERT F R -

For the disclosures of this accounting policy,
significant accounting judgements and estimates, as
well as relevant financial statements, please refer to
notes IlIl.10, 24 and 32 and notes V.3, 8, 10.

ZEHEE EASTHEANMGTUARAEMBRRFEE
ZEME= 102432 URKMERE -3-8-10°

° For trade receivable with individual bad debt
provision, discussed with management on the
reasonableness of identification and analysed the
recoverability of such receivables;

A

o HWEEFHEEKREGNRKFE - BEEENS
DIREMNE R HZEREN A B ET
#r

i
TN

° For trade receivables for which provision for bad
debts has been made on group basis by credit risk
characteristics, evaluated the reasonableness of
key assumptions for expected credit loss based on
the nature of customers and historical loss rate;

o HRERRBRFEMESFIREREMNEKR
REBFPUHENRELBAXRFEINERMERE
RHBARBROAIEN ;

° Recalculated the calculation of expected credit
losses on trade receivables, contract assets and
long-term receivables, checked the accuracy of
the aging of trade receivables and reviewed the
amounts of impairment provision;

o  EMAERKEN  AREBEEMKHEYEGIEMSE
RBRAWFTEBREE - BERURFIRENERE
BROREEREN T

° Checked the subsequent payments.

« RETHROBRER -



OTHER INFORMATION

The management of BYD Company Limited are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT AND
THE GOVERNANCE BODY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The management are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a fair view in accordance with the
PRC ASBEs and for the design, execution and maintenance of
such internal control as is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the management are
responsible for assessing BYD Company Limited’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless there are plans for liquidation or
cessation or there are no other realistic alternatives.

The governance body is responsible for overseeing BYD
Company Limited’s financial reporting process.
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VI.

CERTIFIED ACCOUNTANT’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our audit opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with audit
standards will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with audit standards, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

@) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

(2) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances.

(3) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the management.

S
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on BYD
Company Limited’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
issue a qualified opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause BYD Company Limited to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within BYD Company Limited to
express an audit opinion on the financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the governance body regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the governance body with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the governance body,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our audit report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP
PRC certified public accountant:
Li Jianguang (ZE&I3)

(Partner in charge)

PRC certified public accountant:
Zhang Linghui (GR¥% )

Beijing, the PRC
26 March 2024
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

31 December 2023
—E-=%+-HA=+—H

RMB’000
AREETFTT
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E—-= —F-—
Note V +=A +=A
Assets aE oS0 =+-—H =t+—A
Current assets REEE
Monetary funds HEES 1 109,094,408 51,471,263
Financial assets held for trading RHEEmEE 2 9,562,550 20,626,930
Trade receivables JE UK BR X 3 61,866,019 38,828,494
Receivables financing JE W R IE i & 4 5,564,924 12,894,284
Prepayments TERTFIE 6 2,215,413 8,223,567
Other receivables H A FEUGR 5 2,757,912 1,910,009
Inventories 5E 7 87,676,748 79,107,199
Contract assets AREE 8 2,660,319 13,552,998
Long-term receivables due within one year  —*4F R E| Hi#0 & B fE U 3% 7,508,351 1,052,562
Other current assets HEtns&EE 9 13,214,802 13,136,201
Total current assets mBEEA 302,121,446 240,803,507
Non-current assets RBEE
Long-term receivables R AWK 10 8,238,190 1,118,637
Long-term equity investments RAEIRERE 11 17,647,212 15,485,402
Other equity instrument investments HipigExm T REIRE 12 5,327,283 4,418,584
Other non-current financial assets HEMEREemEE 13 2,696,374 2,147,140
Investment properties WEMEEHE 14 82,510 85,005
Fixed assets EEEE 15 230,903,820 131,880,369
Construction in progress EETR 16 34,726,196 44,621,935
Right-of-use assets CREEE 17 9,678,956 3,137,327
Intangible assets mEE 18 37,236,261 23,223,497
Development expenditures BT 541,000 1,683,000
Goodwill G 19 4,427,571 65,914
Long-term deferred expenditures REFEER 20 4,062,529 458,108
Deferred tax assets FEIEFTISTHEE 21 6,584,422 3,686,905
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 22 15,273,900 21,045,316
Total non-current assets IEMBEESEE 377,426,224 253,057,139
Total assets BELBT 679,547,670 493,860,646

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements

&P B B R I 2 AR S R 0 AR PR AR 2
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EHEERER

31 December 2023
—E-=%+Z-HA=+—H

RMB’000
AREETF T
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-—
Note V +=A +=A
Liabilities i=Ci oz Er=0 =+—H
Current liabilities RBEE
Short-term borrowings EAER 24 18,323,216 5,153,098
Financial liabilities held for trading RHEe/mERE 25 7,713 54,605
Bills payables EANESE 26 4,053,314 3,328,419
Trade payables FETER IR 27 194,429,817 140,437,310
Contract liabilities aRAaE 28 34,698,510 35,516,571
Employee benefits payables R £<F B8k 357 P 29 17,138,836 12,037,011
Tax payables JERXTE 30 7,852,324 4,326,394
Other payables HMERR 31 164,972,849 122,123,841
Provision ERrAE 32 2,620,325 1,287,452
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FREEMIERBEE 33 7,740,491 6,464,828
Other current liabilities HivmghgE 34 1,829,276 2,615,032
Total current liabilities MEAESR 453,666,671 333,344,561
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Long-term borrowings REMER 35 11,975,139 7,593,596
Lease liabilities HEAE 37 8,847,186 2,617,274
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFEH AR 21 3,950,836 2,018,530
Other non-current liabilities HinIFmenaE 38 50,645,725 26,896,848
Total non-current liabilities FnEBEESE 75,418,886 39,126,248
Total liabilities afEast 529,085,557 372,470,809

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

31 December 2023
—E-=%+-HA=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFTT
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E== -2
Note V +=A +=A
Shareholders’ equity BRER M aE Sar=[F =+—H
Shareholders’ equity RERER
Share capital %N 39 2,911,143 2,911,143
Capital reserve /N 40 62,041,774 61,705,893
Less: treasury shares B TR 41 1,266,944 1,809,920
Other comprehensive income EHfvir e 42 603,663 428,332
Special reserve HIARF 22,370 12,078
Surplus reserve Py YN 43 7,374,087 6,838,541
Undistributed profit KRB FE 44 67,123,972 40,943,232
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to GENERAFREERER
the parent company 138,810,065 111,029,299
Non-controlling interests DEUR R 11,652,048 10,360,538
Total shareholders’ equity X 150,462,113 121,389,837
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMBRRESAT 679,547,670 493,860,646
The financial statement was signed by the following persons: MEmRBANATALESE
Legal representative: Chief Financial Officer: Head of Accounting Department:
EEREA - FEGHIIEBEA : BERIBEEA
Wang Chuan-fu Zhou Ya-lin Liu Hui
TEE BBk 2=

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements
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Consolidated Income Statement

EFHFBEER

Year ended 31 December 2023
E_F-=F+-A=t+—RILEE

RMB’000
ARMBFT
Note V 2023 2022
iy —E-=F “EoCF
. Operating revenue - WA 45 602,315,354 424,060,635
Less: Operating costs B EERA 45 480,558,350 351,815,680
Tax and surcharge Bie KMt 46 10,349,628 7,267,110
Selling expenses HEEBR 47 25,211,395 15,060,676
Administrative expenses EEER 48 13,461,708 10,007,370
Research and development HEBR
expenses 49 39,574,945 18,654,453
Finance expenses H%ER 50 (1,474,894) (1,617,957)
Including: Interest expenses He: FISER 50 1,827,605 1,316,350
Interest income FMEWA 50 2,796,195 1,829,617
Add: Other income me Eflies 51 5,253,459 1,721,136
Investment income BB R 52 1,635,141 (791,903)
Including: Investment income/(loss) Hep: HEEAENEE
in associates and joint TEMNFE
ventures ezs /(B 1,277,455 (685,885)
Loss on derecognition of financial DESK AT ENEREE
assets measured at amortised L RERIB R
cost - (22,719)
Gains from changes in fair value DhBEZENE 53 257,740 126,098
Impairment losses on credit ERRERX 54 (1,579,612) (989,521)
Impairment losses on asset BEREERXE 55 (2,188,219) (1,386,458)
Gains from disposal of assets BEERENE 56 90,364 (10,836)
Il.  Operating profit = BRAH 38,103,095 21,541,819
Add: Non-operating income = EEIMEA 57 711,370 526,974
Less: Non-operating expenses B E AN 58 1,545,828 989,064
ll.  Total profit = fEes 37,268,637 21,079,729
Less: Income tax expenses B FTEHE R 59 5,924,567 3,366,625
IV.  Net profit M FAE 31,344,070 17,713,104
V.  Classified by continuity of operation i EEEREMLE
Net profit from continuing operations S FE 31,344,070 17,713,104
VI.  Classified by ownership N REEEREBLE
Net profit attributable to Shareholders GBARARMEER
of the parent company b 30,040,811 16,622,448
Non-controlling interests LHRERR 1,303,259 1,090,656
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Consolidated Income Statement

RGBS
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

RMB’000
ARMBFTT
Note V 2023 2022
iy —E-=F “EoCF
VI.  Earnings per share (RMB/share) . BRUEZE/R
Basic earnings per share EAGRYE 60 10.32 5.71
Diluted earnings per share wEg ki 10.32 5.71
VIIl. Other comprehensive income N Hittgzahs 184,028 546,230
Other comprehensive income that cannot THEEDHEBENEM
be reclassified to profit or loss e
Changes in fair value of other equity HitEnTARELABES
instrument investments 220,896 852,068
Income tax impact kT2 (54,047) (204,001)
166,849 648,067
Other comprehensive income that BEHBEBRNEMERE G
will be reclassified to profit or loss
Changes in fair value of receivables ERRERELLEES
financing 38,479 (30,653)
Provision for credit impairment of [ENCRIBRLE = AR E LR
receivables financing (10,453) 2,463
Exchange difference on foreign currency INEBRRITEET
translation (19,544) (67,490)
8,482 (95,680)
Other comprehensive income attributable HER DR R H iR & a1
to non-controlling interests, net of tax Bifg g8 42 8,697 (6,157)
IX.  Total comprehensive income e GEWBHEE 31,528,098 18,259,334
Among which: Hep
Total comprehensive income attributable FERIARRRNGEKEETE
to shareholders of the parent company 30,216,142 17,174,835
Total comprehensive income attributable FERDERRNGA WERE
to non-controlling interests 1,311,956 1,084,499

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial &M B Rz M L AR SRR AR LD
statements
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122 LeEERBBRAF

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EHEESTHRER

31 December 2023
—E-=%+Z-HA=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFT
Note V 2023 2022
Copziy —E-= —ET-=
l.  Cash flows from operating activities: — - ZBEFTHELNRESHE !
Cash received from sales of goods and HEmM - RESBKEIM
provision of services e 572,704,798 413,209,226
Tax rebates received W B ey i B & 15,165,447 7,628,162
Cash received from other activities W B E fh B4 2 E B A RE Y
relating to operations Be 61 23,947,858 20,542,599
Sub-total of cash inflows from operating L RIS AT
activities 611,818,103 441,379,987
Cash paid for goods and services EEND  BXBBIEH
Be 313,433,210 220,842,504
Cash paid to and on behalf of TRGEB TR AR TS
employees e 84,287,908 53,519,728
Cash paid for various types of taxes TR SERE 29,528,359 18,537,188
Cash paid for other activities relating to TR EAM R EE BRI
operations e 61 14,843,601 7,642,910
Sub-total of cash outflows from L EBIR S T
operating activities 442,093,078 300,542,330

Net cash flow from operating activities CEERSELMNIREREFE 62 169,725,025 140,837,657
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—BRO=EER

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EHEBEERER

31 December 2023
—E-=%+-HA=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFTT
Note V 2023 2022
Mata —=E-= —T-=
. Cash flows from investing activities: = - REFHELENRESHE :
Cash received from disposal of Y142 & 2 /938 &
investments - 13,779
Cash received from disposals of BREA SIS A TIFTRE 8
associates or joint ventures B 122,617 95,800
Cash received from gains in investment SR ERGKE MRS 192,409 129,333
Net cash received from disposals BB FARRHAMEFEEN
of subsidiaries and other operating W IREIFEE
entities 73,840 -
Net cash received from disposals of EEEREEE  SBFEEM
fixed assets, intangible assets and Hip REAEEKE
other long-term assets He FE 470,793 268,237
Cash received from other activities W B H fh B4% & E B A REAY
relating to investments e 61 22,245,824 12,803,494
Sub-total of cash inflows from investing KERSESRANDET
activities 23,105,483 13,310,643
Cash paid for purchase and BEETEE  BEEAEN
construction of fixed assets, Hin REAEEZ T
intangible assets and other long-term Re
assets 122,093,509 97,456,862
Cash paid for acquisition of W F A A e Bt & 3R B L
subsidiaries and SXAMREFRE
other operating entities, net 14,077,769 -
Cash paid for investments BEZNWES 2,084,953 10,572,908
Cash paid for other activities relating to TR EMEEEFESHREN
investments Be 61 10,512,896 25,876,870
Sub-total of cash outflows from BEESIRES LG
investing activities 148,769,127 133,906,640

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

REZDERNESRE
HEE

(125,663,644)

(120,595,997)
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

EHEERER
31 December 2023
—E-=%+Z-HA=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFT
Note V 2023 2022
Copziy ===-= i
lil.  Cash flows from financing activities: = - BEIBHEENELSRE :
Cash received from capital injection RIS & W B H)3R & 98,000 507,625
Cash received from borrowings BEERKR AR e 45,304,083 27,635,948
Cash received from other activities WEIRE MRS & EE BN
relating to financing Be 28,233 3,031,473
Sub-total of cash inflows from SHEFHHESIMANDE
financing activities 45,430,316 31,175,046
Cash paid for repayment of debts BEEEBINHNRS 27,230,939 44,048,894
Cash payments for distribution of SECARF] - FESE R FE
dividends, profits or interest SAMRE
expenses 4,101,617 1,632,852
Including: Dividends and profits paid He: FREIEZRGLH
to minority shareholders MR AR - FHE
by subsidiaries 127,297 79,464
Cash paid for other XM EMEEE
activities relating to EEBBAMNES
financing 61 1,280,633 4,981,983
Sub-total of cash outflows from FEFHHS ML A
financing activities 32,613,189 50,663,729
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing EEEH(ER)EED
activities REREFHE 12,817,127  (19,488,683)
IV. Effect of foreign exchange rate 0 EXSEHHESRRASEEY
changes on cash and cash :0f-2
equivalents 450,780 609,620
V. Netincrease in cash and cash f- RERBRSEEYFILME
equivalents 62 57,329,288 1,362,597
Add: opening balance of cash and m: FYRELRBEFED
cash equivalents BREE 62 51,182,457 49,819,860
VI. Closing balance of cash and cash RFRASRBSEEYHE
equivalents 62 108,511,745 51,182,457

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements
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Company Balance Sheet

AAEERER

31 December 2023
—E-=%+-HA=+—H

RMB’000
AREETFTT
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—=-= —EF--
Note XVII +=A +=A
Assets BE et ++ Er=[E =+—H
Current assets RBEE
Monetary funds BEEge 14,922,981 7,490,515
Financial assets held for trading RHECmMEE 300,487 300,462
Trade receivables FE U BR X 1 1,642,730 1,556,885
Receivables financing JEY B RLE 15,796 3,215
Prepayments TERTFIE 12,485 10,075
Other receivables H A e WK 2 26,410,735 5,835,397
Inventories rE 51,571 37,559
Other current assets HEfnB&EE 13,134 -
Total current assets RBEBEART 43,369,919 15,234,108
Non-current assets FREBEE
Long-term equity investments RAEIRERE 3 59,565,120 54,895,715
Other equity instrument investments HipER T BEIRE 4,902,097 4,026,536
Other non-current financial assets HEMIEmBemEE 1,195,974 769,304
Investment properties BEMEEE 52,341 53,950
Fixed assets =y 755,017 822,594
Construction in progress fEETR 14,392 13,906
Right-of-use assets FREEE 34,893 -
Intangible assets BILEE 671,622 412,234
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 33,506 22,280
Total non-current assets FMEBEESF 67,224,962 61,016,519
Total assets BEMEG 110,594,881 76,250,627

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements

18 P B 765 S 3% PI R A AN B TS SR O AL RF
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Company Balance Sheet

AAIEERER

31 December 2023
—E-=%+Z-HA=+—H

RMB’000
AREFIT
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E_-= —F-—
+=A +=A
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity BENRRER Siiss =+—H
Current liabilities REBEE
Short-term borrowings AR = 1,500,917
Bills payables AL 2,102 2,291
Trade payables FEATBR IR 1,472,431 1,264,904
Contract liabilities aRAE 21,702 46,071
Employee benefits payables e £~} B T 5 A 61,767 57,949
Tax payables &AW B 2,750 5,019
Other payables H B 29,511,515 1,477,222
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FRIENERBEE 4,287,027 4,352,942
Other current liabilities HEthmeatE 2,821 807
Total current liabilities mEBEER 35,362,115 8,708,122
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Long-term borrowings REIER 4,752,500 4,202,873
Lease liabilities HESE 16,573 -
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFEHAE 231,407 312,666
Other non-current liabilities HE#IEREB AR 62,501 818
Total non-current liabilities EmBBESET 5,062,981 4,516,357
Total liabilities afEast 40,425,096 13,224,479
Shareholders’ equity BRRERE
Share capital [N 2,911,143 2,911,143
Capital reserve EV YN 56,865,744 56,567,975
Less: treasury shares B ETER 1,266,944 1,809,920
Other comprehensive income HEfbira s 901,114 760,310
Surplus reserve B NTE 1,680,978 1,145,432
Undistributed profit AR5 Be ) 9,077,750 3,451,208
Total shareholders’ equity attributable BEREARIRRERER
to the parent company 70,169,785 63,026,148
Total shareholders’ equity BEERER 70,169,785 63,026,148
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMBRRER AT 110,594,881 76,250,627

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial &M BB REM 7E AR IS HERAOAR LD

statements
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Company Income Statement

APPSR

31 December 2023

—E=F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000

ARMBFTT

2023 2022

—E-=F o —F

Operating revenue EEWA 2,743,956 7,707,006
Less: Operating costs B BERR 2,311,685 6,041,303
Tax and surcharge Fis MM 15,291 13,184
Selling expenses HEEBR 15,768 10,790
Administrative expenses EREHA 255,049 236,647
Research and development expenses MEER 159,991 102,668
Finance expenses &R (61,892) 37,225
Including: Interest expenses Hep: FIEEA 247,307 501,534

Interest income B U A 339,925 447 966

Add: Other income e Htles 37,817 8,885
Investment income BEW 9,144,389 1,950,851

Including: Investment income in Hi o SEErENEEREN
associates and joint ventures & W 1,160,891 582,746
Loss on derecognition of PSR AT BN S #
financial assets measured at BERIEBARELX

amortised cost - -

Gains from changes in fair value AhEEEHKE 206,857 467,087
Impairment losses on credit ERREAERX (74,134) 6,580
Impairment losses on asset BERERK (73) (135)
Gains from disposal of assets EEREWE 666 (436)
Operating profit EERE 9,363,586 3,698,021
Add: Non-operating income M EEINEA 29,009 13,949
Less: Non-operating expenses W BRI 34,131 9,055
Total profit FE4asE 9,358,464 3,702,915
Less: Income tax expenses W FEHiER (128,149) 62,299
Net profit FEAH 9,486,613 3,640,616
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Company Income Statement

NP ES
31 December 2023
—E-=%+Z-HA=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFT
Note XVII 2023 2022
Wi+t —E-=F —Eo—fF

Classified by continuity of operation RREREMEDE

Including: Net profit from continuing operations Heb 3B 5FE 9,486,613 3,640,616
Other comprehensive income EM%AH&E 140,804 550,181
Other comprehensive income that cannot be DEEERNEMERS WS

reclassified to profit or loss

Changes in fair value of other equity instrument ~ EiER T EREQA A BEE

investments 187,758 733,004
Income tax impact FTiSHiz 2 (46,940) (183,251)
140,818 549,753

Other comprehensive income that will be HENBERSENE MRS W

reclassified to profit or loss

Changes in fair value of receivables financing JEWGRIBRE AR BEE (10) 477

Provision for credit impairment of receivables [EWRIER B ERREER

financing (4) (49)
(14) 428

Total comprehensive income REWBBE 9,627,417 4,190,797

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial &M M REM E AR IS HE OB LD

statements
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Company Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity

ARARREZEF R
31 December 2023
—E_=F+-HA=+—H

RMB’000
AREFTT
2023 —EC=fF
Less: Other Total
Share Capital ~ treasury comprehensive Surplus  Undistributed - shareholders’
capital reserve shares income reserve profit equity
Hfbsa RRRE
Bx  ERDR B EER hE  BBAR  ROEAE ait
. Closing balance for the previous - EERREEENSE
year and opening balance for the year 2,911,143 56,567,975 1,809,920 760310 1,145,432 3,451,208 63,026,148
I, Amount of change in the current year - KEEREYLE
(I} Total comprehensive income () RAkEEE - = = 140,804 - 0486613 9,627,417
() Capital contribution and reduction (2) RERAMELER
by shareholders
1 Share-based payment recognized 1 BROZAHARR
in shareholders’ equity PG = 825,713 = = = = 825,713
2 Effect of the vesting of resricted 2 REBHMRSN
shares 52 - (542,976)  (542,976) = = = =
3 Others 3 Efe - 15,032 - - - - 15,032
() Proft distribution (=) MEAR
1 Appropriation to surplus reserve 1 REEHLE = C S - 53546 (535546 =
2 Distribution to shareholders 2 HRRAHE
(note V. 44) W2z 4 - - - - - (3324525  (3,324,525)
Il Closing balance for the year = REERBE 29011,143 56,865,744 1,266,944 901,114 1,680,978 9,077,750 70,169,785
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Company Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity

ANRERREREBE R
31 December 2023
—E-=F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFT
2022 - ——
Less: Other Total
Share Capital treasury - comprehensive Surplus - Undistributed - shareholders’
capital reserve shares income reserve profit equity
Efhiza hRER
Bx EADE R ERR h&E  BRAE RORNE aEf
. Closing balance for the previous - LEERREFENBE
year and opening balance for the year 2,911,143 56,037,659 - 210,129 781,370 480,324 60,420,625
Il Amountof change inthe currentyear = REEHEHLE
(I)  Total comprehensive income (-) FAYEeE - - - 550,181 - 3640616 4,190,797
(I} Capital contribution and reduction (2) RREATHOER
by shareholders
1 Share-based payment 1 BOZEFARE
recognized in Bafe®
shareholders’ equity - 506,057 - - - - 506,057
2 Fffect of the grant of 2 RTRHEREH
restricted shares ge - - 1809,920 - - - (1,809,920)
3 Others 3 Hth - 24,059 - - - - 24,259
() Profit distribution (=) ®ESE
1 Appropriation to surplus 1 REESLNE
reserve - - - - 364,062 (364,062) -
2 Distribution to shareholders 2 HRROHE
(note V. 44) (W3E - 44) - - - - - (305670)  (305,670)
Il Closing balance for the year = KEERBE 2911143 56,567,975 1,809,920 760310 1145432 3451208 63,026,148

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial &M BB REM FE AR IS HERAOAR LD
statements
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Company Cash Flow Statement
ARAIRERER

31 December 2023

—E=F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000

AREETFTT

2023 2022
—ZE_= —E-=

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from sales of goods and
provision of services

Tax rebates received

Cash received from other activities
relating to operations

RETHEENRERE

HERMM - BHAEBRIINES
2,974,114 10,950,688
I liEokirE-$¥: 2,900 90,967
U EB BN S
6,474,327 10,737,163

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating
activities

EEEFIR S mANET
9,451,341 21,778,818

Cash paid for goods and services

Cash paid to and on behalf of employees

Cash paid for various types of taxes

Cash paid for other activities relating to
operations

BERM  BXEBIANEE 2,149,853 8,960,770
TREBRTIARAR TSRS 446,615 357,963
YRS ERE 15,341 21,609

XMEMELEEHEBNRS
367,030 3,417,639

Sub-total of cash outflows from operating
activities

RERBRE /NG
2,978,839 12,757,981

Net cash flow from operating activities

WEEHEEANRESREFHR 6,472,502 9,020,837
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Company Cash Flow Statement

ARIRERER
31 December 2023
—E-=F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFT
2023 2022
—E=-= =2
. Cash flow from investing activities: - REFBEENRESRE
Cash received from gains in investment SR E K= E HR e 1,534,450 32,270
Net cash received from disposals of fixed REETEE  MEEEMAM
assets, intangible assets and other long- REEEWDAIRSFE
term assets 52,980 24,382
Net cash received from disposal of BrE TR R R EH A B A R /Y
subsidiaries and other operating entities e FRE 28,023 -
Cash received from other activities L B A B 4% & O B) A BE HY
relating to investments B2k 24,935 19
Sub-total of cash inflows from investing WEFSIRSRANET
activities 1,640,388 56,671
Cash paid for purchase and construction BEETEE  BEAEMN
of fixed assets, intangible assets and other EmRPEEZNNER S
long-term assets 341,320 221,844
Cash paid for investments BREZNNERS 4,209,898 9,643,496
Cash paid for other activities relating to S EMEREESHABRNES
investments 13,963,979 45,625
Sub-total of cash outflows from investing WEEEIR SR G
activities 18,515,197 9,910,965
Net cash flows used in investing activities REFSEANRESREFH (16,874,809) (9,854,294)
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ZERCZFFR

Company Cash Flow Statement
NARERER

31 December 2023

—EC=F+-A=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFTT
2023 2022
—E-= —=E-=
lll. Cash flows from financing activities: = EETREENERESRE:
Cash received from borrowings BSEFKENRE 4,812,500 6,400,000

Cash received from other activities relating

to financing

WEIMEMREEZDHHENRE
22,395,290 -

Sub-total of cash inflows from financing EEFHHEBSRANET

activities 27,207,790 6,400,000
Cash paid for repayment of debts EEEHMZ MRS 5,800,000 13,161,584
Cash payments for distribution of dividends, SECREH) ~ FESE R FLEZ T

profits or interest expenses e 3,616,588 972,440

Cash paid for other activities relating to

financing

XMEMEZEEHRENES
21,125 1,817,079

Sub-total of cash outflows from financing

activities

BAZYRL ML/
9,437,713 15,951,103

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing

activities

EEEYPEL FERNEERE
Pt 17,770,077 (9,551,103)

IV. Effect of foreign exchange rate changes - EZRSHURESRESEEYN
on cash and cash equivalents 2 (46) 36,255
V. Netincrease/(decrease) in cash and i BeRBSSEWEEM
cash equivalents (R 58 7,367,724  (10,348,305)
Add: opening balance of cash and cash m: FYReRESSEMRE
equivalents 7,451,972 17,800,277
VI. Closing balance of cash and cash R EXREERALESEYHE

equivalents at the end of the year

14,819,696 7,451,972

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial &M BB F M 5T AN ISR AV AR 2B
statements
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Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’'000
ARETT

CORPORATE BACKGROUND

BYD Company Limited (the “Company”) is a joint stock
company incorporated in Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China with limited liability. The Company, formerly
known as Shenzhen BYD Battery Company Limited (F3I
WL E X GR A F]), was approved by the former State
Economic and Trade Commission in 2002, as evidenced
by the approval document “Reply of Consenting to the
Establishment of BYD Company Limited” (Guo Jing Mao
Qi Gai [2002] No.153) and the approval document “Reply
of Consenting to the Adjustment of Capital Structure of
BYD Company Limited” (Guo Jing Mao Ting Qi Gai [2002]
No.348). Shenzhen BYD Battery Company Limited (&I
M E ¥ AR A F) was overall restructured into the
Company on 11 June 2002 based on the audited net assets
value as at 30 April 2002. The Company currently holds
the Enterprise Legal Person Business License issued by
Shenzhen Administration for Market Regulation (unified
social credit code: 91440300192317458F). As at 31
December 2023, 1,813,143,000 ordinary shares (A shares)
and 1,098,000,000 H shares issued by the Company were
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, respectively. The Company is domiciled at
1 Yan’ An Road, Kui Chong Street, 1Dapeng New District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, with an office address
at No.3009, BYD Road, Pingshan New District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province.

The Group is principally engaged in automobile business
which mainly includes new energy vehicles, handset
components and assembly services, rechargeable batteries
and photovoltaics business. Meanwhile, with its technological
superiority, the Group actively develops urban rail
transportation business segment.

The Company’s direct largest shareholder and ultimate
largest shareholder is Wang Chuan-fu, a natural person, with
a shareholding percentage of 17.81%.

The financial statements were approved for issue by the
board of directors of the Company by way of resolution on
26 March 2024. According to the Articles of Association, the
financial statements will be submitted to the general meeting
for approval.

BEARER

hER MR BERAR(AAR D —RESR
EARRMBEERE M ZIHRODER
AR e ARFHFAFINTL T BEEXS
RAFE - —TET_FLREREEZ U(H
REBRZLTHMEOBRABMNILE)
(BB [2002]1535) A RCERRAE
LMD AR AR AR ANEENE K)
(B4 ZEMR[2002]3485%) #t & - F Y
thar B EEBRARIN - ZEZE _FPWA =
THERFANFEEAER HRZTT=
FRAT—BERBEERILARGF - AR
AERFARNTMSEEREERMEEN
(CEEANEEHNR)(H— e ZANRE
91440300192317458F) * HE T - =4
+-—A=1+—8  ARAFMETARELR
& AR% £1,813,143 TR EEFINFEFZ T
T - HA%1,098,000F & B £ & B H R FT £
e NRBHEFM AR RE R AN E 2
BEHEEZ AT - it BEEERY
T 4 LU 37 I8 bt 95 30 PR 30095 ©

AEETZREUHMERTER/RINTEE
B FREHRARES  —XATEMLR
RRER - RENA A FORMEEREHR
R SE SRR TE A, -

ARREEE - ABRRMKLE - ARRS
REARANLER  FHhEHS17.81% -

APBHRRELARFNEETER _T-_MOF
ZAZTARBRBHAERL - REARFE
7 APMBHREGEI B RASER
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Notes to Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the “Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
— Basic Standard” issued by the Ministry of Finance and
the specific accounting standards, application guidelines,
interpretations and other relevant regulations issued and
revised thereafter (collectively known as the “ASBE”). In
addition, the financial statements have been disclosed relevant
financial information in accordance with the “Compilation Rules
for Information Disclosures by Companies Offering Securities
to the Public No. 15 — General Provisions on Financial Reports”.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern
basis. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net
current liabilities of RMB151,545,225,000. In view of such
circumstances, the management of the Company has given
consideration to the future liquidity and financial resources
available to the Group, which mainly include the net cash flows
generated from the Group’s operating activities and financial
credit facilities, in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern,
and will not have any going concern issue as a result of the
shortage of working capital. Therefore, the management of the
Company is of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

MBHRRNERER

AP HRIZBYBARAO(EESTE
8 - EAREL) ARELRMG RSO AR
AR AR - BEALEMHERR
ERBIEXEENDER - s A
BRERERB(RARAETESFHRAERE
BHRMARRNEEE — WBREN—REE)
BRERBUHER

R BMEBANFEL S BEMRY|H - BEZ
E-=F+-A=+—H AEEFRHAE
BEAEARBA51,545225F 0 - EREREB
AR EREATEAEERSTAGBE
W ERNSBEELER  BERALEN
KERTREBESHKAURATBEANTEER -
TEBRASEELE EHEEANESRETF
BNHEEEREERE  T2HZ2EESW
RRmMEREARELE T EAME -
I ARREREBRAUNFELCE RERE
BRI TEEE R ©
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Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’'000
ARETT

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The specific accounting policies and accounting estimates
prepared by the Group based on actual production and
operation characteristics mainly include revenue recognition
and measurement, expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets, depreciation of fixed assets, amortisation
of intangible assets, capitalisation conditions for development
phase expenses, and impairment of non-current assets, etc.

Statement of compliance with ASBE

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the ASBE, and presented truly and completely the
financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31
December 2023 and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for the year 2023.

Financial year

The financial year of the Group is from 1 January to 31
December of each calendar year.

Reporting currency

The Company'’s reporting currency and the currency used
in preparing the financial statements were Renminbi. The
amounts in the financial statements were denominated in
thousands of Renminbi, unless otherwise stated.

The Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
determine their reporting currency according to the major
economic environment in which they operate the business,
and translate into Renminbi when preparing the financial
statements.

EESRERE AR

AEERBEREELLERHGIETARS
TR MGG - EEBREWAERN
e BUEFUAMEREERMEREARX
BIEEENE BIEESE REERX
HEARCEN  SERBEERES °

BREEESHERNEH

AU BHREFELESHENNER &
T REMRR T ARREAEER T
=F+ A=+ —HHNUBRAAR=ZZZ
—FEMNEERRMRESRE -

)

BETHE

AEERH TERAAEEE  DEFA—
A—BRE+-A=+—HAi -

RC AR AN

X B RE AR AL M 4R R AR B TS #R SR P ER
MEBHRARKE  BRERRIFHAIN - B
ARBTTREMRT -

AEBTETRA  AELERBELE
REEREMENIZEERRAITRER
REAME  BEAVBHREFEMES/AR
W o
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Method and basis for determination of materiality 4,

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

EESREREHEE (H)

ERMBEERENENRERE

Materiality standard
EEMEE

Significant recovery or reversal of provision for bad
debt of trade receivables

FEYRIBE R RO E M e HERR

Significant write-off of trade receivables

B EMERGRIR B2

Prepayments of significant amounts and with aging
of over 1 year

RikHEB1FESREEZMNENKA

Significant change in the carrying amount of
contract assets

AREERMEBEELEEAED

Significant recovery or reversal of provision for
impairment of contract assets

EREEREERKOSENCEERN

Major construction in progress

EEMTEIRE

The recovery or reversal amount for a single item accounts
for more than 10% of the total provision for bad debt of trade
receivables and exceeds RMB300 million

B I8 Uy (O] s 8 Bl B RE (L B SRR R IEIR AR A R AR EE A 10% A |
BE&BARN3E

The write-off amount for a single item accounts for more than
10% of the total provision for bad debt of trade receivables and
exceeds RMB300 million

EIEZHSBIORUGRSRERBTEN10% A EBESBANSE

The amount of a single prepayment with aging of

over 1 year accounts for more than 10% of the total prepayments
and exceeds for RMB300 million

SRR B 1 F TR FOEE TE R RIE LN 10%A -
BE&BARNIE

The amount of change in the carrying amount of contract assets
accounts for more than 30% of the total contract assets

AREERTEEZHSHENAREEREN30%A L

The recovery or reversal amount for a single item accounts for
more than 10% of the total provision for impairment of contract
assets and exceeds RMB300 million

SIFW Ol S Bl RE(L & R 8 EREEE AN 10%A -
BE&BARN3E

The balance of industrial parks under construction in a single
geographical area accounts for more than 10% of the balance of
the total construction in progress and exceeds RMB1,000 million

BEMIPEFANTERTEIRABBEANBIEETIRHREN

10% B KA 1018
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Method and basis for determination of materiality 4,

(continued)

EESREREHEE (H)

ERMBEERESENRERE (@

Materiality standard

Significant capitalised R&D projects

BEEMENMLAEIAR

Significant outsourced in-process R&D projects

EZMINBETTIAR

Significant contract changes

EBMARZT

Significant contract liabilities with aging of
over 1 year

REBEA—FNERARAR

Significant changes in the carrying amount of
contract liabilities

ARAERTEEZEEEAED

Significant trade payables and other payables

EZMEMNIRR - EMmEAR

Significant investments

BEEREERY

The balance of development expenditures of a single project at
the end of the period accounts for more than 10% of the closing
balance of total development expenditures and exceeds RMB500
million

B TR B HARERER (L B8 ST B BIR A TE10% A = B & B AMNBIE

The development expenditures of a single project accounts for
more than 10% of the total development expenditures
FIAH TR A LT 10%A 1

The amount of change/adjustment accounts for more than 30%
of the original contract value, and the effect on the revenue of
the period accounts for more than 1% of the total revenue of the
period

BE ARG ELREREN0%NA L
BEERBBAZERERARALTEN 1%

The amount of a single contract liability with aging of
over 1 year accounts for more than 10% of

the total contract liabilities and exceeds RMB500 million
BIHRREBIFNARAEGERBERENI0%A
B&FEANGE

The amount of change in the carrying amount of contract
liabilities accounts for more than 30% of the

total contract liabilities
SRAEETHEEZSHSEIEERAEETEN30%NU £

The amount of a single item of trade payable/other payable with
aging of over 1 year accounts for more than 10% of the total
trade payables/other payables and exceeds RMB500 million

BRERTER 81 F ) B TH R BR R EAL T SR MG PR AT R AR
EAth FE FRABEERI10% A £ B £ B AR5IE

The amount of a single investment accounts for more than 10%
of the total cash inflow or outflow related to investing activities
and exceeds RMB1,000 million
FIEREFHKISHZNREEBHEENR 2 MASRH AR
BI10% A £ B &8 AR 10ME
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = EERETBEREMETE
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Method and basis for determination of materiality 4. EEMEERERENBREMREE

(continued)

Materiality standard

Material joint ventures and associates The carrying amount of the long-term equity investment in an
investee accounts for more than 5% of the Group’s net assets

attributable to

the parent company and the gains or losses on the long-term

equity investment measured under the equity method accounts

for more than 10% of the Group’s consolidated net profit

BENALELEIMELE HEERRESMNRPRERERDEELSEGBE QA
SFEEMLS%A L - BERHABRERE#DE TREBRGEE

A OOEFER10% A £

Major subsidiaries The net assets of a subsidiary accounts for more than 5% of the
Group’s net assets attributable to the parent company,

or the net profit of a subsidiary accounts for

more than 10% of the Group’s consolidated net profit

HBEFRA FRAVFEEMEERBIRRIEFEES%A L - sFRARLFEFNH
EEEAMEFNRBI10%IA L

Major non-wholly owned subsidiaries The net assets of a subsidiary accounts for more than 5% of the
Group’s net assets attributable to the parent company,

and the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary accounts for

more than 1% of the Group’s net assets

EZHIEREFRT FTRAVFEELEERBYRARIFEES%NA L - BEEFAFD
BRI RN EEFEEMN1%A

Significant activities which do not involve cash The activity does not involve current cash receipts and
receipts and disbursements for the current period disbursements, with its effect on the financial statements of the
period accounting for more than 10% of the net assets, or the

expected effect on the future cash flow accounting for more than
10% of the corresponding total cash inflow or outflow

TERERRSWZ N ERES THREHRELWL  HEPRRTEBBFEEI0%
STEFTEIAR KRR @R ERBAEYEER R AR L &5

B10% K95 B
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Business combination

Business combinations are classified into business
combinations involving entities under common control and
business combinations not involving entities under common
control.

Business combinations involving entities under common
control

A business combination involving entities under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
entities are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
both before and after the business combination, and that
control is not transitory.

Assets and liabilities obtained by combining party in the
business combination involving entities under common control
(including goodwill arising from the acquisition of the merged
party by the ultimate controller) are recognised on the basis
of their carrying amounts at the combination date recorded on
the financial statements of the ultimate controlling party. The
difference between the carrying amount of the consideration
paid for the combination (or aggregate face values of the
shares issued) and the carrying amount of the net assets
obtained is adjusted to capital reserves. If the capital reserve
is not sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess shall be
adjusted against retained earnings.

Business combinations not involving entities under common
control

A business combination not involving entities under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
entities are not ultimately controlled by the same party or
parties both before and after the business combination.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Business combination (continued)

Business combinations not involving entities under common
control (continued)

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the sum of the cost for business
combination over the share of the attributable net identifiable
assets of the acquiree, measured at fair value, was recognised
as goodwill, which is subsequently measured at cost less
cumulative impairment loss. In case the cost for business
combination is less than the fair value of the share of the
attributable net identifiable assets of the acquiree, a review of
the measurement of the fair values of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities, the cost for business
combination is conducted. If the review indicates that the fair
value of the sum of the cost for business combination is indeed
less than the fair value of the share of the attributable net
identifiable assets of the acquiree, the difference is recognised
in profit or loss.

Consolidated financial statements

The consolidation scope for consolidated financial statement
is determined based on the concept of control, including
the Company and all subsidiaries’ financial statements.
Subsidiaries are those enterprises or entities which the Group
has control over (including enterprises, separable components
of investee units and structured entities controlled by the
Company). The investor can control the investee if and only if
the investor meets the following three elements: power over the
investee; the entitlement to variable return through involvement
in the activities of the investee; the ability to influence the
amount of return using the power over the investee.

Where the accounting policies or accounting periods adopted
by subsidiaries are inconsistent with those of the Company,
appropriate adjustments are made to the subsidiaries’
financial statements in accordance with the accounting
policies and accounting periods of the Company. All assets,
liabilities, equities, income, costs and cash flows arising from
intercompany transactions, and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation.

The excess of current loss attributable to minority shareholders
of a subsidiary over their entitlements to the opening balance
of shareholders’ equity shall be charged to minority interests.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Consolidated financial statements (continued)

For subsidiaries obtained through a business combination
not involving entities under common control, the operating
results and cash flows of the acquirees will be recognised in
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group
effectively obtains the control until the date that control is
terminated. When consolidated financial statement is prepared,
the subsidiaries’ financial statements will be adjusted based
on the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities at the acquisition date.

For subsidiaries obtained through a business combination
involving entities under common control, the operating result
and cash flow of the party being combined will be recognised
in consolidated financial statement from the beginning of
the current period during which the combination occurs. In
preparing the comparative consolidated financial statements,
adjustments were made to relevant items in financial
statements in previous periods as if the reporting entity formed
after the consolidation had been in existence since the ultimate
controlling party started to exercise effective control.

In the event of the change in one or more elements of control
as a result of changes in relevant facts and conditions, the
Group reassesses whether it has control over the investee.

Where there is no loss of control, the change in minority
interests is accounted for as equity transaction.

Classification of joint venture arrangements and joint
operation

Joint venture arrangements are in the form of joint operation
and joint venture enterprise. A joint operation is a joint venture
arrangement under which the joint venture parties are entitled
to assets and undertake liabilities under the arrangement. A
joint venture enterprise is a joint venture arrangement under
which the joint venture parties are only entitled to the net
assets under such arrangement.

The following items should be recognised by a joint venture
party in relation to its share of profit in the joint operation:
solely held assets, as well as jointly held assets according to
its share; solely assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed
liabilities according to its share; income derived from its
entitled share of production of the joint operation; income
derived from the sales of production of the joint operation
according to its share; solely incurred expenses, as well as
expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its share.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash represents cash on hand and deposits readily available
for payments. Cash equivalents represent short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash, and subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Foreign currency translation

For foreign currency transactions, the Group translates the
foreign currency into its functional currency.

Upon initial recognition, foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency using the median
exchange rate published by the PBOC at the beginning of
the month in which transactions occur (unless the adoption
of such exchange rate is considered inappropriate owing to
exchange rate fluctuations, in which case the spot exchange
rate prevailing on the date of transaction shall be adopted).
However, the capital invested by investors in foreign currencies
is translated using the spot exchange rate at the dates of
the transactions. At the balance sheet date, foreign currency
monetary items are translated using the spot exchange rate at
the balance sheet date. The translation differences arising from
the settlement and foreign currency monetary items, except
those relating to foreign currency monetary items eligible for
the capitalisation shall be dealt with according to the principle
of capitalisation of borrowing costs, are recognised in profit
or loss. Foreign currency non-monetary items measured at
historical cost continue to be translated using the exchange
rate at initial recognition and it does not change its carrying
amount in functional currency. Foreign currency non-monetary
items measured at fair values will be translated using the spot
exchange rate at the date the fair value is determined; the
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income for the current period depending on
the characteristics of the non-monetary items.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

For foreign operations, the Group translates their functional
currency amounts into RMB when preparing the financial
statements as follows: the assets and liabilities are translated
using the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date,
and owners’ equity items, except for “undistributed profits”,
are translated at the spot exchange rates when such items
arose; income and expense items in the income statement
are translated using the average exchange rates for the
periods when transactions occur (unless the adoption of
such exchange rate is considered inappropriate owing to
exchange rate fluctuations, in which case the spot exchange
rate prevailing on the date of transaction shall be adopted).
Translation differences arising from the aforesaid translation
of financial statements denominated in foreign currency
shall be recognised as other comprehensive income. When
foreign operations are disposed, other comprehensive income
relating to the foreign operation is transferred to profit or
loss. Partial disposal shall be recognized on a pro-rata basis.
For foreign currency monetary items that are not repayable
in the foreseeable future and that in substance constitute a
net investment in a foreign subsidiary and are reflected in
a currency other than the reporting currency of the parent
subsidiary, management eliminates the exchange differences
arising from such foreign currency monetary items of the
parent subsidiary and the difference is included in exchange
difference on foreign currency translation.

Cash flows denominated in foreign currencies and foreign
subsidiaries’ cash flows are translated using the average
exchange rate for the period when cash flows occur (unless the
adoption of such exchange rate is considered inappropriate
owing to exchange rate fluctuations, in which case the spot
exchange rate prevailing on the date on which the cash flow
is incurred shall be adopted). The impact on cash by the
fluctuation of exchange rates is presented as a separate line
item of reconciliation in the cash flow statement.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial instruments refer to the contracts which give rise to
a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument in another entity.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability
when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

A financial asset (or part of it, or a part of a group of similar
financial asset) is derecognised when one of the following
criteria is met, that is, when a financial asset is written off from
its account and balance sheet:

1) The right of receiving the cash flow generated from the
financial asset has expired;

2) The right of receiving cash flow generated by the
financial assets is transferred, or an obligation of
paying the full amount of cash flow received to third
parties in a timely manner has been undertaken under
“pass-through” agreements, where substantially all
risks and rewards of the ownership of such type of
financial assets have been transferred, or control over
such type of financial assets has not been retained
even though substantially all risks and rewards of the
ownership of such type of financial assets have been
neither transferred nor retained.

If the obligation of financial liability has been fulfilled, cancelled
or expired, the financial liability is derecognised. If the present
financial liability is substituted by the same debtor with another
liability differing in substance, or the terms of the present
liability have been substantially modified, this substitution or
modification is treated as derecognition of the present liability
and recognition of a new liability with any arising differences
recognised in profit or loss.

Conventional dealings in financial assets are recognised or
derecognised under the trade day method. Conventional
dealings in financial assets are purchases or sales of financial
assets in accordance with the terms of a contract which
specifies that the delivery of the financial assets will take place
according to the schedule determined by regulations or market
practices. The trade day is the date on which the Group
undertakes to buy or sell a financial asset.
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10.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial assets

At initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets
into: financial assets at amortised cost, financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, or financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss according to the Group’s
business model for managing financial assets and the contract
cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Only if the
Group changes its business model for managing financial
assets, all affected related financial assets can be reclassified.

Financial assets are measured at fair value at initial
recognition, provided that trade receivables or bills receivable
not containing significant financing components or for which
financing components of not more than 1 year are not taken
into consideration shall be measured at their transaction prices
at initial recognition.

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the
relevant transaction costs are directly recognised in profit or
loss; for other financial assets, the relevant transaction costs
are recognised in their initial recognition amount.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets is dependent
on its classification:

Debt instrument investments at amortised cost

Financial assets fulfilling all of the following conditions are
classified as financial assets at amortised cost: the objective
of the Group’s business management model in respect of such
type of financial assets is to generate contract cash flow; the
contract terms of such type of financial assets provide that
cash flow generated on specific dates represents interest
payment in relation to principal amounts based on outstanding
principal amounts only. Interest income from such type of
financial assets are recognised using the effective interest
rate method, and any profit or loss arising from derecognition,
amendments or impairment shall be charged to profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial assets (continued)

Debt instrument investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets fulfilling all of the following conditions are
classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income: the objective of the Group’s business
management model in respect of such type of financial assets
is both to generate contract cash flow and to sell such type of
financial assets; the contract terms of such type of financial
assets provide that cash flow generated on specific dates
represents interest payment in relation to principal amounts
based on outstanding principal amounts only. Interest income
from this type of financial assets are recognized using the
effective interest rate method. Other than interest income,
impairment loss and exchange differences which shall be
recognised as profit or loss, other fair value changes shall be
included in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition
of the financial assets, the cumulative gains or losses
previously included in other comprehensive income shall be
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss.

Equity instrument investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The Group irrevocably chooses to designate certain non-
trading equity instrument investments as financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and only the relevant dividend income (excluding dividend
income explicitly recovered as part of investment cost) is
included in profit or loss for the period. Subsequent changes
in fair value are included in other comprehensive income with
no impairment provision required. When the financial assets
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred
from it and included in retained earnings.
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10.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets other than the above-mentioned financial
assets measured at amortised cost and financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. For such financial assets, fair value is used for
subsequent measurement, and all changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss for the period, except for those
involving the hedge accounting.

Classification and valuation of financial liabilities

Except for financial guarantee contracts signed, the Group
classifies its financial liabilities at initial recognition: financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial
liabilities at amortised cost. For financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, the relevant transaction costs are directly
recognised in profit or loss; for financial liabilities at amortised
cost, the relevant transaction costs are recognised in their
initial recognition amount.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities is
dependent on its classification:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading (comprising derivatives
classified as financial liabilities) and financial liabilities
designated at initial recognition to be measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities held for trading
(comprising derivatives classified as financial liabilities) are
subsequently measured at fair value, and except for those
involving the hedge accounting, all changes in fair value are
included in profit or loss. The Group subsequently measures
financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value. Except that changes in fair value
arising from changes to the Group’s own credit risks are
recorded in other comprehensive income, other changes in
fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Unless inclusion of
changes in fair value arising from changes to the Group’s
own credit risks in other comprehensive income will cause or
expand accounting mismatch in the gains or losses, the Group
records all changes in fair value (including affected amount of
changes to the own credit risks) in the profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial instruments

The Group performs impairment assessment on financial
assets at amortised cost, debt instrument investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income, contract assets
and financial guarantee contracts based on expected credit
losses and recognises provision for impairment losses.

For receivables and contract assets that do not contain
significant financing components, the Group adopts a
simplified measurement method to measure provision for
impairment losses based on an amount equivalent to expected
credit losses for the entire period.

For receivables and contract assets that contain significant
financing components, the Group chooses to adopt a
simplified measurement method to measure provision for
impairment losses based on an amount equivalent to expected
credit losses for the entire period.

For financial assets and financial guarantee contracts other
than those measured with simplified valuation methods, the
Group evaluates at each balance sheet date whether its credit
risk has significantly increased since initial recognition. The
period during which credit risk has not significantly increased
since initial recognition is considered the first stage, at which
the Group shall measure impairment loss provision based on
the amount of expected credit loss for the next 12 months and
shall compute interest income according to the book balance
and effective interest rate; the period during which credit risk
has significantly increased since initial recognition although
no credit impairment has occurred is considered the second
stage, at which the Group shall measure impairment loss
provision based on the amount of expected credit loss for the
entire period and shall compute interest income according to
the book balance and effective interest rate; the period during
which credit impairment has occurred after initial recognition is
considered the third stage, at which the Group shall measure
impairment loss provision based on the amount of expected
credit loss for the entire period and shall compute interest
income according to the amortised cost and effective interest
rate. For financial instruments with relatively low credit risk at
the balance sheet date, the Group assumes its credit risk has
not significantly increase since initial recognition.
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10.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

The expected credit losses of financial instruments are
assessed on an individual or portfolio basis. Considering
the credit risk characteristics of different customers, the
Group assesses the expected credit losses of financial
instruments with shared risk characteristics based on their
ageing portfolio. The aging profile is determined based on
the revenue recognition date. Other than the said expected
credit losses of financial instruments which are assessed on
a portfolio basis, other expected credit losses are assessed
on an individual basis. The GroupMassessed the expected
credit losses of the credit-impaired financial assets on the
individual basis;@assessed the expected credit losses of the
financial assets on the individual basis in case a modification
or re-negotiation of a contract between the Group and a
counterparty may result in a change to the contractual cash
flows without resulting in the derecognition of the financial
assets.

For the Group’s criteria for judging whether credit risks have
significantly increased, the definition of assets subjected to
credit impairment, please refer to Note X.3.

The Group’s measurement of expected credit loss of financial
instruments reflects factors including unbiased probability
weighted average amount recognized by assessing a series
of possible results, time value of money, reasonable and
supportable information related to historical events, current
condition and forecast of future economic position that is
available without undue cost or effort at the balance sheet
date.

When the Group no longer reasonably expects to be able
to fully or partially recover the contract cash flow of financial
assets, the Group directly writes down the book balance of
such financial assets.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

If the following conditions are met, financial assets and
financial liabilities are presented in the balance sheet with
the net amount after offsetting each other: there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amount; and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or simultaneous
realisation of the financial assets and settlement of the financial
liabilities.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract under which the
issuer shall indemnify the contract holder suffering losses with
a specified amount in the event that the debtor fails to repay
its debt in accordance with the terms of the debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are measured at fair value at
initial recognition, other than financial guarantee contracts
designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss after initial recognition, other financial guarantee contracts
shall be subsequently measured at the higher of the amount
of provision for expected credit loss determined as at the
balance sheet date and the amount at initial recognition less
the cumulative amortised amount determined in accordance
with revenue recognition principles.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives
are recognised as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Except for those involving the hedge accounting, profit or loss
arising from changes in the fair value of derivative instruments
shall be directly recognised in profit or loss.
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10.

11.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Transfer of financial assets

If the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards associated with the ownership of a financial asset to
the transferee, the asset should be derecognised. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
financial asset, the asset should not be derecognised.

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, it may either derecognise the financial asset
and recognise any associated assets and liabilities if control
of the financial asset has not been retained; or recognises the
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in
the transferred financial asset and recognises an associated
liability if control has been retained.

Assets formed by the continuing involvement by way of the
provision of financial guarantee in respect of the transferred
financial assets shall be recognised as the lower of the
carrying value of the financial asset and the amount of
financial guarantee. The amount of financial guarantee means
the maximum amount among considerations received to be
required for repayment.

Inventories

Inventories include raw materials, work-in-progress, finished
goods and turnover materials, etc.

Inventories are initially measured at costs. Inventories’ costs
include purchasing costs, processing costs and other costs.
Actual costs of goods delivered are recognised using the
weighted average method. Turnover materials mainly include
packing materials, which are charged to the costs and
expenses when fetched using the one-off write-off method.

Inventories are valued using the perpetual inventories stock-
take system.

At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the
lower of cost or net realisable value. If the cost is higher than
the new realizable value, provision for impairment of inventories
is made and recognized in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Inventories (continued)

Net realisable values represent estimated selling prices in
the ordinary course of business less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion, estimated selling expenses
and relevant tax amounts. The provision for impairment of
inventories in the segment of automobiles and related products
is recognised on the item-by-item basis, and the net realisable
value is determined on the basis of estimated selling price.
The net realisable value of other inventories in the segment of
automobiles and related products and of the inventories of the
segment of mobile handset is determined based on historical
losses and business risks, taking into account the risk of
slow-moving inventory and obsolete inventory, future market
demands and the risk of product iteration and project change
as well as aging profile and the experience in estimating net
realisable value.

Long-term equity investments

Long-term equity investments include equity investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

Long-term equity investments were initially measured at
initial investment cost on acquisition. For a long-term equity
investment acquired by the business combination involving
entities under common control, the initial investment cost is
recognised as the share of the investee’s equity in the carrying
amount presented in the consolidated financial statements
of the ultimate controller. The difference between the initial
investment cost and the carrying amount of consolidated
consideration is charged to the capital reserve (or recognised
as write-down in the retained profit if the capital reserve is not
available). For long-term equity investments acquired through
the business combination of entities not under common control,
the initial investment cost shall be the cost of combination (for
business combinations of entities not under common control
achieved in stages through multiple transactions, the initial
investment cost shall be the sum of the carrying amount of
the equity investment in the acquired party held prior to the
date of acquisition and new investment cost incurred as at
the date of acquisition). The initial investment cost of long-
term equity investments other than those acquired through
business combination shall be recognised in accordance with
the following: for those acquired by way of cash payments, the
initial investment cost shall be the consideration actually paid
plus expenses, tax amounts and other necessary outgoings
directly related to the acquisition of the long-term equity
investments. For long-term equity investments acquired by way
of the issue of equity securities, the initial investment cost shall
be the fair value of the equity securities issued.
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12.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Long-term equity investments (continued)

In the financial statements of the Company, the cost method is
used for long-term equity investments in investees over which
the Company exercises control. Control is defined as the
power exercisable over the investee, the entitlement to variable
return through involvement in the activities of the investee and
the ability to influence the amount of return using the power
over the investee.

When the cost method is used, long-term equity investments
are measured at initial cost on acquisition. When additional
investments are made or investments are recouped, the
cost of long-term equity investments shall be adjusted. Cash
dividend or profit distribution declared by the investee shall be
recognised as investment gains for the period.

The equity method is used to account for long-term equity
investments when the Group can jointly control and has
significant influence over the invested entity. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
Significant influence means having the authority to take part in
the decision over the financial and operational policies but not
the authority to control or jointly control with other parties the
formulation of such policies.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Long-term equity investments (continued)

Under the equity method, any excess of the initial investment
cost of a long-term equity investment over the Company’s
share of the fair value of the investment’s identifiable net
assets is included in the initial investment cost of the long-
term equity investment. When the initial investment cost of a
long-term equity investment is less than the Company’s share
of the fair value of the investment’s identifiable net assets, the
difference is recognised in profit or loss for the current period
and debited to long-term equity investment.

Under the equity method, after the long-term equity
investments are acquired, investment gains or losses and
other comprehensive income are recognised according to the
entitled share of net profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the investee and the carrying amount of the
long- term equity investment is adjusted accordingly. When
recognising the Group’s share of the net profit or loss of the
invested entity, the Group makes adjustments based on fair
values of the investees’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy and accounting period to investee’'s net profits,
eliminating pro-rata profit or loss from internal transactions
between associates and joint ventures attributed to investor
(except that loss from inter-group transactions deemed as
asset impairment loss shall be fully recognised), provided
that invested or sold assets constituting businesses shall
be excluded. When the invested enterprise declares profit
appropriations or cash dividends, the carrying amount of long-
term equity investment is adjusted down by the Group’s share
of the profit appropriations and dividends. The Group shall
discontinue recognising its share of the losses of the investee
after the long-term equity investment together with any long-
term interests that in substance forms part of the Group’s
net investment in the investee are reduced to zero, except to
the extent that the Group has incurred obligations to assume
additional losses. The Group also adjusts the carrying amount
of long-term equity investments for other changes in owner’s
equity of the investees (other than the net-off of net profits or
losses, other comprehensive income and profit allocation of
the investee), and includes the corresponding adjustment in
equity.
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13.

14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost.
Subsequent expenses relating to the investment properties
are charged to investment property costs if there is a probable
inflow of economic benefits relating to the asset and its cost
can be reliably measured. Otherwise, those expenditures are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement
of investment properties.

For an investment property that is subsequently measured
using the cost model, refer to Note V.14 for the test for
impairment and recognition of provision for impairment.

Buildings in investment properties are depreciated using
the straight-line method, with estimated useful life of 30-50
years. The useful lives, estimated net residual values and
depreciation methods of investment properties are reviewed
and adjusted as appropriate at least at each year-end.

Fixed Assets

A fixed asset is recognised when, and only when, it is
probable that future economic benefits that are associated
with the fixed asset will flow to the Group and the cost can
be measured reliably. Subsequent expenditures related to a
fixed asset are recognised in the carrying amount of the fixed
asset if the above recognition criteria are met, and the carrying
value of the replaced part is derecognised; otherwise, those
expenditures are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Fixed assets are initially recognised at cost. Cost of purchased
fixed assets includes purchasing price, relevant taxes, and
any directly attributable expenditure for bringing the asset to
working conditions for its intended use.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Fixed Assets (continued)

Except freehold lands account no depreciation and except
moulds in machinery equipment are depreciated on a unit of
production method, others are all depreciated on a straight-
line basis. The estimated useful lives, estimated residual value
ratio and annual depreciation rates of the fixed assets that are
depreciated on a straight-line basis are as follows:
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Estimated
residual Annual
Estimated useful life value ratio  depreciation rate
fAEtEAFR FEEBERER FINER
Buildings 5-70 years 0%-5% 1.4%-20.0%
BENEED 5-70%F
Machinery equipment 312 years 0%-5% 7.9%-33.3%
HESERIE 3-12%F
Motor vehicles 3-5 years 0%-5% 19.0%-33.3%
EBHITHE 3-5%
Office and other equipment 10 years and below 0%-5% 9.5% and above
W R oA R A 10 R105F AT 9.5% &% 9.5% A £

The Group reviews, at least at each year end, useful lives,
estimated residual values and depreciation methods of fixed
assets and makes adjustments if necessary.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is measured at the actual construction
expenditures, including necessary project work expenses
incurred during the period while construction is in progress,
borrowing costs subject to capitalisation before they can be
put into use and other related fees.
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lll. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

EESREREHEE (H)

15.  Construction in progress (continued) 15. HEEIRGE)
Construction in progress is transferred into fixed assets when it T3 TR 28 5E 7l {0 A AR RE R 88 A [E
is ready for its intended use. The criteria are as follows: BE o RN -
Criteria of transfer to fixed assets
HEEEEENEE
Buildings The earlier of completion acceptance or
actual commencement of the usage
FBE MY TIRW ERFBERAAT
Machinery equipment The earlier of installation and acceptance or
actual commencement of the usage
HEER A TRREWBRK ERMARERAANT
Office and other equipment The earlier of installation and acceptance or
actual commencement of the usage
KNS EE TR TR BRI, ERARERART
16.  Borrowing costs 16. EREA

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised.
Other borrowing costs incurred are recorded in the profit
or loss for the period. The capitalisation of borrowing costs
commences when expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities of acquisition,
construction or production that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use are in progress.

The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
qualifying asset being acquired, constructed or produced
becomes ready for its intended use or sale. Borrowing costs
incurred afterwards are recognised in profit or loss.

EERBRTAREAMGHNEENER
RELEENERER  TUERNE - HifE
RERFAZHESR - EEAHMERE
REgst:  ARREEEIATEA(EMAN
RGBT B MR RN EE RS DKM
W - ERERFRERNL -
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs (continued)

During capitalisation, interest of each accounting period
is recognised using the following methods: for specific
borrowings, the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation are
the actual interest costs incurred during the current period
deducted by any temporary interest or investment income;
for general borrowings, the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation are determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the excess amounts of cumulative expenditures on the asset
over the weighted average of cumulative expenditures on the
asset of specific borrowings multiplying the weight average
rate of general borrowings.

Except for expected suspension under normal situation of
qualifying assets, capitalisation should be suspended during
periods in which abnormal interruption has lasted for more than
three months during the process of acquisition, construction
or production. The borrowing cost incurred during interruption
should be recognised as expenses and recorded in profit or
loss until the acquisition, construction or production activities
of assets resume.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets formed by new energy vehicle R&D
expenditures are amortised by the output method, and other
intangible assets are amortised over the useful life on the
straight-line basis, the useful life is as follows:

16.
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Category Estimated useful life Basis of determination

=Wl EREw BEMKE

Land use rights 30-99 years Term of land use rights

b A 30-994F + (s A EHAIR

Industrial property rights and 2-10 years The shorter of patent term and estimated useful life
proprietary technologies

THERIERRI 2-10%F SRR AR B TR A AR EARR BN R

Non-patented technologies and 1-5 years The shorter of useful lives and estimated useful
software lives of non-patented technologies and software

FES By e 1-5%F FESEN By Ko B AR A IR BT R T R IR 20 AE

Customer relationships 5 years Expected beneficial lives of customer relationships

BEPHE 5%

BRI EFPRARXEFR
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17.

18.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (continued)

The Group classifies the expenses for in-house research and
development as research costs and development costs. All
research costs are charged to the profit or loss as incurred.
Development costs are capitalised only when all the following
conditions are met: the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale; its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset; how the asset will generate economic
benefits (including demonstration that the product derived
from the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself will be
marketable or, in the case of internal use, the usefulness of
the intangible asset as such); the availability of technical and
financial resources to complete the project and procure the
use or sale of the intangible asset; and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Development
costs which do not meet these criteria are recorded in profit or
loss when incurred.

Where the conditions stated above are satisfied, the works
of the research stage have been completed, and it is certain
that the intangible assets arising from the development of the
project cater to market demands and the technical solutions
are developed, to generate economic benefits, the Group may
advance the corresponding project to the development stage
after assessment, capitalise the expenses of the development
stage when the capitalisation conditions are satisfied and
transfer the capitalised expenses to intangible assets when the
project passes the completion acceptance to become ready
for the intended use.

Impairment

The Group assesses impairment of assets other than
inventories, contract assets and assets related to contract
costs, deferred tax assets and financial assets, using the
methods described below:

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount and performs a test of impairment for the
asset. For goodwill generated from business combination,
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use, tests for impairment are
performed at least annually regardless of whether there are
indications of impairment.
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Impairment (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and the present value of its estimated future
cash flows. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of
individual assets on item-by-item basis. When it is difficult
to estimate individually, the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit which the assets belong to will be estimated.
The definition of a cash generating unit (CGU) is determined
on the basis of whether the primary cash inflows generated
by that group are independent of those from other assets or
CGUs.

When the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down
to the recoverable amount, and the amount of write-down
is recognised in profit or loss, with provision for impairment
provided accordingly.

In connection with impairment tests for goodwill, the carrying
amount of goodwill is allocated to relevant CGUs or CGU
group from the date of acquisition on a reasonable basis.
A relevant CGU or CGU group is defined as one which can
benefit from the synergies of the business combination and
is not larger than the operating segments determined by the
Group.

The carrying amount and recoverable amount of CGU or CGU
group that comprise goodwill should be compared. Where
the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount,
the impairment loss should first be offset against the carrying
amount of the goodwill allocated to CGUs or CGU groups
and then against the carrying amount of other assets in the
CGUs or CGU groups other than goodwill in proportion to the
weighting of these assets.

Previously recognised impairment losses are not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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19.

20.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Long-term deferred expenditures

Long-term deferred expenditures are expenses which the
Company has paid and carries a term of more than one year.
Long-term deferred expenditures are amortised on straight-line
basis.

Category
5l

19.
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Amortisation Period

B

Improvement costs of right-of-use assets

EREEENRRX L

Lease term or expected useful life whichever is shorter
HEREFAA AL AFHAE

Employee remuneration

Employee remuneration includes all kinds of rewards or
compensation other than share-based payments incurred by
the Group in exchange for service rendered by employees
or in the termination of employment. Employee remuneration
includes short-term remuneration, post-employment benefits,
termination benefits and other long-term employees’ benefits.

Short-term remuneration

For accounting periods during which services are rendered by
employees, short-term remuneration incurred is recognised as
liability and included in profit or loss or related asset costs.

Post-employment benefits (defined contribution scheme)

The Group’s employees are participants of the pension
and unemployment insurance schemes managed by local
governments, and the relevant expenses are recorded in
related asset costs or profit or loss when incurred.
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Employee remuneration (continued)
Termination benefits

Where termination benefits are provided to employees, liabilities
in employee remuneration are recognised in profit or loss
when: the company is not in a position to withdraw termination
benefits provided under termination plans or redundancy
plans, or costs or expenses relating to the restructuring
exercise which involves the payment of termination benefits
are recognised, whichever is earlier.

Provisions

Other than contingent consideration and assumed contingent
liabilities in a business combination involving parties not under
common control, the Group recognises as provision when an
obligation is a present obligation assumed by the Group and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result from
the performance of the obligation and the obligation can be
reliably measured.

Provisions are initially valued according to the best estimate
of expenses for performance of present obligations, taking
account of the risk, uncertainty and time value of the currency
that are associated with contingent matters. The carrying
amount of the provisions would be reassessed and adjusted to
reflect the best estimate on balance sheet date.

A contingent liability of the acquiree gained in a business
combination not involving entities under common control is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of the amount that would be recognised on the
basis of estimated liabilities, or the balance of cumulative
amortization amount determined in the principle of the amount
initially recognised less revenue.

20.

21.

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

EESREREHEE (H)

B T ()
BRG]
AEBERBTRAEBERENN £ TIME

AFRERFEREMNELNBRIHMNAE
WE AEHIEE - BETEEENIEE R

Bk 55 B AR AT Bl SR B AR T IR RO BF R 1R
FES  PRERESRINEHRENNER
FERAR AR A S B AR o

HEItRE

BRTIER— B TEEAHPNREHER
AEMSRBREBZI B BEERBENE
BRASEAENRBRL AZRBHNET
RAUESEHEENDRLAEE - REA
BELREMT EHAEN  NEBESERER
RIBFTRE -

B AERRETHBRERBATE LN

BEMFTECETVIRTE - Witas Z F
EEEABENER - THREMEMNEEEREE
BEEEE REEABXRAUBETBENR
HEBETEZIHETEZ AEUREE AR
SEGFTE -

FR—ZEF T REAHFPIMENREERE T K
BREEVNHERRRBAABENE &
g HERIR - RRBEFFAERRANDE - M
Y6 R & BN AR HSU\EEWJ"‘?&E‘JEEEE’JE%J
BIHEEOGBTE  AMEZRORSEET
BEFE -

163



164

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’'000
ARETT

22,

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

Share-based payments can be distinguished into equity-
settled share-based payments and cash-settled share-
based payments. Equity-settled share-based payments
are transactions of the Group settled through the payment
of shares or other equity instruments in consideration for
receiving services.

Equity-settled share-based payments made in exchange for
services rendered by employees are measured at the fair value
of equity instruments granted to employees. Instruments which
are vested immediately upon the grant are charged to relevant
costs or expenses at the fair value on the date of grant and the
capital reserve is credited accordingly. Instruments of which
vesting is conditional upon completion of services or fulfillment
of performance conditions are measured by recognising
services rendered during the period in relevant costs or
expenses and crediting the capital reserve accordingly at
each balance sheet date during the vesting period, based on
the best estimate of the quantity of equity instruments that are
exercisable and the fair value at the grant date. The fair value
of equity instruments is determined by the binomial pricing
model, with details set out in Note XI.

Where the terms of an equity-settled share-based payment are
modified, as a minimum, services obtained are recognised as if
the terms had not been modified. In addition, any modification
that increases the fair value of the equity instrument granted
or is beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification is recognised as increment of services obtained.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had been vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
Where employees or other parties are permitted to choose
to fulfill non-vesting conditions but have not fulfilled such
conditions during the vesting period, equity-settled share-
based payments are deemed cancelled. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated
as a replacement award on the date when it is granted, the
new award is treated as if it was a modification of the original
award.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises its revenue upon the fulfilment of
performance obligations under a contract, namely, when
the customer obtains control over the relevant products or
services. The acquisition of control over relevant products or
services shall mean the ability to direct the use of the products
or the provision of the services and receive substantially all
economic benefits derived therefrom.

Contract for the sales of products

The product sales contract between the Group and its
customers typically includes contractual performance
obligations for the transfer of products. The Group recognises
its revenue at the time of delivery and customers’ acceptance
of the products, taking into account the following factors: the
acquisition of the current right to receive payments for the
products, the transfer of major risks and rewards pertaining
to the ownership of the products, the transfer of the legal
title of the products, the transfer of the physical assets of the
products, and customers’ acceptance of the products.

The transaction price refers to the amount of consideration
that the Group is entitled to receive as a result of its transfer
of goods to customers and is determined in accordance with
the terms of contract, taking into account historical business
practices. The Group determines the best estimates of
discounts based on the expected value or the most probable
amount, and recognises the transaction prices provided
that the transaction prices after estimated discount shall not
exceed the cumulative amount of recognised revenue upon
the removal of relevant uncertainties, in connection with which
a significant reversal is highly unlikely, and is re-estimated at
each balance sheet date.
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23.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Contract for the sales of products (continued)

Where a contract contains a significant financing component,
the Group determines the transaction price based on
amounts payable assumed to be settled in cash by customers
immediately upon the acquisition of control over the products.
The difference between such transaction price and contract
consideration is amortised over the contract period using the
effective interest rate method based on a ratio that discounts
the nominal contractual consideration to the current selling
price of the products. The Group shall not give consideration
to any significant financing component in a contract if the
gap between the customer’s acquisition of control over the
products and payment of consideration is expected to be less
than one year.

Customers who sell products under some of the Group’s
contracts for the sales of products are also the suppliers of key
materials used in the manufacturing of the products. The Group
needs to determine whether they are principals or agents in
these transactions by ascertaining whether they have control
over the above key materials before they transfer products to
customers. If the Group acquires control of the aforesaid key
materials, the Group is the principal and recognises revenue
by total considerations received or receivable. Otherwise, the
Group is an agent and recognises revenue by the amounts of
commissions or service charges expected to receive.

The Group provides quality assurance for products sold in
accordance with contract terms and laws and regulations.
The accounting treatment of quality assurance in the form
of warranty assuring customers that products sold are in
compliance with required standards is set out in Note Il1.21.
The Group provides warranty to customers beyond the
statutory period or scope, which is a standalone service in
addition to the assurance of compliance of products with
required standards, such warranty is treated as a standalone
contractual performance obligation The Group allocates a
portion of the transaction price to the service warranty based
on a percentage of the standalone price for the provision of
product and service warranty, with the revenue recognised
when the customer acquires control of the service.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Contract for the rendering of services

For the performance obligations under the contracts for
rendering of services between the Group and its customers,
which usually include maintenance services, transportation
services, technological services, platform services, etc., the
Group considers them as performance obligations to be
fulfilled over a period of time and recognises the revenue
according to the progress of performance (except when the
performance progress cannot be reasonably determined),
if customers are able to obtain and consume the economic
benefits brought by the Group’s contractual performance when
the Group performs the contracts. The Group determines the
performance progress for the services provided in accordance
with the input method. When the performance progress cannot
be reasonably determined, the revenue will be recognised
based on the amount of costs incurred if such costs incurred
by the Group are expected to be compensated, until the
performance progress can be reasonably determined. For
service contracts whose performance obligations cannot be
fulfilled over a period of time, the Group recognises revenue at
the time when services are provided.

Construction contract

The Group fulfils the performance obligations by providing
construction services to customers. As the services the
Group provides during the performance of contracts are
irreplaceable and the Group has the right to receive payments
for the performance part that has been completed so far in the
whole contract period, the Group considers these obligations
as performance obligations to be fulfilled over a period of
time and recognises the revenue according to the progress
of performance (except when the performance progress
cannot be reasonably determined). The Group determines
the performance progress for the construction services in
accordance with the output method and on the basis of
completion stage measured practically. When the performance
progress cannot be reasonably determined, the revenue will
be recognised based on the amount of costs incurred if such
costs incurred by the Group are expected to be compensated,
until the performance progress can be reasonably determined.
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24,

25.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

The Group presents contract assets or contract liabilities
on the balance sheet according to the relationship between
contractual performance obligations and customer payments.
Contract assets and contract liabilities under the same contract
are presented on a net basis after set-off.

Contract assets

Contract assets represent the rights to receive considerations
for the transfer of products or services to customers, which are
dependent on factors other than the passage of time.

For details of the Group’s determination and accounting
treatment of expected credit losses from contract assets,
please refer to Note IlI. 10.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer
products or services to customers for the considerations
received or receivable from customers, for instance, amounts
received prior to the transfer of agreed products or services.

Assets relating to contract costs

The Group’s assets relating to contract costs include contract
acquisition costs and contract performance costs, presented
respectively under inventories, other current assets and other
non-current assets according to their liquidity.

Where the Group expects the incremental costs for acquiring a
contract to be recoverable, such contract acquisition costs are
recognised as an asset (unless the amortisation period of the
asset is not more than one year).

24,
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Assets relating to contract costs (continued)

Costs incurred by the Group for the performance of a contract
are recognised as an asset as contract performance costs if
they do not fall under the scope of the relevant standards for
inventories, fixed assets or intangible assets but meet all the
following conditions:

1) they are directly related to a current or anticipated
contract, including direct labour, direct materials,
manufacturing expenses (or similar expenses), to
be borne by customers as specifically stipulated,
and otherwise incurred solely in connection with the

contract;

2) they increase the resources to be utilised in the
Company’s future performance of its contractual
obligations;

3) they are expected to be recoverable.

The Group amortises assets relating to contract costs on the
same basis as that for the recognition of revenue relating to
such assets and recognises the amortised assets in profit or
loss.

For assets relating to contract costs whose carrying amount
is higher than the difference between the following two items,
the Group makes provision for impairment for the excess to be
recognised as asset impairment losses:

(1) the remaining consideration expected to be obtained
as a result of the transfer of goods or services relating
to such assets;

(2) estimated costs to be incurred in connection with the
transfer of relevant goods or services.
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26.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. The grant is measured as
the amount received or receivable where it takes the form
of a cash asset, or at fair value where it is not a cash asset.
Where the fair value cannot be reliably obtained, it should be
measured at the nominal value.

Government grants are accounted for using the gross method.

In accordance with the stipulations of the government
instruments, government grants applied towards acquisition or
the formation of long-term assets in other manners are asset-
related government grants; grants with unspecific reference
in government instruments and requiring the exercise of
judgement based on the basic conditions for receiving such
grants are treated as asset-related government grants that take
acquisition of long-term assets or formation in other manners
as essential condition; otherwise, grants are recognised as
income-related government grants.

Income-related government grants, if applied to make up
for related costs or losses in future periods, are recognised
as deferred income and recorded in profit or loss in the
period when relevant costs or losses are recognised; if
applied to make up for related costs or losses that have been
incurred, recognised directly in profit or loss. Asset-related
government grants are recognised as deferred income and
included in profit or loss over the useful life of relevant assets
by reasonable and systematic instalments. Government
grants measured at nominal value are directly recognised in
profit or loss. Where the assets concerned are disposed of,
transferred, retired or damaged prior to the end of the useful
life, the balance of the deferred income yet to be allocated is
transferred to the profit or loss for the period when the assets
are disposed of.

For loans provided to the Group at policy-based favorable
interest rates by banks, which are supported by the financial
authorities with discount interest rate funds, the fair value of
borrowings is recognised as the carrying amount, and the
borrowing costs are calculated by the effective rate method,
with the difference between the amount actually received and
the fair value of borrowing recognised as deferred income
and the effective rate method adopted for amortisation during
the loan term to write off borrowing costs. If discount interest
rate funds are directly offered to the Group, the Group shall
adopt the corresponding discount interest to write off relevant
borrowing costs.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax

The Group recognises deferred taxes by balance sheet liability
method and according to the temporary difference between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities as at the balance
sheet date and the tax base, and the temporary difference
between the carrying amount of items that have not been
recognised as assets and liabilities but of which the tax base
can be determined and the tax base.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

1) where the taxable temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss, and the assets and liabilities initially recognised
do not result in equal amounts of taxable temporary
differences and deductible temporary differences;

2) in respect of the taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

1) where the deductible temporary difference arises
from transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss, and the
assets and liabilities initially recognised do not result
in equal amounts of taxable temporary differences and
deductible temporary differences;

2) where deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, it is probable that
the temporary differences will be reversed in the
foreseeable future, and it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
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27.

28.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax (continued)

As at the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured in accordance with relevant tax laws at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the assets
are realised or the liabilities are settled, and the Group reports
the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which
the Group expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover the
assets or settle the liabilities.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at
the balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset and
presented as a net amount if the Group has the legal right to
set off deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority, but the taxable entity concerned intends
to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. If one party to the contract
conveys a right to control the use of one or more identified
assets for a period of time in exchange for consideration, such
contract is, or contains, a lease.

As a lessee

The Group recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.

If a contract contains lease components and non-lease
components at the same time, the Group will allocate the
consideration in the contract to each component on the basis
of their respective relative stand-alone price.

27.

28.

EESREREHEE (H)

IEEE 15 51 ()
AEEREERERA  HRNETHMERE

EMREFAEHAE  KETRERE 2R
BEHREZEESFEZ B ERENERR
KB YRMEEABRAFHMKOEE
HEEEBETANAEHTE

REEREBEXRA  AEBEHETEHMEREE
HREEEETERZ - WRRKRHAMRATAE
EXESREANEANTAGSERNEIRLT
PRSI EENTE  HCELEMESHEER
REEE REEREBERA  AEEEHF
HARBEANELERSEHEE - ERULER
T SEY FE AT P 1S B R A P A SR AR D IR ST T
GHEEBRNRER  BRELEMEHE
o

INRFERNFEEERIEMSHEENET
FRSH B EROAERN - RIRERSHER
— AR EBME — B EE #BFIAER - B
EARRE-EEEZUMRELERSHEEM
BEXEFGEHRAGESEMMEAR - PR

BEEAFEEEEHMMEREEREH
SR EARRAKNEEE  FEREY
A EEFT S E EMEL ISR B E K
FHIRH)FERTIR

HE

EARMGA  AREFEAREEREE
XERSHE  MRARP—FEETE—
EHIRNIES — AR ZHEDHAIEEERN
BEMAMBEHE - MIZARAHEREERS

HE -

fEA&FA

BRTYRHHEMKEEEERSE  FAEEY
HERRERAEEEMHERR -

SRTPRNEEHEMEEERIH - A&
BIZRE By EBERNAYLIDES R
HE -



28.

Annual Report 2023
ZERCZFFR

Notes to Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

At the inception of a lease term, the rights to use lease assets
during the lease term is recognised as right-of-use assets,
initially measured at cost. The costs of right-of-use assets
include: the initially measured amount of lease liabilities;
the lease payment incurred at or prior to the lease inception
date, less the lease incentive amount received; initial direct
expenses incurred by the lessee; estimated cost to be incurred
by the lessee for demolishing and removing lease assets,
restoring the premises at which the lease assets are located or
restoring the lease assets to the agreed state under the lease
terms. If the Group remeasures lease liabilities due to changes
in lease payments, the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset is adjusted accordingly. In subsequent measurement,
the Group provides depreciation of the right-of-use assets
using the averaging method over the lease term. Where it can
be reasonably ascertained that the ownership over the lease
assets can be obtained upon the conclusion of the lease term,
depreciation is provided over the remaining useful life of the
lease assets. Where the acquisition of the ownership over the
lease assets upon the conclusion of the lease term cannot
be reasonably ascertained, depreciation is provided over the
lease term or the remaining useful life of the lease assets,
whichever is shorter.

Lease liabilities

At the inception of a lease term, outstanding lease payments
are recognised as lease liabilities at their present value,
with the exception of short-term leases and low-value asset
leases. The lease payments comprises fixed payments and in-
substance fixed payments less any lease incentives, variable
lease payment that depends on an index or a rate, amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, and
it also comprises exercise price of a purchase option or
payments required to be made under an option to terminate
the lease, provided that the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option or the lease term reflects the Group is
going to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
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28.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
adopts the implied interest rate as the discount rate or the
incremental loan interest rate for the lessee as the discount
rate where the implied interest rate cannot be ascertained.
Interest expenses on lease liabilities over the respective
periods of the lease term are based on fixed cyclical interest
rates and charged to profit or loss, except the presentation
in related asset costs required by other standards. Variable
lease payments not included in lease liabilities are charged to
profit or loss as and when incurred, except the presentation in
related asset costs required by other standards.

After the commencement date of the lease term, the Group
increased the carrying amount of lease liabilities when it
recognizes the interests, and decreases the carrying amount
of the lease liabilities when it makes lease payments. Where
there are changes in the substantial fixed payment amount,
changes in amounts payable expected of the remaining value
of guarantees, changes in the index or ratio used to determine
lease payment amounts, and changes in the assessment
outcome relating to or actual exercise of the call option,
renewal option and termination option, the Group re-measures
the lease liabilities based on present value of the modified
lease payment.

Short-term lease and low-value asset lease

A lease with a term of not more than 12 months at the inception
of the lease term and without any call option is recognised as
a short-term lease; lease comprising an individual lease asset
in brand new conditions and with low value is recognised as
a low-value asset lease. If the Group sub-leases or expects
to sub-lease such leased assets, the original lease shall not
be recognised as a low-value asset lease. For short-term
leases and low-value asset leases, the Group elects not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, which are
instead charged to relevant asset costs or profit or loss over
the respective periods during the lease term on a straight-line
basis.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
As a lessor

Other than leases that transfer substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the ownership of leased assets at inception
which are recognised as finance leases, all leases are
recognised as operating leases.

As the lessor under a finance lease

At the commencement date of the lease term, the Group
recognises finance lease receivables and derecognises
financial leased assets. The Group initially measures finance
lease receivables in the amount of net investment in the
lease. Net investment in the lease is the sum of unguaranteed
residual value and the present value of lease payments not
received at the commencement date being discounted at
the interest rate contained in the lease, including initial direct
costs. The Group calculates and recognises interest income
in each period during the lease term based on a constant
periodic rate of interest. The variable lease payments that are
not included in the measurement of the net investment in the
lease are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

When the Group acts as a manufacturer or dealer lessor of a
financial lease, at the inception of the lease term, the Group
recognises the lease income based on the lower of the fair
value of the leased asset and the present value of the lease
receipts discounted at the market interest rate, and recognises
the cost of sales based on the balance after deducting the
present value of the unguaranteed residual value from the
carrying amount of the leased asset. The costs incurred by the
Group to obtain finance leases are recognised in profit and
loss at the inception of the lease term.

As the lessor under an operating lease

Rental income under an operating lease is recognised as
profit or loss over the respective periods of the lease term on a
straight-line basis, and variable lease payments not included
in lease receivables are charged to profit or loss as and when
incurred. Initial direct costs are capitalised and amortised on
the same basis as the recognition of rental income over the
lease term, and are included in the profit or loss by instalments.
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29.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Hedge accounting

For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Group classifies
hedges as cash flow hedges which hedge the exposure to
variability in cash flows risk that is either attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or
a highly probable forecast transaction, or the foreign exchange
risk in an unrecognised firm commitment.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group
formally designates the hedge relationship and prepares
documentation of the hedging relationship and the entity’s
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
the hedge. The documentation includes identification of
the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the
risk being hedged and how the entity will assess whether
the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements. Hedging effectiveness is the extent to which
the changes in fair value or cash flows of hedging instruments
can offset the changes in fair value or cash flows of hedged
items. Such hedge items should be assessed at the inception
of the hedging relationship, and on an ongoing basis, whether
a hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively
when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised (the placement or rollover of a hedging instrument
which is part of hedging strategies into another hedging
instrument is not an expiration or termination), or the hedging
relationship ceases to meet the documented risk management
objective due to a change in risk management objectives, or if
the hedge no longer meets other qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated hedging
relationship remains the same, the Group rebalances the
hedging relationship.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Hedge accounting (continued)

Hedges which meet the criteria of hedge accounting are
treated in the following ways:

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income
directly, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately
in the statement of profit or loss.

When the hedged forecast transaction results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability,
or a firm commitment created by the forecast transaction
for a non- financial asset or a non-financial liability for which
fair value hedge accounting is applied, the gains and losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve are removed and
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
financial asset or non- financial liability. For any other cash
flow hedges, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss as
a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods
during which the hedged cash flows affect the statement of
profit or loss, such as when sales are expected to occur.

If the Group discontinues cash flow hedges, the amount that
has been accumulated in other comprehensive income must
remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the
hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur, until the
transaction is expected to actually occur or performance of the
commitment is determined. If the hedged future cash flows are
no longer expected to occur, the amount of hedge reserve will
be immediately reclassified to the statement of profit or loss as
a reclassification adjustment.

Cost of hedging reserve

The Group separates the forward element and spot element of
a forward contract and designates as the hedging instrument
only the change in the value of the spot element of a forward
contract. The change in fair value of the forward element of
a forward contract that hedges a transaction related hedged
item shall be recognised in other comprehensive income, if the
nature of the hedged item is associated with time-period, such
the changes of fair value are amortised on a systematic and
rational basis over the period during which the hedged item
affects the profit or loss or other comprehensive income, and
reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss.
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30.

31.

32.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Share repurchase

Considerations and transaction fees paid for repurchase
of equity instruments of the Group result in decrease of
shareholders’ equity. Other than share-based payments,
issuance (including re-financing), repurchase, selling or
cancellation of equity instruments of the Group are treated as
changes of equity.

Fair value measurement

At each balance sheet date, the Group measures equity
instrument investments and derivative financial instruments
at fair value. Fair value means the price receivable from the
disposal of an asset or required to be paid for the transfer
of a liability in an orderly transaction incurred by market
participants on the measurement date.

The fair value hierarchy to which an asset or liability measured
or disclosed in the financial statements at fair value will be
determined on the basis of the lowest level of input which is
significant for the fair value measurement as a whole. Input at
the first level represents unadjusted quoted prices in an active
market for the acquisition of the same asset or liability on the
measurement date. Input at the second level represents input
that is directly or indirectly observable for related assets or
liabilities apart from input at the first level. Input at the third
level represents unobservable input for the asset or liability.

At each balance sheet date, the Group reassesses the assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on an ongoing basis
recognised in the financial statements to determine whether
the level of fair value measurement should be changed.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimations and assumption
that affect the reported amounts and disclosures of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date. The uncertain
nature of these assumptions and estimations could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
(continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the
management has made the following judgements which have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the business model the Group adopts to manage
financial assets. In judging the business model, the Group
considers, among others, the methods by which it assesses
and the way by which it reports to the key managers about the
results of financial assets, the risks confronted by the results of
financial assets and relevant risks management methods, and
the way determining the compensation of business operators.
When determining whether the business model maintained for
the purpose of receiving contractual cash flows, the Group
needs to analyse the reasons for selling financial assets before
expiry dates, the time, frequency and consideration of the
selling.

Contractual cash flow characteristics

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics, and the judgements on whether the contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding, including when assessing
the modification of the time value of money, the judgement on
whether there is any significant difference from the benchmark
cash flow, etc.
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32.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Principal versus agent

The Group sells products to a customer who is also the
supplier of key materials used in the manufacturing of
products. The Group needs to determine whether it is a
principal or an agent in these transactions by ascertaining
whether it has control over the above key materials before
it transfers products to the customer. If it acquires control
of the aforesaid key materials, the Group is the principal
and recognises revenue by total considerations received or
receivable. Otherwise, the Group is an agent and recognises
revenue by the amounts of commissions or service charges
expected to receive. The determination of the Group on
whether it has controls over goods before they are transferred
to customers not only depends on legal contracts, but also
takes into consideration of all relevant facts and conditions.

Deferred tax liabilities in relation to withholding income taxes
for dividend payment

Whether the Group’s overseas subsidiaries need to pay
withholding income taxes for the dividends paid by their
subsidiaries based in Mainland China is associated with the
timing of dividend payment. If the Group estimates that the
profit will not be distributed in the foreseeable future and
the time of writing back the temporary difference arising
from dividend payment made by such subsidiaries can be
controlled, then it is not necessary to recognise deferred
tax liabilities for the aforesaid withholding income taxes. For
details, please refer to Note V.21.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the future
accounting periods, are described below.

32.

EESREREHEE (H)

BEREFHEM G (8D

H B (%)
TEEEABEREA

AEEAEFHEERM  BFRBLEXA
an SUE T RS KA LB o AR AT E
RFEHEAARRREAR  TEHERE
FHEEEmA S HAY LA RM B
BREEIT AN - MRAKERE LI 5+
FreniEsiig  BEAKBER/RIZEMEA X
RRE WK ERBERKA - TR
AEERREA  ZREHARERNES
XFEENSEBEARNA - REEEHE@
BEPEER MATR S A B R a r 12
KMERRNARMNEREAMAEEGA
BFEHRBEEMBR -

BRI B S| AR BARAER ZBELEE
HEE

REBHRHFIFRRHRPEREIRA
FREDIRH R ZAHEF AR
BRICRNENER X NHEH - AREER
ARBNTEHEABERNARRTUANIK - B
BEYE 2 % 1 A A BROM) 0 i 2 AR ) BT B 1
ZRENEORR - ATHF R AR
FIERELANBELEMSEHAR - FRME
21

fa &t 6 T HEE 14

NTRIREEBEBRABBARKRNERRR
ARG Et A EE MR H B8 AR - ATRE®
BYARKSHHHEEMNBERAEBEEX

B -



32.

Annual Report 2023
ZERCZFFR

Notes to Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continueq)

Impairment of financial instruments and contract assets

The Group has adopted the expected credit loss model
to evaluate the impairment of financial instruments and
contract assets. The application of the expected credit loss
model requires significant judgement and estimates and the
consideration of all reasonable and soundly based information,
including forward-looking information. In making such
judgement and estimates, the Group estimates the changes of
the debtor’s credit risk according to past repayment records,
taking into account economic policies, macro-economic
indicators, industry risks and other factors. Differences in
estimates may have an impact on the provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment may not be equal to the actual
amount of impairment losses in the future.

Impairment of non-current assets other than financial assets
(excluding goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indications of
impairment for non-current assets other than financial assets
at the balance sheet date. Impairment tests are performed
every year for intangible assets with indefinite useful life and
those that are not ready for intended use; these assets are
also tested when indications show that they may be impaired.
Non-current assets other than financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indications that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of the fair value less
cost to sell and the present value of its future cash flows. The
net amount of the fair value less cost to sell is based on agreed
selling prices of similar assets in fair trades or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When estimating the present value of future cash flows, the
management must estimate the expected future cash flows of
the asset or CGU and adopts the appropriate discount rate to
calculate the present value of future cash flows. For details,
please refer to Note V.18.
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32.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continueq)

Goodwill impairment

The Company tests the goodwill for impairment at least
annually. This requires making an estimate of the current
value of the future cash flow of the CGU or CGU group that
have distributed goodwill. When making an estimate of the
current value of future cash flows, the Group needs to make
an estimate of the future cash flows generated by the CGU
or CGU group, and simultaneously adopts the appropriate
discount rate to calculate the present value of future cash
flows. For details, please refer to Note V. 19.

Development expenditures

In determining the amount of capitalisation, the management
must make assumptions concerning the expected future
cash flows of assets, applicable discount rates and expected
beneficial periods.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses,
to the extent that it is likely that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant judgments
are needed from the management to estimate the timing and
amount of taxable profit in the future and the corresponding
tax rate, with consideration of tax planning strategies, to
determine the amount of the deferred tax assets that should be
recognised.

Provisions for warranty

The Group makes reasonable estimates on warranty fee rates
in respect of contract groups with similar characteristics based
on the historic data and current conditions of warranty, taking
into consideration all relevant information such as product
improvements and market changes, among others. The
estimate of the warranty fee rate may not be equal to the actual
warranty fee rate in the future. The Group reassesses the
warranty fee rates at least annually at least on each balance
sheet date and determines its estimated liabilities based on the
reassessed warranty fee rates.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continueq)

Provision for inventory impairment based on net realisable
value

The Group measures inventories by cost or net realisable
value, whichever is lower. The determination of the net
realisable value requires the acquisition of conclusive evidence
by the management, who should also take into account factors
such as the purpose of stocking the inventory and the impact
of post- balance sheet date events before making judgments
and estimates. The difference between the actual outcome and
the original estimates shall affect the carrying amount of the
inventory and charge or reversal of impairment provision for
the period during which the estimates were revised.

Depreciation and amortisation

When assets are ready for intended use, the Group provides
depreciation of fixed assets and amortisation of intangible
assets by the straight-line method or the output method, based
on the estimated useful life and the net residual value, which
reflects the management’s estimate for the periods in which
the Group expects to receive economic benefits from the use
of such fixed assets and intangible assets.

Incremental loan interest rate for the lessee

Where the implied interest rate cannot be available, the Group
adopts the incremental loan interest rate for the lessee as
the discount rate for calculating the present value of lease
payment. In determining the incremental loan interest rate,
the Group considers the economic environment, refers to the
observable interest rate as the basis, and adjusts the reference
rate to the applicable extent by considering its own conditions,
the conditions of target assets, the lease term, the amount of
lease liabilities and other factors that are specific to the lease.
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32.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The Group applies the quoted market prices to determine
the fair value of listed equity instrument investments.
For investments in restricted shares and unlisted equity
instruments, the Group adopts the recent transaction method
or applies valuation techniques to determine their fair value,
while valuation techniques include market multiplier method,
option pricing models, etc. The measurement of fair value uses
significant unobservable parameters, including enterprise
value-to-revenue (“EV/Revenue”) ratio, liquidity discount,
etc. This requires the Group to determine comparable listed
companies, selection of market multiplier method, option
pricing models, credit risk, fluctuations, discount rate, etc.
which are of uncertainties. For details, please refer to Note XI.

Assessment of fair value of identifiable net assets related
to business acquisition and recognition of gooadwill arising
therefrom

As stated in Note Ill. 5, for the measurement of the fair value
of identifiable net assets as at the acquisition date, which
are acquired in business combinations not involving entities
under common control, the Group recognizes goodwill as the
difference between the combination cost and the share of the
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets as at the
acquisition date.

The assessment of fair values of identifiable assets and
liabilities involves significant estimate and judgment of the
management, especially the identification of intangible assets
and the assessment of fair value of such assets, which affects
the recognition of goodwill accordingly. The assessment of the
fair value of identifiable net assets as at the acquisition date
covers identification of intangible assets, selection of valuation
approaches and forecast of future cash flows, involving
significant estimates and judgments of key assumptions such
as revenue growth rate, gross profit margin and discount rate.
Different inputs used for the key assumptions may result in
significant difference in fair value assessment. Relevant details
are set out in Note VII.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies and accounting
estimates

Changes in accounting estimates

Changes in long-term asset depreciation/amortization lives

As the update and iteration of new energy vehicle technologies
continue to accelerate, the requirements of power batteries on
product structure and performance continue to update. The
original power battery production equipment under some of
the technology platforms is not able to meet the requirements
for the production of new products, therefore, its useful life
is below the original depreciation life. To reflect the financial
condition and operating results of the Group in a more
objective and accurate way, the Group changes the long-
term asset depreciation/amortization lives of the above power
batteries from 5 years to 3 years based on the current use
condition and useful lives of its fixed assets.

The changes in accounting estimates, with effect from 1
January 2023, have been approved at the 31st meeting of
the Seventh Session of the Board and the 14th meeting of
the Seventh Session of the Supervisory Committee on 28
March 2023. The changes in accounting estimates adopt the
prospective application method, which have no impact on the
financial conditions and operating results of the Group for the
previous years. The depreciation/amortization of long-term
assets increased by RMB3,347,006,000 and net profit and
net profit attributable to the parent company decreased by
RMB2,796,731,000 in 2023.
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TAXATION

Principal tax items and tax rates

q - BIR

1. FEHRERBE

Tax base

BEi ]

Tax rate

BiZ

Value-added tax (“VAT")

B

Consumption tax

HEM

City maintenance and
construction tax

VAT A R R AR

Enterprise income tax

REMEM

Education surcharge

A &M

Local education surcharge

Hb 75 Z0E B N

Overseas tax

Difference arising from the deduction of
deductible input VAT from sales revenue and
output VAT based on applicable tax rate

HERMEAT R EMHEEBENRE - EHETEN
BBEIRT RN

Ad valorem collection for sales revenue of
taxable consumer goods

EEBETEERIHER

Actual payment of VAT and consumption tax

B Hme IR EN - HEHTE

Taxable income

JE R P S58

Actual payment of VAT and consumption tax
ERANIRER HEWHR

Actual payment of VAT and consumption tax
B me IR EN - HENTE

Calculation based on the tax laws and regulations of

other countries and regions

BINBR RIEEIEBRAENRUCAR S
Note 1. Save the subsidiaries that enjoy tax concessions as 71

stated in Note IV. 2, the Company’s branches and
subsidiaries based in Mainland China are subject to the

statutory enterprise income tax rate of 25%.

3%, 6%, 9% or 13%

3% * 6% * 9%513%

Vehicles: 1%-9%
Batteries: 4% (Ni-MH
batteries and lithium
batteries are exempt from
consumption tax)
FTHE1%-9%
BiA% (K REE b
BEMRBEED)
1%-7%

1%-7%
note 1
51

3%

3%

2%

2%

BN 2Pl Z X EEMEHER
BF AR ARBEERAD - 1
ALEEBEMEBRIRER25%
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TAXATION (CONTINUED) g - BE ()
Tax concessions and relevant documents 2. BWEER#MX
Enterprise income tax PRATIEH
Company name Preferential tax rate Duration
NI BEBE BRFH
BYD Auto Industry Company Limited 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2021-2023
L EEid B TEAR AR 15% (B R A= #7411 26)
BYD Lithium Battery Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2021-2023
RN SRR B AR A A 15% (B K A = 3 B g 12 26)
Huizhou BYD Electronics Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2021-2023
BN REEFHERAA 15% (Bl K = 3 B g 12 26)
Beijing BYD Mould Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2021-2023
bR EEABR AR 15% (B R R = ¥ fir b 55)
BYD Precision Manufacture Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2021-2023
Lh e BE AR A A 15% (B R = F i (b %)
Shenzhen Di Lian Technology Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2021-2023
RYNEFER AR A A 15% (B R A= #7841 1 26)
Guangdong BYD Energy-Saving Technology  15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2021-2023
Co., Ltd.
R TR e RE R AR A 7 15% (B R = F i 1 5)
Huizhou BYD Battery Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2022-2024
BN DEEMER A 15% (Bl R A = 3 B g 12 26)
BYD (Shaoguan) Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2022-2024
HME T EEEARAA 15% (B R = F &l b %)
Ningbo BYD Semiconductor Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2022-2024
BN TR B R ER AR 15% (B R = F &M (b %)
CHANGSHA BYD AUTO CO., LTD. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2022-2024
AT EEABEERAA] 15% (B R = #7411 26)
Changzhou BYD Auto Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025
BNt TE R/ R AR 15% (B K A = 3 B g 12 26)
Hefei BYD Auto Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025
SRR TERRAR 15% (Bl R = 3 B g 12 26)
Changsha FinDreams Battery Co. Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025
R HBBEBMERAA 15% (B R = ¥ fir (b 55)
FAW-FINDREAMS New Energy Technology 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025
Co., Ltd.
—AFR BB R AR A 15% (B R = # T 1 %)
SHANGHAI BYD COMPANY LIMITED 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025
gt RmERAT 15% (B K A = 3 B g 12 %)
Shantou BYD Electronics Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025
IEELL R E F AR A A 15% (Bl K A = 3 B g 12 26)
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IV. TAXATION (CONTINUED) o HIE(E)

2, Tax concessions and relevant documents (continued) 2, BB E Rt 3 (E)
Enterprise income tax (continued) DEHEH )

Company name Preferential tax rate Duration

NI BEBE BREH

BYD Signal & Communication Company 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025

Limited

LB EERAR AR 15% (B R = #T M1 1 5)

Shanwei BYD Auto Co., Ltd. 15% (national high-tech enterprise) 2023-2025

L TR E AR A A 15% (Bl R A = # B g 12 26)

BYD Auto Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of 20212030
Western China)

Lt R ) TE AR AR 15% (78 B A B BB = IR)

Xi'an FinDreams Battery Co. Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

AR FHHENER DA 15% (P EP R R B EAER)

Xi'an BYD Electronics Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

Azt EEFBRAA 15% (Fa B K BB B R

Guilin BYD Industrial Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of 20212030
Western China)

EMt B EAR AR 15% (78 &0 A B @ = IUR)

Qinghai FinDreams Industry Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

SERBEXARAA 15% (78 &0 A FH BB A= IR)

Chongaing FinDreams Battery Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of ~ 2021-2030
Western China)

ERHHEENERAA 15% (FE EP R R BB A IR)

Guiyang FinDreams Battery Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

El5FHBEBMERA A 15% (Fa B K BB B ER)

Guang’an BYD Industrial Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

Bzt FaEEAR AR 15% (78 B0 A B 3@ IR

FinDreams Battery Gui’an Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

BELHEABEBMERAA 15% (P8 88 KB B2 B )

FinDreams Powertrain Guiyang Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of ~ 2021-2030
Western China)

BEnmE HARRE 15% (FE EP R F BB AIR)

Chongging FinDreams Battery R&D Institute ~ 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030

Co., Ltd.
EEHBEBAERBRATF]

Western China)
15% (78 B0 A B @ A= R)
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TAXATION (CONTINUED) g - BE ()

Tax concessions and relevant documents (continued) 2, B EE RS (E)

Enterprise income tax (continued) DEHEH )

Company name Preferential tax rate Duration

NI BEBE BREH

Qinghai FinDreams Battery Co. Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

SEREBNERAA 15% (78 B0 A B 3 @ A= R)

Shangluo BYD Industrial Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of 20212030
Western China)

ERL B EARAA 15% (78 B0 A B 2@ IR

Nanning BYD New Materials Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

2 b T M R PR A A 15% (T8 #8 KB B2 B )

Nanning BYD Automotive Proving Grounds 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030

Co., Ltd. Western China)

FEELTDENERTEFGEMHSERLF 15%(FEMAHEEHRRE)

Baoji BYD Industrial Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

ESLTEEBEERR AR IACE: UNGE:§ -EN )

Chengdu BYD Electronics Co., Ltd. 15% (Preferential Policies for the Development of  2021-2030
Western China)

Bt TR E F AR AT 15% (78 B0 A B 3@ H= UKD

FinDreams Battery Guangxi ASEAN Co., Ltd. 9% (Tax Incentives for the Beibu Gulf Economic 2022-2025
Zone, Guangxi)

BFREHREENERAA 9% (B PEIL BF 2 48 & = B B )

FinDreams Battery Nanning Co., Ltd. 9% (Tax Incentives for the Beibu Gulf Economic 2022-2025
Zone, Guangxi)

FEHRBEMARAA 9% (& PR L B2 48 [ Bl W (B B k)

Guangxi FinDreams Battery Co., Ltd. 9% (Tax Incentives for the Beibu Gulf Economic 2023-2025

B mEim AR AT
BYD Semiconductor Company Limited

Lan i SRR AR A A

BYD (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Management
Co., Ltd.

RN S B B IR AR A A

Zone, Guangxi)

9% (B PR L B2 A% [ A i (8 B %)

10% (national key integrated circuit design
enterprise)

10% (BERREHEKEHEEE)

15% (enterprise classified into the category of
encouraged industries in Henggin in

Guangdong Province, Pingtan in Fujian Province

and Qianhai in Shenzhen)
15%(BREE - BREE - RYIANEFHE
HEEEELR)

2023

2023
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TAXATION (CONTINUED)
Tax concessions and relevant documents (continued)
Other tax concessions

According to the Announcement No. 43 [2023] of the Ministry
of Finance and the State Taxation Administration “Notice on
the Additional Value-Added Tax (VAT) Deduction Policy for
Advanced Manufacturing Enterprises ({8 e R s 4
FIER T ERBEM QL)) from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2027, advanced manufacturing enterprises
are allowed to deduct an additional 5% of the input VAT that
can be credited in the current period from the output VAT
payable (hereinafter referred to as the “Additional Deduction
Policy”). BYD Auto Industry Company Limited, BYD Lithium
Battery Co., Ltd., Huizhou BYD Electronics Co., Ltd., Beijing
BYD Mould Co., Ltd., BYD Precision Manufacture Co., Ltd.,
Guangdong BYD Energy-Saving Technology Co., Ltd. Huizhou
BYD Battery Co., Ltd., BYD (Shaoguan) Co., Ltd., Ningbo BYD
Semiconductor Co., Ltd., CHANGSHA BYD AUTO CO., LTD.,
Shantou BYD Electronics Co., Ltd. and Shanwei BYD Auto Co.,
Ltd. are applicable to the Additional Deduction Policy.

According to the Announcement No. 17 [2023] of the Ministry
of Finance and the State Taxation Administration “Notice on the
Additional Value-Added Tax Deduction Policy for Integrated
Circuit Enterprises (KBAM &K E B 1 35 18 B B4 00 51 K3 B

KHRAE))", from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2027,
integrated circuit design, production, packaging and testing,
equipment, and material enterprises (hereinafter referred to
as the “Integrated Circuit Enterprises”) are allowed to deduct
an additional 15% of the input VAT that can be credited in the
current period from the output VAT payable (hereinafter referred
to as the “Additional Deduction Policy”). BYD Semiconductor
Company Limited is applicable to the Additional Deduction
Policy.

[=

18 (18)
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BV BBRREIERE TR

Cash and bank balances 1. E¥ES

2023 2022
—E_=F —EF-=
Cash EFRe 12,139 1,525
Bank deposit |ITER 105,318,355 46,448,591
Other cash and bank balances HEmE®ES 3,763,914 5,021,147
Total AFr 109,094,408 51,471,263
Including: Aggregate of funds deposited He : FESINIsIa a5

overseas 16,435,513 7,618,268

As at 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances which
the Group placed overseas and were subject to restrictions
amounted to RMB16,181,000 (31 December 2022:

RMB17,138,000).

Financial assets held for trading

R-BE-=F+—"A=+—HB AEEEW
EHRIEESZEREINELEESBARE
16,181 F (ZTE-—F+-F=+—H : A
R#17,138FT) °

2. REUTHMEE

2023 2022
—E—-= —E-
Financial assets at fair value through profit A EBEFEBEZET AEH
or loss EmmMerERE
Structured deposits and certificate of deposit &R FR N RFBEIFE 9,542,789 20,615,386
Derivative financial assets PTESRMEE 19,761 11,544
Total CE 9,562,550 20,626,930
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Trade receivables

The aging of trade receivables is recognised based on the time
of revenue recognition. The aging analysis of trade receivables

EHMBBRREIERETRE

FE W BRK

& B SRR R 4 W A\ SR RO B ] T DATERR.

FEMBR R BRE DT AT

is as follows:
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-=
Within 1 year 1FER 55,779,350 27,927,498
1to 2 years 1FE B 24F 2,063,458 6,184,489
2to 3 years 2FEE3F 3,139,994 3,849,206
Over 3 years 3FE F 4,466,834 3,656,999
65,449,636 41,618,192
Less: Provision for bad debt of trade B IR SO AR S
receivables 3,583,617 2,789,698
Total A& 61,866,019 38,828,494

The subsidies for new energy vehicle sales are included in the
above trade receivables.

i R R B R BE IR TR A RA K
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables (continued) 3. FE UK BR R (48D
2023 —E-=HF
Book balance Provision for bad debt
BREEREE BIRER
Provision
Percentage rate Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
4] FHR LA
-] (%) &8 (%) IREEE

Provision for bad debt based on  BEIEzHEZREE

individual assessment 1,021,450 1.56 1,005,380 98.43 16,070
Provision for bad debt based on  H&{EREBEFZEA

collective assessment by credit ~ sHEERE%ERE

risk portfolio 64,428,186 98.44 2,578,237 4.00 61,849,949
Total &t 65,449,636 100.00 3,583,617 61,866,019
2022 =2z

Book balance Provision for bad debt
ERMEEREE ERER
Provision
Percentage rate Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
L FHR
&8 (%) G (%) REEE

Provision for bad debt based on  BEIEzHEZREE

individual assessment 1,058,458 2.54 1,037,179 97.99 21,279
Provision for bad debt based on  H&{EREBEAEA

collective assessment by credit  HEEIRERE

risk portfolio 40,559,734 97.46 1,752,519 432 38,807,215

Total &t 41,618,192 100.00 2,789,698 38,828,494
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables with provision for bad debt based on

individual assessment are shown as follows:

EHMBBRREIERETRE

P& Wi R K (D

ERFHRRREFNBURRBERIT

2023
—EgE=-=
Provision Provision
Book for rate
balance bad debt (%) Reason of provision
sT 12 EE
ARE&REE HERELE (%) =riREMH
Customer 1 vF— 156,202 156,202 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
FEH LW E
Customer 2 xFEZ 110,377 110,377 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
AL
Customer 3 BE= 84,616 84,616 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
FEFH A E
Customer 4 ZFEm 80,034 80,034 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
AR EE N
Customer 5 EFR 74,601 74,601 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
AR EE N
Others HAt 515,620 499,550 96.88
Total A&F 1,021,450 1,005,380
As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables with provision RIE-_=F+-_A=+—H - #HE:tE=
for bad debt based on collective assessment are shown as IREFBREKERBERIT ¢
follows:
Provision Provision
Book for rate
balance impairment (%)
IREEREE WEER FHREA(%)
Within 1 year (inclusive) 1FLAR(E19F) 55,717,119 726,642 1.30
1-2 years (inclusive) 125 (529) 2,062,784 99,861 4.84
2-3 years (inclusive) 2-3%F (&3%F) 3,074,633 208,900 6.79
34 years (inclusive) 3-4F (F45) 1,905,098 160,374 8.42
4-5 years (inclusive) 4-5%F (55%F) 503,007 216,915 43.12
Over 5 years 5F A F 1,165,545 1,165,545 100.00
Total a5t 64,428,186 2,578,237
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- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

Trade receivables (continued) FE UK BR R (48D
As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables with provision RIE-—_F+-_F=+—H HEstEE
for bad debt based on collective assessment are shown as IREFEMERETBERET
follows:
Provision Provision
Book for rate
balance impairment (%)
AR ERFR MERER  FHELHI(%)
Within 1 year (inclusive) 1FAR(E1F) 27,915,925 313,871 1.12
1-2 years (inclusive) 125 (529) 6,121,236 304,956 4.98
2-3 years (inclusive) 2-3F (&3%F) 3,810,277 170,265 4.47
3-4 years (inclusive) 3-4F(549F) 1,403,412 187,781 13.38
4-5 years (inclusive) 4-55 (Z5%F) 1,009,241 476,003 47.16
Over 5 years 5F A E 299,643 299,643 100.00
Total CE 40,559,734 1,752,519
The movements of provision for bad debt of trade receivables W AR FUZ AR B e T ¢
are as follows:
Exchange
difference
Provision on foreign
Opening for  Reversalin Write-off currency Closing
balance the year theyear intheyear translation balance
SMETR
N8RS REFR AEER RELH wEEE FREBE
2023 —EC=F 2,789,698 1,328,105 (444,490) (93,220) 3,524 3,583.617
2022 “E-F 2,154,399 999,965 (270,293) (99,036) 4,663 2,789,698

In 2023, there was no recovery of provision for bad debt or
reversal of significant amounts or write-off of significant trade
receivables.

RIZBZ=FF BZREEKOHEDS
BMEBENTE  BEZNRERUBRTZER
T o

195



196

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’'000
ARETT

V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables (excluding the
subsidies for new energy vehicle sales) and contract assets
(excluding the subsidies for new energy vehicle sales) of the
five greatest amounts are shown as follows:

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

P& Wi R K (D

R-B-_=F+-"A=+—0 " BREZRCT
SRR A REE (T EFL R
B SERI R ¢

Closing

Percentage  balance of
of the provision
aggregate for bad debt

closing of trade

Closing balance receivables

balance of trade and

of trade receivables provision

Closing Closing receivables and for

balance of balance of and contract impairment

trade contract contract assets of contract

receivables assets assets (%) assets

1R R FE W BR AR

NMEREE HREEFHN

BUERRA FRHBES EREE

FEWBR R BREE EREE SR REEE

FREKH FREKH FRBE (%) FRHBE
Customer with the greatest [EWBR SR EREE

amount SEE—REP 10,330,025 - 10,330,025 15.07 23,843
Customer with the second JEUBR KR E R E

greatest amount SHE_ARFP 3,240,469 - 3,240,469 4.73 8,841
Customer with the third JEMBE AN G REE

greatest amount SHEEZKREP 1,701,161 - 1,701,161 2.48 3,913
Customer with the fourth JEWBE G REE

greatest amount SEENAEF 1,448,239 - 1,448,239 2.11 332
Customer with the fifth EUERFMEREE

greatest amount SEEAREF 1,158,067 - 1,158,067 1.69 2,670

Total At 17,877,961 - 17,877,961 26.08 39,599
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- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

4. FE W R TR B &

2023 2022
—EB-=5F —F-—

Bank acceptance bills RITERRIES 5,596,369 7,796,719

Trade receivables & i B X - 5,167,489

Original carrying amount at the end of the year & RKEEHR{E 5,596,369 12,964,208
Less: Other comprehensive income W EEREE - AR EEEE

— change in fair value 31,445 69,924

Fair value at the end of the year FRANEE 5,564,924 12,894,284

The business model of the Company for the management
of a portion of trade receivables and notes receivable is
for the purposes of receiving contractual cash flows and
trading. Financial assets classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are presented as receivables
financing.

Endorsed or discounted notes receivable which have not

10 35T 88 0 B U BR SR 0B M SR 9B i TR ) 2 T
BEAEARBARRSRABEREXALER
BE DBANAARBEFELEZESHA
Hipir e WSS REE @ SR A EKKIA
BE -

EEEXMBREEEERBRA AR

become due at the balance sheet date are as follows: FEWERRIT -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
Not Not
Derecognised derecognised Derecognised  derecognised
KIETER REE TR R HER REE TR
Bank acceptance bills RITERAES 91,841,294 = 85,440,516 5,905

Details of transfer of financial assets related to notes receivable
are set out in Note X.6.

HEWNEREEN S REEEBF RN
+ B o
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. Other receivables 5. H 1 FE WX

2023 2022

—E_=F —F-—
Other receivables H b R 2,757,912 1,910,009

Aging analysis of other receivables is as follows: HAbEWR R BRER AT T -

2023 2022

—EB-=fF —_F-—
Within 1 year I 2,167,608 1,661,359
1to 2 years 1FE B2 377,098 62,965
2to 3 years 2F B3 46,331 172,318
Over 3 years 3FLALE 343,383 187,817
2,934,420 2,084,459
Less: Bad debt provision for other receivables & : £ 4 JiE U i BR 1 176,508 174,450

Total A& 2,757,912 1,910,009
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Other receivables (continued)

H -

RMB’000
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5. Lt FE WK ()
HAb R AR E SRR IR IEE D T

Book balance of other receivables analysed by nature are as

EHMBBRREIERETRE

follows:
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E-=
Deposit and security RES KA 923,249 325,032
Export rebates and taxes HOERBEHE 75,609 352,145
Transfer from prepayments before shipment REEBMNREA 174,793 173,406
Loans to employees BT{ER 112,760 74,285
Social security contribution on behalf of RN E Ttk
employees 706,350 429,122
Deferred expenses FEEA 259,981 84,952
Others EHAth 681,678 645,517
Total CEl 2,934,420 2,084,459
2023 —E=-=
Book balance Bad debt provision
IRE AT BRER
Provision
Percentage rate Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
Ll sHELL B
<8 (%) K] (%) IREEE
Provision for bad debt based on ~ EIEHEZREE
individual assessment 174,793 5.96 174,793 100.00 -
Provision for bad debt based on & {z HEKRIGEAS
collective assessment by credit  HEZIRERE
risk portfolio 2,759,627 94.04 1,715 0.06 2,757,912
Total B&t 2,934,420 100.00 176,508 2,757,912
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. Other receivables (continued) 5. ot e WK (48
Other receivables (continued) H M JEY K ()
2022 ==

Book balance

Bad debt provision

IRE &R EIRAEE
Percentage Provision Carrying
Amount (%) Amount rate (%) amount
54l FHRLL
©H (%) © (%) REEE
Provision for bad debt based on  EIEHEZREE
individual assessment 173,406 8.32 173,406 100.00 -
Provision for bad debt based on  #&R{EBEKREHES
collective assessment by credit  FHRERERE
risk portfolio 1,911,053 91.68 1,044 0.05 1,910,009
Total At 2,084,459 100.00 174,450 1,910,009

Other receivables with provision for bad debt based on BIRFH IR EREE HAMAEYGIERET ¢

individual assessment are shown as follows:

2023
—E=-=
Provision Provision
Book for rate
balance bad debt (%) Reason of provision
TR LB
BRTEBRER IR (%) FHREMR
Customer 1 BxE— 94,616 94,616 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
AR E
Customer 2 BEZ 78,790 78,790 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
AW E
Customer 3 ®BE= 1,387 1,387 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable
FE ST AW E
Total ast 174,793 174,793
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other receivables (continued)
Other receivables (continued)

Changes of provision for bad debt of other receivables based
on 12-month expected credit loss and lifetime expected credit

RMB’000
ARETTT

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

5. Lt WK ()
HfthfE K (HE)

H i fEU IR FR 1218 B TR B = Rk B (A
FEMEHERBERD BIFHER IR ERD

loss are as follows: FET -

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

F—RER FoRER E=EE

Lifetime Lifetime

expected expected

creditloss credit loss

12-month (no credit (credit

expected impairment impairment
credit loss incurred) incurred) Total

2EF B2EF

iR TS

KIR12{E A ERBX FRBX

BHER (RBEER EBREGAH
Bx AE) AE) &t
Opening balance FRREE 828 216 173,406 174,450
Changes in the year FUBBLEAFEBRER (289) 289 - -
Provision for the year REFHR 594 77 1,387 2,058
Reversal in the year AEFEE - - - -
Offset in the year AF G - - - -
Write-off in the year AEFIZE - - - -
Other changes Hth B &) - - - -
Closing balance FEREREE 1,133 582 174,793 176,508
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. Other receivables (continued)
Other receivables (continued)

Changes of provision for bad debt of other receivables are as

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

5. H fth P W =R (7)
E fth JEY K ()

Hip el FOR R E AR BN T

follows:
Provision Recovery
Opening for orreversal Write-off Closing
balance the year inthe year inthe year balance
AEWRE
FOHRE KEFR REE AERE  FRBE
Provision for bad debt of Hth JE U IR AR
other receivables 174,450 2,058 - - 176,508

In 2023, there was no recovery of provision for bad debt or
reversal of significant amounts or write off of significant trade

RIZ-=FE  BREEREFREREDS
HEBEMNNIE  BE2MHEMEEFZER

receivables. I8 o
As at 31 December 2023, other receivables of five greatest R_EBE-_=F+-A=+—8 EtEKR
amounts are as follows: SEAIARAT -
Proportion
to total Provision
other for bad debt
Closing receivables at the end of
balance (%) Nature Aging the year
R E A B
BESEH BRER
FRHBE  HHBI(%) HE il ERBR
Customer with the greatest amount 124,921 4.26  Equity transfer Over 3 years 125
Hib R SHEE — AP REEZR 3FEHUL
Customer with the second greatest 108,405 3.69 Others Within 1 year 108
amount
B BT HREE - AP Hith 1EURA
Customer with the third greatest amount 94,616 3.22 Transfer from prepayments Over 3 year 94,616
before shipment
BN SHEE AP RBERAHEA 3FLE
Customer with the fourth greatest amount 80,000 2.73 Deposits and security Within 1 year 80
HEitRUFHREENARRF RESRAS 1R
Customer with the fifth greatest amount 78,790 2.69 Transfer from prepayments 1-2 years 78,790

HitERFBBEEDAEP

before shipmen
ABERNREA 15226

486,732 16.59

173,719
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Prepayments 6. FET IR
Aging analysis of prepayments is as follows: BN FRIBERERI T ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
Book Book
balance Percentage balance  Percentage
FRERARE £ i AR #REE [ad ]
Within 1 year 1F LA 1,936,358 87.41% 7,982,477 97.07%
11to 2 years 1FEE2F 161,155 7.27% 168,177 2.04%
2to 3 years 2FFIF 93,240 4.21% 16,900 0.21%
Over 3 years 3FLLE 24,660 1.11% 56,013 0.68%
Total A&F 2,215,413 100.00% 8,223,567 100.00%
As at 31 December 2023, prepayments of five greatest RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8 ' BHKEAH
amounts total RMB360,458,000, accounting for 16.27% A HF ARMBES60,458F o0 - (BT IE
of the total closing balance of prepayments (2022: RSB LA R16.27% - (ZT——
RMB4,710,895,000, accounting for 57.29% of total FARY4,710,895F Jr - (H B BRFRAEEE
prepayments). #957.29%) °
Inventories 7. 7E
2023 2022
—E-CE —E-F
Provision Provision
Book for Carrying Book for Carrying
balance impairment amount balance  impairment amount
KEERE/ BEEE/
AREEAE REERE REEE REBE REER FEERE
Raw materials R R 15,395,809 583,550 14,812,259 17,462,766 204,714 17,258,052
Work in progress TEm 30,520,428 284,427 30,236,001 26,967,619 155,347 26,812,272
Finished goods ERFER 41,183,761 2,471,301 38,712,460 32,795,933 1,002,252 31,793,681
Circulating materials BEME 3,930,745 14,717 3,916,028 3,267,035 23841 3,243,194
91,030,743 3,353,995 87,676,748 80,493,353 1,386,154 79,107,199
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED B AHUBHRRTIEEEFTERGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
7. Inventories (continued) 7. FE@E
Changes of provision for inventory impairment are as follows: GFEREEHEZESHNT
2023 —E-=
Provision
Opening for Decrease Closing
balance the year in the year balance
FHRE RETHR RE D FRERER
Reversal or
write-off
o] o 8
Raw materials R 204,714 488,384 (109,548) 583,550
Work in progress FEmM 155,347 185,525 (56,445) 284,427
Finished goods EETF S 1,002,252 1,569,325 (100,276) 2,471,301
Circulating materials AEM R 23,841 9,663 (18,787) 14,717
Total A&t 1,386,154 2,252,897 (285,056) 3,353,995
The provision for inventory impairment based on collective RAAFHIRTFEREEENBFRET
assessment by portfolio is shown as follows:
2023 2022
—EB-CE —E-_—fF
Provision Provision
for  Provision for Provision
Book inventory rate Book inventory rate
balance impairment (%) balance  impairment (%)
TR SR
RESE  REEE (%) REHE - KEER (%)
Automobiles and related products, 5E + JTEIBRE R
and other products REMER 72,550,178 3,193,731 4.40% 63,829,788 1,231,083 1.93%
Raw materials AR 12,790,158 522,749 4.09% 15,372,998 119,342 0.78%
Work in progress EEM 26,421,256 278,631 1.05% 24,348,843 155,104 0.64%
Finished goods EFEm 30,188,518 2,378,365 7.88% 21,613,309 932,977 4.32%
Circulating materials BENH 3,150,246 13,986 0.44% 2,494,638 23,660 0.95%
Mobile handset components, Figa  BER
assembly service and HitER
other products 18,480,565 160,264 0.87% 16,663,565 155,071 0.93%
Total CE 91,030,743 3,353,995 3.68% 80493353 1,386,154 1.72%
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Inventories (continued) 7.

The provision for impairment of major goods in the segment of
automobiles and related products is recognised on the item-
by-item basis, and the net realisable value is determined on
the basis of estimated selling price. The net realisable value
of other inventories in the segment of automobiles and related
products and of the inventories of the segment of mobile
handset is estimated based on historical losses and business
risks, taking into account the risk of slow-moving inventory
and obsolete inventory, future market demands and the risk of
product iteration and project change as well as aging profile.
Based on the principle of prudence, the provision for inventory
impairment is recognised in full for inventories of the segment
of mobile handset aged over one year.

The reversal or write-off of provision for inventory impairment
in the year is attributable to rebound of prices of products or
sales of finished goods.

B % R AR MR

RMB’000
ARETTT

EHMBBRREIERETRE

FE(#)
AERAEEBEBTNEFERIZERT
BEBEAE UWHASERERETIZR
FE - B RTEREERTHEMEE
RFHEBFENELIBRBEREZER R R
RER  BEIRRAEGFERTIBRRR K
AREMHHR  EmERRERZERAR
ERBERD R EERFEN T #RFEE -
RIEEREEERA  HFEEBIFUL
EEROFERERRERERE -

AEBESHETEREERNREAES
716 1 o R G 2 B 5 AP A 77
e -

Contract assets 8. ERAEE
2023 2022

—EC-=E —To—fF

Provision Provision
Book for Carrying Book for Carrying
balance impairment amount balance  impairment amount
BEHE  AEERFE REEE RESKE  REEE  KEEE
Contract assets AREE 3,088,083 427,764 2,660,319 14,037,396 484,398 13,552,998

The main reason for the significant change in the carrying
amount of contract assets during the year: the rights to the
contract considerations to become unconditional (which means
that the contract assets are reclassified as trade receivables).

Contract assets represent the rights to receive considerations
for the transfer of goods to customers. Contract assets arise
when the fulfillment of performance obligations is earlier than
the progress payments agreed in the contract, which would be
transferred to trade receivables when the contract meets the
conditions for unconditional rights to receive payments.

AECRAEEREEEREEREFNTIE
RE : $ 5 R (E R B & R
(Bl aREEEDEREUR -

AREE  RECECRATPEEMRNA
BEDEENRET - BEORBNETERS
RPHENNTEENEHREAREE  #
B Rl B B SR R IR IS - A RUR

o
N
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

8. Contract assets (continued) 8. ERAEEE
2023 —EBCZ=HF
Book balance Provision for impairment
BREEATE HEEE
Provision
Percentage rate Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
Al sHiz LBl
£ ] (%) E2-] (%) IREEE
Provision for impairment based ~ EBHEREER
on individual assessment 304,603 9.86 304,603 100.00 -
Provision for impairment based & {5 BEBRFEES
on collective assessment by SHEREEE
credit risk portfolio 2,783,480 90.14 123,161 4.42 2,660,319
Total &t 3,088,083 100.00 427,764 2,660,319
2022 —E-—F
Book balance Provision for impairment
BRESREE HEER
Provision
Percentage rate Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
4] FHREL
k| (%) ok (%) REEE
Provision for impairment based &R {ERER AL
on collective assessment by RAEERE
credit risk portfolio 14,037,396 100.00 484,398 3.45 13,552,998
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Contract assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, contract assets with provision for

impairment based on individual

assessment are as follows:

H -

B % R AR MR

RMB’000
ARETT

EHMBBRREIERETRE

BEREE(E

RBo=F+ZA=1+—R - BEHRA
EEBHSREENRMT -

2023
—EB-=HF
Provision Provision
Book for rate
balance impairment (%) Reason of provision
IRESREE HEEE FHREAI(%) FTRER
Customer 1 BE— 304,603 304,603 100.00 Expected to be unrecoverable

R EERE

The movements of provision for impairment of contract assets

are as follows:

BREEREEFENZSNT

Provision Reversal Write-off
Opening for in in Closing
balance the year the year the year balance
FHHRE AFHR AFEED XFFEE FRHE
2023 —E-=F 484,398 354,490 (411,124) - 427,764
2022 - 345,591 187,390 (48,583) - 484,398

In 2023 and 2022, there were no significant reversal, write-off
or recovery of provision for impairment of contract assets.

RIBEZ=FERZT__FF BEKRAE
EEEREBEERER - W EER -
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED B AHUBHRRTIEEEFTERGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
9. Other current assets 9. Hit e EE
2023 2022
—EB-=5F —F-—
Deductible VAT NG ER 12,034,922 11,258,125
Costs of property held for sale (Note 1) FHEFERAGE) 1,131,047 1,405,854
Others EA 48,833 472,222
13,214,802 13,136,201
Note 1: In 2017, the Group acquired the entire property that g1 ZTE—tEFAEBRE=-HREEER
has been completely developed, Yadi Sancun, from a BARTARAENEE(RE=F) - K
third-party developer. Some parts of the property have FEDTHRN - BREXEWASER
been delivered in the year and generate revenue of ARMB271,476F (=T =2F : AR
RMB271,476,000 (2022: RMB549,096,000). #549,096F JT) °
10. Long-term receivables 10. FRHIEWRRK
2023 2022
k- Sy -3 —E-CE
Provision Provision
Book for Carrying Book for Carrying Range of
balance bad debt amount balance bad debt amount  discount rate
REGE BRER RHEEE RESE RERER FHEE MHRXER
Long-term receivables  FHIME4F 16,891,529  1,144988 15746541 2,593,603 422404 2,171,199
Including: Long-term Hep o —FR3H
receivables due within MR BEKR
one year 8,503,329 994,978 7,508,351 1,441,914 389,352 1,052,562
8,388,200 150,010 8,238,190 1,151,689 33,052 1,118,637  4.75%-4.90%
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. Long-term receivables (continued) 10. RHEEVRRE
2023 —E-=HF
Book balance Provision for bad debt
BRI RREE RIRES
Provision
Percentage rate Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
dt]] sTiZLL 4l
S8 (%) -] (%) IREEE
Provision for bad debt based on  #R{E AERFEHAS
collective assessment by credit  FHEZIRERE
risk portfolio 16,891,529 100.00 1,144,988 6.78 15,746,541
2022 =2
Book balance Provision for bad debt
REMEE BERER
Provision
Percentage rate Carrying
Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
el FHRELBI
k-] (%) G- (%) REEE

Provision for bad debt based on &1z AR IEEIHEE
collective assessment by credit  FHEZIRERE
risk portfolio 2,593,603 100.00 422,404 16.29 2,171,199
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. Long-term receivables (continued) 10. RHEEVRRE
As at 31 December 2023, long-term receivables with provision R-ZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—08 - HEHRE
for bad debt based on collective assessment are shown as REGNRBEYGFERNAT
follows:

Provision for  Provision rate

Book balance impairment (%)
IREBREE WEEE STHR LB (%)
Portfolio 1 HEA 15,040,206 212,249 1.41
Portfolio 2 Ha2 1,851,323 932,739 50.38
Total a&t 16,891,529 1,144,988
Changes of provision for bad debt of long-term receivables are REEWCGIZREFENZ g T -
as follows:
Exchange
difference on
Provision foreign
Opening for Reversal in Write-off currency Closing
balance the year theyear intheyear translation balance
SN R
FNHE REGR AEHEE rEEH NHER ERBE
2023 —E-ZF 33,052 131,946 (14,988) - - 150,010

2022 i S 41,331 19,301 (27,580) - - 33,052
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Long-term equity investments 1. REORERE
31 December 2023 —E-=%+=A=+—H
Movement during the year
3 1)
Investment Provision for
gains Other Other Cash  Provision impairment
Opening  Increase of Decrease of under equity comprehensive equity dividend for Closing as at the end
Joint ventures balance investment  investment method income  movement  declared  impairment balance  of the year
B&AET it At E% FE £X
RELE FN0E  EMRE  HORE  RELE GRME  BE%®  RERM  MEEE  FRBE  EER
BYD Auto Finance Company Limited 8,845,381 - - 1,085,362 - - - - 9,930,743 -
HERTEERARAT
Hengaqin Hexie Dingtai Equity
Investment LP 764,113 - - 3,193 - - - - 767,306 -
EEMERRRERELE
(BBA%)
Community Fund LP 546,009 - - (18,276) - - - - 527,733 -
Community Fund LP
Shenzhen Didi New Energy Vehicle
Technology Co., Ltd 33,743 389,581 - 28,530 - - - - 451,854 -
R BT R TR
ERAT
Other joint ventures 1,095,317 75,542 - (105,982) - - - - 1,064,877 -
Eftagts
Sub-total 11,284,563 465,123 - 992,827 - - - - 12742513 -

et
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED - EOHUMBBRRTEHEEZTERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
11.  Long-term equity investments (continued) 11. RERERZE
31 December 2023 —E-=%+=A=+—H
Movement during the year
3 1)
Investment Provision for
gains Other Other Cash  Provision impairment
Opening  Increase of Decrease of under equity comprehensive equity dividend for Closing as at the end
Associates balance investment  investment method income  movement  declared  impairment balance  of the year
BHAET ft A B% HE EX £x
Beds FORE  ENMRE  HSRE  REME Gahs  EEE®  RERA BERR BE  HEER
Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd. 2,000,000 - - 65,120 - - (30,310) = 2,034,810 -
B EERNERAR
Tibet Zabuye Lithium Industry
Co, Lid. 524,804 - - 64,727 - - (105,027) - 484,504 -
ERAEARRIE R
ERAT
Shenzhen Faurecia Auto Parts Co.,
Ltd. 314,168 - - 155,564 - - - - 469,732 -
MIGETERHERAA
Carbon One New Energy Group
Co., Ltd. 298,089 - - (10,123) - - - - 287,966 -
B REEARELAR
Other associates 1,063,778 640,973 (90,342) 27,812 - 12,911 (27,445) - 1,627,687 -
Eftiets
Sub-total 4,200,839 640,973 (90,342) 303,100 - 12911 (162,782) - 4,904,699 -
5
Total 15,485,402 1,106,096 (90,342) 1,295,927 - 12911 (162,782) - 17647212 -
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Other equity instrument investments 12. HtERIARE
2023 2022
—EB-=5F —F-—
Listed equity instrument investments ST ERE 2,347,727 1,325,441
Unlisted equity instrument investments ErmESZTAKRE 2,979,556 3,093,143
Total aFt 5,327,283 4,418,584
Accumulative
Gains included Losses included  Accumulative losses
in other in other  gains included included Reason for being designated
comprehensive  comprehensive in other in other Dividend  as measured at fair value
income income comprehensive  comprehensive income  through other comprehensive
during the year  during the year income income  during the year  income
KEFARM  AFHAHE  REEARM  REFAEM EEANAAEEFEAEET
GANBNAE HKAKENEX HAUBENAE KAKENEX  FERAKA FAHBGEKENRE
Listed equity instrument
investment 120,591 (342,319) 1,045,534 (754,754) 18,682  Strategic holding
TTESTARE BESE
Unlisted equity
instrument
investments 442,854 (230) 1,067,625 - 863  Strategic holding
FImERTARE b 2]
Total 563,445 (342,549) 2,113,159 (754,754) 19,545
ast

There were no other equity instruments derecognised during REEELBANEMMERTA -

the year.
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13.  Other non-current financial assets 13. HitERBEMEE
2023 2022
—E_=F —F-—
Financial assets at fair value through AAREEFEAHEHTA
profit or loss EEENEREE 2,696,374 2,147,140
The financial assets above include fund investments and other LileMEERRESREMEMARER
equity investments. & o
14.  Investment properties 14. REMEHE
Subsequent measurement using the cost model: FRARAE RN EITRET S -
31 December 2023 —E_=H+ZA=+—H
Buildings
EEEEY
Cost [R{E
Opening balance FHE 115,346
Closing balance FRE 115,346
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation ZETTEME
Opening balance FHE 30,341
Provision TR 2,495
Closing balance FRE 32,836
Carrying amount FREBE
Closing balance FRE 82,510

Opening balance FH 85,005
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Investment properties (continued)

31 December 2022
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- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

14. REMEHMEE)
-+ -A=+—H

Buildings
FEEREY
Cost RE
Opening balance FH 115,346
Closing balance FRHY 115,346
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation RETTEREH
Opening balance FE 27,846
Provision TR 2,495
Closing balance FRE 30,341
Carrying amount FREEE
Closing balance FERH 85,005
Opening balance FHE 87,500
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
15.  Fixed assets 15. EBEEEE
2023 —E2-=
Machinery Office
Freehold and Motor  and other
land  Buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
XA BER BAR
EELH BEY  HEXE 2 ERIA Hitn% s &t
Cost [R{E
Opening balance FHE 369,873 42,950,462 128,609,415 2,885,741 19,219,159 194,034,650
Acquisitions BE 47,558 1,472,228 48,115,450 2,808,406 6,250,995 58,694,637
Business combinations not ER—EH T %
involving entities under Gl
common control - - 3,215,996 7,382 129,366 3,352,744
Transfer from construction in EERIREA
progress - 39,611,447 33,541,394 - 3,046,045 76,198,886
Disposal or retirement BE R - (98,076)  (6,190,093) (609,095) (396,600) (7,293,864)
Exchange difference on foreign ~ SNERRINTEZESE
currency translation 10,241 17,538 21,668 31,961 5,549 86,957
Closing balance FERBE 427,672 83,953,599 207,313,830 5,124,395 28,254,514 325,074,010
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
Opening balance FgE - 6,038,464 45,563,276 1,271,329 9,161,879 62,034,948
Provision SR - 2,358,059 29,993,488 597,024 4,766,833 37,715,404
Disposal or retirement BN = (14,835) (5,108,036)  (246,243)  (357,164) (5,726,278)
Exchange difference on foreign ~ SMNERRIFTE=Z%E
currency translation - 4,620 7,979 17,808 2,339 32,746
Closing balance FRHE - 8,386,308 70,456,707 1,639,918 13,573,887 94,056,820
Provision for impairment AEEE
Opening balance FHE = 42,353 76,980 = = 119,333
Write-off B = = (5,963) = = (5,963)
Closing balance FARBE = 42,353 71,017 = = 113,370
Carrying amount EEER
As at the end of the year X 427,672 75,524,938 136,786,106 3,484,477 14,680,627 230,903,820
As at the beginning of the year F1) 369,873 36,869,645 82,969,159 1,614,412 10,057,280 131,880,369
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
15.  Fixed assets (continued) 15. RBEEEEHE)
2022 —_F-—
Machinery Office
Freehold and Motor and other
land Buildings  equipment vehicles  equipment Total
KA FER /N
XL BEY  KERE  ERIE AMRE CE
Cost [R{E
Opening balance FHE 38,544 24,806,540 71,406,280 2,013,684 14,196,592 112,461,640
Acquisitions BE 306,324 2,235,241 39,073,979 1,079,939 4,571,354 47,266,837
Transfer from construction in EEIREA
progress - 16,116,055 21,879,554 80 1,022,497 39,018,186
Disposal or retirement RE R - (207,845)  (3,760,127)  (239,676)  (576,352) (4,784,000)
Exchange difference on foreign ~ SNERRINEZE
currency translation 25,005 471 9,729 31,714 5,068 71,987
Closing balance FARBE 369,873 42,950,462 128,609,415 2,885,741 19,219,159 194,034,650
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
Opening balance FMHE - 5001436 37,784908 1018218 7316296 51,120,858
Provision BE3 - 1,094,715 10,796,838 372,285 2,338,628 14,602,466
Disposal or retirement B kR - (60,227) (3,023,871)  (131,104)  (495410) (3,710,612
Exchange difference on foreign ~ SMNEBRRIFTE=Z%R
currency translation - 2,540 5,401 11,930 2,365 22,236
Closing balance FARBE - 6,038464 45563276 1,271,329 9,161,879 62,034,948
Provision for impairment EEE
Opening balance FUHE - 42,353 77,064 - - 119,417
Write-off [E5] - - (84) - - (84)
Closing balance FARBE - 42,353 76,980 - - 119,333
Carrying amount EEER
As at the end of the year FR 369,873 36,869,645 82,969,159 1,614,412 10,057,280 131,880,369
As at the beginning of the year F1 38,544 19,762,751 33,544,308 995,466 6,880,296 61,221,365
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED - EOHUMBBRRTEHEEZTERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
15.  Fixed assets (continued) 15. EBEEEEE
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group RZEBZ=F+-A=+—HRZ=ZZT==
had no fixed assets that were temporarily idle. +ZA=+—8  AEBEEEHRENEE
BEE ©
Fixed assets leased out through operating leases are as LEEHALEEEENT
follows:
Initial Accumulated Net carrying
asset value depreciation amount
BERE RETieE BREFHE
Buildings B EREEY 377,902 (102,433) 275,469
Motor vehicles EHTH 68,596 (27,943) 40,653
Total a5t 446,498 (130,376) 316,122
As at 31 December 2023, the fixed assets with outstanding RZBZ=F+-A=+—H AW LERE
certificates of title are as follows: BEWNETEENT :
Carrying
amount Reasons for outstanding certificates of title
REEE RHZERIENRE
Buildings 29,491,245  All procedures yet to be completed
FEREEY AR E FE
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED i EMEBRRFTZEEFEGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Construction in progress 16. HEEIR
2023 2022
—E_=F —ZE-=
Construction in progress FEIR 30,360,803 37,259,224
Materials for construction TREYE 4,365,393 7,362,711
Total &5t 34,726,196 44,621,935
Construction in progress T2
2023 2022
—EBC-=E —E-CF
Provision Provision
Book for Carrying Book for Carrying
balance impairment amount balance  impairment amount
REHE  RAEEE REEE REHE REEE  KAEEE
Southern China Industrial Park ~ EFT¥E 8,200,424 - 8,200,424 11,491,602 - 11,491,602
Eastern China Industrial Park FRTERE 7,639,814 - 7,639,814 9,030,220 - 9,030,220
Northwest Industrial Park iiplE S 4,335,564 - 4,335,564 6,098,192 - 6,098,192
Central China Industrial Park EhTEE 4,196,112 - 419,112 5612315 - 5612315
Southwest Industrial Park AUTER 3,915,351 - 3,915,351 4,537,936 - 4,537,936
Other industrial parks HEWT%R 2,073,538 - 2,073,538 488,959 - 488,959
Total Al 30,360,803 - 30,360,803 37,259,224 - 37,259,224

Note: The projects above consist of certain related sub-projects.

i AETRREEHMETHEBNSERAE

X o
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED h -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EHMBBRREIERETRE

16.  Construction in progress (continued) 16. HEEIR@E
Construction in progress (continued) FETIZ(E)
Changes in major construction in progress are as follows: SETRIEZEHOT
Business Construction
combinations contribution
not involving Transfer to asa
Increases entitiesunder  fixed assets percentage
Opening during common during Other Closing of budget
ltem Budget balance the year control theyear  reduction balance  Source of funds (%)
IBRA
FE-2HT AFEA HRGELA
HEER RE®  FOBR 1EEM fi35 BEEE  EtHY  FARE  HERR (%)
Southern China Industrial Park 43262646 11491602 15,653,144 - (18,926,143) (18179) 8200424  Self-raised funds 63%
EWTXE gE4%
Eastern China Industrial Park 43161322 9030220 22,046,467 24,366 (23,461,259) - 7639814 Selfraised funds 2%
EXTXE L
Northwest Industrial Park 27,986,533 6,098,192 1344632 - (15,208,953) - 4335564 Borrowings and self-raised 70%
AL IZE funds
EEYGE
Central China Industrial Park 22,356,147 5612315 11425366 - (12,839,854) (1,715) 4196112  Borowings and self-raised 76%
ELE| funds
EEYGE
Southwest Industrial Park 11,627,949 4,537,936 4652527 95,081 (5,370,193) - 3915351 Self-raised funds 80%
AHIXE EEEE
Other industrial parks 5,177,043 488,959 1,977,063 - (392,484) - 2073538 Self-raised funds 48%
TR L6
163571640 37,259.224 69,200,912 119,447 (76,198,886) (19.894) 30,360,803

As at 31 December 2023, the capitalised interests on
borrowings included in the construction in progress of the
Group were RMB802,000 in total.

R-TE-=F+-"F=+—08  KNEBHEZ
IRPEENERERAEERLSEAR
AR¥802F T °
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17.

Construction in progress (continued) 16. HEEIEE)
Materials for construction TEWE
2023 2022
—B-=F S
Provision Provision
Book for Carrying Book for Carrying
balance impairment amount balance  impairment amount
ltem HE RESE  AEEE REEE HFEXE  ORAEERE  REEA
Equipment and engineering RERIREE 4,365,393 - 4365393 7,362,711 - 7,362,711
Right-of-use assets 17. EARAE
31 December 2023 ~¥=-=%+t=A=t-H
Other
Buildings equipment Total
EER
EZEY Hih e &5t
Cost RE
Opening balance FHIRRTE 4,069,667 40,877 4,110,544
Increase during the year AN 3,567,422 3,567,499 7,134,921
Business combinations not involving  JERE—2 4 T EA B
entities under common control 981,590 10,175 991,765
Disposal or retirement BB o R EE (413,265) (8,414) (421,679)
Exchange difference on foreign SNEERRRITE ZH
currency translation 15,306 454 15,760
Closing balance FRERTE 8,220,720 3,610,591 11,831,311
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE
Opening balance FHIRE 955,397 17,820 973,217
Provision FTHR 1,252,140 138,358 1,390,498
Disposal or retirement e B ok R EE (223,090) (7,219) (230,309)
Exchange difference on foreign INERERITHERE
currency translation 18,611 338 18,949
Closing balance FRERER 2,003,058 149,297 2,152,355
Carrying amount BRHEEE
As at the end of the year FR 6,217,662 3,461,294 9,678,956
As at the beginning of the year F1 3,114,270 23,057 3,137,327
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

31 December 2022

H -

17.

EHMBBRREIERETRE

ERAEEE (&)
-+ -A=+—H

Other
Buildings equipment Total
EE R
EEY Hithzk s a5
Cost JR1E
Opening balance FHIRREE 2,015,575 29,090 2,044,665
Increase during the year NSRS 5 2,177,574 11,856 2,189,430
Disposal or retirement HNE 2 HR R (142,376) (249) (142,625)
Exchange difference on foreign INERERITE =R
currency translation 18,894 180 19,074
Closing balance FRHBE 4,069,667 40,877 4,110,544
Accumulated depreciation REE
Opening balance FHIREE 463,278 8,155 471,433
Provision FTie 574,409 9,818 584,227
Disposal or retirement INE SRR (89,133) (248) (89,381)
Exchange difference on INERERITH Z R
foreign currency translation 6,843 95 6,938
Closing balance FRERTE 955,397 17,820 973,217
Carrying amount RMEEE
As at the end of the year FAR 3,114,270 23,057 3,137,327
As at the beginning of the year F9) 1,552,297 20,935 1,573,232
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. Intangible assets 18. B EE
31 December 2023 —E-=F+=HA=+-—H
Industrial
proprietary Non-

rights and patentable
Landuse  technology technologies Customer

rights know-how and software relations Total
TEEER =7
+ it 55 EERMN  BRWREY4 EFBf% &t
Cost RE
Opening balance EEGE 19,766,634 22,272,893 1,608,693 - 43,648,220
Acquisitions BE 11,262,234 3,056 805,782 - 12,071,072
In-house R&D N LA 2 - 1,484,798 - - 1,484,798
Business combinations not involving ~ JERI—12#I TR £ A H#
entities under common control 3,664 - 17,359 4,608,955 4,629,978
Disposal RE - (418,854) (19,386) - (438,240)
Exchange difference on foreign INERRTEER
currency translation 1,966 41 302 - 2,689
Closing balance FRHE 31,034,498 23,342,314 2,412,750 4,608,955 61,398,517
Accumulated amortisation 2B
Opening balance FHE 1,776,782 17,308,702 952,078 - 20,037,562
Provision for the year KEFHR 608,873 3,215,093 350,209 = 4,174,175
Decrease during the year KERD = (416,862) (19,287) = (436,149)
Exchange difference on foreign INERENEER
currency translation (56) 2 253 - 199
Closing balance FRHBE 2,385599 20,106,935 1,283,253 - 23,775,787
Impairment provision REERE
Opening balance FENHE = 387,161 = = 387,161
Provision for the year REFR - - - - -
Decrease during the year KERD = (692) = = (692)
Closing balance FRHE = 386,469 = = 386,469
Carrying amount EHER
As at the end of the year FX 28,648,899 2,848,910 1,129,497 4,608,955 37,236,261

As at the beginning of the year F1 17,989,852 4,577,030 656,615 - 23,223,497
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
18.  Intangible assets (continued) 18. BREEEE)
31 December 2022 -+ -A=+—H
Industrial
proprietary Non-
rights and patentable
Land use technology  technologies
rights know-how  and software Total
IXERK FER|
TibfE A BEERM  BTREM CH
Cost RE
Opening balance FUBE 11,122,222 20,098,605 1,165,676 32,386,503
Acquisitions BE 8,635,975 12,797 482,843 9,131,615
In-house R&D PEPH B - 2,168,766 2,168,766
Disposal RE - (7,682) (39,828) (47,510)
Exchange difference on foreign currency WNERRNEZEE
translation 8,437 407 2 8,846
Closing balance FREAE 19,766,634 22,272,893 1,608,693 43,648,220
Accumulated amortisation ZETEH
Opening balance FHBRE 1,462,151 12,756,648 767,189 14,985,988
Provision for the year KEHR 314,671 4,559,735 224,825 5,099,231
Decrease during the year KERD - (7,682) (39,828) (47,510
Exchange difference on foreign currency WEREMEER
translation (40) 1 (108) (147)
Closing balance FREAE 1,776,782 17,308,702 952,078 20,037,562
Impairment provision AEEE
Opening balance FOBE - 295,573 - 295,573
Provision for the year AEFIE - 91,588 - 91,588
Closing balance FARBE - 387,161 - 387,161
Carrying amount REERE
As at the end of the year FR 17,989,852 4,577,030 656,615 23,223,497
As at the beginning of the year F1 9,660,071 7,046,384 398,487 17,104,942
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED a1
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (continued) 18.

As at 31 December 2023, intangible assets formed through
in-house R&D accounted for 7.59% of the carrying amount of
intangible assets as at the end of the period.

As at 31 December 2023, the intangible assets with
outstanding certificates of title are as follows :

31 December
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EHMBBRREIERETRE

BIVEE

RZBE-_=F+-A=+—H  BHBANIH
BN EREEGEVEERAREREE
LB A7.59% ©

NZBZ=F+-RA=+—08 KZE®E
EFENEVEENT -

Reasons for outstanding

Item 2023 certificates of title
—_=E-=
bi=g=] TZA=+t—H XNREERIENRE
Carrying
amount
REEE
Land use rights 374,881 In progress
T AR e 3eihes)

The Group conducted impairment tests on some intangible
assets allocated to the automobiles and related products and
other products segment, and concluded that the recoverable
amounts which were determined based on the present value
of expected future cash flows were higher than the carrying
amounts of the asset group. Therefore, no further impairment
provision was required for the year.

AEBEHEERIE AERBEERNMEM
Emo R B0 B EENTT TRERH
REFARBASRENRERENT KD S
BERRNEEMANEEER AURAFEES
#E—EHEREREE -
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19.

NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

Goodwill 19. B2
Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance
FHHRE A AR N REHD FRBRE
Business
combinations
not involving
entities under
common
control
FEE—2ET
ESH
BYD Auto Co., Ltd. bR EBR AR 63,399 - - 63,399
BYD Electric Buses & Trucks LtipilEE)AEFE
Hungary Co., Ltd. & ZF R B R A A 4,875 = = 4,875
TATEBAYASHI MOULDING  fEME Bk X &4t
CO.,, LTD. 7,311 - - 7,311
Juno Newco (note) Juno Newco(3%) = 4,361,657 = 4,361,657
75,585 4,361,657 - 4,437,242
Impairment provision for (SR
goodwill (9,671) - (9,671)
Total &t 65,914 4,361,657 = 4,427,571
Changes of impairment provision for goodwill are as follows: FEERBEEENEFHNT
Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance
FHRE AREE N RERD FREBRE
BYD Auto Co., Ltd. bR ERR AR 4,796 - - 4,796
BYD Electric Buses & Trucks ttIr:@E I AE/FRE
Hungary Co., Ltd. & ZF 7B R A A 4,875 = = 4,875
Total &t 9,671 = = 9,671
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Goodwill (continued)

Note: On 29 December 2023, the Group completed the
acquisition of the 100% equity interests in Juno Singapore
Target Newco Target Holdco Singapore Pte. Ltd and its
subsidiaries (*Juno Newco”), which acquired goodwill
of RMB4,361,657,000. For details, please refer to note
VII. “Business combinations not involving entities under
common control”.

Relevant information of the CGU or the CGU group to
which goodwill belongs is set out below:

Composition and basis of the CGU or

H -

19. BHE#E)

RMB’000
ARETT

EHMBBRREIERETRE

#: “E-=#t-A-tAR FEER
AU Juno Singapore Target Newco
Target Holdco Singapore Pte. Ltd & &
F A AIHI100%%# ([Juno Newcol) -
R EE AREA,361,657TF T ° ¥ R
Misrt - FER—1EH T REEH -

BEMAEEAREEMAMAANERE

BT

Whether
consistent with

the CGU group Business segment and basis previous year
FEEEAREES REENA
BENBR R &S FERE D BREE FERE-3
Juno Newco The mobility business which manufactures precision  The asset group is allocated to N/A
structural components for mobile intelligent the mobile handset components,
terminals, the cash inflows from which are assembly service and other
basically independent of those from other assets products segment based on
or asset groups its principal business and the
management planning of the Group
Juno Newco BOERSHREEBIOBHEFREREY B EREILEBREEER TEA

HRERABA LBUNEMEELEEELES
BRERA

The recoverable amount is determined by the present value of
expected future cash flows:

Carrying
amount

FHEE

RE ZEEARENTH
BB EEREMERDH

#
Term of
estimate/
Recoverable forecast  Key parameters of estimate/ Key parameters of
amount  Impairment period  forecast period stable period
8
THELE  AESE EASNER  RE/BAEOEESY BranEnsy

AlEEBEEHARBSRENRERTE

Basis for determination of key
parameters of stable period

BESNERAUNOBTRE

Juno Newco 14,436,338

Juno Newco

15,366,296 - 5 Therecoverable amount is

Forecast period growth rate of

determined using the present 2.40%~5.01%
value of the future cash flows Discount rate of 11.95%

Terminal growth rate of 2.3%

NS BRRARBEREN  BUHERE240%-501%

BEE

MAE1 Q%K EERR2I%

Estimated cash flow is based on
the 5-year cash flow projection
approved by the management of
the Company

EiReRERELATESE
BHMSERERERHAER
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

Other Goodwill acquired as a result of corporate merger has
been allocated to the following asset groups for the purpose of
impairment testing:

As the synergistic benefits of the acquisitions of BYD Auto Co.,
Ltd., BYD Electric Buses & Trucks Hungary Co., Ltd. (Fb583 e
B A E8R & 6 5 AR A F) and TATEBAYASHI MOULDING
CO., LTD. (feMR A#kX @ 4L) are for the entire automobile
and related products segment and are difficult to apportion to
each asset group, so goodwill is apportioned to the automobile
and related products asset group, and the composition of
the asset group remains consistent with that in previous
years. The carrying amount of goodwill of the automobile
and related products asset group is RMB65,914,000 (2022:
RMB65,914,000). The recoverable amount is determined
using the present value of the estimated future cash flows of
the asset group mix based on cash flow projections based
on the financial budget approved by management for a five-
year period. The growth rate of cash flows over the period is
4%. The discount rate used for the cash flow projections is
13% (2022: 13%) and the growth rate used to extrapolate the
steady-period cash flows for automobiles and related products
beyond the five-year period is 3% (2022: 3%). Such growth
rate is lower than the long-term average growth rate for the
automotive industry.

The following illustrates the key assumptions made by
management in determining the cash flow projections for the
purpose of impairment testing of goodwiill:

Revenue growth rate — Management determined the revenue
growth rate for the five-year detailed forecast period based on
historical experience and projections of market developments.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis of determination is based
on the average gross margins achieved in the year prior to
the budget year, with an appropriate increase in that average
gross margins based on expected efficiency improvements
and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects specific risks of the relevant asset groups.

The amounts allocated to the key assumptions for the above
asset groups are consistent with the Group’s historical
experience and external information.

19.

EHMBBRREIERETRE
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Long-term deferred expenditures 20. REGHEEA
Business
combinations
not involving
Increase entities under
Opening during  Amortisation Other  common control Closing
balance the year for the year reduction of subsidiaries balance
FE—EHT
EO8E RELM REHH AttES LEAH ERBE
Improvement costs of right- ~ FFEZ EMHR
of-use assets it 458,108 1,404,321 (270,147 (14,377) 2,484,624 4,062,529

Deferred tax assets/liabilities

21. EEFBHEE &E

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, which are not RIECEHEHBELEFBREENELEMSHA
offset: & :
2023 2022
—BC=F% —EoCfF
Deductible Deductible
temporary Deferred temporary Deferred
differences tax assets  differences tax assets
AT i3 AIEH i
TRUER FSHEE ERMEE  FGEREE
Deferred tax assets ERFEHEE
Impairment provision B 4,710,969 731,296 2,448,189 363,333
Depreciation of fixed assets and EBTEENE BVEESE
amortisation of intangible assets 14,665,192 2,455,294 8,238,693 1,301,145
Lease liabilities HEBRE 10,341,223 2,291,609 3,311,335 767,476
Accruals and provisions BRRERNEGAE 26,767,001 4,582,623 12,082,266 2,021,083
Deferred income B 1,943,028 332,343 1,058,152 155,276
Deductible tax losses AEEE 5,314,928 930,754 8,458,435 1,380,958
Unrealised gains from intra-group REEEARZHHRERRH
transactions 9,352,061 1,485,358 5,431,428 860,411
Share-based payments Befn 2 A+ 766,968 116,574 - -
Others Hith 69,158 7,272 33,673 4,714
Total At 73,930,528 12,933,123 41,062,171 6,854,396
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. Deferred tax assets/liabilities (continued) 21. EEFRBSHEE AEGE
2023 2022
—E_=E —E-F
Taxable Taxable
temporary Deferred temporary Deferred
differences tax liabilities differences  tax liabilities
TRUERE FEHERE ENMEE  FETHAE
Deferred tax liabilities EEMEHAR
Other equity instrument investments HiBERsTARE 1,329,878 331,913 1,111,469 277,868
Depreciation of fixed assets EFEEENE 34,255,562 6,641,157 22,082,761 4,068,430
Right-of-use assets FREEE 9,678,956 2,274,947 3,137,327 745911
Financial assets at fair value through NREEZE; A HERD
profit or loss TREE 688,770 149,240 419,518 62,928
Appreciation in asset value arising from FER—ZHTREAHE
business combinations not involving KA ERE
entities under common control 4,656,579 767,621 - -
Dividend distribution PR B 1,216,622 121,662 185,430 18,543
Others Hith 84,775 12,997 82,276 12,341
51,911,142 10,299,537 27,018,781 5,186,021
The net amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax RIEFMBHEEMBELEFSHaEAKEE
liabilities after set-off: HFRESIR -
2023 2022
—E-=& —E-CF
Amount of Balance Amount of Balance
set-off after set-off set-off  after set-off
BHEEE HHEEHE e  HERBE
Deferred tax assets EEFEREE 6,348,701 6,584,422 3,167,491 3,686,905
Deferred tax liabilities BEFMEHAR 6,348,701 3,950,836 3,167,491 2,018,530
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets/liabilities (continued) 21. EEFMEHEE AEE
Deductible temporary differences and deductible tax losses for RERELEMSHEEN RN EER
which deferred tax assets have not been recognised: MATEIEEET
2023 2022
—E== —F-—
Deductible temporary differences AENEREER 23,444,590 12,272,767
Deductible tax losses A NEE 21,003,128 8,406,914

44,447,718 20,679,681

Deductible tax losses for which deferred tax assets have not AERIELEFTEFHE ER A EINEIE SR A
been recognised are to expire in the following years: TEEEIE -

2023 2022

—E=-= —ET-—F

2023 —EC-=F - 691,920

2024 —EOF 532,375 1,622,151

2025 —E-RF 662,170 862,859

2026 —EREF 430,659 1,350,526

2027 and afterwards “E-LFERE 19,377,924 3,879,458

21,003,128 8,406,914
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets/liabilities (continued)

The Group does not recognise deferred tax assets for the
above tax losses as it is not probable that the relevant
companies generating the above losses will be profitable in the
future and there are no gains sufficient to offset the losses.

The Group recognises deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable income will be available against which
deductible temporary differences and deductible tax losses
can be utilized in future periods, calculated at the tax rates
applicable to the periods during which the assets are expected
to be recovered or the liabilities are expected to be settled.

According to the provisions of the Enterprise Income Tax
Law of the People’s Republic of China and its implementation
regulations, dividends received by foreign investors from
foreign-invested enterprises established in Mainland China will
be subject to withholding income tax at a rate of 10% from 1
January 2008. The provision applies to profits received from 1
January 2008 onwards. A lower rate of withholding income tax
may be applied if a tax treaty is in place between the PRC and
the jurisdiction of such foreign investor. The Group is subject
to withholding income tax on dividends paid on profits derived
from certain subsidiaries established in Mainland China from 1
January 2008.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has recognised
RMB121,662,000 of deferred tax liabilities (2022:
RMB18,543,000) in respect of the earning expected to be
remitted by certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable future.
Based on a number of factors including the management’s
estimation of the need for funds outside the PRC, the Group
has not provided for withholding income tax in respect of
earnings that were expected to be retained by the PRC
subsidiaries and would not be remitted to foreign investors in
the foreseeable future.

H -

21.

EHMBBRREIERETRE

ELFEHEE BEE

MREL B ERMNER AR B ERRE
FME AT BEMEEUE - NEER R REMEIRN
EF - AEBEI RS a5 B8 iR
PISMEE °

7R R [ DA K 2R H 1R A] BE RIS 69 A LA 40 AT
AN 1 2= RN R H B IR B E AP 1S
BAR  RBAHWEZEENFEZRE
HREERNE G EERH A ENERT
ZRELNRERSHEE -

RIB(PEARAMBEEMGSHE) KR
ERGEONERE  —TTNF-A—HE -
BIMREERPBERER NI EREDE
EBHR B EER10% KB R BUTEIR 15
B ZREBERRE_EZENF—A—HE
SRR o fiEhBEEZRIMEEEN T
FEERFBR] T HWIHE - IR EERARK
BRAMEHBRE - REBEAR T B AR
WELFRRIE _ZENF-A-BREE
B A U 3% RO BB TRER PRS2

RoBE-=F+-"A=+—H A&EEzE
FTETHB A RN A T8 R A& TG E & 2 F
BRABNELEMEHAEBAREK121,662
Fr(ZZ=—=F : AR¥18,543FJT) - 1B
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HREZE  AEETERBEHAPBEKNEQF
RBAETERAIERRRELEINEEEN
BFBEBIRAEH -
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Other non-current assets 22. HthERBEE
2023 2022
—E-=§ —E-fF
Provision Provision
Book for Carrying Book for Carrying
balance impairment amount balance  impairment amount
BREERER REEE RHEHEE R REER REEE
Guarantee deposits B RESR
receivable 179,639 - 179,639 355,369 - 355,369
Prepayments for intangible ~ TERHEREER
assets 563,166 - 563,166 1,887,786 - 1,887,786
Prepayments for engineering  JEf4 TR2:& 571
equipment 13,325,756 - 13,325,756 18,434,290 - 18,434,290
Others Hih 1,205,339 - 1,205,339 367,871 - 367,871
Total At 15,273,900 - 15,273,900 21,045,316 - 21,045,316
Assets with restrictive ownership title or right of use 23. FERSEARZERFNEE
2023 —EBC=HF
Book Carrying Restricted
balance amount Types Restrictions
REHRE REEE THREN ZRER
Monetary funds ERES 124,124 124,124  Deposit and Restricted
special ERZR
account
REE
REREF
Other non-current assets HitERBEE 816,417 816,417 Restricted Restricted
statutory EHZR
deposits
and interests
RHEARES
RAE
Total a5t 940,541 940,541
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23.  Assets with restrictive ownership title or right of use
(continued)

Note: Statutory deposits for insurance operations are placed
with PRC national commercial banks in accordance with
the Insurance Law and relevant regulations issued by
regulatory authorities based on 20% of the registered
capital for subsidiaries engaged in insurance business
within the Group. Statutory deposits for insurance
operations can only be utilized to settle liabilities during
liquidation of insurance companies.

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

23. MAEENERAEIIRHINEE (@

i BREBERBR)SERAE AKEKRE
REREHBN T RARETEMEAN20%
ROBEARES  FRRFAEEHRE
REGRENZEEREHEIRT - AR
RECEZRRAFPBERARIEHEE

7& o

2022 ==
Book Carrying Restricted
balance amount Types  Restrictions
REHRE RHEEEAE XRER XRER
Monetary funds ERES 167,171 167,171  Deposit and Restricted
special FRXE
account
RERK
EREP
Endorsed bills receivables EEENREKERE 5,905 5895  Transferred Restricted

but not FRAXE
derecognised
in its entirety
B#Ep
BRER
BIEER

Total =H)

173,076 173,066




24,

25.

26.

Annual Report 2023
ZERCZFFR

Notes to Financial Statements

B % R AR MR

RMB’000
ARETT

NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED B AHUBHRRTIEEEFTERGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Short-term borrowings 24. FHHER
2023 2022
—EB-=5F —F-—
Credit borrowings ERER 18,323,216 5,153,098
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group RZZE—=F+-_A=+—HBKk=ZT=_=
had no short-term borrowings that were due but outstanding. +ZA=1+—8  AEBEEDIHEHKE
BH RS
Financial liabilities held for trading 25, RBEHEEWMEE
2023 2022
—EB-= —F-—
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit ~ LAAREEFE B EZHT A
or loss %%ﬁ?ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Derivative financial liabilities ESRBE 7,713 54,605
Bills payables 26. BENEE
2023 2022
—EB-= —FT_—
Commercial acceptance bills RFEAHESR 3,555,967 2,724,260
Bank acceptance bills RITERRIESR 497,347 604,159
4,053,314 3,328,419

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding balance of bills
payables due of the Group was RMB27,119,000 due to the fact
that the bearer did not make collection at maturity.

R-ZZE-ZF+-_A=+—8 #AREEA
REREIETW - AEENEHBEHARE
27, 19T LR FE( IR B HA AR AT -
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27. Trade payables

H -

27.

EHMBBRREIERETRE

FEAS BRI

2023 2022
—E_=F —ZE-=

Within one year 1F AR
110 2 year 1FZE24F
2 to 3 year 2 EIF
Over 3 years 3FAE

193,266,994 139,585,845

551,922 387,596
264,242 136,435
346,659 327,434

194,429,817 140,437,310

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within one year. The aging of trade payables is based
on the time of recognising the purchase of materials and
goods or accepting services.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group
had no significant trade payables that were aged over one
year or overdue.

NIRRT S WBEE—FARBHE -
ENBEROERRENBENE  BRIER
B SRR RELE -

RZE_=F+_A=+—HEZZT-_—
+ZA=+—H  AEEERKBBR1FK
BN EZREMR -
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities 28. &SEAAE
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
Advance receipts from the sale of housing BWEERWZAH - 9)
(Note V. 9) 629,252 785,428
Advance receipts from goods TEURE R 34,069,258 34,731,143

34,698,510 35,516,571

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group RIE_=F+_A=+—RAKR=FT=Z=

had no significant contract liabilities aged over one year. +ZA=+—8 AEEERRBBE—FH
HFEERBEE -

Contract liabilities refer to the obligation to transfer goods to ARAE  RECEEKRIERTFYEM

customers in consideration of payments received or receivable FERARPHEEENMNES - GRTHNENN

from customers. Contract liabilities are incurred when the HEEERBEHNEBNETRIEHRERAE

payment schedule agreed under the contract is ahead of the & o

performance of contract obligations.
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

29. Employee benefits payables 29. ENBIFHH

Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance

FARE  AFEM RERD FERERHE

Short-term remuneration Sh-CEAT 11,991,689 82,179,617 (77,037,873) 17,133,433
Retirement benefits B e BRI GREefFAT 2l

(Defined contribution scheme) 45,322 8,028,210  (8,068,129) 5,403
Termination benefits R E T = 67,392 (67,392) -
Total At 12,037,011 90,275,219 (85,173,394) 17,138,836
Short-term remuneration is as follows: FRHAEH M T ¢

Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance

FARE  AFEM RERD FRERE

Salary, bonus, allowance and subsidy ~ T& - #84 « 2B MAES 8,989,730 72,164,944 (68,432,297) 12,722,377

Staff welfare BIEANE 1,220 1,221,210  (1,163,098) 59,332

Labor dispatch fee BHREE 528,599 1,023,823  (1,187,333) 365,089

Social insurance HeRkE 4,902 3,412,011  (3,413,260) 3,653

Including: Medical Hp: BEREE 563 2,893,367  (2,893,022) 908

Work injuries ITERRE 2,028 313,926 (315,616) 338

Maternity EERBE 24 111,917 (111,888) 53

Others Hit 2,287 92,801 (92,734) 2,354

Housing fund FEAES 1,470 1,877,015 (1,841,478) 37,007
Labour union fund and employee TeRENRIHELE

education fund 2,465,768 2,480,614  (1,000,407) 3,945,975

Total A 11,991,689 82,179,617 (77,037,873) 17,133,433
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Employee benefits payables (continued)

Defined contribution schemes are as follows:

RMB’000

ARETT

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

29. BEABIHMER

RERFRTEIMT ¢

Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance
FHHRE A0 EER D FRHBE
Basic pension premium ERBERRE 44,064 7,777,621  (7,816,383) 5,302
Unemployment insurance premium RERKRE 1,258 250,589 (251,746) 101
Total &&f 45,322 8,028,210  (8,068,129) 5,403
The Group makes contributions towards defined contribution REEMNRTRFEIBIZBE BT ECR

schemes based on a certain percentage of employees’ salaries
in accordance with the requirements of local government

policies and regulations.

TERBFR  NBTITERMEER  2—

FELLBIRT R MBI o

Tax payables 30. EXHE
2023 2022
—E-= —FT-—
Enterprise income tax EMSH 4,760,644 2,096,608
Value-added tax BED 1,295,168 823,819
Consumption tax HEN 560,257 570,938
Housing property tax BE 132,611 47,749
Individual income tax {EPNGIEET 285,436 155,584
Others EHih 818,208 631,696
7,852,324 4,326,394
Please refer to Note |V Taxation for the basis and tax rates for EREIBEH S EMER LR B -
the payment of various tax payables. FiIE o
Other payables 31. HtEMSR
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
Other external current accounts HNER7E SRR 163,606,487 120,723,072
Guarantee deposits REBES 1,149,822 1,183,518
Medical fund BEHES 216,540 217,251
164,972,849 122,123,841
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED a1
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. Provisions 32.

HEEIAE

EHMBBRREIERETRE

2023 2022

After-sales service fee EBREE —EC=H ==

Opening balance FHERRE 7,552,861 2,355,564
Increase during the year ARFHEN 9,840,595 7,076,298
Decrease during the year REFD (2,802,746) (1,879,001)

14,590,710 7,552,861
Including: Current portion Eeh o REBEH D 2,620,325 1,287,452
Non-current portion (note V. 38) ERENE D (KA - 38) 11,970,385 6,265,409

The Group undertakes to repair or replace the product
components that fail to perform satisfactorily for automobiles
and other products with warranty. Provisions are the estimated
amount of warranties based on sales volume as well as the
past maintenance level and return and replacement records.
The Group reviews the basis for estimating its provisions
arising from the amount of warranties on an ongoing basis and
revises the same when necessary.

AEBEHTEARE IR HIRE N E RAE
MEXERETIRMNERMS - B EE
RENHEEENMBERBIEE MRBTEE
MiEH B IRA S ERG - ARERFELRA
THEMELNEFAENGETIEEETE
% WHEBERETRHE -

33.  Non-current liabilities due within one year 33. —FRIBNERBERE
2023 2022
—E=-= -2

Long-term borrowings due within one year —FANRENREER TR - 35)
(Note V. 35) 6,246,454 3,723,482

Bond payables due within one year —FAREBNENESWTA - 36)
(Note V. 36) - 2,047,285

Lease liabilities due within one year —FREHHEEBEW T A - 37)
(Note V. 37) 1,494,037 694,061
7,740,491 6,464,828
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other current liabilities 34, HirRHHERE
2023 2022
—E_=F —EF-=
Taxes to be written off FFEESHIER 1,621,505 2,609,127
Others Efh 207,771 5,905
1,829,276 2,615,032
Long-term borrowings 35. RHEEX
2023 2022
—EC=HF —E-=
Bank credit borrowings RITEAER 18,221,593 11,317,078

18,221,593 11,317,078

Less: Long-term borrowings due within one year & : —fF R 2R HAE % 6,246,454 3,723,482
11,975,139 7,593,596

As at 31 December 2023, the annual interest rate of the above RZZE-=ZF+=-—A=+—0 LilfEZN

borrowings ranged from 2.05%-2.98% (31 December 2022: FREE205%-2.98% (ZE-_—_F+=A

2.10%-2.80%). =1+—H :2.10%-2.80%) °

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group RZEBEZ=F+ZA=+—HBRZZT=Z

has no long-term borrowings matured but not yet repaid. TZA=+—A AEEEREIHERKRE

EBHRBAMERK -

241



242

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT
V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED B AHUBHRRTIEEEFTERGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
35. Long-term borrowings (continued) 35. RHEEXRGE
#Aging profile of long-/short-term bank borrowings #R KT BIIRTT B R
2023 2022
—E== =2
Listed as: SR
Bank loan repayables FEERRIRITER
In one year —F 27N 24,569,670 8,876,580
In the second year F-FRN 5,885,936 4,594,707
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEZZFERFN BEERWE 6,089,203 2,998,889
36,544,809 16,470,176
Bond payables ERHES
In one year —F2ZN - 2,047,285
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FIEFAFAN  REEEMT - -
- 2,047,285
36,544,809 18,517,461
36. Bonds payable 36. ENESF
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE=-=
Bonds payable B ES = 2,047,285
Less: Bond payable due within one year B —FER N EMNES = 2,047,285

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group ®n

didn’t have any bonds past due.

H

+

—=ZF+_A=t—HBRkZ=ZZE=_—
=t+—H KEBERPNES -
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37. THEAR

2023 2022
—==-= —E—=
Opening balance FHERRE 3,311,335 1,663,719
Addition for the year iSRS 7,146,732 2,186,086
Business combinations not involving entities FER—EH T hESG
under common control 1,086,356 -
Disposal for the year RFERE (205,299) (54,608)
Interest expenses FEEMA 282,733 169,607
Payment for the year KEZA (1,280,634) (653,469)
Closing balance FREBRE 10,341,223 3,311,335
Less: Lease liabilities due within one year B —EARRENEER R
(Note V.33) (WizxA - 33) 1,494,037 694,061
8,847,186 2,617,274
Other non-current liabilities 38. HtFERBHEE
2023 2022
—E_-=F —EF-—
Deferred income RIE Y 2= 25,890,036 17,473,112
Provisions (Note V. 32) JEEtaE# R ~ 32) 11,970,385 6,265,409
Other external current accounts HNERFE 2R R 9,477,880 -
Repurchase right on Shareholders’ investment P& 8% & BB #E (£ 1)
(Note 1) 3,245,440 3,079,533
Long-term financial guarantee contracts ROV BERER 7+ - 2)
(Note XIV. 2) 61,984 78,794
50,645,725 26,896,848

Note 1 -

On 26 May 2020, BYD held the 38th Meeting of the
Sixth Session of the Board and the “Resolution on the
Introduction of Strategic Investors by the Controlled
Subsidiary” was considered and approved. It agreed
that the Company and BYD Semiconductor, a
subsidiary of the Group, entered into the Shareholders’
Agreement with other investors. Pursuant to the
above agreement, the Company shall repurchase the
equity interests of BYD Semiconductor held by these
strategic investors at a fixed amount under some
specific agreed circumstances. As at 31 December
2023, the present value of such repurchase obligation
was RMB3,245,440,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB3,079,533,000).

—EFEFRA-FNE LA
BFREEETEE=T/\NgE BEB
BT (ERERT ARSI ABKIEESE
MEER)  RBEARAREAREEZFR
ALY EREE =S REEEFE
RFEWHZE) - BROEE—THRET -
Lh R mAPEEE £ R ERRIRE
EH DM BRI ERENET -
BE-_Z-_=%F+-A=+—8 " %%
HHEHESEAARES,245,440F T
(ZEZZF+ZA=+—8: AR®
3,079,533F7T) °
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED 5 EOHUBBRRETEZEEFTEGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
38.  Other non-current liabilities (continued) 38. HfttkEREBEE(E
Deferred income AW 75
Balance as Balance
at the Addition Decrease as at the
beginning of during during end of
the year the year the year the year
FHERE AN KERD FRERER
Automobiles and automobiles related 17,138,826 11,442,483 (3,223,663) 25,357,646
AE KA EAERE
Mobile handset related 231,377 124,837 (65,260) 290,954
FHAEH
Industrial support fund 890 94,610 (10,780) 84,720
R&D-related subsidies 75,154 92,044 (151,071) 16,127
T EE AR R #H AL
Staff-related subsidies 438 109,728 (107,759) 2,407
8 T BRI #E AL
Others 26,427 1,174,055 (1,062,300) 138,182
HAh,
Total 17,473,112 13,037,757 (4,620,833) 25,890,036
&t
39. Share capital 39. KX
2023 2022
—EB-=5F —F-—
Registered and paid-in capital ER PSSR G 2,911,143 2,911,143

There was no change in the registered and paid-in capital of
the Company.

The shares of the Company have a par value of RMB1 per
share.

AR R B AR B B o

ARBREREEBAREIT -
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Capital reserve 40. EXLQTE
Increase Decrease

Opening during during Closing

balance the year the year balance

FHHRE A AR N REHD FRBRE
Share premium MA@ (B 60,309,285 13,709 - 60,322,994
Others EHh 1,396,608 878,857 (556,685) 1,718,780
Total A&F 61,705,893 892,566 (556,685) 62,041,774

In 2023, the increase in the Group’s capital reserve was mainly
due to the provision for share-based payment expenses, and
the decrease in capital reserve - others and the increase in
capital reserve - share premium were mainly due to the vesting
of restricted shares, which transferred the treasury shares
and capital reserve - other related to the vesting of restricted
shares to share premium. For details, please refer to note XIII.

—PoCFASEAAREENEERER
HIEBGEABA - AARE - HimE s
AR - BARBHENEE R 0B
AR TRAR A 4 SR 4R 1 AR R B
BERRERDHE - Ef A SR -
HEMET= -

Treasury shares M. EER
Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance
FHERE AR N AERD FARERE
Repurchase by equity incentive & 17 i1 2B 01 88 1,809,920 = (542,976) 1,266,944

The decrease in treasury shares was due to the vesting of
restricted shares during the period.

JEE 73 P S HORL D A 7 B BRI 1 B 3R R SE AR
5 o
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED h -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

42.  Other comprehensive income

42,

The balance of other comprehensive income attributable to the

EHMBBRREIERETRE

Hftb R & Wik
BEERER

BENE QRN EMERS K

parent company in the balance sheet: #REE
2023 —E=-=
1 January Increase/ 31 December
2023 decrease 2023
—E-=HF
—B-=F T=AH
—HA—H 127 2 B Er=[E
Changes in fair value of other equity HipERZ TEARERAABEEZS
instrument investments 861,367 166,849 1,028,216
Changes in fair value of receivables JEWFIERE AR BEE
financing (69,924) 38,479 (31,445)
Provision for credit impairment of JEUIE B A5 AR B
receivables financing 10,453 (10,453) -
Exchange difference on foreign currency ~ SMNERKRITE =58
translation (373,564) (19,544) (393,108)
428,332 175,331 603,663
2022 . —
1 January Increase/ 31 December
2022 decrease 2022
—E-—F
—ZT-CF +=HR
~A—8 A2 =t+-8
Changes in fair value of other equity instrument ~ E bz T AR E QA BEZH
investments 213,300 648,067 861,367
Changes in fair value of receivables financing JEWFIERIE AR BEE (39,271) (30,653) (69,924)
Provision for credit impairment of receivables JEYGRIE R & 5 R &R
financing 7,990 2,463 10,453
Exchange difference on foreign currency INERFRITH AR
translation (306,074) (67,490) (373,564)
(124,055) 552,387 428,332
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED - EOHUMBBRRTEHEEZTERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
42,  Other comprehensive income (continued) 42. Hiire s (&)
Amount of other comprehensive income: Hitnfr e 35458
2023 —BC=fF
Attributable
to
shareholders  Attributable
Pretax Income of the parent to the
amount tax company minority
BER BER
BAlRER MR  BATERR DEHBRR
Other comprehensive income that ~ TEEE D AEBE M EAM
cannot be reclassified to profitor AU
loss
Changes in fair value of other Hibigan TARE
equity instrument investments RAEBEE 220,896 (54,047) 166,849 =
Other comprehensive income that ~ #E D BEBENE LS
will be reclassified to profit or loss Uz
Changes in fair value of U IERE A BE
receivables financing g 38,479 - 38,479 -
Provision for credit impairment of ~ FEUGRIBRLE = FRIE
receivables financing A (10,453) = (10,453) =
Exchange difference on foreign INESRRITH ER
currency translation (10,847) - (19,544) 8,697
238,075 (54,047) 175,331 8,697
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other comprehensive income (continued)

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

42, HpmAaksE @)

2022 =2z
Attributable
to shareholders Attributable
Pretax Income of the parent to the
amount tax company minority
HER BN
BRI ERE FiEH BRAIRE PHRR
Other comprehensive income that cannot ~ ML E D FEBZEME
be reclassified to profit or loss e
Changes in fair value of other equity Hp R TARERABE
instrument investments L) 852,068 (204,001) 648,067 -
Other comprehensive income that will be BB D BEBHNEMAA
reclassified to profit or loss e
Changes in fair value of receivables ERHERE AL BEED
financing (30,653) - (30,653) -
Provision for credit impairment of RN IERE E R EEE
receivables financing 2,463 - 2,463 -
Exchange difference on foreign INEREMEER
currency translation (73,647) - (67,490) (6,157)
750,231 (204,001) 552,387 (6,157)
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED - EOHUMBBRRTEHEEZTERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Surplus reserve 43. B&#ATE
Increase  Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance
FHEREE AREZ N KEFD FERBE
Statutory surplus reserve ETERBATE 6,838,541 535,546 = 7,374,087
6,838,541 535,546 - 7,374,087
In accordance with the Company Law and the Articles of BIBAGNE - ARBIEERMBAE + ARAEIE
Association, the Company is required to allocate 10% of its net FEFHEMI10%RBVAERBRAES - ETH
profit to the statutory surplus reserve, until the accumulated BAEE RFBARRRFMERS0%A £
statutory surplus reserve has reached 50% of the registered By - A] AN EERER o
capital of the Company.
The Company may further allocate to the discretionary surplus RABEREVATERMBAERE - AIREUE
reserve after the statutory surplus reserves allocation. The BERESD - S4E  CERAES T AREM
discretionary surplus reserve can be utilised to offset prior VART S [E R S8 AR R o
year’s losses or to increase share capital upon approval.
Retained profits 44. RHEFE
2023 2022
—EB-=HF -

Retained profits at the beginning of the year FHIARD ELFE
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the REFEBRE A RIREAF A

parent for the year

Less: Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve & @ IeBULE B AT
Cash dividend payable for ordinary T EBRIR S R F

shares

40,943,232 26,455,907

30,040,811 16,622,448
535,546 1,829,453

3,324,525 305,670

Retained profits at the end of the year FRARDEFE

67,123,972 40,943,232
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

45.  Operating revenue and operating costs 45. EEWAMEER L
2023 2022
—EB-=F —ZE -
Revenue Cost Revenue Cost
WA RS A A
Revenue from principal operations & &I A 590,468,270 471,355,849 414,781,240 344,840,310
Other operating revenue E b E I A 11,847,084 9,202,501 9,279,395 6,975,370

602,315,354 480,558,350 424,060,635 351,815,680

Disaggregation of operating revenue is as follows: BEWAITET -
2023 2022
—=E=-= —ZEF=-=
Revenue from contracts with customers WMEP 2z EEREERWA
Sale of goods and construction services HE R m kR ERE 597,862,811 421,658,484
Rendering of services TR RS 4,222,649 2,149,657

602,085,460 423,808,141

Rental income HEWA 229,894 252,494

Total A&r 602,315,354 424,060,635
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED - EOHUMBBRRTEHEEZTERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
45.  Operating revenue and operating costs (continued) 45. EEWAME HER A (FE)
Disaggregation of operating revenue from contracts with HERZEEREENEERAS#EEN
customers is as follows: I
2023 —E-=
Mobile
handset
components, Automobiles
assembly and related
service products,
and other and other
products products Others Total
FHRETH - AE-RE
HER HRERK
Reportable segments BED HittEm HittEm Hith G
Product types EmEn
Sales of goods and construction services SHE M M B ERE 118,494,950 479,084,107 283,754 597,862,811
Rendering of services RHRS 43,782 4,178,867 = 4,222,649
118,538,732 483,262,974 283,754 602,085,460
Place of operation geimRE
PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and RE(RIESRAME)
Taiwan) 30,816,853 410,831,456 283,754 441,932,063
Overseas B 87,721,879 72,431,518 - 160,153,397
118,538,732 483,262,974 283,754 602,085,460
Timing of goods transfer HmE RN
Ata pointin time ER—KHEz 118,528,137 480,597,109 283,754 599,409,000
Over time EX-BRANEE 10,595 2,665,865 - 2,676,460
118,538,732 483,262,974 283,754 602,085,460

251



BYD Company Limited
252 LeEERBBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT
V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED B AHUBHRRTIEEEFTERGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
45.  Operating revenue and operating costs (continued) 45. EEWAME HER A (FE)
Disaggregation of operating revenue from contracts with HERZEEREENEERAS#EEN
customers is as follows: e
2022 S ——
Mobile
handset
components, Automobiles
assembly and related
service products,
and other and other
products products Others Total
FHELE - REAE
HER HBERK
Reportable segments HEDP HiER HitEm i A&t
Product types EmEn
Sales of goods and construction services HERm RERG 98,671,191 322,438,197 549,096 421,658,484
Rendering of services RHERS 107,996 2,041,661 - 2,149,657
98,779,187 324,479,858 549,096 423,808,141
Place of operation geimRE
PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and RE(RIESRAME)
Taiwan) 32,570,786 299,292,589 549,096 332,412,471
Overseas B 66,208,401 25,187,269 - 91,395,670
98,779,187 324,479,858 549,096 423,808,141
Timing of goods transfer HmE RN
Ata point in time EX-HHEE 98,709,170 321,801,753 549,09 421,060,019
Over time EX-RRNEER 70,017 2,678,105 - 2,748,122
98,779,187 324,479,858 549,096 423,808,141




Annual Report 2023
—EBo=EFR

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED B AHUBHRRTIEEEFTERGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
45.  Operating revenue and operating costs (continued) 45. EEWAME HER A (FE)
Disaggregation of operating costs from contracts with REGHEEP ZHEREENEERAD R
customers during the year is as follows: EEWT :
Mobile
handset
components, Automobiles
assembly and related
service products,
and other and other
products products Others Total
FRBMS - AE - RE
HER HEERR
Reportable segments BENE HittEm HittEm Hitr a3t
Product types EmEn
Sales of goods and construction services HEERREERS 108,101,453 370,753,316 236,213 479,090,982
Rendering of services IR AR 27,389 1,272,233 = 1,299,622
108,128,842 372,025,549 236,213 480,390,604
Place of operation mEwE
PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and RE(BEBRAME)
Taiwan) 24,666,812 306,705,958 236,213 331,608,983
Overseas B4 83,462,030 65,319,591 - 148,781,621
108,128,842 372,025,549 236,213 480,390,604
Timing of goods transfer B mE RN
At a point in time EE-EEER 108,121,155 370,243,565 236,213 478,600,933
Over time EX-HBRANEE 7,687 1,781,984 = 1,789,671
108,128,842 372,025,549 236,213 480,390,604
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED - EOHUMBBRRTEHEEZTERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
45.  Operating revenue and operating costs (continued) 45. EEWAME HER A (FE)
Revenue included in the opening carrying amount of contract EFHRANLELARABEFVEREEMEST
liabilities recognised for the year is set out as follows: KA T
2023 2022
—E== —F-—
Sales of goods SHEX M 32,675,245 12,543,364
32,675,245 12,643,364
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is REBEBEHRSHANEEHOT -
summarised below:
Type of
Time of fulfilling  Important Committed  warranty
performance payment Nature of goods Principalor  refundsto  and related
obligations terms transferred not customers  obligations
RENER RUNEE
BITER BEH RHER REH BEBSR  REEER
ERHEE XA BmiKE TEEAA  EFHNRE  BERH
Sales of goods HEAm Time of delivery  Advance/ payment  Sales of automobiles, Yes Nil Assurance-
and acceptance  upon delivery related products, mobile type
by customers handset components, warranty
assembly service and
other products
REEEPERE EA/HERT  FEREARE REEEE R & REFEER
m o RS ARRH
ftiE
Rendering of services RS Termof service/  Service progress  Rendering of maintenance,  Yes Nil Nil
time of delivery payment/ transportation, platform
payment upon and technological
completion of services
services
BEHE/ T REEELG/R TERMEEE B8 Ta R & &
BRRER FR3%5 B el AR &
Term of service Progress payment  Construction of rail Yes Nil Assurance-
transport infrastructure type
warranty
Construction services BiERE R HEE TLEERH ERREE = & REFER
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Operating revenue and operating costs (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the main performance obligations
that have signed the contract but have not been fulfilled or not
yet fulfilled are expected to be recognized within one year.
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45, EEWAMEERERGE
RIE-_=F+-_F=+—H TENCE
AR BREARBITHEARBTEZENEY
EETEA M FELLRER AWA -

Tax and surcharge 46. B RHIHN
2023 2022

—E_=F T
Consumption tax HEN 5,723,178 4,220,822
City maintenance and construction tax YT MR AR TR 1,284,896 927,285
Education surcharge HAEBWM 936,302 669,181
Property tax BEH 582,177 295,324
Land use tax T E A 380,217 224,156
Others ) 1,442,858 930,342

10,349,628 7,267,110
Selling expenses 47. SHEEH

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F
After-sales service fees ErBREE 9,840,595 6,513,832
Employee benefits 58 T %57 A 5,433,859 3,361,416
Advertising and exhibition expenses EEREE 4,267,364 2,201,985
Depreciation and amortization Y& NN 1,578,596 749,012
Material consumption YIELE R 809,608 443,214
Office expenses FINE=gt 474,386 168,179
Travelling expenses ERE 387,396 190,085
Share-based payment IR A 84,166 59,266
Others Efh 2,335,425 1,373,687

25,211,395 15,060,676
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
48. Administrative expenses 48. EEEBH
2023 2022
—E_=F —ZE-=
Employee benefits B3 T %5 B 9,314,402 6,923,900
Depreciation and amortization e s 1,797,347 1,748,949
Material consumption YIELERE 929,802 639,087
Office expenses PRE A 366,159 180,025
Share-based payment B A 247,643 183,752
Audit and consulting expenses Bit REAE 215,091 86,406
Including: Audit expenses* Er - &5 B 6,350 6,350
Others EAth 591,264 245,251
13,461,708 10,007,370
49. Research and development expenses 49. THBEHR
2023 2022
—E_-= —EF-=
Employee benefits 58, T %57 B 21,739,370 10,416,829
Material consumption YIkELEFE 11,083,658 5,197,592
Depreciation and amortization YrEE N8y 2,586,540 833,845
Inspection expenses R & 1,098,465 267,934
Share-based payment B A 398,844 223,269
Others HAth 2,668,068 1,714,984
39,574,945 18,654,453
50. Finance expenses 50. HIBEAR
2023 2022
—EBo=F —E-=
Interest expenses FEZ M 1,827,605 1,316,350
Including: Interest expenses on lease liabilites H& : FAEBEF S H 282,733 169,607
Less: Interest income B R B A 2,796,195 1,829,617
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) &N Bk (W) (638,785) (1,216,430)
Others Efh 132,481 111,740
(1,474,894)  (1,617,957)
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other income

51. Hfttlkz=

2023 2022
—EB-=5F —F-—
Government subsidy related to daily activites — £2 B % & EhE & BT B 4,619,187 1,675,542
Others Efh 634,272 45,594
5,253,459 1,721,136
Investment loss income 52. ®BEWH
2023 2022
—EBE-=5F —F-—

Long-term equity investment income/(loss) RS E N RPRERE RS

accounted for under the equity method (BX) 1,277,455 (685,885)
Investment income from investing in wealth WERGEREEEEEELENRE

management products and debt investment Iz 326,469 102,537
Investment income from the disposal of BETFRARNEERE

subsidiaries 25,175 1,903
Dividend income on other equity instrument AN EMEZR T ERE/RF

investments held WA 19,545 1,551
Investment income from the disposal of long-  EE &K HAREREEEMIZE RS

term equity interests 6,082 32,320
Investment income from holding other non- HEIEns e mEErfa ARG

current financial assets HI1% & Wz 4,001 2,547
Loss on derecognition of financial assets LAEEERPC A RT E M S BB E R IETER

measured at amortised cost BN - (22,719)
Investment loss from disposal of BERXRStcHEEXBENRE

financial assets or liabilities held for trading -ES (23,586) (224,157)

1,635,141 (791,903)
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED B AHUBHRRTIEEEFTERGE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
53.  Gains from changes in fair value 53. AREESBKZ
2023 2022
—EB-=5F —F-—
Financial assets held for trading REEEMEE 102,844 289,958
Including: Structured deposits and certificate ~ HfF : & EFER R AFEFE
of deposit 83,104 312,556
Derivative financial assets MEeMEE 19,740 (22,598)
Financial liabilities held for trading RotemAE 33,996 (54,605)
Including: Derivative financial liabilities HEd: TESRBE 33,996 (54,605)
Other current assets HEMRBEE = (4,279)
Other non-current financial assets HtERPermEE 120,900 (104,976)
257,740 126,098
54. Impairment loss on credit 54. {SRARERX
2023 2022
2= —F--
Loss of bad debts for accounts receivable R GRIE SRR 1B K 1,596,422 924,762
Impairment loss on financial guarantee MISERERRMEEKX
contracts (16,810) 64,759
1,579,612 989,521
55. Impairment loss on asset 55. EERERX
2023 2022
—E== —F-=
Impairment loss on inventory HFEBRERKX 2,244,853 834,009
Impairment loss on development expenditures B2 R (B 18 %k = 322,054
Impairment loss on intangible assets BV EERERK - 91,588
Impairment loss on contract assets ERBERBERXEX (56,634) 138,807
2,188,219 1,386,458
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gains from disposal of assets 56. EBEEREBW=
2023 2022
—E_=F —ZE-=
Gains/(losses) from disposal of fixed assets BTEERE W (BX) 90,364 (10,836)
Non-operating income 57. EEIMEA
Included in
non-recurring
profit or
loss for
2023 2022 2023
A
T CCFE
FEREE M
—EB-=F —ZT-— B
Government subsidy BT A B 1,646 1,514 1,646
Liquidated damages from suppliers HERHBERK 542,597 233,932 542,597
Unpayable liabilities AT NaE 88,178 37,842 88,178
Others Hity 78,949 253,686 78,949

711,370 526,974 711,370
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED h -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EHMBBRREIERETRE

58. Non-operating expenses 58. EEIIZH
Included in
non-recurring
profit or
loss for
2023 2022 2023
A
—EC=FE
FEEEE
—Bo=f Z—T-—fF B
Losses on disposal of non-current assets IEREBEEBEEX 1,144,068 865,287 1,144,068
Donations BESH 36,448 71,045 36,448
Liquidated damages and compensation B REEE 253,877 23,028 253,877
Others A 111,435 29,704 111,435
1,545,828 989,064 1,545,828

59. Income tax expenses 59. FiEHEAR
2023 2022

—=-= —EF-—

Current income tax expenses EHFGHER 7,319,831 3,935,200
Deferred income tax expenses BEFSTHER (1,395,264) (568,575)
5,924,567 3,366,625
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Income tax expenses (continued)

The reconciliation between income tax expenses and total

profit is as follows:

59. MEHERGE

RMB’000
ARETT

EHMBBRREIERETRE

FISE M B ARSI R T -

2023 2022
—Z-= —E-=

Total profit IbEREEE 37,268,637 21,079,729
Income tax at the statutory tax rate (Note 1) REEBEFTENERGE) 9,315,215 5,269,932
Effect of different tax rates applicable to FRARBEATRARENTE

subsidiaries (2,823,029) (1,544,743)
Profit or loss attributable to joint ventures and BN A & EMEE S D EMNIBR

associates (306,237) 47,246
Tax impact of non-deductible cost, expenses  TAMKINHIALA « B AFIIERHFE

and losses 148,296 90,549
Effect on deductible temporary differences or 7N B W iR IR 3T AT15 Bt & 2 M) AT K40

deductible losses for which deferred tax TR EENZ BN ENEERN

assets are not recognized for the period we 3,864,428 2,293,008
Effect of use of deductible losses on previously ¥ F AT Hi R ERELEATSTHE ERA]

unrecognised deferred tax assets BEENTE (485,569) (320,349)
Effect of changes in tax rate on the balance TR EH I VIRIEFT S R S Y

of deferred income tax at the beginning of S

the period 38,339 5,071
Research and development expenses and HEe B R R EMBUERESNMNENR

other additional deduction as required by

taxation laws (3,826,876) (2,474,089)
Income tax expenses at the Group’s effective  EAREBEEREH RFENHEHE R

tax rate 5,924,567 3,366,625

Note 1: The Group’s income tax has been provided at the statutory
rate based on the estimated taxable profits arising in

the PRC.

AEBEFRERZETBHEARBEE
FEAAT RS 88 SORTE R FHE »
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V.

60.

NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Earnings per share

H -

60.

EHMBBRREIERETRE

R E

2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
RMB/share RMB/share
T B T/’
Basic earnings per share EAXRGkR =
Continuing operations HELE 10.32 5.71
Diluted earnings per share e R
Continuing operations HELE 10.32 5.71

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net
profit for the Period attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding.

The numerator of diluted earnings per share is determined
based on the net profit for the Period attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the Company, which means that when
calculating the numerator, net profit attributable to the
restricted shares expected to be vested in the future or
cash dividends allocated to holders of the restricted shares
expected to be vested in the future for the Period which are
deducted in calculating the basic earnings per share are
added back.

The denominator of diluted earnings per share is equal to the
sum of (1) the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue of the parent company in basic earnings per share and (2)
increase in the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assuming conversion of dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

In calculating the weighted average number of ordinary shares
increased upon conversion of dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares in issue, the dilutive potential
ordinary shares issued in previous periods are assumed to be
converted at the beginning of the Period; the dilutive potential
ordinary shares issued in the Period are assumed to be
converted on the issue date.

A A T A AR 2 3 PR
EEFRE - BRIABATE SN0 BB A0 IR
TG -

HESERKREN D FUARBR AR R EBK
R E BFABEE - Bl FHETE/E
RME G EEREGREED FECDNROR
JEE PO TR A AR R AT A R 1)1 AR SR O3 R T B
B O BGEE AR ATRERGERERSE
B S IA] o

BESEREN D FERTHMEZM : (1)
HEAGRKRET R AR ETE R INE
FHE: RQBRERBELEEEBREBRA
B AR A0 A0 AR 0 DORE S B

EHERENEEEBRERAEHITER
s T 3 A0 9 3 388 A AR B0 AR P I B - IA
AR T RBLEEEERER  RREE
HENEH  EHBRTHREEELELR
B RERERITRER
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

60. Earnings per share (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

60. TR (E)
EAREFESRKEMNAEITENT ¢

based on:
2023 2022
—Z-= —E-=
Revenue Wz
Net profit for the Period attributable to FERAAREBERRRAE BF
ordinary shareholders of the Company lbE 30,040,811 16,622,448
Less: Deductible net profit attributable to RE - EHIRE BRI ET AR A]
restricted shares which are 37 51 PR 1) 14 AR SR Y )5 R
expected to be vested in the
future 39,809 6,294
Adjusted net profit for the Period FAREEHEBNARE TR ER
attributable to ordinary shareholders of H HE A
the Company 30,001,002 16,616,154
Shares &t
Weighted average number of outstanding RN BEITIEING AR A hOiE 15
ordinary shares of the E(FR)
Company (thousands) 2,906,402 2,907,928
Diluted effect - weighted average MR E — B e a8
number of ordinary shares PR 1) 14 A 52 (FAR)
restricted shares (thousand) 1,720 2,567

B

Adjusted weighted average number of
outstanding ordinary shares of the
Company (thousands)

FHRRE

ARRA QR EITEIN GBI
i

2,908,122 2,910,495

In 2023, the restricted shares of the Company did not have

any diluted effect on earnings per share. Therefore, the diluted

earnings per share are identical to the basic earnings per

share.

—ERo=F ARFANRGIMEREHE
nEREYE AUBESRRERE
Rz & FEAR A

P 4
&

>
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED f- At EBRXRTEEAFIEGE)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

61. Notes to cash flow statement 61. HBLREREFADRE
(1) Cash related to operating activities (1) B ZZTE)GFHEZ
2023 2022
—E== =2
Significant cash inflows received from U B E fh B AR 2 E B) B B K58
other activities relating to operations are REMATTRAT :
presented as follows:
Interest income FMEKA 2,430,367 1,801,249
Liquidated damages from suppliers HEMENS 542,597 233,932
Government subsidy IR I #64 Bfy 10,367,182 9,953,104
Significant cash outflows paid for other X E A R R B AR KT
activities relating to operations are WeRHFIRET
presented as follows:
Selling and promoting expenses HEREESER 5,765,861 3,196,155
Administrative expenses THREREEER 1,173,208 512,663
Research and development expenses e RFEER 3,772,356 1,978,946
(2)  Cash related to investing activities (2) HEREZEEHAED
2023 2022
—EZ=HF T
Significant cash inflows received from other U % E th B4% &R SN B RIRI A ZE
activities relating to investments are WERATRIAT -
presented as follows:
Recovery of wealth management products Ut [B138 B = & & B 138 & 3K
and other investments 21,750,000 10,970,000
Significant cash outflows paid for other X E A B B R E) A B KR
activities relating to investments are BEmEIREAT
presented as follows:
Purchase of wealth management products B4 B B E R M E IR E &
and other investments 10,500,000 25,702,830
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61. Notes to cash flow statement (continued)
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61. HEREXRFEBZEEH)

(3) Cash related to financing activities (3) HZ & TEHRmE 2
2023 2022
—E== -2
Significant cash outflows paid for X EA R EE )R B A A N
other activities relating to financing are REMEFTOT :
presented as follows:
Treasury shares FE1FRR = 1,809,920
Payment of lease liabilities TNHEERE 1,280,633 653,469

The movements in each of the liabilities arising from
financing activities are as follows:

EEEDEANSEEBENEDN
™

Increases during Decrease during

the year the year

KERM TERD
Opening Cash  Non-cash Cash  Non-cash Closing
balance changes changes changes changes balance
FORE  RE8H FRERE  Re%s IR FRBE
Short-term borrowings RHER 5,153,098 32,207,000 11,993 (19,048,875) - 18,323,216
Long-term borrowings REEX 11,317,078 13,097,083 7,547  (6,200,115) - 18,221,592
Bond payables FEfIE 2,047,285 = - (2,047,285) = =
Lease liabilities HEBRE 3,311,335 - 8515821 (1,280,634)  (205,299) 10,341,223
Other non-current liabilities HinEmsaE = 28,233 = = = 28,233
Total it 21,828,796 45,332,316 8,535,361 (28,576,909)  (205,299) 46,914,264
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62.

NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED h -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Supplemental information on cash flow statement 62.

(1)

Supplemental information on cash flow statement

Reconciliation of net profit to cash flows from operating

EHMBBRREIERETRE

HeERERBEER
(1) BegsX#rEr

RN EASRRLEDETRE

activities:
2023 2022
—g-= —E-—
Net profit SEF 31,344,070 17,713,104
Add: Impairment loss on credit e ERRERK 1,579,612 989,521
Loss on asset impairment BEREEX 2,188,219 1,386,458
Depreciation of fixed assets BEEENE 37,715,404 14,602,466
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 1,390,498 584,227
Depreciation of investment REEEHERE
properties 2,495 2,495
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 4,174,175 5,099,231
Amortisation of long-term deferred REVGEEREH
expenditures 270,147 81,586
Loss on disposal of fixed assets and RERTEEMEMEGAEE
other long-term assets EOE=EES 1,053,704 876,123
Gain from changes in fair value NhEEZS KRG (257,740) (126,098)
Finance costs B ER 529,606 616,273
Investment (income)/loss B& W), 1Bk (1,635,141) 769,184
Increase in deferred tax assets EEFTS B & =N (2,174,984) (1,773,589)
Increase in deferred tax liabilities IRIEFTSR B EIE 774,851 1,204,963
Increase in inventories FERE M (7,602,102)  (36,564,504)
Increase in operating receivables A FE R IE B EYIE AN (12,641,191)  (17,546,586)
Increase in operating payables LM TR B RSN 112,737,462 152,528,799
Others EHAh, 275,940 394,004
Net cash flow from operating activities KEEHEANRSMEFE 169,725,025 140,837,657

Major non-cash investing and financing activities:

2023
e

—_

THEBRENERKRENESE LY

2022
S

—_—=

Acquisition of use-of-right assets by
way of leasing liabilities

EEMEREIARGEREEE

7,134,921

2,189,430
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(continued)

(1)

(2)

Supplemental information on cash flow statement
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SO BBRTIEHB TR E
RERBRBAEN (B

(1) H2REXFHAEHNHE)

(continued)
Net movements in cash and cash equivalents: ReRBESSEMFE
2023 2022
—EBE-=5F —EF-—
Closing balance of cash and cash ReRESEEMNFRBTE
equivalents 108,511,745 51,182,457
Less: Opening balance of cash and cash A : & RIB & EEBMHNEVLE
equivalents 51,182,457 49,819,860
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR& MIR& S B FIENGE 57,329,288 1,362,597

Net cash paid for acquisitions of subsidiaries and other 2)

operating entities

BB FREIRAMEREL AR EF
5

2023 2022
B = B ——
Cash and cash equivalents paid in the ARERFF AR REMEEEMR
year for acquisitions of subsidiaries and ~ AFZHHRSHRSEFED
other operating entities during the year 14,347,070
Less: Cash and cash equivalents held by 8l : BE B T AR R EfL & ST
subsidiaries and other operating BENESNESEEY
entities at the acquisition date 269,301 -
Add: Cash and cash equivalents paid in I © LARTFEEE T2 R RHA
the year for acquisitions of EEBMNAFEEZTH
subsidiaries and other operating ReMREEEY
entities during the previous years - -
Net cash paid for acquisitions of BEFRRIREMEES T
subsidiaries and other operating entites R & /%58 14,077,769 -
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED - EOHUMBBRRTEHEEZTERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
62. Supplemental information on cash flow statement 62. HBHLRERBAER(E)
(continued)
(3)  Net cash received from disposals of subsidiaries and (3) BEFAAIRAMEZENEDF
other operating entities 5
2023 2022
—EB-=F —F-—
Cash and cash equivalents received in the ARFEEE TR 7 N E b4 2B (7 7
year for disposals of subsidiaries and REWIWR SRS EEY
other operating entities during the year 81,200 -
Less: Cash and cash equivalents held by & : BRiEH#E R FRAF R EM
subsidiaries and other operating EEBLUFANERE SN
entities at the date of losing ReFED
control rights 7,360 -
Add: Cash and cash equivalents paidin I : ABTFERE TR R RHA
the year for disposals of BEBNRAFINHE S
subsidiaries and other operating MEeEED
entities during the previous years - -
Net cash received from disposals of RE T AR REMEREMWEIR
subsidiaries and other operating entites R & F%8 73,840 -
(4)  Composition of cash and cash equivalents (4) B2 REEZEYLEL
2023 2022
—E-= =
Cash e 108,511,745 51,182,457
Including: Cash on hand e BHEES 12,139 1,525
Bank deposits on demand ABERF A T A9 ERTT
T 104,865,672 46,448,591
Other monetary funds on AT BERS AR S A9 H A
demand BEBES 3,633,934 4,732,341
Closing balance of cash and cash FREeIESSEMHE
equivalents 108,511,745 51,182,457
(5)  Monetary funds that are not cash and cash equivalents (5) TEBREZRAEEEBEYNEEED
2023 2022 Reason
—ZE=-= —TE-—F BH
Deposit and special Rile REREA 124,124 167,171  Restricted
account \ FEAZR
Interest accrued FEETHIE 458,539 121,635  Cannot be withdrawn
at any time
7] BE R 2 EY
Total A& 582,663 288,806
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NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency monetary items

RMB’000
ARETT

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

63. IIEEMMIFH

2023
—E-=F
Original Exchange Translated
currency rate RMB
% Ex HEARYE
Cash Be
JPY = 1,056 0.0502 53
UsD ETT 7 7.0827 49
Other currencies Hfh#siE = = 45
Sub-total NEF 147
Bank deposit WITHER
uUsD ETT 2,832,312 7.0827 20,060,415
EUR BT 221,220 7.8592 1,738,613
BRL ErERR 611,584 1.4596 892,692
GBP iz 48,804 9.0411 441,246
JPY = 8,602,932 0.0502 431,978
Other currencies Hin ks iE = = 1,453,056
Sub-total INEF 25,018,000
Other monetary funds HihE¥ES
AUD SRAFITE 15,000 4.8484 72,726
EUR BT 1,660 7.8592 13,045
usbD ESI 1,258 7.0827 8,907
Other currencies Hib#iE = = 48
Sub-total e 94,726
Total A&T 25,112,873
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED h -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EHMBBRREIERETRE

63. Foreign currency monetary items (continued) 63. SMEEMEMIRR (F)
2023
—E-=F
Original Exchange Translated
currency rate RMB
R BEx HEARKE
Trade receivables FEUT AR R

usb E 3,283,662 7.0827 23,257,193
BRL EAEDR 874,609 1.4596 1,276,614
INR HEEL 9,727,734 0.0852 828,317
EUR BT 103,286 7.8592 811,745
AUD BN TR 155,230 4.8484 752,617
Other currencies Huhtsia = - 2,421,414
Total A&t 29,347,900

Other receivables b MR
JPY =2 1,673,910 0.0502 84,047
EUR BT 8,499 7.8592 66,795
COP ettt R 26,358,415 0.0018 48,236
BRL ErAEDRR 19,964 1.4596 29,140
SGD TN TT 3,141 5.3772 16,890
usD Z7T 1,772 7.0827 12,551
Other currencies H b #iE = = 297,415
Total &t 555,074
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Foreign currency monetary items (continued)

RMB’000
ARETT

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

63. ISMNEEWHIRE (F)

2023
—E-=F
Original Exchange Translated
currency rate RMB
R EX HEARE
Trade payables FETARER

uSD e 1,690,844 7.0827 11,975,741
BRL EfRERR 2,212,819 1.4596 3,229,919
INR ENZE L 11,276,863 0.0852 960,225
GBP S 18,356 9.0411 165,958
JPY HoT 2,473,683 0.0502 124,204
Other currencies H b #iE = — 601,117
Total &t 17,057,164

Other payables HAth FET K
JPY Hit 4,802,206 0.0502 241,119
UsD eV 32,089 7.0827 227,277
EUR BL T 25,451 7.8592 200,024
HKD ok 14,544 0.9062 13,180
Other currencies H b #iE = — 216,194
Total CEl 897,794
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V. NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED a1
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

64. Lease

(1) As a lessee

64. WE
(1) fERAFA

EHMBBRREIERETRE

2)

2023 2022
—E== =2
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAENEEA 282,733 169,607
Short-term lease expenses through profit T AE BEEMRABLEEN
or loss using simplified approach HEHEEA 952,794 782,728
Leasing expenses of low-value assets FTAE BB AR A AL R IR
through profit or loss using simplified REBEEHEERCHEE
approach (other than short- term lease) BR5N) 13,458 7,626
Total cash outflow related to leases HIASABMERS T 2,246,886 1,443,823

Lease assets rented by the Group included buildings,
machinery and equipment required in the course of
business. Buildings are typically leased for terms of
1-20 years, machinery and equipment is typically
leased for terms of 1-5 years. The lease contract
usually stipulates that the Group shall not sublease the
leased assets.

As a lessor

The Group leases part of buildings, equipment for a
lease term of 1-20 years, which constitutes operating
leases. According to the lease contracts, the rental
is required to be adjusted annually based on the
market conditions. In light of the expected second-
hand market, the residual risk of lease assets is not
significant.

REEAMANAEEERELLE R
FERRERE MLV MR -
FEEREEYHHERBE /1-20
FoORBTENHESRBRE B1-5
F o HEARBEHNTEASE TS
HEAEETEMA -

(2) (EBHHEA

AEEKBOFEEREY RBAR
HiH - EHEEIR1-205F - TERKEE
E-REBEESR  SFFRETS
B HEeETHE - REGF
E-_Fm HEEEHRERRTE
* o



65.

Annual Report 2023
—EBo=EFR

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Lease (continued)

(2)

As a lessor (continued)

Operating lease

Profit or loss related to operating lease is shown as

RMB’000
ARETT

- EHMBEBRTEREZERGE

65. MHEE
(2)  (ERUHFEA )
LERE

HLLHEBMNBRIIRET ¢

follows:
2023 2022
—E-= B F
Rental income HEWA 229,894 252,494

According to the lease contract signed with the lessee,
undiscounted minimum lease receipts are as follows:

RBEABARITOEERR - KT

REEHEEUGRENT ¢

2023 2022
—EB-=HF -

Within 1 year (inclusive) 1FELA(E1F) 59,349 97,774
1 to 2 years (inclusive) 125 (8245) 20,255 68,986
2 1o 3 years (inclusive) 2-3F (§3%F) 15,683 43,033
310 4 years (inclusive) 3—44F (F44F) 10,267 39,042
410 5 years (inclusive) 4-5F (5%) 9,156 15,510
Over 5 years 5F AL 22,093 21,719
136,803 286,064
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VI. DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES N EXH
Classification by nature: BEEDENT -
2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE-=
Employee benefits 58 T %57 21,803,760 11,304,110
Material consumption YIELERE 11,276,698 5,624,882
Depreciation and amortization e s 2,588,333 841,220
Inspection expenses R & 1,114,636 324,183
Share-based payment B A 400,381 244,005
Others Efth 2,733,935 1,884,842
Total A&t 39,917,743 20,223,242
Including: Expensed development Hep - BREMHESI S
expenditures 39,574,945 18,654,453
Capitalised development &AL EE S
expenditures 342,798 1,568,789

Development expenditures of R&D projects qualified for
capitalisation are as follows:

Increase during the year

Decrease during the year

BRI mMEIRE REHENT

REE KERHD
Recognition Charged to
Opening In-house as intangible profit Closing
balance development Others assets or loss balance
ENeE S At BARNEE STAEHER ERBE
Automobile projects
HEER 1,683,000 342,798 - 1,484,798 541,000
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CHANGES TO THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION t - AHEENSRE
Business combinations not involving entities under 1. R —Z=H T EESH
common control
Business combinations not involving entities under common REFHERER—EH T RESHTI RN
control incurred during the year are as follows: DK
Cost of
Time of equity Equity ~ Way of equity Basis of
equity acquisition acquisition acquired (%) acquisition Purchase date purchase date
RERE RERE
REREHE A Bhl%) REREARR BER BERNEELE
Juno Newco 29 December 2023 14,669,793 100%  Acquisition 29 December 2023 Payment of
consideration for acquisition
and change of shareholding
Juno Newco “F-CE Uk %% WEHEZ
+-A-tAR TZAZThE  REEE

The revenue, net profit and net cash flow generated by the
acquiree Juno Newco were not material from the purchase date

to the end of the year.

WU 7 Juno Newcot BB E B EFE RKESE
MEZEWA  FAEMR S REFEHTE
% o
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VII.

CHANGES TO THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations not involving entities under
common control (continued)

Fair values and carrying amount of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Juno Newco as at the purchase date are as follows:

+ .

B EENEE ()

FEE—ZH T XS (@

Juno Newco WAI R EEMBENREEH

MAREBEMEEREBERAT

Carrying

Fair value amount

as at as at

29 December 29 December

2023 2023

—E-=F —E-=F

+=A +=A

—t+AaA —+hH

AREE BREEE

Total current assets MEEEAR 7,489,393 7,489,393

Total non-current assets EmBEEAF 11,976,934 7,320,356

Total current liabilities mEIAEAR 7,386,835 7,386,835

Total non-current liabilities EmBAEAR 1,771,356 1,003,736

Net assets FEE 10,308,136 6,419,178

Net assets acquired BNERFEE 10,308,136 6,419,178
Goodwill generated by acquisition BEEEANHE 4,361,657

Combination cost A PR 14,669,793 i1

Note 1:  The consideration for the acquisition will be paid fully in g1 ARRRBHEZHBARSYEE  HA

cash, of which RMB14,347,070,000 was paid in 2023,
and the remaining consideration as at 31 December 2023
of RMB322,723,000 was recorded in other payables.
The final cash consideration is still under discussion.

ARHE14,347, 070 F TR —_E_=F %
f -#E2ZT==F+=ZA=+—HA
R¥322,723F L xR H AL A 3R ©
BRIV HENIEETBREF -
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CHANGES TO THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
(CONTINUED)

Disposal of subsidiaries

As of 31 December 2023, the Group recorded 1 disposal of
subsidiaries (2022: nil).

Changes to the scope of consolidation for other
reasons

As of 31 December 2023, the Group added 285 subsidiaries
(2022: 247).

(1) New major subsidiaries

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had no new major
subsidiaries (2022: nil).

) Deregistration of subsidiaries

As of 31 December 2023, the Group deregistered 21
subsidiaries (2022: 22).

+ .

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBETT

B EENEE ()

BETAQT
BHE-Z-_=F+-A=1+—8 x%£BE
B1RTFRR(CZEZZF : &) -

Hite RE WS GrEE 2 5

BT _—F+_A=+—H AEEH
OSSR FAT(ZE - —4F @ 247%K) °

(1) HREEFAA

HEZT-_=F+=-ZA=+—H =K
SEEEENNMRTFAR(CE -
FE) -

@  AHETAA]

BE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—H ' &
EEFHEAIRTFAR(ZE=Z
22%R) °
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VIIl. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES

1. Interests in subsidiaries

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

(1) Major subsidiaries acquired by way of establishment or
investment (including indirectly held subsidiaries)

N EHtETEPHER

1. EFAFPHES

ARBFRARNERMAT

(1) BEBERVAREFTARFHEZTF
1A BRI A A F 2 F)

Principal places  Place of Registered  Percentage of

Full name of subsidiary of business registration Business nature capital  shareholding (%)

FRELE TEEEY it EBHE AR/ BE BRI
Direct Indirect

BB BB

Major subsidiaries acquired by way of establishment or investment

BBRUARESHANENEE TR

BYD Auto Industry Company Limited Shenzhen Shenzhen Manufacture 1USDB, 757,654,524 96.79 3.2

HEEAEIEERAT I I o ST3,757,654,524

CHANGSHA BYD AUTO CO,, LTD. Changsha Changsha Manufacture RMB1,000,000,000 - 098

RO ZERERRAT &b R Rt AR %1,000,000,0007

Changzhou BYD Auto Co., Ltd. Changzhou Changzhou Manufacture RMBA50,000,000 - 100.00

BB TERRAT B i b3 AFR#50,000,0007C

Hefei BYD Auto Co., Ltd. Hefei Hefel Manufacture RMB2,000,000,000 - 10000

Al G ERRAT AE A b5 ABR2,000,000,0007C

BYD Electronic (Intermational)

Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding HKD440,000,000 - 6576 Note?
HEHET(ER) ERAT 0 B FEmR 7 7440,000,000 i
BYD Precision Manufecture Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Shenzhen Manufacture USD145,000,000 - 6576 Notel
HEEREHERR AT I I i £71146,000,000 i
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INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(1) Major subsidiaries acquired by way of establishment
or investment (including indirectly held subsidiaries)

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBETT

N EEMERPHERE
1. EFARTHER G

(1)  EBRUAKREET ARG EEZT
LA (BREZEF B F AR (B

(continued)
Principal places  Place of Registered ~ Percentage of

Full name of subsidiary of business registration Business nature capital  shareholding (%)
FRELE TEEE i £ 40 HRER/BE BRI

Direct Indirect

ER BB

Huizhou BYD Electronics Co., Ltd. Huizhou Huizhou Manufacture USD110,000,000 - 6576 Notet
Bt ZEETERAA Byl 2N Hi 71110,000,000 i

Subsidiaries acquired by business combinations involving entities under common control

B-BHTEEAHREHT AT

BYD Lithium Battery Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Shenzhen Manufacture
AT EEEERERAT i el B

Subsidiaries acquired by business combinations not involving entities under common control
FR-BHTLEAMDENTAE

BYD Auto Co., Ltd. Xian Xi'an Manufacture
fEdEERAR il il g

RMB6,160,000,000  100.00 -
X 1%6,160,000,0007

RMB4,381,313131  99.00 -
ARH4,381313131
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED) N EHEHAFBHOERSE
1. Interests in subsidiaries (continued) 1. EF AR ER (&)
(1) Major subsidiaries acquired by way of establishment (1) BBARTARESE T AN EEF
or investment (including indirectly held subsidiaries) RE(BFEEERFA R FE]) (&
(continued)
Note 1:  These major subsidiaries are wholly owned 71 REEEFRAEBBHT
by BYD Electronic (International) Company HETF(BEB)BRAFRIZER
Limited and the corresponding non-controlling B HENIDERREEREE
interests have been reflected in BYD Electronic tbEEEF(EE)BRAAR
(International) Company Limited. K
Note 2: BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited 2 hEEF(EBR)ARARAS
is a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock BT Em AR - RAEAL4
Exchange with a share capital of HKD440 BAEE HE_ZT_=F1+=
million. As at 31 December 2023, Golden Link A=Z+—B #ZREKARAD
Worldwide Limited accounted for 65.76% interest EMEEZ A AI65.76% s + HUE
of the company and was therefore included in HIERBFRARIMAGHEE -
the scope of consolidation as a subsidiary.
Major subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are as FELHERRABEZNEZFAAMN
follows: T
31 December 2023 —E_=H+Z-HA=+—H
Profit or loss Dividend
attributable payment  Accumulated
Ratio of non- to non- to non- non-controlling
controlling controlling controlling interests at the
interests interests interests end of the year
DERR FRRH BOERR EXRZH
HRLA RRMER IARA  DBRRER
BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited ~ tr @ EF (B AR A A 34.24% 1,383,766 127,297 10,042,724
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VIIl. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED) AN
1. Interests in subsidiaries (continued) 1.
(1) Major subsidiaries acquired by way of establishment (1)
or investment (including indirectly held subsidiaries)
(continued)

The key financial information of the consolidated financial
statements of the above subsidiaries is as follows. The
amounts listed below are the amounts before group intra-
eliminations.

EH B HER (&)
EFRARF RS
BRI IREFZ T ARGHEE T

RMB’000
ARBETT

RE(BREEEF B FAF]) (&

TRINRT Ll FRE& G BHRE
MEBMBEE - ELEER/AKE
RNEEEZRABEEBRNSHE

2023 2022
—EC=HF -
Current assets MENEE 54,606,964 40,488,254
Non-current assets MENEE 32,611,656 16,506,119
Total assets BEAR 87,218,620 56,994,373
Current liabilities mEIAE 54,750,533 30,142,838
Non-current liabilities JEmBIAE 3,137,698 1,216,466
Total liabilities BEAR 57,888,231 31,359,304
Operating revenue EEION 131,094,271 108,240,899
Net profit FF)E 4,041,374 1,857,618
Total comprehensive income RE RSB EE 4,067,099 1,840,046
Net cash flows from operating activities & & /EBE LIRS R EFE 10,242,918 5,961,208

Transactions resulting in changes of equity held in
subsidiaries with no effect on the right of control:

There were no transactions in 2023 in which some equity
investments in subsidiaries were disposed of without loss
of control over the subsidiaries.

EFRRAMRRESHEEER(CE

TEEHIRORS -

TECCFBEENRY

TR A B HE

BE - BRERKRHTFARMEHED

%5 -
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED) N HEHAEEDHOES (@
2, Interests in joint ventures and associates 2. EEELENBELCEFNESR
Principal
place of Place of Percentageof ~ Accounting
Joint ventures business registration  Business nature Registered capital ~ Shareholding (%)  method
REdE ITEER  HEf RHBME HMER  BREAG%)  EHEE
Direct  Indirect
Ef  HE
BYD Auto Finance Company Limited Xian Xian Acceptance of fixed deposits from shareholders ~ RMB10,000,000,000 m 3 Eaquity Note 1
and subsidliaries of the group; acceptance of auto method
loan deposits and lease deposits; issuance of
financial bonds; engaging in interbank borrowing;
borrowing; auto financing and leasing business
(excluding sale and leaseback); and equity
investment business of financial institutions related
to auto finance business.
LEHELRARAR EZ i EXRRNEEFADNEHER  EREER AR¥1000000077T 7 3 Eamr il
FENEERES  BNERES  LERER
B B8 MEREREERRERER &)
BEREBIERNSRERRERESEE
Hengoin Hexie Dingtai Equity Investment ~ Zhuhai Zhuhai Equity investment, mainly investing in excellent RMB 401,500,000 - 43 Equity
LP Sub-funds in TMT, logistics and other fields. method
BENASRRERACE(ARAT) %A i BERE - FERERTMT ARSREINER  ARK1401500F T - B Bk
FEE .
Community Fund LP Cayman Cayman Investing in excellent sub-funds in technology, USD600,000,000 - 50 Eouity
Islands [slands medical innovation and other fields. method
Communty Fund LP F2He  HEEE  RANMERESANEEINEATAL- ET600000F 2 -5 st
Shenzhen Didli New Energy Vehicle Shenzhen  Shenzhen  Automobile leasing and operation; investing in RMB,195,616,000 - 40 Equity
Technology Co., Ltd. new energy electric axi enterprises. method
MITERT R ENRERRT el MERERES  MYREBLEECERE . ARE1 105616 - 40 Exk
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INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED) N HEHAEEDHOES (@
Interests in joint ventures and associates (continued) 2, EEELENBECEPHER(E
Principal
place of Place of Percentage of  Accounting
Associates business registration  Business nature Registered capital ~ Shareholding (%)  method
Bety IEQEn  Hf EBME ShER BRUEAC)  BHEE
Direct Indirect
ER  BE

Tibet Zabuye Lithium Industry Co., Ltd. ~ Tibet Tioet Development, production and sales of ithium RMB930,000,000 18 - Equity Note 2
ore, boron ore, lithium-boron series products, method
inorganic salt, and biological resources and
products of salt lake.

EERRAANBEREHARRAA  BE EE % W SRZER ERE ZHth  ARBO0000TT 18 - Ban o 2
ERRERNMAE 4E - #E-

Shenzhen Faurecia Auto Parts. Ltd. Shenzhen  Shenzhen  Development, production, assembly, sales and RMB200,000,000 - 30 Equity
Oelivery of automotive seating products and method
related components covering automotive seats,
seat frames, seat foams, seat covers; provision of
after-sales senvices and technology development
Services.

RBEZEBHERAA el el Ao EE KR BEARNREAEER . ARB200000FT - 0 R
BREE BHEN BREENAEZERER
RERNEBZHE  REEERENRMAL
B -

Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd. Chengdu Chengdu Self-operation and agent for the import and RMB921,786,000 5 - Eauity Note 2
export of various commodities and technologies; method
production and sales of lithium carbonate, lithium
hydroxide, lithium chloride and other lithium
products; technology development, project
investment and industrialisation of new energy
and new materials.

BREREERNERAA W@ %] BENRBRERRAAMMELD - BEE . ARMQI 7867 5 - Bhz o 2

EER SESEERNIENHE  #i
R ATRRRINEE  BRRENERLE
fee
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VIII.
2.

INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

Interests in joint ventures and associates (continued)

AN

2.

FEH b ER (&)
ERERENBE D3PS (5

Principal
place of Place of Percentageof  Accounting
Associates business registration  Business nature Registered capital ~ Shareholding (%)  method
Belts TEREN e £ EMER  BREA%)  SHEE
Direct  Indirect
B HE
Garbon One New Energy Group Co., Ltd.  Quzhou Quzhou R&D of emerging energy technologies; R&D of RMB878,681,000 6 - Eouity Note 2
technologies for new materials; sales of batteries; method
battery manufacturing.
B A REEEREALT EN B MERREGRE  IMHRERE B ARBE8EITR 6 - BRE M

£ EhRE-

There are no material joint ventures and associates of the Group
during the year.

Note 1:

Basis for holding more than 50% of the voting rights but not having
control:

The Company holds 80.00% equity interests in BYD Auto Finance
Company Limited (“Auto Finance”). According to the investment
agreement and articles of association, four out of five directors
of the board of directors of Auto Finance were appointed by the
Company, and the resolutions made by the board of directors must
be unanimously approved by all directors of the board of directors.
Therefore, the Group and other shareholders exercise joint control
over Auto Finance, which accounted for as a joint venture under the
equity method.

Note 2:

Basis for holding less than 20% of the voting rights but having
significant influence:

Although the proportion of the shares held by the Group is less
than 20%, the boards of directors of the aforementioned three
associates include the directors appointed by the Group, thus the
Group can exercise significant influence over them, therefore they
are accounted for as associates under the equity method.

FEBAFEEEALLENBEDLE -

71

FFAB0% A EFRAEET BB EERIKIE

RAFALEETESREARRFB0.00%H)
Pt REREBBELERNE  "ESRE
ERnREET  AUARHAARRER BE
ERFHABVAKES 2 RBEEN 2R
B A AEEEEMERE TEeR BT
RfEd] - BMIERE B ERRERERE

o

FA20%A TRAMEEAEERTZENKE

2452 8 4 AR ) B AR A20% - 1B b=
RBECENESRTEAREEANES
AEEE AL EEMEALE - SR
BREERERE -
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INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED) N EHMERPHERE
Interests in joint ventures and associates (continued) 2. EEELENBECEPNER(E)
The following table sets out summarised financial information of TRINRTHAEHEESNEEN A EDE
insignificant joint ventures and associates of the Group: M E P EMNIEBTEEER
2023 2022
—E=-= -2
Joint ventures GEbE
Aggregate carrying amount of investments WERMEESE 12,742,513 11,284,563
Net profit FAE 949,477 (678,862)
Total comprehensive income AW B 949,477 (678,862)
Adjustments REEIE 43,350 (181,084)
Associates B2
Aggregate carrying amount of investments WEREEBSGE 4,904,699 4,200,839
Net profit F A 301,246 389,187
Total comprehensive income el ERE 301,246 389,187
Adjustments FHEEIR 1,854 4,275
Unconfirmed commitments related to investments in joint B A& EREEENREREE
ventures:
2023 2022
—E== -2
The Group’s capital contribution commitments ~— ZNE B ¥ & &3 8 H & #GE
to joint ventures 247,411 310,271
Total A&t 247,411 310,271
GOVERNMENT GRANTS N BFERY
As at 31 December 2023, liability items related to government RIE-=F+-F=+—H  SFNBFTH
grants are as follows: PHEEEENT
Increase
Opening during Decrease Closing
balance the year during the year balance
FHERE 7RG 3 A KEFD FREREE
Deferred income
IEREW EE 17,473,112 13,037,757 (4,620,833) 25,890,036

285



286

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETTT

GOVERNMENT GRANTS (CONTINUED)

Government grants included in profit or loss are as follows:

E&ﬁﬁﬂb(nﬁ)
AR BRBERBTHE T

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE-=

Government grants related to assets LA E AR A BUT 4 B
Included in other income ST AE A 3,287,277 704,633
Included in non-operating income S AEZEINIA 1,646 1,514
Government grants related to income HLUG Z5 AR B RO BUS 4 B
Included in other income ST AE Uz 1,331,910 970,909
Total A&t 4,620,833 1,677,056

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Classification of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2023, the total of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to RMB12,258,924,000 (31
December 2022: RMB22,987,327,000), which were primarily
presented in financial assets held for trading, other non-current
financial assets. The total of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income amounted to RMB10,892,207,000
(81 December 2022: RMB17,312,868,000), which were primarily
presented in receivables financing and other equity instrument
investments. The total of financial assets measured at amortised
cost amounted to RMB188,602,579,000 (31 December
2022: RMB93,514,746,000), which were primarily presented
in monetary funds, trade receivables, other receivables, long-
term receivables and other non-current assets. The total of
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss amounted
to RMB7,713,000 (31 December 2022: RMB54,605,000),
which were primarily presented in financial liabilities held for
trading. The total of financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost amounted to RMB423,065,332,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB290,882,598,000), which were primarily presented in short-
term borrowings, bills payables, trade payables, other payables,
lease liabilities, long-term borrowings and other non-current
liabilities.

BT BRI ERR

SRITESE

RZEZ=F+=ZA=1+—H ' UAanEE
AEBEEEEASHERNEREEAR
12,258,924 F L (ZE=Z=ZF+=ZA=+—
H :22,987,327F7t) * TBI AR S
CREE HMIERDEMEE  UARE
B2 BHBHHAREMEE RGN SRE
EAF10,892,207F L (ZE=—=—F+= A
=+—H :17,312,868T ) * TEH P
FEWFGERE i iEm TEIRE A
KA EN SR EEEF188,602,579F T
(ZF=Z=ZF+=ZA=+—8": %5M7%¥
) EBARRERES  BREER -
fth FEU R~ R EBFEUR - Eﬂﬂ#m@jé%
UARBEFEEEZHFAZHEENS
BBESF7,713F L (ZE=F+=A=
+—H :54,605F7m)  EEWNRRZ S
SRAE WERKNAHENSREESS
423,065,332 F (Z—E=-——F+_A=+—
H : 290,882,598 F L) + T EF|IRAEHIE
Mo ENER - EAERER - EMmER A
EBE REEFEEMIERSEE -
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Offsetting of financial assets

The Group has entered into a netting agreement on trade
receivables. According to the agreement, the Group has the legal
right to offset all or part of the amount due to creditors with the
amount due from such creditors.

Financial assets that are offset and financial assets subject to the
enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreements are
as follows:

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBETT

S & BT B ARES HY EL B ()

SREEEN

AEBEBEKRRER T FREEBE - R
EZmE AEEAARKERANSER
AL EEENERANSENEERE
F o

HHENSREEN BRI NTHAE R
AXBUBETHEREEDT ¢

2023 —EBCZ=HF
Total Net amount
Total recognised listed in
recognised financial assets the balance
financial assets that are offset sheet
ERAER BHEWEER BEAB/RYP
BENEE LSREENEHR HIRE R
Trade receivables JRE 5 B 3R 3,830,919 (3,666,775) 164,144
2022 T
Total Net amount
Total recognised listed in
recognised financial assets the balance
financial assets that are offset sheet
R EHMEER EEAEERT
AENEE SREENERE IR R
Trade receivables JE IR 3R 5,482,963 (5,276,504) 206,459
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X. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

2, Offsetting of financial assets (continued)

Financial liabilities that are offset and financial liabilities subject to
the enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreements
are as follows:

S & BT B ARES HY EL B ()

TREERHEE
HHEN SR A EANERANITORE KR
AZBUHZ THEREELT

2023 —EC-=F
Total Total Net amount
recognised recognised listed in
financial financial assets the balance
liabilities that are offset sheet
ERALHE EHEHE R BEEA/RT
BENAE LREENAHE HIRHRER
Trade payables FETBR X 3,666,775 (3,666,775) =
2022 —F-—
Total
Total recognised Net amount
recognised  financial assets listed in
financial that are the balance
liabilities offset sheet
EERERE HIFHE R BEBERF
BEMNLEE SREENMERE HIRE)EER
Trade payables FETBRE SR 5,276,504 (5,276,504) -
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Risks of financial instruments
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s daily activities expose it to the risks of a variety of
financial instruments, mainly including credit risk, liquidity risk and
market risk. The Group’s accounting policies on derivatives are
set out in Note IIl.10 to the financial statements.

Credit risk

The Group only trades with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances and contract assets are
monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Group is not
exposed to significant bad debt risk. For transactions that are not
denominated in the bookkeeping base currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
special approval of its credit control department.

Since monetary funds, receivables financing and derivative
financial instruments are placed with creditworthy banks with
high credit ratings, the credit risk of these financial instruments is
relatively low.

The Group’s other financial assets comprise monetary funds,
trade receivables, other receivables and long-term receivables.
The credit risk of such financial assets and contract assets arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equalling to the carrying amounts of these instruments. The
Group also faces credit risk due to the provision of financial
guarantees, details of which are disclosed in Note XIV.2

Since the Group only trades with recognised and credit-
worthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Credit risk management is centralized according to customers/
counterparties, geographic regions and industries. As at 31
December 2023, The Group had certain concentrations of credit
risk as 15% (31 December 2022: 4%) and 26% (31 December
2022: 10%) of the total book balance of the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets were due from the Group’s
customer and five customers with the largest book value of trade
receivables and contract assets, respectively. The Group did not
hold any collateral or credit enhancements for the balance of
trade receivables or contract assets.

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

S & BT B ARES HY EL B ()

SR T AR
THE R EFEH 2RI R

AEEEEREHTARSESRIANE
% TERRBEARR - RBIERR KTS
R o AEBABBITET ENSTBEHRL
B HmEMTE= - 100

1R

AEBERLERAN  EERFNFE=1#
IR5 - WBARBENRE - FHAEEKX
RAEAATAETRSGNEPETERE
%o BN AEBHBUREFAREREE
MEETRHERE  ABRAEE TG
BERERER - HRARRAERLEELN
ERAIEEENR S  RIFAEEEAE
i #BFIEF R E - BAIREE T REEAR
PRI -

HREBES  BUREREMITESRT
AN HHFRBERFAHRERSEAFT
FEVERTT  BLERTAEARBERE -

AEBEMEREERREERES  BYSR
R HEEUGRIER KRG - LR
BENARAREENERARREAERRZHT
BY o BEARBRMASENEL T ANREE
18 - NS EIE R H M H R R | ERERR
B HRMETDE - 2R HKE -

HRAAEEERLARIUMNEBEEFEERINE=
FETRS  FIAERERY - ERARBSE
FIRBERE /RSEF HIBEBMITEE
TER - NZZTE-_=F+=-A=+—H &
SEAEEFTEERERESR - NEEEWE
HHMEREEAFREBENIGN (=T
FE+-A=+—H 4% FM26% (T - —
T A=+—8 : 10%)% IR &R R Zm
EREAEGHMRERATFPRAIAKRER ¢
AEBHEUIRZF S EREERBARIFTEE
fAIER YIS E At (5 RIS AR -
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X. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Criteria for judging significant increase in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk of the relevant
financial instruments has increased significantly since the initial
recognition at each balance sheet date. The Group adopts
overdue period of more than 30 days or significant changes in
one or more of the following indicators as the principal criterion
for judging whether the credit risk has increased significantly:
material adverse changes in the business environment which the
debtor is subject to and the debtor’s internal and external credit
ratings, actual or expected operating results.

Definition of credit-impaired assets

The Group adopts overdue period of more than 90 days as the
principal criterion for judging whether credit impairment has
incurred. But the Group would also recognise credit impairment
in some circumstances where internal or external information
indicates that the contract value cannot be fully recovered without
considering any credit enhancement held.

The credit impairment on a financial asset may be caused by the
combined effect of multiple events and may not be necessarily

due to a single identifiable event.

Credit risk exposures

For the credit risk exposures to trade receivables, other
receivables, contract assets and long-term receivables, please
refer to the disclosure in Note V.3, Note V.5, Note V.8 and Note
V.10

Eﬁiﬁﬁﬂlﬂ*ﬁ%ﬁ E’JJ—LF’%("E)
SR T BEk(E)
15 R R ()

15 73 R B B 38 ) B AT 2

rEBEBEEERBERAFNGHEESZRT
EMERRREMNERALESEEEEE
me REEHEERRBREZENNERF
ERBMRBEBI0R - kEAT —ExXZ
1I?ah§*‘$ﬂﬁ“ﬁﬂt BB AFTEHE LR

CRHMNEBIE R - ERSFERLERR
ijEEKT\%U@{E%

EREERREEENTSE

AEBEHEH D EEERARENTIEZRESS
HRHHEBIOR - EERKLIBFERAT  ARA
RSN BB - EE B AN EAE
RIEZ A AIREEE2BEREARERE
AEBEDERERA/EHEERRME -

TREEREERARNE BAURERZESN
B HRERPAE - RO =27 E I8 B A 8 E 1
PREL -

RO

RS - bRl - AREE - REE
WHRERRBKROFRMER - 3 KT
A5 KsER 8 KIFER ~ 10935 -
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL + - HE&ERTI AEERENESGE
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Risks of financial instruments (continued) 3. SR T AR (&)
Liquidity risk BN E
The Group’s objective is to maintain balance between AEEMNEESERZEMETFE  URIF
sustainability and flexibility of financing through the use of multiple BMENFEHEETENTE AEEBRA
financing channels. The Group finances business operation by LENEREEENESRIEERE -
funds acquired by operating activities and borrowings.
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on undiscounted TEMETRAERATENEGRBSR
contractual cash flow is summarised as follows: EFTER R BRERRR 94T -
31 December 2023 —E-_=%+=-A=+—H
Within 1to5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total
Financial liabilities A 3=N] 1E LA 1EZE55 5FLE At
Bank borrowings and other RATE TR E A R
secured borrowings EN 24,772,220 12,129,666 = 36,901,886
Trade payables ANE S 194,429,817 = = 194,429,817
Bills payables AREE 4,053,314 - - 4,053,314
Lease liabilities HEBRE 1,921,148 6,364,240 4,034,976 12,320,364
Other payables H A e R 164,972,849 = = 164,972,849
Other non-current liabilities HidEngaE = 12,785,304 = 12,785,304
390,149,348 31,279,210 4,034,976 425,463,534
31 December 2022 —E-_—_F+-HA=+—H
Within 1tob Over
1 year years 5 years Total
Financial liabilities - is=N] 1E AR 1FE55F 5F A F B
Bank borrowings and other RATRE TR B A
secured borrowings L 9,005,926 7,913,494 - 16,919,420
Trade payables BRI 140,437,310 - - 140,437,310
Bills payables ERRE 3,328,419 - - 3,328,419
Lease liabilities MEEE 900,497 2,211,458 612,510 3,724,465
Other payables H Ao R 122,123,841 - - 122,123,841
Other current liabilities HitnEh g & 2,053,190 - - 2,053,190
Other non-current liabilities HiIEREaE - 3,079,533 78,794 3,158,327
277,849,183 13,204,485 691,304 291,744,972
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X.  RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL + - HEmI AMEBENEE(E
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
3. Risks of financial instruments (continued) 3. SR T AR (&)
Market risk ﬁi@g/ﬁ /@
Exchange rate risk [ = e ey
The Group is exposed to trading exchange rate risks. Such $E@ﬁ R ZtEREXRRRE o tiERR EE
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in RS B A H SR AR AR LA B 3
currencies other than the units’ bookkeeping base currency. B8 & SR IB AT BN ©
The Group adopts foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce AN E A INE R B A [ E 2 [ 2R R
its exchange rate risk exposure. [
The following table is the sensitivity analysis of exchange rate risk, T&RA E EXERABBEMESNT - RETHEE
reflecting the impact on net profit (due to changes in the fair value HEETENBET  ARBHELESRE
of monetary assets and liabilities) and shareholders’ equity when ] W&Eﬂﬁv CBEFEFE(AREEEE
RMB fluctuates against USD within a reasonable range under the EMEBMTAGENAREBEZ ) MR FER
assumption that other variables remain unchanged. EENTE -
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
inother  (decrease) in
Increase/ Increase/ comprehensive total
(decrease) in (decrease) income net  shareholders’
basis points in total profit of tax equity*
Hipia s
BEEH FmasEn NHEEE RREZEH
#8089  #I/0EDS) MRS #i D)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR
31 December 2023 ZEZ=F+ZA=1-H
RMB weakens against USD ARBHETRE 5% 1,108,938 = 1,108,938
RMB strengthens against USD ARBHETAE (5%) (1,108,938) = (1,108,938)
31 December 2022 ZE--F+ZA=1-H
RMB weakens against USD ARBHETRE 5% 382,795 - 382,795
RMB strengthens against USD ARBHETIHE (5%) (382,795) - (382,795)
* Excluding retained income and exchange differences on * TEEBFIWEEMINE SR RITE =58

translation of foreign operations
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Risks of financial instruments (continued)
Market risk (continued)

Price risk of equity instrument investments

Price risk of equity instrument investments is the risk that the fair
values of equity investments decrease as a result of changes
in the levels of share indexes, the value of individual securities
and the equity value. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
was exposed to the price risk of equity instrument investments
arising from the individual equity instrument investment classified
as equity instrument investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income and equity instrument investment at fair
value through profit or loss. The Group manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s net
profit or loss and other comprehensive income net of tax to every
5% change (based on the carrying amounts at the balance sheet
date) in the fair values of other equity instrument investments
under the assumption that all other variables remain unchanged.

31 December 2023

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBFT
%Hﬂlﬂ*ﬁ%ﬁ E’JH%(»E)
SR T BEk(E)
i R ()

Bam T AREERER

TE sTEREEERR  ZHEEZERED
AR EERRERSUKENERZESEES -
EEEEMNEEMERENRE R_T=-=
F+ZA=+—H  XEBEEERESEAR
UARBEFEEEZSH T AL MES KRS
M= TEREMU AR EEFEBHEE
ATAERESHESTARENERERST
AEREMEANESTAREEBREAR
T e AEEBBEETRRBEEHRE K

EERR -

T%uﬂﬁﬂ T EMEBEHMEERBFTIENR

C REEEFERMEMMES KR
é/%rﬁ‘?ﬁ@ﬁémlﬂ&ﬁﬁ@’&ﬁ BENT
%E’J“@U(L‘Kﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ HEBRmEERE

—®-=%t+=A=+-8

Increase/
Carrying (decrease) Increase/
amounts Increase/ in other (decrease)
of equity (decrease) comprehensive in total
instrument in net profit income net  shareholders’
investments or loss of tax equity
BRI HitéRakaE k=R
RE RER & HE CEl
Financial assets tREE REER i/ (D) 210,/ (8D) i/ (RD)
Equity instrument investments BRTARE 5,327,283 - 199,773/(199,773) 199,773/(199,773)
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X.  RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL + - HEERT BEENERE(E)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
3. Risks of financial instruments (continued) 3. SR T AR (&)
Market risk (continued) 5 E b (&)
Price risk of equity instrument investments (continued) ez TAREERERE)
31 December 2022 T -F+ZR=+—H
Increase/
Carrying (decrease) Increase/
amounts Increase/ in other (decrease)
of equity (decrease)  comprehensive in total
instrument in net profit income net shareholders’
investments or loss of tax equity
BmIE Hikr s iias RRER
k& R MRS G
Financial assets tREE FAEA B0,/ (R B0,/ (AD) B/ ()

Equity instrument investments BRIARE 4,418,584 - 165,697/(165,697) 165,697/(165,697)
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain a healthy capital ratio in order to support its business
development and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and in
the risk profiles of relevant assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. In 2023 and 2022, there were no changes
in the objectives, policies or processes of the Group’s capital
management.

The Group manages its capital using a gearing ratio, which is the
ratio of net debt to net capital. The Group’s policy is to maintain
the gearing ratio as low as possible. Net debt includes debt
capital less the net value of monetary funds. Debt capital includes
short-term borrowings, non-current liabilities due within one year,
long-term borrowings, bond payables and lease liabilities. Net
capital represents shareholders’ equity attributable to the parent

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

S & BT B ARES HY EL B ()

ErER
AEEEANEENTRBRERERANEER
BREMRESN  XRTBEENEARLE - A
XFREBRRIFERREERAL -

RNEBRBLEER D ARABEENRRE
BHELEBEAEBTHEETAE - &
RN FAEGANGERE  AEEAAFAEHER
ENFEORE  MBREREEARSETH
B o AEBRZINIBRFI M EARERKLR o
TEC=FENM-E—FE - AXEHEER
2 BRI RBEE( -

AEBHFAERLERERERN  ERLE
REFBEBEMFERNELE - REBHKEK
REZERLERFBEZEMAKT - FA
BRRBREHBENREEBESHNFE  EH
BEABREEHEN  —FAINHANIERDA
B KRR BENEFVNEERE  FE
ERREBNEARRRES - ~AEBENEE

company. The Group’s gearing ratio as at the balance sheet date BERAMERLEWT
was as follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
Gearing ratio BEARBER (44%) (26%)
Hedge £
Cash flow hedge HeEnEEH

Forward exchange contracts are designated by the Group as
hedging instruments in respect of future sales and purchases
denominated and settled in USD, EUR and JPY, and the Group
has firm commitments to these future sales and purchases.
The balances of the forward exchange contract vary with the
scales of expected foreign currency sales and purchases and
the changes in forward exchange rates. The key terms of the
forward exchange contracts have been negotiated to match the
terms of the commitments made, with no ineffective portions of
cash flow hedges. In the financial statements, the portion of the
gains or losses arising from the hedge that is effective is directly
recognised in other comprehensive income.

AEBBINERREREERAET - B
7T ATEIEZENRREENRBENED
TR AEEHEURKEENRBERT
AGh o BLINERA RBRBEBERBAINE
$HEMREB AR R IA KR HIE R ey B B T &
£ - SMNEERBE RN BERIGKEETHRN
S P R GE MY IR SKAR SRS - WRRSRE
EHERED - WEHRERT - HEHT AR
SHBXTEREMEUNI S BEER
REfMGEE KR -
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X. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

- HEmT AEHEBENEREE

5. Hedge (continued) 5. EH @)
Cash flow hedge (continued) B rneaELH(E)
The time distribution and average exchange rate of the nominal EHTEMNZBESBNRED M RFEIE
amounts of the hedging instruments are as follows: KT
2023 —E-=
Within 61012
6 months months After 1 year Total
6187 A 6Z128A 15 0% CHS
Nominal amount of USD forward EnEHEARELE
exchange contracts 165,109 - - 165,109
Average exchange rate of RMBto USD AR K ETHFHER 7.09 = = 7.09

The changes in carrying amount and fair value of hedging

EMTAMNEHEEARAAEBEZSN

instruments are as follows: N
2023 —E-=
Changes in fair
value of hedging
instruments
used as a basis
Line items on for recognising
Nominal the balance the ineffective
amount of sheet that portion of
hedging Carrying amount of contain hedging hedging for
instruments hedging instruments instruments the year
AERERR
ERENHD
EHIAN BEEHIAN ERNESTA
CEEA ENTANKAEE BEEEKRIITER MMEELD
Assets Liabilities
BE 8%
Exchange rate risk = USD forward exchange contracts 165,109 279 - Financial assets (38,614)
held for trading
EXER - FrESNESLD REMEREE
Exchange rate risk = EUR forward exchange contracts - - - N/A (32,786)
EXRER-BTEHNESL TER
Exchange rate risk = JPY forward exchange contracts - - - N/A (8,714)
EXER - BTRHMNESH TER




Annual Report 2023
—g-zzeg 297

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBFT
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL + - HEmI AMEBENEE(E
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Hedge (continued) 5. EH @)
Cash flow hedge (continued) B rneaELH(E)
The carrying amount of hedged items and related adjustments WEMBIEENEREMEBENARABAZNT
are as follows:
2023 —EB-=HF
Changes in
fair value of
hedged items
used as a basis
Cumulative amount of Line items on  for recognising
adjustments to fair value the balance  the ineffective
hedge of hedged items sheet that portion of Cash flow
Nominal amount of (included in carrying amount contain hedging for hedging
hedging instruments of hedged items) hedged items the year reserves
TERERR
ag EBENHD
BREHERANEE BREHERH R
EMBENRAEH BESEX  RELEA ReRE
ENTANKEER FAREREENREER) JITREE  AREERY EHRE
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
8 8% BE 8
Exchange rate risk = USD-settled - - - - N/A (3,251) 279
expected transactions
EXEE - XTAENEHRS TER
Exchange rate risk — EUR-settled - - - - N/A (32,786) -
expected transactions
EXER -BraEniazs TER
Exchange rate risk = Acquisition of - - - - Fixed assets (8,714) -
fixed assets
EXER - EREERE BEEE
Exchange rate risk — Expected sales - - - = Bank deposit (35,363) -
of US dollars which is very likely to
happen
EXRER - BB EEN RITER

BAXTHE
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X.  RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL + - HEmI AMEBENEE(E
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
5. Hedge (continued) 5. EH @)
Cash flow hedge (continued) B rneaELH(E)
The effects of the cash flow hedge on the statement of profit or EHTEAREEEHTE BB REMER
loss and the statement of other comprehensive income are as ABWETIRIAT ¢
follows:
2023 —EC-=F
Total hedging Amount
(loss)/gain reclassified
recognized Hedge from other
inother ineffectiveness  Lineiteminthe comprehensive Line item in the
comprehensive recognised in statement of income to profit statement of
income profit or loss profit or loss or loss profit or loss
FAR MRS
KENER BEERAN HRBEREEH BEENE
TANAR HAEHREN EHEXHIN REESEZ AENFBE
BEZD ERERSS RFBERITEE EBHEZNER 5| RIEE
Exchange rate risk = USD forward (38,614) - N/A 38,893  Revenue from
exchange contracts TER principal
EXER - ZTERMESL operations and
finance
expenses
FEEBRRA
MBER
Exchange rate risk — EUR forward (32,786) - N/A 32,786 Revenue from
exchange contracts TER principal
EXER - BUTRBINESLD operations
FEEBRA
Exchange rate risk = JPY forward (8,714) - N/A N/A N/A
exchange contracts TEA TEA TER

EXER - ATEPNESL
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INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Hedge (continued) 5.
Cash flow hedge (continued)

The effects of the cash flow hedge on the statement of profit or
loss and the statement of other comprehensive income are as
follows: (continued)

S & BT B ARES HY EL B ()

=M@

A nBEH (&)

EMTARABEESHEEMRE AL
BREIIRIAT - ()

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBETT

2022 —F-—
Total hedging Amount
(loss)/gain reclassified
recognized Hedge from other
in other ineffectiveness Line item in the comprehensive Line item in the
comprehensive recognised in statement of income to profit statement of
income profit or loss profit or loss or loss profit or loss
STARMES
Wz M EH BECHEAN  WREREEH BRENR
IANRR FAEHERN ERERTHIN ERESEE HERMER
EEED ERENE,  MERIITER  EHREGNEH J 2R
Exchange rate risk = USD forward (8,746) - N/A 8,746 Revenue from
exchange contract TEA principal
EXER - ETEPIMESL operations

TEXBRA
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X. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. Transfers of financial assets

The transferred financial assets that have been derecognised as a
whole but continue to be involved

In 2023, the Group carried out several discounting operations
for notes receivable with multiple banks and endorsed and
transferred certain bank acceptance bills to other parties to settle
equivalent amounts of payables. The Group believes that the
relevant notes receivable has transferred almost all of their risks
and rewards upon discounting or endorsement, meeting the
conditions for the derecognition of financial assets. Therefore,
on the discounting or endorsement date, the relevant notes
receivable was fully derecognised at their carrying amount.
In 2023, the carrying amount of notes receivable transferred
through discounting and endorsement by the Group was
RMB283,634,593,000. As of 31 December 2023, the notes
receivable that was derecognised but not yet fall due as the
discounting and endorsement amounted to RMB91,841,294,000.

As at 31 December 2023, there were no financial assets
derecognised with the continuous involvement status.

S & BT B ARES HY EL B ()

TRHEEER
EERKIBRIEEES A NEBESHE
E

RZEZ=FF  FEERSRIBITIRIER
TFRKERIRER - WiE TIRITALE
EREEBLAEMHT UL NRASSBOEN
FIE ALERAHBRKZENEERSE
ENELEBTHATHENRBRERH
HeomEERIEERES - AREERB
NEERARBEMEES PR IEEREHE
WTﬁ ZEZ=FE AKERBHE
MEEZEVLNREREEEEEEAARKE
283,634,593 F L - R-ZE=-_=F+_-_A=+
— B - AZEFREMEE MR IR R
FIEAR E N R IR B AR 91,841,204 F T ©

RZZEZ=F+ZRA=+—8  EEEI A
MEBEREE -
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Xl. DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE T— DREEHEE
1. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value 1. DAREBEFTENEENESE
31 December 2023 —E-=%+=-A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AABEFEERNBAER
Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

AR BEENER EEFUEE

miSHE BAE BWAE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-ER FEZER F=ER ait
Financial assets held for trading RH5UEREE = 9,562,550 = 9,562,550
Other equity instrument investments HiESTARE 1,014,460 1,297,415 3,015,408 5,327,283
Other non-current financial assets HEEnaepiE = 1,225,113 1,471,261 2,696,374
Receivables financing FEl R IE R E = 5,564,924 = 5,564,924
Total CHS 1,014,460 17,650,002 4,486,669 23,151,131
Financial liabilities held for trading RHUEHEE = 7,713 = 7,713
Total At = 7,713 = 7,713
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The fair values of listed equity instrument investments are based

on quoted market prices.

RMB’000
ARBFTT
Xl. DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) T— 2AEENEEE)
1. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value (continued) 1. DAAREBEFTENEENERE(H)
31 December 2022 —E-_F+-A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ARBEEEHNEAE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
R BEUER EEZTUEER
MiHRE HAE PN
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$-Br  $-ER  $2EX A
Financial assets held for trading RONEREE - 20,626,930 - 20,626,930
Other equity instrument investments HiEn T ARE 912,173 1,679,286 1,827,125 4,418,584
Other current assets HinsEE - 213,257 - 213,257
Other non-current financial assets HMERBeREE - 908,294 1,238,846 2,147,140
Receivables financing FE R IE R E - 12,804,284 - 12,894,284
Total CEH 912,173 36,322,051 3,065971 40,300,195
Financial liabilities held for trading RHUeRHAE - 54,605 - 54,605
Total I - 54,605 - 54,605
2, The fair value measurement in Level 1 2, E-BRAAEEFE

tHHERTARE  UWSHREBRERA
B1E -



XI.

Annual Report 2023
ZERCZFFR

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETTT
DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) T— 2AEENEEE)
The fair value measurement in Level 2 3. E_BRAAREHETE
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments contracts AREBERITILTTEERIAEGR &
which are the foreign currency forward contracts with banks HMNEREIG R - SRAEUREREBIU LR
and adopts valuation techniques similar to forward pricing B ENGEERMGETHE - BRARET S
and present value methods for measurement. The model A5 ERINEAE  BEXHEFH
incorporates various market observable inputs including the EREE - NAFMERAERTFERGE - S
credit quality of counterparties and foreign exchange spot and ERFERAMEAEBEREQAABAEMAR - R
forward rates and yield curve. The carrying amounts of foreign ZE=FF+A=+—H TEEREE
currency forward contracts are the same as their fair values. As METTHEE  BEEETHEBNRNITETARS
at 31 December 2023, the mark to market value of derivative HFENRRNERGERE ZENFE -
financial assets is the net value after offsetting the credit valuation REEFERRREL  HREBHBEERF
adjustment attributable to the default risk of derivative instrument BEITHE TEME AR TE A E A A
counterparties. The change of counterparty credit risk has no AR BEIENSRIE  HEEATE -

significant impact on the evaluation of hedging effectiveness of
designated derivatives in hedging relationship and other financial
instruments measured at fair value.

For the wealth management products at fair value through profit NAnBEFEBEES ST ABENRNE
or loss and receivables financing, the Group will estimate their fair o BUGRIERE - AEEFSFBERKEER
values by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based SHEEUNTAZTSMNEERALRR SR
on the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms ERERUGEAREE UARBENE
and risks. For the equity instruments at fair value, the Group will MiER TAE  AEEUMZEBENGERL
estimate their fair values based on a combination of market data BEERERGEE AR EE -

and valuation models.

The fair value measurement in Level 3 4. E=ZBRAAEBEFE

The Group’s finance department is responsible for determining rEBENTBHagfcemITAEAREE
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of AENREMNRER  TEERAEESHEE
financial instruments and reports directly to the person in charge BEA BEBEBGERA  UHKIdoNe
of accounting institution. At each balance sheet date, the finance MIAEEZS BEAEBEANEZHA
department analyses the movements in the values of financial B WEETESHARESGEATZIE -

instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the person
in charge of accounting institution.
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XI.

DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)
The fair value measurement in Level 3 (continued)

For investments in restricted shares and unlisted equity
instruments, the Group adopts the recent transaction method
or applies valuation techniques to determine their fair value,
while valuation techniques include market multiplier method,
option pricing models, etc. The measurement of fair value uses
significant unobservable parameters, including enterprise value-
to-revenue (“EV/Revenue”) ratio, liquidity discount, volatility,
investment underlying net value, etc. The financial instruments
measured at the fair value in Level 3 on a recurring basis was
not significantly sensitive to a reasonable change in these
unobservable inputs. The Group believes that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique and the related
changes in fair values are reasonable, and they were the most
appropriate values at the balance sheet date.

Below is the summary of significant unobservable inputs for main
fair value measurement in Level 3:

T— AREENKE(E)
4. F=ZBRAIABETE@R
HRRERS  FLTHESTARE - F

LR S AR EFABERNREELA
AEE HERTEETSEREE - ST
BENE HAREENTERATEEZY
FAEEL W2 EE WA TEV/
Revenuel) kb & - ﬁEfJ’E?ﬁ?ﬂ BRI
BIZRFES - BEF-EBRAAEENE
m%ﬂlﬂﬂL“TT%$%A@m%iQ

BEBAHEM - AEBEMEE - AEERM
MW AREBEREEZS  EAEM LA
NEREERRRARAENER -

MTAEENE=EAAABENENEE
RATER A R ¢

31 December 2023

—B=H+=ZA=+—H

Fair value
at the end of Range (the weighted
the year  Valuation technique Unobservable inputs average value)
ERDAMBE HERN TAEERAE SEEH(NETHE)
Other equity instrument investments 1,682,140  Market approach Average EV/Revenue ratio  1.15-18.49
HitEn TARE Loy FHREEE/ BALE
Average EV/ EBITDA ratio  2.22-21.67
FHREEE/ SRFEA
ill e
Average EV/ Net profit 51.72
margin
THREEE/FRELER
Other equity instrument investments 1,333,268  Option pricing model Volatility of underlying 27.60%-47.83%
asset price
HivEn TARE BREEEER BHEEBERHRD R
Other non-current financial assets 99,216  Option pricing model Volatility of underlying 10.31%
asset price
HitEnBemEE BETERR BHEEERNREZ
Other non-current financial assets 1,372,045 Investment underlying  Net value of underlying RMB64,453,000 to
net value method investment RMB35,884,267,000
HitEnBemaE REGNFEZE REBNNFE AEK#64,453T -

AERM35,884,267F 7T
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AREFTT
Xl. DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) T— - AREENRE(E
4. The fair value measurement in Level 3 (continued) 4. FZBRAARBETEE
31 December 2022 —E-_F+-A=+—H
Fair value
at the end of Range (the weighted average
the year  Valuation technique Unobservable inputs value)
FRAAREE (HERKM NEREAE BERM(NETIE)
Other equity instrument investments 1,413,857  Market approach Average EV/Revenue ratio 0.75-1.6
HitEn TARE mis THLEEE/RALE
Average EV/ EBITDA ratio 15.88-18.46
THLEEE/BRTERN
MEL =
P/E ratio 23.14
max
E/Qratio 43
mFE
Other equity instrument investments 413,268  Option pricing model Volatility of underlying asset ~ 35.47%-60.27%
price
HitEn TARE T ERE BREEBRNKYX
Other non-current financial assets 1,238,846 Investment underlying net  Net value of underlying RMB519,451,000 to
value method investment RMB34,115,279,000
HitEngemeE RERNFEE RERRNFE AR519,451F 7T -
ARH34,115279F T
5. The adjustment information of continuous fair value 5. =

BEE=BADAEENENATER
o)

Below is the adjustment information of continuous fair value BEMF=ERAAEBAEFTENFAGEEW
measurement in Level 3: e
2023 —E-=
Total gains or losses
EONsRRAEE
Changes in
unrealised
gains or losses
Throuah of assets held
Throuah rouhg atthe end
rolug i Ier of the year
Transferto  Transfer out profitor - comprehensive through profit
Opening balance Level 3 of level 3 loss income Purchases Closing balance or loss
EXEEN
BEHABE
WEBRER
LA GIIER PR
FYsE  BAZZER  BHEZEX HARE RakE BE ERBE ity )
Other equiy instrument HitERTA
investments %E 1,827,125 1,229,687 (24,670) - (66,736) 50,002 3,015,408 -
Other non-current financial Et3ERS
assets SREE 1,238,846 114,278 = (100,458) = 218,595 1,471,261 (100,458)
3,065,971 1,343,965 (24,670) (100,458) (66,736) 268,597 4,486,669 (100,458)
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Xl. DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

T— AREENKE(E)

5. The adjustment information of continuous fair value 5. BEE=BRXAAEBEFAENATEE
measurement in Level 3 (continued) (&)
2022 —F_—
Total gains or losses
ERfGEREE
Changes in
unrealised
gains o losses
of assets held
Through attheend
Through other of the year
Transferto  Transfer out profit - comprehensive through profit
Opening balance Level 3 of level 3 orloss income Purchases  Closing balance orloss
ERIFRM
BEH AR
HEBAER
£ AR Ex flREEk
BE  BAZZER  BHEZEXR HARE FalE #E i ol 4
Other equity instrument EhERTA
investments bt 803,387 251,197 (33,257) - 679,603 119,595 1,827,125 -
Other non-current financial HftFRS
assets SHAE 194,787 40,000 - 23,269 - 980,790 1,238,846 23,269
998,174 297,197 (33,257) 23,269 679,603 1,100,385 3,065,971 23,269




XI.

XIL.

Annual Report 2023
ZERCZFFR

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) T— 2AEENEEE)
Transfers among continuous fair value hierarchies 6. BEAABEFENERER
In 2023, the other equity instrument investment held by the Group —EC=FE  ASEBAENAEMERTA
had quotations in an active market due to the release of lock- wEARE MR - FRERMS®RE - A
up period, and its fair value was transferred from Level 3 to Level AREERE=ZBERABAZE—ERX #¥%
1, with a transfer amount of RMB24,670,000. Certain financial BAEARE24670F T NEEIH SR
instruments of the Group were valued using Level 3 valuation TEREEERAERGAEMEAE=/E
techniques as there were no observable inputs available, and KAFERMFAGE  THEEAABERSE
their fair values were transferred from Level 2 to Level 3, with a ZERERIFEZER BERSBEAARE
transfer amount of RMB1,343,965,000. In addition, there were no 1,343,965F 7T c Rk 24 - ZFEZ=F%F
other significant transfers among fair value hierarchies of financial AEESMTANARBEER ZHERLM
instruments of the Group in 2023. EREB o
In 2022, the other equity instrument investment held by the Group ZECCFE  ASEBENAEMERTA
had quotations in an active market due to the release of lock- wEARE MR - FRERMS®RE 2
up period, and its fair value was transferred from Level 3 to Level AREERE=BERABAZE—ER #E¥s
1, with a transfer amount of RMB33,257,000. Certain financial HMAARKS3257TIL - AEEFDERT
instruments of the Group were valued using Level 3 valuation BEREZENHEZGABMRKBE=ER
techniques as there were no observable inputs available, and HERTFUAMEE  THEAAEBERES
their fair values were transferred from Level 2 to Level 3, with a BRERINF-ER BEESBEAARKE
transfer amount of RMB297,797,000. In addition, there were no 297,797 F 7T o Brib 2 AN ZEZZFEAR
other significant transfers among fair value hierarchies of financial SEeRIANARBERR AELME
instruments of the Group in 2022. R -
The change of valuation techniques 7. RERNEE
There is no change of valuation techniques by the Group in 2023. TEC=FE AEBRBEE T HERN
BB ©
RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY +Z BEIBRRERS
TRANSACTIONS
Related parties with controlling relationship 1. FEESRRNBES
Number of

sharesin  Percentage of  Percentage of
Name Relationship with the Group the Company shareholdings  voting rights
Z% HALEBGR EERD ARG R TR
Wang Chuan-fu The largest shareholder and chairman of the Company 518,351,550 17.81% 17.81%
TER ARE-—RBE  EFK
Note: The total number and proportion of shares held by Mr. g TEREERREHEEERLEAFHEE

Wang Chuan-fu include 1,000,000 H shares held by him,
as well as the 3,727,700 A shares held by Mr. Wang
Chuan-fu in No.1 Assets Management Plan through E
Fund BYD.

FE#AH91,000,000 8 HAEAE 19+ thB3E
TEEBLEBRBS HELE T MIEE
1SR B EEIEFEFHM3,727, 7000 A
RS ©
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Xill. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

2. Subsidiaries
Details of the subsidiaries are set out in Note VIII.1.

3. Joint ventures and associates

Except for the important joint ventures and associates disclosed
in Note VIII.2, other joint ventures and associates having

transactions with the Group are as follows:

Company’s name
NI

T BBIERREXS (E)

2, FRH

FRAFEMEN 1

3. RELENBELHE

BREFEEN - 2BRBEMEERSECEMB LD
B BASEBERFNEMEEREM
BradzmT

Relationship with related parties

B B R

Tianjin BYD Auto Co., Ltd.
RELT#TEBR AR

Shenzhen Shell BYD Electric Vehicle Investment Co., Ltd.
R B EE) B R E R AT

Shenzhen BYD International Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.
RN EE R R A E AR A

Hangzhou BYD Xihu New Energy Auto Co., Ltd.
MM P B Fr ae IR T E B IR A A

Guangzhou Guang Qi BYD New Energy Bus Co., Ltd.
BN At e R E R B R AR

Xi’an Infrastructure Yadi Automobile Service Co., Ltd.
P It B RIS AR E TR A]

Beijing Hualin Loading Co., Ltd.
I RENFEERRAA

Joint venture
BEDE

Associate
B b3

Joint venture
GElE

Joint venture
RN S

Joint venture
BEDE

Joint venture

SRS

Joint venture

BELE



XIl.

Annual Report 2023
—BRO=EER

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Joint ventures and associates (continued)

Company’s name

DREEH

T BBIERREXS (E)

3. RELENBELXE

Relationship with related parties

B B R

RMB’000
ARBETT

Yinchuan Sky Rail Operation Co., Ltd.
RINEHEESARAA

Tianjin Hongdi Financial Lease Co., Ltd.
RERBHEHERRE LA

Meihao Travel (Hangzhou) Automotive Technology Co., Ltd.

FAF AT N RERHR B R A A

BYD TOYOTA EV Technology Co., Ltd.
e HESERE AR AT

Shenzhen Micro Grid Digital Battery Technology Co., Ltd.
RN ER AR AR

Shenzhen Dipai Zhixing Technology Co., Ltd.
RYTT RS TR AR AR

LA SkyRail Express Holding LLC
Guangdong CHNBEL Energy Technology Co., Ltd.
BERH BRI ERERAA

Shangshui Smartech Ltd.
RV KSR BRAF)

Associate
B2

Associate
BB b3

Joint venture
BEDE

Joint venture

S S

Associate
B2

Joint venture
BEDE

Joint venture
BEDE

Associate
Bra b2

Associate
B2

309



310

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBTT

XIl.

RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Joint ventures and associates (continued)

Company’s name

DREEH

T BBIERREXS (E)

3. RELENBELXE

Relationship with related parties

B B R

BYD UZBEKISTAN FACTORY LLC

Tianjin Sanying Precision Instruments Co., Ltd.
RE=ZRBEEEBROERAA

Advanced Materials Technology & Engineering, Inc.

BHEXMETRERNERAF

Shan Mei Ling Qiu Bi Xing Industry Development Co., Ltd.
IWRERLL 2 EXERBERRAA

Foshan Greifen New Energy Co., Ltd.
BT RIR S FBE R AR A A

Xiamen VIA Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.
EFIMRE R RO BRAF

Allystar Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
RYZE AL BRI AR A A

Hebei Haiwei Electronic New Material Technology Co., Ltd.

AR BT R R R BR A A

Joint venture

BEhE

Associate
BB b3

Associate
B b3

Associate
Bra b2

Associate
B2

Associate
B3

Associate
B b3

Associate
Bra b2
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Other related parties

Company’s name
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B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

T BBIERREXS (E)

4, HubRaw S

Relationship with related parties

B S AR

UBTECH ROBOTICS CORP LTD
AYITELEREBRNARAF

Youngy Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd.

BEREEREEAR AR

Onyx International Inc. Co., Ltd.

BMXAEEREER AR

Sichuan Changhe Huali Technology
Co., Ltd.

MW RMEERZBR AR

Chengdu Youngy Lithium Technology
Co., Ltd.

PR B R SR E R AR A A

Sichuan Road & Bridge Group Co., Ltd.
MR EREREERDERAF]

Shenzhen Energy Sales & Service Co., Ltd.
IRERERHREEER A

Youngy Co., Ltd.
AERN AR QT

Dongguan Tec-Rich Engineering Co., Ltd.

REmisniEBREGR AR

A non-executive director of the Company is a director of this company

ARB—BIFPTESRAZRAES

A non-executive director of the Company is a director of this company

ARB—HIFNTEE/ZARES

A non-executive director of the Company is a director of this company

AR —HIFNTEER/ZARES

This company is indirectly controlled by a non-executive director of the
Company
ZAFRARA - BIFPITESHEEHN AT

This company is indirectly controlled by a non-executive director of the
Company

ZARRARE —RIERITEEHEEFAF

A senior management of the Company is a director of this company
RAR—Z2EBRERANBRZARES

A senior management of the Company was a director of this company in
the past 12 months
BETZAARN ARFA—E25EEBABERZAAES

A non-executive director of the Company is a director of this company

ARB—BIFRPTEERAZRAES

This company is indirectly controlled by a non-executive director of the
Company
ZAREARNT —AIFRITESHEEROH LA
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RMB’000
ARMBFT
Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY T BBABERRERS (B
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
5. Major transactions between the Group and related 5. FEBEHEHBHINEERS
parties
(1) Related party transactions of goods and services (1) B B mREBERE
Purchase of goods and accepting service from related BB BB AN AT
parties
Transaction Excess of
limit transaction
Details of transactions 2023 approved limit 2022
=EEB
AR “ECCE EHRNRAEE RABE ~F--
Joint ventures Purchase of goods and accepting 1,165,970 1,660,000 No 600,077
service &
AERE FEELNERSE
Associates Purchase of goods and accepting 11,270,006 22,717,002 No 10,329,729
service &
Bah® FREMNEXSE
Other related parties Purchase of goods and accepting 338,697 1,349,229 No 1,108,850
service B
H B FRERAEXSHE
Total

=l 12,774,673 25,716,231 12,038,656
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RMB’000
ARMBFIT
RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY T BBABERRERS (B
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Major transactions between the Group and related 5. AEEHEEAKINEERS (F)
parties (continued)
Related party transactions of goods and services (1) B B R REBER S (E)
(continued)
Sales of goods and rendering of services to related ) B s 77 S 6 P o SR IR (L A5 755
parties
Details of transactions 2023 2022
REAB —=E-= -
Joint ventures Sales of goods and rendering of 2,268,738 973,447
services
B e RIS
Associates Sales of goods and rendering of 443,317 490,093
services
B2 R AR 4 1
Other related parties Sales of goods and rendering of 288,187 28,165
services
H {th BAHE 7 P R AR R B 7S
Total
&t 3,000,242 1,491,705
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B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
AREFTT
Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY T= BEBAIBERERERS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
5. Major transactions between the Group and related 5. AEEHEEAKINEERS (F)
parties (continued)
@) Leases with related parties @) B HE
As lessees EREIEA
2023 —EB-=F
Lease
payments for Variable
short-term lease
leases and payments
leases of  not included
low-value in the Interest
assets with  measurement expenses  Additions to
Type of simplified of lease Rental onlease right-of-use
leased assets approach liabilities paid liabilities assets
HEREN
EHRER
EEEEE  AMAHE
HEN BEFENT RENEE  BNNER
HEEERR HEER SHENRE  XfivHEE &ENEXH REE
Hangzhou BYD Xihu New Energy Auto Co., Ltd. ~ Housing - - 3,035 122 5,121
MBS R R EBRAE EE
Tianjin BYD Auto Co., Ltd. Housing - - 3,640 114 5,279
RELTEAEGRAT EE
Total

aif - - 6,675 236 10,400
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RMB’000
ARMBFIT
RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY T= BEBAIBERERERS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Major transactions between the Group and related 5. AEEHEEAKINEERS (F)
parties (continued)
@) Leases with related parties (continued) @) B HE (&
As lessees (continued) EBEETA (B)
2022 ==
Lease
payments for Variable
short-term lease
leases and payments
leases of not included
low-value inthe Interest
assets with  measurement expenses Additions to
Type of simplified of lease Rental on lease right-of-use
leased assets approach liabilities paid liabilities assets
ek
BHREEN
EBEEE  KWAHE
HEM BfEHENT RENEE  ENOER
HELERR HeBR SHENFE  IAHBEE  ABFEXH EEE
Hangzhou BYD Xihu New Energy Auto Co., Ltd.  Housing - - 4,998 185 1,412
MM BB DR TE AR AT BE
Tianjin BYD Auto Co., Ltd. Housing - - 3,697 120 -
RELTEAEERAT BE
Xi'an Infrastructure Yadi Automabile Service
Co., Ltd. Equipment - - 19 - -
BRERTEEREERELAT By
Total
CH - - 8,714 305 1412
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Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

5. Major transactions between the Group and related 5. AEEHEEAKINEERS (F)

parties (continued)

(&

Providing guarantees to related parties

T BBIERREXS (E)

@) BEBTIREER

Loan guarantees ERER
2023 —E-=F
Whether
guarantee
Guarantee Commencement has been
amount date of guarantee Maturity date of guarantee  performed
BRER
EREE BEREKAB ERIHA BT =2
BYD Auto Finance Co., Ltd. 18,245,150 6 February 2023 - 29 August 2024 - No
27 December 2023 27 December 2027
e TESRMER DA ZE-ZF-HAAHE ZE-MFENA=TABE &
“E-=H+-A=-+tH ZB-tFE+=A=t+tH
Tianjin Hongdi Financial Lease 33,283 31 December 2023 10 December 2024 No
Co., Ltd.
RAELREREHEERAR “Z-=f+-A=+—-H ZEZE-WE+-A+H &
MCC Ramu New Energy 39,500 5 January 2022 5 April 2030 No
Technology Co., Ltd.
HORIG AR B R B AR A A —E--Ff—HEH —E=ZTFMAARA B
Hubei Energy Storage Co., Ltd. 1,298 1 February 2019 1 February 2026 No
e B O BR AT —E-hE=-A—H —E-REZA-H =
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RMB’000
ARMBFIT
RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY T BBABERRERS (B
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Major transactions between the Group and related 5. AEEHEEAKINEERS (F)
parties (continued)
(4) Transfer of related parties assets (4) By K EEE
Details of transaction 2023 2022
REAB —EC=F —ET-—
Joint ventures Disposal of fixed assets
B HEBRTEEE = 5,803
Associates Disposal of fixed assets
B2 HERETEE = 27,172
Other related parties Disposal of fixed assets
H ith BAHE 7 HERTEEE - -
Joint ventures Purchase of fixed assets
e BEETEE 9,156 8,823
Associates Purchase of fixed assets
ke BEETEE 587,310 858,986
Other related parties Purchase of fixed assets
HAh RS BEETEE 336,354 -
932,820 900,784
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RMB’000
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Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY T= BEBAIBERERERS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
5. Major transactions between the Group and related 5. AEEHEEAKINEERS (F)
parties (continued)
(5) Others ) Eh
2023 2022
—=2-= —EF-—
Key Management Compensation PR EIE A B 5 123,371 92,651
The share-based payment expense recognised in 2023 AAFIBAREEREERN T -
for the 2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan granted FEIRRFER S _=FF8
to key management personnel of the Company was ROBRNZNBRAAARKE42,875F
RMB42,875,000. The above compensation does not 7T PHBABREZIBSRE -
include this amount.
6. Balance of related parties receivables and payables 6. A 75 e W PE (S SRIE RREE
(1) Receivables (1) JEY I
2023 2022
—EC=E g
Provision Provision
Book for Book for
balance bad debts balance bad debts
IREEAZE BRER RE#E ZIRER
Joint ventures REDE 2,044,479 651,160 1,906,392 153,550
Associates BEdE 152,234 27,355 492,786 44,192
Other related parties H A B 48,045 83 - -
2,244,758 678,598 2,399,178 197,742
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RMB’000
ARBTT
RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY T BBRIBRERERS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Balance of related parties receivables and payables 6. R B 7 FE UK PE S SR IE BR BE ()
(continued)
@ Payables ) JET3H
2023 2022
—E_-= —F-—
Joint ventures BEE 379,093 409,868
Associates B 3,857,503 4,165,081
Other related parties HAbREE S 352,222 89,944

4,588,818 4,664,893

The amounts due from and due to related parties are

& Yo e A< BR B 5 SRS LR B, -~ B

interest-free and unsecured. R -
Monetary funds deposited with related parties 7. FHEBRINEYES
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF--
BYD Auto Finance Co., Ltd. thEni R E S B A R A A 3,505,856 4,738,542

The annual interest rate of the above deposits in 2023 is
3.1%-3.2% above the benchmark interest rate published by the
People’s Bank of China for deposits of the same period, and an
interest income of RMB174,280,000 was recognised in 2023
(2022: 3%=38.2%, and an interest income of RMB298,688,000
was recognised).

ZEZ=F - P RENEREBFEAR
RITAHHNEBFEREEF R FZ53.1%-
3.2%  ZEZ=FEERFNBEBRAARE
174,280 F L (Z B - —FF : 3%-3.2% ' &
RF B A AR BE298,688F L) ©
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XIIl.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan of the Group

On 22 April 2022, BYD Company Limited held the twenty-first
meeting of the Seventh Session of the Board of Directors of BYD
Company Limited (the “Company”), at which the resolution in
relation to the 2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan (Draft) of
BYD Company Limited and its summary was considered and
approved. It was proposed to implement the 2022 Employee
Share Ownership Plan of BYD Company Limited (the “Employee
Share Ownership Plan”) for the employee representative
supervisors and senior management of BYD Company Limited
and the mid-level management and core backbone employees
of BYD Group. The Employee Share Ownership Plan was
considered and approved at the 2022 First Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Company held on 27 May 2022. The Company
repurchased a total of 5,511,024 A shares through the designated
securities account for repurchase by way of centralised bidding
transactions, accounting for 0.189% of the total share capital
of the Company. The repurchase was completed in June 2022
and the transfer registration was completed in July 2022. The
subscription price of the Employee Share Ownership Plan is
RMBO per share, and no capital contribution is required to be
made by the participants. The term of the Employee Share
Ownership Plan shall be 48 months from the date on which the
Employee Share Ownership Plan is considered and approved at
the general meeting and the Company announces that the last
batch of the underlying shares is transferred to the Employee
Share Ownership Plan.

LR XA

TECCFAREEZETEREE
—E-CFENMA-+=—R hTEERHOER
RABRALE#EBRNDAERAT A TERBIA
ANE+rEEESE _T—Ae% BB
B RRBRNERAR ZE-__FE8T
BRI (ERDKERENZER - B
THBRMHARATBIARRES  SAERE
ABURLDHEBMOPEEEAES - &0
EHETEB(EDBBRMHERARN S
THEBIERAE) A TEENE TR
Z) e AEIR—ZE-_—FHA=-T++BHEH
T CFFE-RBEEHEREAS  BRRB
TEIHKHE - ARBEBLOEIEAES
RPUERBHEXRSHNH N R EEBARRK
DRIEE B5,511,0240% » 152 B EIXAE
0.189% @ WHRZZEZZ—FNAZKEE =
T FLAEKBEERL - AB TIHRE
EIREEOL, /I 2HEEREFTHE - K
BIRHBRENGES 48R B4AET
FRFEERRASEZRBANFAER
B —EENREBFERAETERTEET
Z B -
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

2020 Share Option Incentive Scheme of the Group’s
subsidiary BYD Semiconductor

On 10 May 2021 and 16 June 2021, the Company held the
11th Meeting of the Seventh Session of the Board and the
extraordinary general meeting, respectively, during which the
Company considered and approved the Resolution on Proposed
Implementation of the Share Option Incentive Scheme by BYD
Semiconductor Company Limited, and approved the adoption of
the 2020 Share Option Incentive Scheme of BYD Semiconductor
Company Limited (the “Subsidiary Share Option Scheme”). The
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme granted 33,088,200 share
options to 36 incentive grantees, including directors (excluding
independent non-executive directors), senior management
and core key personnel (but excluding supervisors) of BYD
Semiconductor, representing 7.353% of the then registered
capital of BYD Semiconductor.

The share options granted under the Subsidiary Share
Option Scheme shall be exercised in three tranches, and the
corresponding vesting periods shall be 24 months, 36 months
and 48 months from the date of grant, respectively.

The equity instruments granted are as follows:

+=-
2.

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBFT

B4 2 A (&)
—ECEFAEEZTARLIELEN

IR BT

TE-—FRATHE-Z-—F AT
B ARapfEMAEtEESEE+—K
gRLABRFRERE  FZABT(ERL
T E RN AR A AR E RS ET
EMER)  LERMNLDBLERERNE
RARZE_TFREREIBAS(TTFR
BN HARERT EI)) o 7 AR AE AR BN AT
BB RELEhrEENES(TREEY
FRHITESR)  SREEAE - ZLBEHA
BUETBREER)EANIGEIBYRET
3,308.828 (IR HEHAE - (HLL M EEE
& AR L A7.353% o

RRF R E Pebe AT 81 T OB Mg D
ZIRITHE  BENSHFHIM SRR T RE
2418 A ~ 36fEA - 48fEA -

RPHEBEEETAMT

Exercised for the year Vested for the year Lapsed for the year
RETHE KERH KERY
Quantity Amount’ Quantity Amount’ Quantity Amount’
- &8 g8 k2N g8 E2
Sales personnel HEAR 781 3,544 140 37,125 498 2,261
Management personnel EEAEB 3,428 15,562 562 148,707 1,689 7,668
Research personnel HEAE 2,010 9,127 746 197,117 1,501 6,815
Manufacturing and other ~ EigEREMAE
personnel - - 205 54,202 - -
Total CHI 6,219 28,233 1,653 487,151 3,688 16,744

*

Calculating according to the fair values of vested equity
instruments at the vesting date

*OABENER TAEREANAAEBEFE
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XIIl.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The equity instruments outstanding as at the end of the year are

as follows:

T= RN @&
FRETEINSEESZTALT ¢

Subsidiary share options

Other equity instruments

FRARIRERRE HihiERT A
The range of The remaining The range of The remaining
option price life of contract option price life of contract
TRERN ERFE & TREERDN ERF sk
& E HABR &iE HABR
Sales personnel HEAE RMB4.54 5-17 months  RMBO per share 7 - 19 months
pershare 5@ A-171E A or/B  7IER-191EA
4547/ 1%
Management personnel EIRAB RMB4.54 5-17 months  RMBO per share 7 - 19 months
pershare 518 A-171E A ort,/ 1% 71& A -19@ A
4.5471 /I
Research personnel MEAE RMB4.54 5-17 months  RMBO per share 7 - 19 months
pershare 518 A-171E A oL,/ B 7{& A -198 A
4547,/ Bk
Manufacturing and other SLEREMAR - - RMBO per share 7 - 19 months

personnel

o,/ B

7{E A-191& A
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Xlll. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payments are as follows:

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARMBFIT
T=- RGO X&)
N AEENRMD I ERAT
2023
—E-=F

The determination of the fair value of equity instrument
as at the date of grant

The important parameters of the fair value of equity
instrument as at the date of grant

The basis for determining the quantity of equity
instruments available for exercise

The reason for the significant difference between the

current year’s estimate and the previous year’s estimate

The cumulative amount of equity-settled share-based
payments credited to in capital reserve

BYHEIEAARBENEETE Based on the
closing price of
the shares on the
date of grant
or the binomial
model to
determine
RERTFHRE
WBRERE=E
RNEBEE
Based on the
closing price of
the shares on the
date of grant;
or the expected
volatility or the
risk-free
interest rate
RTEREWEE;
$2 B Rl 3=
Based on the
best estimate of
the management

BEYARaTARABENEZZH

Al THEE T A B E MR KR

EEENREM

E

AEMGFHEFFEFEEAEZEN Nil

RA =

s ENRMND N ABR 1,097,562
NG oS e
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RMB’000
AREF T
Xlll. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) T= BRHEXZAEE)
The share-based payments incurred during the year are as RNEFBENRNODEIFERADT :
follows:
Equity-settled
share-based
payments
DEREEN
BReoZSER
Sales personnel HEABR 84,166
Management personnel BEERAR 247,643
Research personnel HEAE 398,844
Manufacturing and other personnel SEEREMAR 141,536
Total &t 872,189
XIV. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT EVENTS T AERHESEE
1. Material commitments 1. BEEAHEEE
2023 2022
—EB-=fF —EF-—
Capital commitments B 35,727,463 41,434,155
Investment commitments & EH 535,527 759,139

36,262,990 42,193,294
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COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT EVENTS
(CONTINUED)

Contingent events

Contingent liabilities arising from pending litigation or arbitration
and its financial impact

Action against Foxconn

On 11 June 2007, a Hong Kong High Court (the “Court”) action
(the “June 2007 Action”) was commenced by a subsidiary of
Foxconn International Holdings Limited and a company jointly
controlled by its ultimate holding company (the “Plaintiffs”)
against the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group
(the “Defendants”) for using confidential information alleged to
have been obtained improperly from the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs
discontinued the June 2007 Action on 5 October 2007 without
any liability to the Defendants. On the same day, the plaintiffs
initiated a new set of legal proceedings in the Hong Kong High
Court (the “October 2007 Action”). The Defendants named in
the October 2007 Action are the same as the Defendants in the
June 2007 Action, and the claims made by the Plaintiffs in the
October 2007 Action are based on the same facts and grounds
in the June 2007 Action. The remedies sought by the Plaintiffs
in the October 2007 Action include an injunction restraining the
Defendants from using the alleged confidential information, an
order for the disgorgement of profit made by the Defendants
through the use of the confidential information, damages based
on the loss suffered by the Plaintiffs and exemplary penalties. The
total damages sought by the Plaintiffs in the October 2007 Action
have not been quantified. On 2 October 2009, the Defendants
instituted a counter-action against Foxconn International Holdings
Limited and certain of its subsidiaries for their intervention,
by means of illegal measures, in the operations involving the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries, collusion, written and
verbal defamation, and the economic loss as a result of the said
activities since 2006.

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBETIT

AmRFEEEREE)

RNEEH

RRFFERE NP ETO K A 2B B ERE T
é’éﬂ;ﬂ

=B

i

1

+tFRA+T—H  ELEREEER
BT—RTEFREE—HEER
EERAREHNAR(REDAELS
FER(CERDEAFATZZEZELFR
FAB)  EEARBRAEEET BT
AE(HEDERERERSEIFEERH
BEER  RECR_TZLF+ALAR
IF—2TLFRAHD  HEREN 2R
TFERNAFBREERE - R ZFARH
CHREREETMAEE - RE  REMETES
FREREN —MEAERF (22 EF
THHRD - —ETLF+AFDRNEEHE
“ETLFENAFBRORERR - BREE
R TAFRTRINBERHER-F
FEFRNAFDRTFOEARFERER - RE
E_TTELFETAFRPRENBERITER
FRRLEILRECAAABTER  BSW
ER A AT AR SRR A K
EREEXMNBERARINEEEREES - R
SE_ETLF+TAFRPTIRNBEEDE
TRHAME - —TTAFTA-A  #E
HELTRBEBREZERAERARREKLNE T
REARERF HZERARB _TERFU
RHBAEEFRTHARB MR F AR
g KFTR TERAEGE - B
ROBIRKRANTIT RIR ARG R ©
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TAF
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XIV. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT EVENTS
(CONTINUED)

2, Contingent events (continued)

Contingent liabilities arising from pending litigation or arbitration
and its financial impact (continued)

Action against Foxconn (continued)

As of the date of the this report, the case is still in proceedings.
With the assistance of the legal adviser responsible for the case
on behalf of the Company, the Board believes that the final result
of the proceeding and compensation obligations (if any) cannot
be estimated reliably.

The contingent liabilities arising from the guarantee provided by
the Group and its financial impact are as follows:

T AFERREEEE)
2. HAFEE

RRFFERE NP ETO K A 2B B ERE T
#(E

=L RRARM (38)

BHEARER  ZEMHDEFLERFT - &
KRERPBEREMHERBER BT
ESeRR RFDRNRREREBERD

(wnA) NRER] SEM AT -

AEEERERTEK A E RIEREIEZ
IR -

2023 2022
—g== —z—-

—_—=

Guarantees that the Company can
provide to banks for financing granted HIEREEE
to subsidiaries

MR T FRAIMEEEMARITIRH

115,028,008 102,279,134
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COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT EVENTS
(CONTINUED)

Contingent events (continued)

The contingent liabilities arising from the guarantee provided by
the Group and its financial impact are as follows: (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the actual guarantees provided
by the Company for its subsidiaries and related parties were
RMB43,872,398,000 and RMB18,319,231,000 (31 December
2022: RMB23,180,113,000 and RMB13,468,762,000).

The Group entered into cooperation contracts and documents
with certain customers (including end customers) and third parties
or related financial institutions. According to the arrangements of
the relevant cooperation contracts and documents, the Company
undertakes the repurchase obligations to these financial
institutions. If a customer defaults or specific conditions stipulated
in the contract occur, the Company inherits all the creditor’s
rights and related interests, and has the right to take relief
measures such as recovery and sale of new energy vehicles to
repay the remaining debts owed by the customer to the financing
institution, and would reserve the right to pursue recourse
for the balance of the creditor’s rights. Management is of the
opinion that the recovered assets will be able to be realised, and
the proceeds from the sales will basically cover the remaining
debts due to the financing institutions. As of 31 December
2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to these obligations was
RMB1,615,016,000 (31 December 2022: RMB3,395,512,000),
and there was no customer default or specific conditions as
stipulated in the contracts which the Company was required to
make any payment.

The Group made an impairment on financial guarantee contracts
and recognised a loss allowance of RMB61,984,000 (31
December 2022: RMB78,794,000) based on expected credit
losses.

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARBETIT

10 - AERHEEEGER)

2. ZWEFEE

AEEERERTEK A E RIEREIEZ
23R : (8)

R-ZZE_=ZF+-_A=+—H A2AAE
HFfFRARAIRBEB AT ERRENERAAR
#43,872,398 F M AR#18,319,231F
T(ZZEZ—_F+-A=+—8: AR
23,180,113 F LR AR¥13,468,762F
L) °

REFERFTEZS(SRHEP)RE=ZFK
AR ERERIaEER XY - REH
FAEEEaRRXHOLEE - ARRIRZSF
BHBEAELBER  BRFPENNELS

RAERR TR - ARRIEAZIEREN
MR - WAEATRERE I B 5
LR TESRUERE - LENEPHRME#
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XV.

XVL.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The 2023 proposed profit distribution plan was approved at the
Sixth Meeting of the Eighth Session of the Board of the Company
held on 26 March 2024. Based on the total share capital of
2,911,142,855 shares as at 26 March 2024, a cash dividend of
RMB9,012,243,000 (i.e. a cash dividend of RMB3.096 per share
(tax inclusive)) will be distributed. The dividend distribution plan is
subject to consideration and approval at the general meeting.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS
Segment reporting
Operating segment

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services. The Group currently
has two reportable segments as follows:

a) the mobile handset components, assembly service and
other products segment comprises the manufacture and
sale of mobile handset components such as housings
and electronic components and the provision of assembly
services;

b) the automobiles and related products and other products
segment comprises the manufacture and sale of
automobiles and auto-related molds and components and
automobile leasing and after sales services, automobile
power batteries, lithium-ion batteries, photovoltaic
products and iron battery products, rail transport and its
related business.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Segment reporting (continued)
Operating segment (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit.
The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit before tax except that gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value, finance costs (excluding interest expenses
on lease liabilities and exchange gains or losses), non-operating
income, other income, losses on disposal of assets, non-
operating expenses, investment income (excluding investment
income from associates and joint ventures), income from sales of
properties, the corresponding costs and tax expenses, as well as
administrative expenses incurred by the Company as the Group’s
headquarter are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, goodwill, financial
assets held for trading, other equity instrument investments, other
non-current financial assets, investment properties and assets
occupied by the Company as the Group’s headquarter as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred income tax liabilities, tax
payable, other current liabilities, other non-current liabilities, short-
term borrowings, long-term borrowings, bonds payable, interest
payable and dividends payable in other payables, financial
liabilities held for trading and liabilities assumed by the Company
as the Group’s headquarter as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Transfer pricing in operating segments is determined with
reference to the agreed price among operating segments.
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XVI. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

1. Segment reporting (continued)

Operating segment (continued)

EEDE(E)

Mobile handset

HMEESEE)
7 B 5 (80D

components, Automobiles
assembly and related  Adjustments
serviceand  products and and
other products other products eliminations Total
FHREH - RE-RE
HER HBRERK
2023 —E-=% HitEm HitER PR At
Revenue from external trading HINIHWA 118,576,910 483,453,318 285,126 602,315,354
Revenue from inter-segment trading DR HBA 12,851,640 5,780,354 (18,631,994) =
Total At 131,428,550 489,233,672 (18,346,868) 602,315,354
Share of investment income from joint HAEMB 2t ENRENS
ventures and associates - 1,277,455 - 1,277,455
Depreciation and amortization e R 3,135,373 40,417,346 = 43,552,719
Total profit FlBmsE 4,334,950 31,107,896 1,825,791 37,268,637
Income tax expense FERER 646,739 5,277,828 = 5,924,567
Capital expenditure (Note) BARMSEGE) 4,013,630 136,729,178 - 140,742,808
Total assets BEGE 81,841,877 591,428,013 6,277,780 679,547,670
Total liabilities BEEE 36,028,854 449,129,096 43,927,607 529,085,557
Other disclosures Hib %
Long-term equity investments in joint HeEMBatxn
ventures and associates RERERE = 17,647,212 = 17,647,212
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED) T HttEEEH ()
Segment reporting (continued) 1. o EBEHRE ()
Operating segment (continued) AR ()
Mobile handset
components, Automobiles
assembly and related Adjustments
service and products and and
other products  other products eliminations Total
Fgsm - RE AR
BER HBERR
2022 == HiEm HithEm REMEKH CH
Revenue from external trading HINZ WA 98,815,054 324,691,175 554,406 424,060,635
Revenue from inter-segment trading AHBERHBA 8,765,310 3,971,744 (12,737,054) -
Total Bt 107,580,364 328,662,919 (12,182,648) 424,060,635
Share of losses of joint ventures and HReEMBatE0RERE
associates - (685,885) - (685,885)
Depreciation and amortization TEREHE 2,832,736 17,537,269 - 20,370,005
Total profit FEEE 1,893,303 18,642,184 544,242 21,079,729
Income tax expense P& R 87,367 3,196,757 82,501 3,366,625
Capital expenditure (Note) BARMSEGE) 5210486 125,075,440 - 130,285,926
Total assets BELE 54,625,520 419,691,469 19,543,657 493,860,646
Total liabilities afEeE 22,020,698 326,023,534 24,426,577 372,470,809
Other disclosures Hit %
Long-term equity investments in joint HEEMBECEN
ventures and associates RERERE - 15,485,402 - 15,485,402

Note: Capital expenditure includes the acquisition of fixed assets

and intangible assets, etc.

i# BAUEXHERRERTEE  BVE

ES -
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XVI. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED) TR HttEEE1E (E)
1. Segment reporting (continued) 1. o EBEHRE ()
Other information Az 2
Geographical information HEELE
Operating revenue EERA
2023 2022
—E=-= =2
PRC (including Hong Kong, PE(BESRAHE)
Macau and Taiwan) 442,093,854 332,607,435
Overseas AN 160,221,500 91,453,200
602,315,354 424,060,635
Revenue from external trading is attributed to the location of HINZ B ARE P TR RS -
customers.
Total non-current assets EMENEERTE
2023 2022
—EB_-= —E- 4
PRC (including Hong Kong, PE(BIESRAHE)
Macau and Taiwan) 343,398,654 238,541,045
Overseas o0 6,753,730 3,078,914
350,152,384 241,619,959

Non-current assets exclude goodwill, other equity instrument
investments, other non-current financial assets, long-term
receivables and deferred income tax assets attributed to the
region where the assets are located.

Information about major customers

In 2023, operating revenue of RMB63,387,758,000 (2022:
RMB47,760,432,000) was derived from sales to a single
customer.

FRBEERZEEMBEE AL TR
BE - HtRaTARE HiERsEm
BE  REBUHFIEEMSHEE -

IBEFPER

TEC=FMEERAAREGES,387,758F
TT(ZE=Z=—F : ARMA47,760,432F 70) &
HE—BEZFHUA -
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED) +I5

#Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration 2.

Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

The remuneration of directors and supervisors is as follows:

B % ¥R AR M R

RMB’000
ARETT

HMEESEE)

HEEREEHMH

RER EHRA - TR AUEHIEE383(1)(a)
b)) OEMAR(HEESHZER SR
PISEoS  AEEEERESHHMEEND
™

EENMEFEFHMT -

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
—EC=HF —EF--

+=A +=A

=t—H =t—H

Fees B 1,140 1,000
Other emoluments: E b

Salaries, allowances and benefits TE&  EAREF 13,842 11,252

Pension scheme contributions BEDTE 138 120

Total &t 15,120 12,372

Note: The share-based payment expenses recognised in 2023 for
the 2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan granted to the
supervisors of the Company was RMB581,000, which is not
included in the above remuneration (2022: RMB344,000).

There was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and no emoluments
paid by the Group to a director or a supervisor of the Company
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2022: nil).

g ARFREREERN-_T-_—FETIHRK
e RZE-=FmRINRHIAE
AAARESS1TIT  ABSE Lilld
B (ZE = —F : AR¥344F 1) ©

AERTFHEEFAEFTHERLARABRELT
e AEEERAANREELEE(
EEE - ERSE A INAZ S B 6 %
T KMEREREECT__F 8 -
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XVI. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED) TR HttEEE1E (E)
2, #Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration (continued) 2, HEERESHMWN(E
Independent non-executive directors: B IERITES -
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—
+=A +=A
== =+-A
Mr. Cai Hong-ping BT AL 228 200
Mr. Zhang Min SRERSTAE 228 200
Ms. Yu Ling (Note 1) W32 22+ (3F1) 84
Mr. Jiang Yan-bo (Note 2) B SEG2) 144 200
Total &t 684 600
Note 1: Ms. Yu Ling was appointed as a director on 19 September g1 MEBRLZIN_ZE_=ZFALATALAEZR
2023, and her remuneration for 2023 covers the period from FARES HEHRN-_ZT-_=—FMNFHeE
19 September to 31 December. MEALATNAEZE+Z-_A=1+—HE
fE o
Note 2: Mr. Jiang Yan-bo resigned as a director on 19 September H2: BEREENR-ZE_=FnAT+HILBE

2023, and his remuneration for 2023 overs the period from 1
January to 19 September.

Executive director, non-executive directors and supervisors:

FEF HR_Z_=F0FHeBX
E-A—BEAA+TABEHME -

HITES  JFRTESRES:

2023 —ZE-=
Salaries, Pension
allowances scheme
Fees and benefits contributions Total
I¥- =28
e REF EE25HE e
Executive director WITES
Mr. Wang Chuan-fu TEELLE = 6,565 46 6,611
Non-executive directors HEHITES
Mr. Lv Xiang-yang &= [[k% 5 A4 228 = = 228
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan BEhaiE 228 = = 228
Supervisors s
Mr. Dong Jun-ging (Note 1) EERBEEGRET) = 72 = 72
Mr. Li Yong-zhao OKEEE = 128 = 128
Ms. Wang Zhen T2t = 5,025 46 5,071
Ms. Zhu Ai-yun (Note 2) BELZI(372) = 56 = 56
Mr. Huang Jiang-feng TR E = 128 = 128
Ms. Tang Mei Eigi L = 1,868 46 1,914
Total CEl 456 13,842 138 14,436
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED) T HttEEEH ()
#Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration (continued) 2, HEERESHFM(E)
2022 —E-F
Salaries, Pension
allowances scheme
Fees and benefits  contributions Total
T& 285
ok &R BEEEFE 1azE
Executive director WITES
Mr. Wang Chuan-fu FEREE - 6,107 40 6,147
Non-executive directors FMITEE
Mr. Lv Xiang-yang &= mAks kA& 200 - - 200
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan BEhEELE 200 - - 200
Supervisors BEE
Mr. Dong Jun-ging BERELE - 100 - 100
Mr. Li Yong-zhao oK E - 100 - 100
Ms. Wang Zhen T2+ - 3,539 40 3,579
Mr. Huang Jiang feng EAR =3 v - 100 - 100
Ms. Tang Mei Eigzt - 1,306 40 1,346
Total CEl 400 11,252 120 11,772
Note 1: Mr. Dong Jun-qing resigned as a supervisor on 19 g1 BEREPEER-ZT_=FNATIHBE

Note 2:

September 2023, and his remuneration for 2023 covers
the period from 1 January to 19 September.

Ms. Zhu Ai-yun was appointed as a supervisor on 19
September 2023, and her remuneration for 2023 covers
the period from 19 September to 31 December.

2

FEE AR -_Z_=F8HMe %
=E—A—HBEAA+AAHM -

B

KEBLER-F_ZFAATAEE
ETAES  HR=F==FHHIE
ENATAREL A=+ —BMH -
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XVL.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

5

HMEESEE)

#Five highest paid employees of the Group during the 3. HREEXFETFMESNAIREEESR
year
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year rEBAFEFHNESHNRMARES Y A
were all non-director employees (2022: nil), details of the EFEREE(CTE=F 8 —T-_=F%
directors’ remuneration in 2023 are set out above. Details of the EMFHMEFR L3 HERFHBWT ¢
remuneration for the remaining are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —_Z=F—_—
Salaries, allowances and benefits T& - R EH 61,295 44,781
Pension scheme contributions BEEZ S E 230 183
61,525 44,964
Note: The share-based payment expense recognised in 2023 for g FlpThAEEEREMN-_T__F8T
the 2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan granted to the five FIRETE - RECZE - =F®RORH X
employees above was RMB4,287,000, which is not included NERAARKE4287F L KBS
in the above remuneration (2022: RMB8,668,000). FiutEmh (== =F : AR%8,668
Fio) e
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose BRUTHMHEENFESRSTHEE A
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: o
2023 2022
—EBC-=HF T
RMB8,500,001 to RMB10,000,000 AR 8,500,002 AR %10,000,0007T - 5
RMB10,000,001 to RMB11,500,000 AR#10,000,001 72 A R#11,500,00070 2 -
RMB11,500,001 to RMB13,000,000 AE#11,500,0017T 2 70 AR #13,000,0007T - -
RMB13,000,001 to RMB14,500,000 AR 13,000,001 702 A R #14,500,0007T 3 -
5 5

There were no emoluments paid by the Group to five highest paid
employees during the year as an inducement to join the Group or
as compensation for loss of office (2022: nil).

AEEEAAFEHFMHESNALREE S
NEAHE  EFRAZBNALAEENTE
FERBIBEE(CT—F | -
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED) +x - HEEETE(E)
#Net current assets 4. HERBEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Current assets MEEE 302,121,446 240,803,507
Less: current liabilities B mEaE 453,666,671 333,344,561
Net current liabilities FRBAE (151,545,225)  (92,541,054)
#Total assets less current liabilities 5. HABERRBER
2023 2022
—E-= —FT_—
Total assets BEE 679,547,670 493,860,646
Less: current liabilities B mEaE 453,666,671 333,344,561
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAGE 225,880,999 160,516,085
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XVIl. EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MAJORITEMS INTHE ++t - AR BHRERIEELITE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

1. Trade receivables 1. FEUWBR X
The aging of trade receivables is recognized based on the time FEUN IR SRR B R I A FE RV B ] T LA TSR o
of revenue recognition. The aging analysis of trade receivables FEWBR R A BRE D AT T
is as follows:
2023 2022
—EB=5 —F-—
Within 1 year 1FER 1,642,764 1,661,395
1to 2 years 1FE B 24F 2,678 1,766
210 3 years 2F E3F 1,725 1
Total a5t 1,647,167 1,563,162
Less: provision for bad debts of trade W FEWAR U ER A
receivables 4,437 6,277
1,642,730 1,556,885
2023: —E-=F:
Carrying
Book balance Provision for bad debt amount
AR B ER HIRELE REEE
Percentage Provision
Amount (%) Amount rate (%)
&8 4] €8 FHERA
(%) (%)
Provision for bad debt based  EBIHFHEIEREE
on individual assessment - - - - -
Provision for bad debt based & {5 BEBRFEMEATIRE
on collective assessment by BR%EH#
credit risk portfolio 1,647,167 100.00 4,437 0.27 1,642,730

Total B 1,647,167 4,437 1,642,730
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Trade receivables (continued)

-

1. P& Wi B K (D

RMB’000
ARETT

RAPHHREERB TEE)

2022: -
Carrying
Book balance Provision for bad debt amount
IRE SRR ZRER REEE
Percentage Provision
Amount (%) Amount rate (%)
| it k| FHREBI
(%) (%)
Provision for bad debt based  BIHHZZIRER
on individual assessment - - - - -
Provision for bad debt based &z AER EEEA RS
on collective assessment by R4
credit risk portfolio 1,563,162 100.00 6,277 0.40 1,556,885
Total Bt 1,563,162 6,277 1,556,885
As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables with provision R-ZZ-_=F+-_A=+—H HA:tRE
for bad debt based on collective assessment are shown as BEEERNEWERIE LN T
follows:
Provision Provision
Book for rate
balance impairment (%)
BRESAEE BEEE sHREHI(%)
Within 1 year (inclusive) 1FAR(E1F) 1,642,764 3,814 0.23
Over 1 year 1F A E 4,403 623 14.15
1,647,167 4,437
As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables with provision R-TZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 HE:tiRE
for bad debt based on collective assessment are shown as IREFEMEKETBRIT
follows:
Provision Provision
Book for rate
balance impairment (%)
BRI ERFE BELEE  FHREDI(%)
Within 1 year (inclusive) 1FELAA(E1F) 1,561,395 6,192 0.40
Over 1 year S 1,767 85 4.81
1,563,162 6,277
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XVILI.

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Trade receivables (continued) 1.

The movements of provision for bad debt of trade receivables
are as follows:

Tt 2R BBREEREBTEGE)

FE W BR K (4D
FEWERFIRIR R Z BT

Provision

Opening for Reversalin Write-off Closing

balance the year the year in the year balance

FOHRE AFHR  FEFEED  KAERE 2 FRBE
31 December 2023 ZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H 6,277 1,093 (2,933) = 4,437
31 December 2022 —E--F+-A=+—H 85,689 13,625 (13,720) (79,317) 6,277
As at 31 December 2023, there was no individual provision R-TE-=F+=-A=+—H  EEEIE
made for bad debts of trade receivables (31 December 2022; EREBNEBWEN - (CZEZ=F+=-A=
nil). +—H:E) -
In 2023 and 2022, there was no significant reversal or recovery RZBZ=FER-ZT-_FF - BERH
of trade receivables. 7 Uy B SR O] sk IR [E11B 05 ©
In 2023 and 2022, there was no significant write-off of trade CEE R

receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, the top five trade receivables
amounts are as follows:

RIE-=ZFEN_ZT-__FF
FEURBR TR B -

R-ZZE-=F+-"FA=+—8  BEREZS
BRI REAWT

Percentage
of total
trade Provision
receivables for
Amount (%) bad debts
1k FE Wt BR 7K
R LBl BIREE
£ (%) £
The largest customer in balance of trade  JEWEBRFREAREE — KB
receivables 1,197,437 72.70 2,754
The second largest customer in balance [EWBRFNEAREE —KEF
of trade receivables 155,966 9.47 359
The third largest customer in balance of [EWBRFEHREE = KEF
trade receivables 58,380 3.54 134
The fourth largest customer in balance of EWERAHBEEE N AT P
trade receivables 45,801 2.78 105
The fifth largest customer in balance of ~ EWREFBESEAREF
trade receivables 33,281 2.02 77
1,490,865 90.51 3,429
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS INTHE ++t - ARBBHRRIEELFEGER)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Other receivables 2, H{th FE WX
2023 2022
—EB-=F T
Dividends receivables FEY AT 7,940,000 1,350,000
Other receivables R R 18,470,735 4,485,397
26,410,735 5,835,397
Other receivables H i JEW K
Other receivables analysed by nature were as follows: Hb W g E BT
2023 2022
—E_=F T
Receivables from subsidiaries i G R/NEIE /S 18,448,786 4,286,574
Guarantee deposits and deposits REEEkHE 200 87
Others EAth 40,203 203,197
18,489,189 4,489,858
Less: bad debt provision for other receivables & : £ fth fE U % BR ¥4 18,454 4,461
18,470,735 4,485,397
The aging analysis of other receivables is as follows: H A EBCREVBR B AT LA -
2023 2022
—E-= =2
Within 1 year 1FEUR 18,486,541 4,489,800
Over 1 year 1 2,648 58
18,489,189 4,489,858
Less: bad debt provision for other receivables & : £ 4 JE U Zi i BR 24 18,454 4,461
18,470,735 4,485,397
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XVIL.

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE +t -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

RAMBERREIERETEE

Other receivables (continued) 2, Bt B WK ()
The change of provision for bad debts for other receivables H b U GRIZRR121E A BBl R B R & (A
based on the 12-months expected credit losses and the FEPEHRERBAD B RENZERERN
lifetime expected credit losses are as follows: Zamr -
2023 —EC-=F
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
BB BB B
Financial
assets
Lifetime with credit
expected impairment
credit losses occurred
12-months (no credit (credit
expected impairment impairment
credit losses incurred) incurred) Total
BEFED - EEAFED
FKF12/8A HHER HHER
BEHER BAGRREE BXAXERLE
PN EARE) ERREE) &5t
Opening balance FHEREE 4,461 - - 4,461
Opening balance transfer FHRBIERF
during the year P E
Provision for the year RER 13,993 = = 13,993
Reversal for the year REE - - - -
Write-off during the year REHH - - - -
Charge-off during the year REZH - - - -
Other changes Hith &% - - - -
Closing balance FAREATE 18,454 = = 18,454
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Other receivables (continued)

2. L ftb i ik ()

Other receivables (continued) A fEW K ()
2022 =2
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
F—MRE FREER F-FEER
Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
credit losses  credit losses
12-months (no credit (credit
expected  impairment impairment
credit losses incurred) incurred) Total
BEFESH  BEFED
K128 A EHEA EEEA
HEER BXRGREE BRXERAE
Bk ERRIE) =RRE) &5t
Opening balance FHRE 10,896 - - 10,896
Opening balance transfer FURBLEASF
during the year P& EREEIR - - - -
Provision for the year REFHR - - - -
Reversal for the year REED (6,435) - - (6,435)
Write-off during the year REEH - - - -
Charge-off during the year RERZH - - - -
Other changes Hith &% - - - -
Closing balance FRHE 4,461 - - 4,461
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Tt 2R BBREEREBTEGE)

Other receivables (continued) 2, Lt e WK ()
As at 31 December 2023, the top five other receivables R-ZE-=F+-"A=+—H =HtEKR
amounts are as follows: SEATARBRWT -
Percentage
Closing of total other Provision for
balance Aging receivables (%) bad debts
I Efh W
AR B
FARGE Rk (%) BIRER
The largest customer in balance of other receivables 13,412,130 Within 1 year 72.54 13,412
H N RAEE —REP —&FHR
The second customer in balance of other receivables 5,023,445 Within 1 year 27.17 5,023
HibENFHRES —ARP —FB R
The third customer in balance of other receivables 5,450 Within 1 year 0.03 5
HENTHRES =T, —FEB R
The fourth customer in balance of other receivables 2,527  Within 1 year 0.01 3
H N RARELAE P —&FHR
The fifth customer in balance of other receivables 1,747  Within 1 year 0.01 2
H R RARELAREP —F R
18,445,299 99.76 18,445
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XVII. EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE  ++t - ARMEHREETEEE FB(#E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
3. Long-term equity investments 3. RERERE
31 December 2023 —E-=f+=ZA=+—H
Changes for the year
AERE
Investment Allowance Impairment
Other gains under Other Other Cash for Closing provision
Opening  Increase of increase  Decrease of equity  comprehensive equity dividend  impairment carrying atthe end
balance  investment (Note)  investment method income  movements declared  provision amount  of the year
Aft BHET ify fp E% it £X EX
EOHE  EMRE @ EYRE REKE GRME  RE®D  RERR  RMERE  REEE REE
Cost method: Ak
BYDUSA Co, Lid. HEEXEARAT 28 = = = = c c c = 2 =
BYD Europe stV 755 = = = = = = = = 755 =
BYD Lithium Battery Co, Ltd. T EEEEER
A 6,498,996 - 40,532 - - - - - - 6539528 -
SHANGHAI BYDCOMPANY LIMITED ~ HSHZ#ARAT 382,004 - 8,017 - - - - - - 390,911 -
BYD Auto Co, Lid S8 EARLA 4,230,793 - 2114 - - - - - - 4253007 =
BYD (HK,) Co, Limited LB (FR)ERAT 32,508 = = = = = = = = 32,508 =
Shanghai BYD Electric Vehicle Co, Lid. ~ HiH B#ESEERAR 9,000 = = = = = = = = 9,000 =
Beijing BYD Mould Co., Ltd. PR EEEAERAT 66,981 - 3,921 - - - - - - 70902 -
Shenzhen BYD Auto R&D Co,, Lid. Rmi e T EReER
A7 5,000 - - (5,000) - - - - - - -
BYD Auto Seles Co, Lid. HEEEHERRAA 58,349 - 9,987 - - - - = = 68,336 S
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
3. Long-term equity investments (continued) 3. RHREKRE(E)

31 December 2023 (continued)

—E_=f+ZA=+—H(#&)

Changes for the year
AERE
Investment Allowance Impairment
Other gains under Other Other Cash for Closing provision
Opening  Increase of increase  Decrease of equity  comprehensive equity dividend  impairment carrying atthe end
balance  investment (Note)  investment method income  movements declared  provision amount  of the year
Aft BEET ify fp EE it £X EX
EBE  ENRE @ EYRE REKE GRME  RE®D  RERR  RMERE  REEE REE
BYD Semiconductor Company HEEEBRIERAT
Limited 536,461 - 7,680 - - - - - - 544,141 -
BYD JAPAN BYD JAPANI £ 16,153 = = = = c c = = 16,153 =
BYD Auto Industry Company HEERETEARAR
Limited 23,892,239 - 230,586 - - - - - - 6122825 -
Huizhou BYD Industrial Co,, Ltd. MR TEEFERAA 555,508 = 17 = S S = = - G587 S
Huizhou BYD Battery Co., Ltd. B EEERARAA 115,543 - 269 - - - - - - 118,236 -
Shenzhen Chuangxin Materials R TR
Co, Ltd. i 11,820 - - - - - - - - 11,820 -
Shangluo BYD Indlustrial Co, Ltd. ERTHEEARLE 1001618 = 514 = = c = = - 1,002,132 =
BYD (Shenzhen) Supply Chain peliind s
Management Co,, Ltd. RAT 3,500,014 = b} = = = = = - 3500038 =
Shenzhen BYD Investment AT EERAEEER
Menagement Co,, Ltd. | 20,000 - - - - - - - - 20,000 -
BYD Construction Enginegring HEERATRERAT
Co, Ltd. 104278 - 2202 - - - - - - 106,480 -
BYD Signal & Communication Company St E B ERARAT
Limited 118,982 - 7,184 - - - - - - 126,166 -
Shenzhen FinDreams Venture Capital @& 2 R AAR
Co, Lid. A7 3,000 - - - - - - - - 3,000 -
Shenzhen FinDreams Financial Leasing A #R AR EARAA
Co, Lid. 750,050 3,000,000 60 - - - - - = 3,750,110 -
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
3. Long-term equity investments (continued) 3. EHIRERE (&)
31 December 2023 (continued) —E-_=H+-H=+—H#&)
Changes for the year
33 1)
Investment Allowance Impairment
Other gains under Other Other Cash for Closing provision
Opening  Increase of increase  Decrease of equity  comprehensive equity dividend  impairment carrying atthe end
balance  investment (Note)  investment method income  movements declared  provision amount  of the year
Aft BEET ify fp EE it £X EX
EBE  ENRE @ EYRE REKE gakE  BER®  RERM  WERR  KEGE REE
FinDreams Technology Co,, Lid. FENRERAT 100,458 = %1 = = = = = = 100,669 =
FinDreams Battery Co., Lid. FRENERLT 300,038 = 50 = = = = = = 300,088 S
Yichun BYD Mining Co., Ltd. R TREEARER
A7 65,000 - - - - - - - - 65,000 -

Shenzhen FinDreams Batieries Co, Ltd. A AEMERAE = = = = = = = = = = =

Others (share-based payment) Efp(RAZH) 58,827 = 48,111 = = = = = - 106938 =
Equity method [ 59

BYD Auto Finance Co,, Lid. REETESHARAT 8516603 = = = 1,004,660 = = = - 561,264 =
Other joint ventures Epaets 308,145 = = 3 (35,773) = = = - =

Chengin Litium Group Co, Lid. EAEREERR
ERAA 2,000,000 - - - 65,120 - - (30,310) - 2,034,810 -

Tibet Zabuye Lithum Industry EERRA TSR
Co, Lid ERREERAT 524,804 = = - BT = - (105,027) - 484,504 =

Carbon One New Energy Co, Lid. F-iEsEER

EfRd 296,089 - - - (10,123) - - - - 287,966 -
e assodtes 0 S B12561 301,79 - %) 221 - () - 1108606 -
Total At 54895715 3,301,796 385,085  (28,496) 1,160,891 - 12911 (162,782) - 59,565,120 -
Note: Other increase represents the effect of equity-settled g EMEnASERAAREFABER
inter-company share-based payment arrangement NEBEREENSBENRG T8

between the Company and its subsidiaries within the R o

Group.
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XVIl. EXPLANATORY NOTES TO MAJORITEMSINTHE ++t - AFRBBHRRTEELFTEGER)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

4, Revenue and cost of operating 4. EERAREAR

Operating revenue is as follows: =

EWRATIRIAT

2023 2022
—E=HF g
Revenue Cost Revenue Cost
'ON R As WA AR
Revenue from principal FRFEBUA
operations 1,705,800 1,692,277 6,533,302 5,191,243
Other operating revenue HAhZ B UA 1,038,156 619,408 1,173,704 850,060
2,743,956 2,311,685 7,707,006 6,041,303
Operating revenue is as follows: EEWAIITRT
2023 2022
—=2-= —EF--
Revenue from contracts with customers HEFZEERELENKRA
Sales of goods and construction services HEEmEEERS 2,216,281 7,406,915
Rendering of services REART 344,467 268,471
2,560,748 7,675,386
Rental income AEWA 183,208 31,620
Total A& 2,743,956 7,707,006
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(CONTINUED)

Investment income

5. REWR =

RMB’000
ARETT

Tt 2R BBREEREBTEGE)

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E=-=

Income from long-term equity investments B EZE R BARERE =

under equity method 1,160,891 582,746
Investment income generated from disposal of & & RHEIREREEELENTRE KT

long-term equity investments 1,333 7,203
Received dividends of subsidiaries within the Y& HHEE R+ A I F

scope of consolidation 7,940,000 1,350,000
Investment loss on disposal of subsidiaries BEFRRMEEEKR (3,976) (231)
Investment income from investment in wealth & &L Em B EEREELRN

management products and debt investment wE W= 10,676 11,557
Dividend income from other investments on TEEMHMER TARER

hand in equity instruments R AU A 19,545 1,551
Investment income from holding other non- Hib3EmB e EELRFE HE

current financial assets MERIRE W= 2,124 1,847
Investment income/(loss) from disposal of BERXRSHEcHEEXBENRE

financial assets or liabilities for trading & Y4CES) 13,796 (3,822)
Total a5t 9,144,389 1,950,851
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XVIIl. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

1. Breakdown of non-recurring profit or loss

N - BREH
1. FREHBEAMEE

Amount
-]

Gains or losses from the disposal of non-current assets FEREFEEER BB @ BRECHIREERE

(including the written-off portion of provisions for R P D

asset impairment) (1,022,447)
Government grants (except for government grants ATARBEENEFHE (RERCEEBEY

which are closely related to normal business AR - FAEBERBERRTE - RRETIRE

operations of the Company, in compliance with 28 - HEREEFEYENDBUTEEIERIN

national policies and regulations, and influence the

profit and loss on an ongoing basis) charged to gains

or losses for the period 2,187,382
Non-financial business’s gains or losses from fair FRF]E R &2 EBERNE XERREBERES

value change arising from trading financial assets S EEREEREeRMEENESRAEE

and trading financial liabilities held and gains or ENARBEZSBEEUNEESREE

losses from disposal of trading financial assets and CRBEEENER

trading financial liabilities, other than effective value

protection hedges relating to the Company’s ordinary

course of business 584,169
Reversal of impairment provision for individually tested B8 Y83 77 50 (E B 558 89 FE W IR (B 2 1 82 O]

receivables 26,167
Other non-operating income and expenses other than B _t il & I8 7 S g E Ath & ZEHMNR AR SE

the above 307,964
Effect on income tax PRS2 (407,457)
Effects of non-controlling interests (after tax) LERRESTE (FiR) (97,399)
Total aft 1,578,379
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TN B ER R

Breakdown of non-recurring profit or loss (continued) 1. R E RS AAE (E)
The Group recognises non-recurring profit or loss in REBMEIELFMIBRTEE NBRIZRB(R
accordance with the provisions of “Explanatory Announcement METEFNAGEEEBEREEAEE
No. 1 on Information Disclosure by Companies Offering g — B MER) (FEg RS (2023)
Securities to the Public-Non-recurring Profits and Losses” 655%) KRR E BT ©
(CSRC Announcement [2023] No. 65) ((ABIZ1TEHFR A FE
BHERBELNEZ 1N LT HEER)(BEG RS (2023)
655%)).
Return ratio on net assets and earnings per share 2, FEERRENESRKE
Weighted
average
return
ratio on
net assets
(%) Earnings per share (RMB)
¥
FEEKRZEER =R
(%) (AE¥7T)
Basic Diluted
AR e
2023 T
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 58 7 & 22 &) 2 38 & % 52 A9 75 1))
of the parent company 24.40 10.32 10.32
Net profit after non-recurring profit or loss HRIEEEHEREREBNE AR
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the % 38 % % 52 &9 % 1)
parent company 23.12 9.78 9.78

The Group did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares.

AEBEBELEELER
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31 December 2023
—E-=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
“EC=E Rz ZE--F ZZZ%F  ZT-NE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
I. Operating revenue - EEWA 602,315,354 424,060,635 216,142,395 156,507,691 127,738,523
Less: Operating costs W EERAR 480,558,350 351,815,680 187,997,689 126,251,380 106,924,288
Tax and surcharge Be kMM 10,349,628 7,267,110 3034878 2154415  1560,596
Selling expenses HEER 25211,395 15060676 6,081,678 5055613 4345897
Administrative expenses EEHEH 13,461,708 10007370 5710193 4321493 4,140,997
Research and development expenses HEER 39,574,945 18,654,453 7,990,974 7,464,861 5,629,372
Finance expenses HBER (1,474,894)  (1617957) 1786927 3762610 3,014,032
Including:  Interest expenses Ho HBEAR 1,827,605 1,316,350 1907642 3,123,801 3,487 407
Interest income FEKA 2,796,195 1829617 631,841 214,613 353,761
Add: Other income o Etbia 5253,459 1721136 2,270,196 1695227 1723678
Investment income RE k& 1,635,141 (791,903) (57,134) (272,810) (808,695)
Including: ~ Investment income/(loss) Hb - 920 ¥0a%
in associates and joint PERNRE
ventures Wi/ (BX) 1,277,455 (685,885)  (145295)  (186,837)  (422,776)
Loss on derecognition BB ARG 28
of financial assets SREERL
measured at EREL
amortised cost - (22,719) (88,765) (299,523) (519,134)
Gains from changes in fair value AREEESUE 257,740 126,098 47 356 (51,267) 9,749
Impairment losses on credit ERAEEX (1,579,612)  (989,521)  (388,074)  (951,902)  (496,855)
Impairment losses on asset BERERX (2,188,219)  (1,386458)  (857,475)  (906530)  (139,176)
Gains from disposal of assets BERENE 90,364 (10,836) 77,067 (14,264) (99,754)
II. Operating profit ZBERNE 38,103,005 21541819 4631992 7085773 2,312,288
Add: Non-operating income e EEMNEA 711,370 526,974 337,654 281,660 226,322
Less: Non-operating expenses W B EINE 1,545,828 989,064 451,643 484,846 107,479
III. Total profit = FEes 37,268,637 21079729 4518003 6,882,587 2,431,131
Less: Income tax expenses W TRTER 5,924,567 3,366,625 550,737 868,624 312,274
IV.Net profit M - FHE 31,344,070 17,713,104 3967266 6013963 2,118,857
V. Classified by continuity of operation I REERENSE
Net profit from continuing operations 5 tbrilb 31,344,070 17,713,104 3967266 6013963 2,118,857
VI.Classified by ownership A RFFERGELE
Net profit attributable to Shareholders BERRAENAMBENTHE
of the parent company 30,040,811 16,622,448 3,045,188 4,234,267 1,614,450
Non-controlling interests DERERS 1,303,259 1,090,656 922078 1,779,696 504,407
Total assets BEE 679,547,670 493,860,646 295,780,147 201,017,321 195,641,593
Total liabilities BEAE 529,085,557 372,470,809 191535938 136,563,409 133,040,173
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to the BEAERAREERE
parent company 138,810,065 111,020,299 95069671 56,874,274 56,762,289
Total shareholders’ equity RRERAG 150,462,113 121,389,837 104244209 64453912 62,601,420
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